
Cabinet

Wednesday 22 June 2022 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 16)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 30 March 2022  
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 16 June 2022.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


22 June 2022

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Key Decisions

5 Consultation update on the proposed decommissioning and 
closure of four homes within the Gloucestershire Care 
Partnership (Pages 17 - 110)

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

6 Award of Contracts for the provision of Public Health 
Enhanced Services (PHES) to General Medical Practices 
(Pages 111 - 120)

Cabinet Member - 
Public Health and 
Communities

7 Scheme development funding for M5 Junction 9 and A46 
(Ashchurch) Strategic Transport Scheme in 2022/23 (Pages 
121 - 132)

Cabinet Member - 
Environment and 
Planning

8 Ofsted Inspection of Gloucestershire Children’s Services and 
Improvement Plan (Pages 133 - 170)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

9 Children & Families Capital Programme Update (Pages 171 - 
180)

Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport



22 June 2022

10 Community and Adult Skills Programmes 2022 – 2023 (Pages 
181 - 186)

Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

11 Inclusion and SEND Strategies (Pages 187 - 226) Cabinet Member - 
Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport

12 Youth Justice Plan 2022/23 (Pages 227 - 270) Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

13 Managed Print Service (Pages 271 - 278) Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

14 Revenue and Capital Expenditure Outturn 2021/2022 (Pages 
279 - 310)

Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

15 To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the 
proposed draft library strategy (Pages 311 - 344)

Cabinet Member - 
Fire, Community 
Safety and 
Libraries

16 Proposed re-location of Stroud Library (part exempt) (Pages 
345 - 382)

Please note: this report contains both exempt and non-exempt
information.

To discuss the exempt information detailed in the appendices to
the published report, consideration must first be given to whether
the public and press should be excluded from the meeting by
passing the following resolution:-

In accordance with Regulation 4 (2)(b) of the Local Authorities
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information)
(England) Regulations 2012, consideration must be given to
confirm whether members of the public and press should be

Cabinet Member - 
Fire, Community 
Safety and 
Libraries



22 June 2022

excluded from the meeting for this item of business because it is
likely that, if present there would be disclosure to them of exempt
information as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 A
to the Act, and the public interest in withholding the information
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information to the
public.

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Lynden Stowe, 
Cllr Kathy Williams, Cllr Nick Housden and Cllr Dom Morris

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


CABINET

30 March 2022

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities
Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery
Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years

-

Apologies:

Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning

1. Apologies 

See above.

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 23 February 2022 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Five public questions were received.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

Twenty-eight member questions were received

Question 1 - Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked why the Cabinet Member was not considering 
the refitting of Bohanam House to enable it to be a first class care home for elderly 
people. 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin welcomed the questions on the report and, in relation to 
the refurbishment of Bohanam house, stated that sustainability and viability of the 
wider market had to be considered.  In the case of Bohanam House, the works 
needed to refurbish the home to modern standards would lead to a reduction in its 
overall capacity which would, in turn, be likely to make it unviable. 

Question 2 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked for the occupancy rate of the last 5 years, to 
be provided for two years before pandemic began. 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that accessing appropriate data would rely on the 
Order of St John.  She would request that the data be provided, but it may take her 
some time to get back to the member.

Question 3 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked why consideration was not being given to 
refitting Bohanam House in order to keep it in use, given that it had been rated 
good, whereas some of the other homes within Gloucester required improvement.  

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that the Council needed to take a view on 
sustainability. The only things the Council can directly control are those within it’s 
own contracts and estate. Beyond this, the Council was constrained on what it 
could do. The purpose of the Cabinet paper was to seek agreement to go out for 
consultation.

Question 4 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton detailed that across the care homes in the city of 
Gloucester there was 72% occupancy rate, the minimum for viability was 60%. He 
asked why Bohaman House was set for closure when there were two other 
inadequate homes?

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that the recommendation today was to go to 
consultation with a decision to be made in June depending on the information that 
was received. 

Question 5 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton stated that there was a 55% occupancy rate at 
Bohanam house.  He asked whether, with refurbishment, the overall capacity could 
be reduced, bringing it up to the required occupancy level.  

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin reiterated that the decision before Cabinet today was 
merely to consult on the proposals. She commented that the price of refurbishment 
was speculative at this time

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Question 6 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton asked for details of the terms and conditions of staff 
working at the two inadequate care homes.

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that she would check the information, but noted 
that the Council doesn’t have a right to access private care homes information.

Question 7 – Cllr Jeremy Hilton referred to staff with many years service at 
Bohanam House and asked why this experience would be lost.

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that she welcomed that experience and 
commitment and would await the consultation information and would encourage 
those individuals to respond to the consultation.

Question 8 – Cllr Colin Hay asked about the revisions to the forecast outturn 
position that had occurred since the Council set the budget.  He suggested that this 
appeared to be Cabinet suppressing the amount of funding that appeared to be 
available until the budget was set, in order to allow Cabinet to spend it at a later 
date. He noted that the amount would have funded all of the opposition group 
budget proposals.   

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that this remained a projected underspend until final 
year-end figures came in and, with regards to overall position, that 11 months into a 
budget the council was close to delivering a balanced budget. This was a good 
outcome. 

Question 9 – Cllr Colin Hay asked to what extent the Cabinet Member took into 
account the option of borrowing to fund the Capital Programme rather than  selling 
land that could provide young farmers with opportunities and experience. He 
suggested that the capital receipts did not warrant the selling of the land. 

Cllr Lynden Stowe replied that there was an opportunity cost involved in foregoing 
potential income from releasing land for development. He agreed that the Council 
needed to encourage young farmers  but there was also a need for housing. Once 
a capital receipt was obtained it was then a decision as to whether to reinvest into 
farmland or into other council priorities. 

Question 10 – Cllr Colin Hay asked would you consider retaining the land in the 
best interest of young farmers.

Cllr Lynden Stowe noted the question and welcomed his interest, stating that as it 
was part of the County Council’s budget and member could bring forward proposals 
through the budget process.

Question 16 – Cllr Roger Whyborn asked what plans and aspirations the Cabinet 
Member had to promote greater use of the bus network to those who are hampered 
by cost of fares, particularly young people and families.

Cllr Philip Robinson replied that the Bus Service Improvement Plan and Enhanced 
Partnership were asking those questions and the detail would be there.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Question 18 – Cllr Roger Whyborn asked would the Cabinet be committing to 
conduct a holistic review of the whole bus network within that partnership?

Cllr Philip Robinson replied that a holistic review was what the Improvement Plan 
and Enhanced Plan were in effect.  With regards to a franchising approach, it would 
not do anything to address declining demand in rural areas and would require vast 
sums of money. 

Question 23 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked whether the cabinet member was saying 
there would be no improvement in community services or domiciliary care as a 
result of homes closing?

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that she was not saying that.  The paper was 
about going to consultation.  The June Cabinet paper would be supported by 
information gathered through that consultation, and improvements to domiciliary 
care were very much on Cabinet’s agenda.

Question 25 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked that, given that the cabinet Member 
accepted that for care homes were essential to meet the needs of some people, 
why were some residents potentially being moved from ‘pillar to post’

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that there would always be a place for care 
homes in Gloucestershire. The Council also had to consider the quality of our 
homes and how demographics was affecting that care home population. .  The 
Council needs to respond to changing needs and expectations.

Question 26 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked how closing homes where residents were 
settled would ensure the best outcomes for those involved?

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that the first step was to engage with families and 
residents, staff and community in the consultation process. The Cabinet would then 
have a better understanding on how to sustain the market as well as meet people’s 
needs and aspirations.

Question 27 – Cllr John Bloxsom referred to Southfield house, plans for which had 
taken three years to reach fruition.  he asked how many years would it take for new 
provision to be made available.

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that once a decision was made, the Cabinet 
would look to move as speedily as it could. Covid had slowed up the process in 
recent years. 

Question 28 – Cllr John Bloxsom asked what comfort would it be to those dispersed 
across the County? He gave the example of people relocated as a result of 
previous closures to homes that were now subject to potential closure. 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin replied that there was a commitment to support residents 
regarding any change that might occur.  

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

An additional twenty-six public questions were received after the deadline but were 
accepted as urgent questions by the Chair.  Written answers were provided.

5. Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 

Cllr Lynden Stowe provided an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 
County Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets.

The forecast revenue year end position based on February 2022 (Period 11) 
forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year was an underspend of £640k all of which is 
non Covid-19 related.

A balanced position is forecast in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.

The largest non-Covid-19 budget variance was the £8.665 million forecast 
overspend in Children and Families – this overspend is offset by the £6.524 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide and £2.18 million underspend in Adult 
Social Care budget

Cabinet was also informed of the request for approval of one-off funding of £480k to 
support the Education, Health and Care plans (EHCP) and Education Psychology 
(EP) service

Capital –The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 was £130.023 million, against 
the budget of £153.425 million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of £23.402 million.

The overall capital programme would decrease by £70k. This related to a decrease 
of £90k in the Schools Capital Programme, and an increase of £20k in the 
Highways capital budget. 

The £12.5 million slippage on Investing in Self-funded income schemes would be 
carried forward for self-funded income schemes in the future.

Having considered all of the information, cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on February 2022 (Period 11) 
forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year, which is an underspend of £640k all of 
which relates to non-Covid-19 expenditure. The Covid-19 related expenditure and 
income outturn is forecast to be a balanced position.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

2. Approve one-off funding of £480k to support the Education, Health and Care 
plans (EHCP) and Education Psychology (EP) service, funded from general 
reserves. The short-term one-off investment will place the service in a stronger 
position to undertake its service transformation programme and prepare for the 
Local Area SEND Inspection anticipated in 2023.

3. Approve the acceptance of the Homes England capital grant of £1.5m via 
Tewkesbury Borough Council for M5 Jct.9 development costs should we be 
successful in the bid.

4. Approve, in principle, the acceptance of the Active Travel Fund Tranche 3 DfT 
grant whilst awaiting confirmation of its award and value. Any funding will have to 
be accounted for before the end of March 2022.

5. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of January 2022 of 
£130.023 million against the current budget of £153.425 million.

6. Approve the recommended transfer of £4.7 million of the Local Council Tax 
Support Grant to the Rates Retention Reserve as referred to later in this report.

7. Approve the £70k decrease to the capital programme as outlined in Section B.

6. Southfield House Semi-independent Accommodation and Support Services 
for Young People 

Cllr Stephen Davies sought Cabinet approval for the re-modelling of Southfield 
House, to support the implementation of the Sufficiency Strategy, by developing 
quality semi-independent accommodation and support services for vulnerable 
young people.

The report outlined Gloucestershire’s ambition to build on the success of Trevone 
House by proposing plans to use Southfield House for services to young people. 
Southfield House was owned by Gloucestershire County Council and was 
previously used as an older people’s residential home. 

Accommodation for the 16 – 25 age groups was particularly needed, and the 
proposal would provide accommodation for that age group, which was the 
second biggest cohort to enter care and also had the poorest outcomes. 
Placements for this cohort were scarce and generally high cost and there was a 
real need for higher quality placements at a reasonable cost. This allowed for a 
pathway to independence and alleviated budget pressures on the external 
agency budget.

Having considered all of the information, cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

1) Approve an allocation of £3.35million of capital funding to the proposed 
remodelling of Southfield Site (both Main and Old House buildings) for the purpose 
of delivering accommodation for care experienced young people who may also be 
in employment, training or apprenticeships.

2) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Children’s Services in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills, and the Cabinet 
Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for the 
delivery of day-to-day delivery of accommodation and support services, with 24/7 
staffing to support the young people placed. The successful tenderer for such 
services will also finance all ‘fit out’ costs for the re-modelled accommodation. Such 
contract shall continue for an initial period of 5 years and include an option to 
extend its term for a further period of 2 years.

b) Award such contract to the preferred tenderer.

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such contract for 
a further period of 2 years on its fifth anniversary.

3) Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for AMPS in consultation with the 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process under the Gloucestershire County 
Council’s Major Project Framework (or its replacement) in respect of a call-off 
contract for the supply of remodelling works in respect of:

 Southfield Main House: for the purpose of providing the following accommodation 
for care leavers.

o 13 studio flats, 2 two-bedroom flats
o 2 well-being flats
o 1 single bedroom flat (used as an emergency/Police And Criminal Evidence bed)

 Southfield Old House: for the purpose of providing the following accommodation 
for young people who are in employment, training, or apprenticeships

o 7 one bed flats
o 1 two bed flat
o 1 crash pad

b) Award such call-off contract to the preferred tenderer.

7. Market Shaping and Review of the Estates & Commissioning Strategies 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin introduced the report and sought approval for the 
recommendations to influence and aid the sustainability of the Independent Health 
& Social Care Market of Gloucestershire.

The Cabinet Member welcomed the questions and comments from the public on 
this item.

The purpose of the paper and its focus was to begin consultation on the potential 
closure of four care homes.

The council has a duty to work in partnership with providers to sustain the market.  
This paper comes forward following extensive engagement with residential and 
domiciliary care providers.  This engagement confirmed the need to fundamentally 
change the market as a result of trends that begun before the recent COVID-19 
pandemic.

Cllr Allaway Martin praised the heroic efforts of the care system to respond to the 
pandemic, but also reflected that the pandemic had demonstrated that the Council’s 
residential home estate was not well suited or easily adapted to infection control. 

The market needed to be sustainable and viable and offer consistency of care and 
responsive to the changing needs of the people of Gloucestershire. The technical 
strategy later in the agenda went hand in hand with the actions being taken here

The Cabinet Member detailed the part of the report that considered purchasing 
models to enable the required flexibility, including the need to expand the 
domiciliary care market, review the capacity and location of existing residential 
provision within the council’s control and make better provision for reablement.  She 
reiterated the importance of the consultation process and her hope that it will help 
to allay the fears of those potentially affected by the proposals

The Cabinet Member commented on the importance of ensuring the quality of 
services being provided and the focus on allowing individuals to remain in their own 
home as long as possible.

The Leader outlined the importance of the item in ensuring sustainability of the 
market and the need to act to ensure changing demand was met. He emphasised 
that unless the Council acted, there was a real risk of market failure and the 
unplanned closure of good care homes.  He stated that the pandemic has raised 
questions about the suitability of buildings. It has also brought into focus the fact 
that some of these homes are not of the standard expected by residents and their 
families.  

He  recognised that this was a difficult conversation and gave assurances that the 
team would ensure that caring for individuals would be at the forefront of their 
minds going forward.

Having considered all of the information, cabinet noted the report and

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

RESOLVED to:

1) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning:

a) To agree the revised purchasing model for the volume and location of care home 
beds that support frail individuals awaiting hospital discharge under the Enhanced 
Independence Offer, as approved by GCC Cabinet June 2019. The EIO programme 
of change is currently underway. Initial findings much of which is predicated on 
learning from the pandemic, indicate that future purchasing patterns and 
procurement processes will require a more flexible approach combining the benefits 
of both block and spot purchasing.

b) To agree the revised purchasing model for a blended model for Home Care and 
Reablement, currently being developed under phase 2 of the Enhanced 
Independence Offer, to support collaborative working and therefore investment in 
Domiciliary care providers

2) Support and stabilise the care home market by approving consultation on the 
proposed decommissioning and closure of four homes within the Gloucestershire 
Care Partnership:

a) Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury
b) Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean
c) Bohanam House, Gloucester
d) The Elms, Stonehouse Stroud

3) Consult on the proposed closures and the potential impact of the closures

4) Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public 
Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning, to enter into an agreement with Gloucestershire Care Services to 
ensure continuity of care for residents during the consultation period set out in 
Recommendation 2 and other ancillary matters, including reimbursing 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership for agreed additional costs incurred that arise as 
a direct result of the consultation process.

5) Agree, following consultation, to return to Cabinet to consider the outcome of the 
consultation and agree how to take forward outcomes of the consultation.

8. Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022 - 2025 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin and Cllr Kathy Williams introduced the Adult Social Care 
Technology Strategy 2022 - 2025, and asked that it be adopted.

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

The Strategy set out the vision and ambitions for the role of technology in 
supporting people to live independently.

The Council wanted technology to be a greater part of everyday life for vulnerable 
people in Gloucestershire, and part of everyday practice for adult social care 
professionals. The pandemic had shown how helpful and influential technology 
could be, for example in helping people to stay in touch with loved ones by using 
video calls, or through enabling health and care professionals to monitor people’s 
conditions remotely. 

The aim was for Gloucestershire to be at the forefront of accepting new innovations 
into social work practice as well as to focus the use of digital technologies on 
supporting people to live independently and on supporting our care market. 

The traditional telephone network would be switched off by the end of 2025 
affecting every landline in the country (the Digital Switchover). New digital 
technology would need to be adopted to ensure people continued to be supported 
to live safely and independently.

The Council was actively testing exciting new devices for people with dementia, and 
apps for people with mental ill health, as well as technology which could prevent 
falls, for example, helping people to lead more independent lives in their own 
communities. In addition, the Council was investing money and staff resources to 
support the efficiencies and better outcomes that technology could deliver through 
the Adult Single Programme. 

The risks of delivering the strategy included: reliance on an immature market to 
supply reliable products at a scale which comply with GDPR; a significant culture 
shift for staff and public; and connectivity in some areas of the county.

Members noted the costs outlined in the paper.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Approve the adoption of the Adult Social Care Technology Strategy 2022-2025

9. Concessionary fare system procurement 

Cllr Philip Robinson sought Cabinet approval to procure and award a contract for 
the supply of:

a) bus pass production, management, and statistical analysis services;

b) a back-office client management system for use by Council staff to manage card 
production, activity, and auditing;

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

c) a customer portal for use by Gloucestershire residents to process orders for 
concessionary bus passes (applications and/or replacements); and

d) concessionary fare reimbursement services.

This was for an initial period of 5 years with a potential extension of no more than 2 
years. This would allow the council to fulfil its statutory obligations. The total value 
of the contract was £924,000.

He referred to the Equality Impact Assessment stating that this was a well written 
and interesting document. He thanked the officers who had written it. 

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate  authority to the Executive Director: Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and 
Skills to:

1. Conduct a compliant procurement process in respect of a contract for the supply 
of (a) bus pass production, management, and statistical analysis services; (b) a 
back-office client management system for use by Council staff to manage card 
production, activity and auditing; (c) a customer portal for use by Gloucestershire 
residents to process orders for concessionary bus passes (applications and/or 
replacements); and (d) concessionary fare reimbursement services. Such contract 
shall continue for an initial period of 5 years and include an option to extend its term 
for a further period of not more than 2 years.

2. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer. This will enable the Council to 
continue to fulfil its statutory duty as Local Transport Authority.

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of such contract on 
the expiry of the initial term 5 year term.

10. Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Enhanced Partnership 

Cllr Philip Robinson updated Cabinet on progress to date on developing the 
Gloucestershire Bus Enhanced Partnership (EP) document, and updated Cabinet 
with the initial results of the public consultation process.

The Government’s recent ‘Bus Back Better’ strategy mandated each Local 
Transport Authority to produce a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP), setting out 
its plans to improve bus-based public transport in each area and to establish an 
Enhanced Partnership agreement with all operators providing public bus services in 
their area.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

Gloucestershire’s BSIP document was submitted to the Department for Transport at 
the end of October 2021. A draft Enhanced Partnership agreement document was 
now required by the end of April 2022.

The Enhanced Partnership document was a legal framework between the Council 
and bus operators. It contained a Plan (a summary of the BSIP), and a Scheme (an 
agreed programme of improvements by the Council and bus operators to provide 
better bus services and facilities). 

The governance of the Enhanced Partnership would be exercised through a Board 
with three Members – one from the County Council, one from Stagecoach (the 
major bus operator) and one Member representing the other bus operators and 
community transport provider. The third Member would be elected at an Enhanced 
Partnership Forum meeting, to which all operators and community transport 
providers would be invited.

The main challenge of the Enhanced Partnership would be to establish an attractive 
sustainable and successful bus network as the basis for future growth of the public 
transport network as passengers return to the bus after the pandemic. The aim 
would be to meet the travel needs of residents moving into new developments and 
to connect Gloucestershire’s residents to employment, education, retail, leisure and 
social opportunities, whilst meeting the Council’s ambitious carbon reduction 
targets.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure to:

a) further develop and finalise the Enhanced Partnership in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills

b) submit a draft Enhanced Partnership document to the Department for Transport 
(DfT) by 30/04/22, and subsequently submit the agreed final document by a date 
yet to be advised, and

c) enter into the Enhanced Partnership agreement with transport operators later in 
the year once the date for final EP submission referred to in (b) is confirmed by the 
DfT

11. Social Value – sustaining the recovery and levelling up. 

Cllr Philip Robinson sought approval of the updated Social Value policy and 
reporting measures set out at Annex A and to develop a set of local Themes, 
Outcomes and Measures (“TOMs”) that will assist in leveraging investment in skills, 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

environment, and wellbeing through the Council’s ongoing activities (procurement, 
planning etc.). The revised Social Value policy and reporting measures will also 
assist in delivering “levelling up” by way of incentivising third parties to deliver 
Social Value in both Gloucestershire and, where appropriate, discrete areas within 
the county.

The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 came into force on 31 January 2013. It 
required people who commissioned public services to think about how they could 
also secure wider social, economic, and environmental benefits – together known 
as ‘social value’. Those wider benefits were in addition to any Core requirement that 
might be procured by the council. For example, in procuring an Energy from Waste 
Facility, the benefits of diversion of waste from landfill and the production of 
electricity were core benefits, however the creation of apprenticeships and 
employment opportunities were a wider benefit. Before they start any procurement 
process, commissioners should think about whether the services they are going to 
procure, or the way they are going to procure them, could secure these wider 
benefits for their area or stakeholders.

The Government had signalled its intention to go further with Social Value as part of 
the levelling up agenda and as part of the Procurement White paper

There was a clear strategic case for Gloucestershire County Council to embed 
social value in its procurement.  The new GCC “Building Back Better in 
Gloucestershire” Strategy (2022 – 2026) highlighted the Council’s commitment to 
using a Social Value approach through putting in place a policy and providing 
officers with the tools needed to build social value, and measure it, into the way the 
council designs, delivers and commissions its services. 

This only applied to procurements which exceeded the public procurement 
threshold. Social value would have a 15% weighting in tender exercises. As another 
example, the Electronic Vehicles contract had provided £1m of social value 
benefits.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Adopt the revised Social Value Policy and reporting measures set out at Annexes A 
to C and to develop a set of local Themes, Outcomes and Measures in connection 
therewith.

12. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Community Risk Management  Plan 
2022-2026 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

Cllr Dave Norman sought Cabinet approval for the Community Risk Management 
Plan (CRMP) 2022-2026.

The Fire and Rescue National Framework (2018) set out the Government’s 
priorities and objectives for Fire and Rescue authorities in England. A key priority is 
for the Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) to develop a Community Risk Management 
Plan (CRMP). The framework placed a legal obligation on all Fire Authorities to 
develop, produce and publish a Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) at 
least once every 3 years.

The CRMP had been developed using a detailed 130-page comprehensive risk 
profile. The Community Risk Profile had a methodology that was built on 
professional judgement and robust risk analysis that ensured effective and efficient 
decisions were made when assessing the hazards and informing the plans to 
mitigate those hazards. 

There had been over 500 responses to the consultation and 1,300 visitors to the 
consultation page online.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve the adoption of the GFRS Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 
2022 - 2026.

2. Delegate authority to the Chief Fire Officer to undertake such actions as are 
necessary to implement the adopted CRMP 2022-26.

13. Schedule of Proposed Disposals 

Cllr Lynden Stowe sought approval for the proposed Schedule of Disposals in order 
to meet capital receipts targets.

Appendix A (Exempt) had been approved in September 2021, and confirmation was 
required by Cabinet that those sites not yet disposed of remain surplus to requirements 

Appendix B (Exempt) was a new Schedule of Disposals, recommended by Property Board 
as being surplus to requirements. Approval of both Schedules of Disposals and the 
declaration of those sites as surplus to requirements, would deliver future capital receipts.

Asset Management and Property Services were working towards a four year capital receipt 
target of £47 million covering the period April 2021 to March 2025.

Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2021/22 currently totalled £6.529 
million. 

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported at Appendix A and Appendix B of 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

the report, consideration would need to be given as to whether the press and public 
should be excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.
 
Cabinet agreed to consider this item without having to refer to the exempt 
information.

The Leader suggested that a calculation be made on how many houses had been 
enabled by the disposal of council land.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in September 2021 and not yet 
disposed of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements.

2. Declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of Disposals Appendix B 
(Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.

3. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property 
Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Deputy Leader/Cabinet 
Member for Finance and Change and Council’s Chief Financial Officer.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11:25

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

REPORT TITLE: Consultation update on the proposed decommissioning and closure of 
four homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership
Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Councillor Carole Allaway-Martin, Adult Social Care Commissioning

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The purpose of the report is to: 
Provide an analysis of the consultation exercise of suggested actions to 
influence and aid the sustainability of the Independent health and social Care 
Market in light of the initial and ongoing impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
and 
seek approval for the recommendations associated with that analysis

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

1. Reviews the analysis of feedback received during the consultation on 
the proposed decommissioning and closure of four homes built in the 
1970’s managed by the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP)

2. Agrees to the closure of the following care homes currently operating 
under the GCP contract

 Bohanam House, Gloucester
 Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury 
 The Elms, Stonehouse Stroud
 Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean 

3. Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and 
Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adults 
Social Care Commissioning to 

a. initiate such steps as are necessary to decommission those 
homes.

b. support the residents of those homes to move to alternative 
placements, as necessary.

c. develop the business case for redeveloping the Elms site in 
Stonehouse, Gloucestershire for a new care facility”

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



d.  develop the business case for redeveloping the GIS site at 
Cinderford for a new care facility post 2025

e. work with the Assistant Director of Asset Management & 
Property Services to identify alternative sites within the 
Gloucestershire County Council portfolio that may be suitable 
for development/redevelopment as a sustainable care facility.

Reasons for 
recommendations

(a) To ensure that, as outlined in the Care Act 2014, Gloucestershire 
County Council is actively working to shape the local care market to 
encourage quality, choice, and sufficiency of provision

(b) To continue to use the council’s Estate Strategy to stimulate market 
shaping in Gloucestershire’s adult health and social care provision.

(c) To ensure that the market for community-based health and social care 
more clearly meets the current and future needs of persons falling 
within the demographic profiles of adult social care.
 

Resource 
Implications

The costs associated with the closure of each care home are currently 
estimated to be between £200k - £300k.  This is estimated using the costs 
associated with the previous closures and the decommissioning of care 
homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP).  The funding for 
the closures is held within the Vulnerable Adults Reserve and will be drawn 
down through the Budget Monitoring process.   
The management of the block contract delivered under the GCP contract will 
release funds that can be utilised to support these costs.

Page 18



Background 
Documents   Adult social care market shaping (Guidance) - Updated 14 February 2017:

Adult social care market shaping - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

Care and Continuity: Contingency planning for provider failure (A guide for 
local authorities) - Supporting the implementation of the Care Act 2014

   
  care-and-continuityfinal.pdf (adass.org.uk)

Cabinet Report March 2022 and November 2021 – Market Shaping and 
Review of Estates & Commissioning Strategy 2018
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Repo
rt%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis
.._%203.pdf 

market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf 
(gloucestershire.gov.uk)

Statutory Authority The Care Act 2014:

 Section 5 - sets out duties on local authorities to facilitate a diverse, 
sustainable high-quality market for their whole local population, 
including those who pay for their own care and to promote efficient 
and effective operation of the adult care and support market as a 
whole.

 section 48 to 56 - ensures that no one goes without care if their 
provider’s business fails and their services cease. It covers:

1. CQC market oversight
2. local authority duties for ensuring continuity of care in the 

event of provider failure and service cessation

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Cllr Jeremy Hilton – Kingsholm & Wotton
Cllr Alex Hegenbarth – Bishops Cleeve
Cllr Nick Housden - Stonehouse
Cllr Philip Robinson - Mitcheldean

Officer Brenda Yearwood – Head of Integrated Commissioning - Integrated Brokerage 
& Market Management.

brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/adult-social-care-market-shaping/adult-social-care-market-shaping
https://www.adass.org.uk/media/4213/care-and-continuityfinal.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s76193/Cabinet%20Report%20Market%20Shaping%20and%20Review%20of%20Estate%20Commis.._%203.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083902/market-position-statement-for-older-people-2018.pdf
mailto:brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Tel. 07990 675275
Timeline 14th June 2022 – Cabinet papers published

15th June 2022 – publication meetings in the four homes
22nd June 2022- Cabinet meeting and decision on the consultation outcome
30th June 2022 – end of call-in; decisions implemented
30th June 2022 – Practitioners & Advocates engaged to support moves to 
alternative placements
1st July 2022 – September 2022 review placement options and support 
moves of residents
30th September 2022 – home closures and handover 

Human Rights Three Articles of the European Convention are capable of being relevant to 
any proposed decision to close a residential care home and relocate 
residents. These are

 Article 2 which provides that everyone’s right to life will be protected by 
law,

 Article 3 which provides that no one shall be subjected to torture or 
inhuman or degrading treatment and 

 Article 8 under which everyone has the right to respect for their family life 
and their home. 

Article 8 rights are not absolute and can be justified by public interest 
considerations including economic factors. The report explains the balance 
which has had to be struck between the overall rationale for the closures, 
including the economic factors, against the potential impact on individual 
residents in consulting on the proposed decommissioning of four homes within 
the Gloucestershire Care Partnership.

Page 20



 
Introduction

1. In March 2022 Cabinet approved a consultation on the potential decommissioning 
and closure of four homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP), 
Estate

1.1.Bohanam House, Gloucester
1.2.Orchard House, Bishops Cleeve, Tewkesbury 
1.3.The Elms, Stonehouse Stroud
1.4.Westbury Court, Westbury, Forest of Dean 

2. The paper outlined the reasons which are provided in a summary below:

3. At the time of the initial agreement with GCP in 2005, the health and social care 
environment was very different to today. In 2005 older people’s aspirations, social 
care solutions and the financial environment encouraged the development and 
provision of care homes to support people with lower-level residential care needs. 
There are now more options for how people can support their care needs in their own 
home and how they can access care through their housing choices.

4. Under the Care Act 2014 Gloucestershire County Council has a statutory duty to not 
only meet the needs of people eligible for care, but also to shape the local care 
market to encourage quality, choice, and sufficiency of provision. National guidance 
outlines ways in which the adult social care market can be developed and supported 
through active:

4.1.Market oversight - monitoring the performance of providers to ensure early 
warning of the risk of business failure.

4.2.Market shaping - taking an active role to understand and stimulate support and 
services and

4.3.Contingency planning - preparing for provider failure to ensure that people 
continue to receive care and support.

5. The current social care system has been recognised as being at or near crisis point 
at a national level and has been under review and consideration by central 
Government across successive administrations. Without significant reform, adult 
social care will be increasingly ill-equipped to meet the needs and choices of the 
people who rely on it, and providers will struggle to deliver the quality of care that 
people have a right to expect. The Covid-19 pandemic exacerbated many of these 
problems, increasing levels of unmet need and further destabilising an already 
fragile care provider market. 

Page 21



6. Despite the use of care home beds at points of stress in the wider health and care 
system, (for those on the hospital discharge pathway), care home occupancy has 
continued to decrease, as outlined in Figure 1 below.

Figure 1

7. Recognising this trend, Gloucestershire County Council introduced steps to 
transform the way in which it delivers adult social care; with the focus shifting to 
supporting independence and supporting people to remain in their own homes for as 
long as possible. Information and feedback gathered to inform the Gloucestershire 
Market Position Statement 2018 demonstrated that, where there is choice, people 
want to remain in their own homes and in their own communities.

9 These aims are outlined in the Gloucestershire Market Position Statement 2018 and 
were re-enforced by our jointly funded and sponsored (GCC & GCCG) programme 
of change with the implementation of the Enhanced Independence Offer (EIO).  
This was approved by Cabinet in June 2019. 

10 In the Cabinet paper in March 2022, (which agreed the consultation on the 
decommissioning of the four homes), approval was also given for a revised 
purchasing model for a blended model for Home Care and Reablement to support 
collaborative working and investment in Domiciliary Care providers. This work is 
now underway and the funding model to support the programme of change will 
shortly be presented to the Gloucestershire Joint Commissioning Partnership 
Executive.

11 Part of the transformation of community provision for health and adult social care 
has also focused on the work to find the best possible housing choice for people. To 
this end, in February 2021 Cabinet approved a Housing with Care Strategy.  This 
strategy was developed by the whole health and care system working together and 

Page 22



is a shared document and programme of change between Gloucestershire County 
Council, Gloucestershire district councils and the local NHS. The aim of the strategy 
is to ensure that we facilitate the key support at the right time to prevent a crisis 
situation. This approach can help facilitate hospital discharge and also means 
people can maintain their independence within their communities. Working closely 
with district, borough and city council colleagues, the aim of the strategy is to 
provide a range of accommodation to help people to remain independent and lead 
fulfilling lives. 

Care Market Overview

11.Gloucestershire has had a surplus of care home beds for several years and has 
previously managed this through active work with GCP. GCP is a joint venture 
company established by The Order of St John Care Trust (OSJCT) and Bedford 
Pilgrim Housing Association (BPHA) for the purposes of providing and managing 
care homes. The partnership covers the lease of Gloucestershire County Council 
properties where care is provided, arrangements for the development of those 
properties as well as provision of new properties where care will be provided. The 
aim of the partnership is to manage the development of appropriate residential 
care facilities in the county to meet the current and projected future needs of the 
county.

12.Within the GCP contract, an Estates Committee was established to manage the 
Estates Strategy to include:

12.1 the development of new homes. 

12.2 the refurbishment of individual homes and 

12.3 when homes should be considered for refurbishment or closure due to 
commercial viability or financial viability on investment

13.At the outset of the contract GCP was providing care within twenty-one care 
homes in Gloucestershire. GCP is currently providing care across thirteen homes, 
four of which are new homes that have been developed and built as part of this 
Estates Strategy. At the implementation of the GCP contract the options for care 
and support at home were more limited and many people expected to enter 
residential care when they started having difficulty with day-to-day living. The 
improvement in technology and equipment has widened the options open to 
people to stay independent in their own homes. Despite the reduction of four 
homes in the GCP portfolio since 2018, (one in Gloucester, two in Stroud and one 
in the Forest of Dean) and the loss of a further eleven homes from other 
independent providers, (circa 350 beds), over the same four years, 
Gloucestershire continues to have a surplus of care home beds.

Page 23



14.Through the Estates Strategy we have previously managed care home capacity, 
tested models of delivery and stabilised access to specific types of care. For 
example, two of the new builds developed under this contract provide bed based 
reablement facilities in order to support individuals to access therapy, to be 
supported to return to independence, either to avoid a hospital stay or to provide 
support on the person’s journey home. 

15.The Covid-19 pandemic has presented many additional challenges for care 
providers in Gloucestershire, not least increased demands for managing infection. 
This has been particularly difficult for those care homes whose design is not suited 
to the challenges of managing infection, i.e., those without adequate provision for 
PPE or sanitiser stations, buildings with limited ability to cohort and isolate those 
with Dementia or behaviours that challenge, and those with communal areas with 
inadequate space for social distancing. Residential care providers need to have 
the capability to easily implement measures to protect residents and staff from 
Covid-19, flu, Norovirus and other viruses and infections, whilst maintaining 
sufficient occupancy to be financially viable and sustainable businesses. 

16.Many of the responders to the most recent consultation cited the need for care home 
beds to support hospital flow and the fact that the Covid-19 pandemic has placed 
additional pressures on hospital discharges. Throughout the pandemic we have 
utilised care home beds to support hospital flow. This provided much needed 
financial support to care homes at a time when private placements were reducing. 
However, the very nature of care homes makes them more vulnerable to outbreaks. 
The frequency and duration of outbreaks in care homes has stopped any 
placements being made for weeks at a time. In December 2021 there were 152 
outbreaks in care settings which meant all placements had to be supported by a risk 
mitigation plan. We were only able to place in care homes that had the ability to fully 
separate individuals discharged from hospital away from their existing residents. 
Care homes needed to be able to isolate new residents in their own room or an area 
of the home and provide separate entrances for the new residents and their 
supporting staff team. Many older style homes do not allow admissions to be 
managed in this way.

17.Workforce: The pandemic and the resultant economic impact have also had an 
effect on care staff.  Many of the more experienced care staff have left the industry. 
Other industries, (e.g., hospitality, retail, etc.) are providing incentives to new recruits 
and have also introduced bonuses for staff in order to retain them. In response to 
the engagement programme in November 2021 there was a suggestion that 
consolidating staff teams and changing the way nursing care is facilitated could 
lessen the impact of the current staffing issues. In further feedback from the wider 
market, a number of care homes raised the increased need for agency staff as a 
cost pressure and staffing in general as a key issue. Many stated that they were 
unable to staff all areas of their homes (including one of the newer facilities in the 

Page 24



GCP contract).  Providers told us that increased costs of staffing and equipment and 
the loss of income from both private and public funded sources negatively impacted 
on their financial viability. 
 

18. Infection Prevention & Control:  Covid-19 has given rise to issues in terms of the 
adequacy and suitability of care homes in relation to managing infection control 
measures. The impact of the pandemic on the health and care sector indicates that 
some provision is no longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid world.  The four care 
homes chosen are all older style homes, built or adapted in the 1970’s when 
expectations for residential care differed to the expectations and requirements of 
today, including the requirements in relation to infection, prevention and control. All 
of the four homes have been subject to sustained outbreaks over the course of the 
pandemic. 

19.Sustainability:  The homes run and managed under the Gloucestershire Care 
Partnership are Gloucestershire County Council properties. The four care homes 
identified for potential closure are all older style homes; three of which (Bohanam 
House, Orchard House and Westbury Court) could not be developed to meet 
current requirements or the expectations that many are looking for when choosing 
residential care whilst remaining financially viable.  Adding ensuite facilities would 
cause the loss of too many bedrooms for the home to generate sufficient income. 
The Elms was identified for potential closure for a slightly different reason.  It has 
the potential to be developed as the home sits on a sizeable plot and is adjacent to 
the old Stonehouse Library site which is also owned by Gloucestershire County 
Council.  It therefore has the potential to be redeveloped to provide a purpose-built 
facility to support the demographic profiles and needs of the citizens of Stroud 
district as we move forward. Stroud district currently has the highest number of 
care home vacancies for a rural area, but we are aware that the district has a 
significant number of people who have been receiving care in their own home for 
some time. The changing profiles for these individuals indicate that we will need 
more residential provision post 2025 – 2030.The chart below (Table 1) provides 
the outline of the current residents in each of the four homes and the number of 
vacancies in the surrounding areas.

Page 25



19 25 23
14

231

159

47

198

Orchard House, Bishops 
Cleeve

The Elms, Stonehouse Westbury, Forest of Dean Bohanam, Gloucester 
0

50

100

150

200

250

Number of Residents Vacant Beds

Figure 2

        Bohanam House Overview:
20.Bohanam House – Gloucester City, is registered for 39 beds and offers both 

residential and nursing care. There are currently 14 people resident in the home.  
Below is a table showing occupancy levels over the last five years. The figures 
below do not just represent permanent placements as they include respite and 
other short-term placements.

Ju
n-

17
Se

p-
17

De
c-

17
M

ar
-1

8
Ju

n-
18

Se
p-

18
De

c-
18

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n-

19
Se

p-
19

De
c-

19
M

ar
-2

0
Ju

n-
20

Se
p-

20
De

c-
20

M
ar

-2
1

Ju
n-

21
Se

p-
21

De
c-

21
M

ar
-2

2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Bohanam House - Occupancy

Figure 3

21.The Gloucester market has a high number of care home vacancies. At the time of 
writing there are 25 care homes with 198 vacancies.

22.Bohanam is an older style building. The layout of the home and the shape and 
style of the older building (which currently houses the OSJCT district office) along 
with a 1970’s structural addition which forms most of the care home, makes the 
building difficult to adapt and therefore limits its ability to be adapted as residents 

Page 26



develop more complex needs.  Many of the current residents in the home are 
nursed in bed as the home lacks the storage space and corridor width required for 
aids and equipment. The layout also presents challenges to cater for the increased 
needs for complex and advanced dementia care. The home lacks some of the 
modern amenities and ensuite facilities that most individuals, their families, and 
friends expect when moving into residential care, and the site is not of sufficient 
size for these to be added in a way that leaves the home financially sustainable in 
the longer term. 

23.Bohanam has had a number of outbreaks over the course of the pandemic with a 
large and sustained outbreak with continuous spread throughout the period 
04.01.22 until 07.04.22.

        Orchard House Overview:
24.Orchard House - Bishops Cleeve, (Tewkesbury District), is registered for 50 beds 

and offers both residential and nursing care. There are currently 24 care homes in 
Cheltenham with 231 vacancies. Tewkesbury has 10 care homes with a further 31 
vacancies

25.There are currently 19 residents in the home. Orchard House occupancy took a 
steep decline in late 2019 early 2020 - this may be due to the Covid-19 pandemic 
but could also be linked to the opening of new residential developments in the 
area. Below is a table showing occupancy levels over the last five years. The 
figures below do not represent permanent placements as they include respite and 
other short-term placements.

        Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

De
c-

17

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

De
c-

18

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Se
p-

19

De
c-

19

M
ar

-2
0

Ju
n-

20

Se
p-

20

De
c-

20

M
ar

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Se
p-

21

De
c-

21

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Orchard House - Occupancy

            Figure 4

26.The property is an older style property in a built-up residential area and does not 
have the additional development space to allow the level of redevelopment 
required to meet the types of needs our demographic profiles predict post 2025. 
The layout of the home makes it difficult to adapt and adjust to changing needs of 

Page 27



the residents as their needs increase or become more complex. Orchard House 
has had four outbreaks this year the latest starting 11.03.22 through to end of 
March.

27.The layout also presents challenges to cater for the increased needs for complex 
and advanced dementia care. It also lacks the modern amenities and ensuite 
facilities that most individuals expect when moving into residential care.  The 
location of Orchard House, although in Bishops Cleeve (which is in the wider 
Tewkesbury Borough district) impacts more greatly on the Cheltenham locality 
where we have a surplus of care beds. Many of the current residents are from 
Cheltenham rather than Tewkesbury.

28.Though the building does not have the ability to be redeveloped as a sustainable 
residential setting able to meet the needs and expectations individuals now 
consider as standard in and for their home, the site does have potential for both 
supported living and home care outreach. We have been approached by home 
care companies interested in using the site for a home care business, therapy 
outreach centre and as supported living for working age adults requiring care. All 
options would need to be worked up in a feasibility study involving further 
consultation with local residents.

        The Elms Overview:
29.The Elms – Stonehouse (Stroud District) is registered for 45 beds and offers both 

residential and nursing care. There are currently 25 residents in the home. The 
Elms has had fluctuating occupancy. Below is a table showing occupancy levels 
over the last five years. The figures below do not just represent permanent 
placements as they include respite and other short-term placements.

Ju
n-

17

Se
p-

17

De
c-

17

M
ar

-1
8

Ju
n-

18

Se
p-

18

De
c-

18

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n-

19

Se
p-

19

De
c-

19

M
ar

-2
0

Ju
n-

20

Se
p-

20

De
c-

20

M
ar

-2
1

Ju
n-

21

Se
p-

21

De
c-

21

M
ar

-2
2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

The Elms - Occupancy

             Figure 5

30.The property is an older style which would require significant redevelopment of the 
current footprint to make it fit for future needs and expectations. The Elms has had 

Page 28



four outbreaks in recent months with the two longest sustained outbreaks taking 
place between 26/12/21 to 01/02/22 and 13/03/22 until April 22. 

31.The site sits on a sizeable plot and is adjacent to the old Stonehouse Library site 
which is also owned by Gloucestershire County Council it therefore has the 
potential to be redeveloped to provide a purpose-built facility to support the 
demographic profiles and needs of the citizens of Stroud district post 2025.

32.Stroud district has the largest number of home (domiciliary) care hours for a rural 
area, often with hours of delivery in excess of those delivered in Cheltenham.  
Residents have actively embraced technology, community activity and community 
connections to remain independent in their own homes and communities. At the 
time of writing there are 21 care homes with 159 vacancies. However, there are 
4,250 home care hours currently delivered in Stroud district, the needs and profiles 
of these individuals indicate that there will be a need for residential dementia 
services post 2025. 

33.Stroud district doesn’t currently have an Extra Care facility.  The Housing and Care 
Partnership have identified this as an area of concern as this limits the choice for 
local residents. The Elms and adjacent library site combined could provide an 
opportunity for developing both extra care and residential care options, assisting 
us to prepare for the projected future needs of the residents of the Stroud district.

34.A feasibility study undertaken in 2020 provided four options to develop the site and 
these options did include an option to develop whilst keeping a portion of the 
current care home open. However, this would subject the residents to a sustained 
period of disruption and would limit the build options for the site. There would be 
an increased risk in relation to infection control for residents with a large number of 
planners, developers and construction workers on site.  This option is therefore not 
recommended.  

        Westbury Court Overview:
35.Westbury Court, Westbury on Severn, (Forest of Dean), is registered for 41 beds 

and offers both residential and nursing care. There are currently 23 residents in the 
home.  At the time of writing there are 14 care homes with 49 vacancies in the 
Forest of Dean.

36.Below is a table outlining occupancy levels over the last five years. The figures 
below do not just represent permanent placements as they include respite and 
other short-term placements.

Page 29



Ju
n-

17
Se

p-
17

De
c-

17
M

ar
-1

8
Ju

n-
18

Se
p-

18
De

c-
18

M
ar

-1
9

Ju
n-

19
Se

p-
19

De
c-

19
M

ar
-2

0
Ju

n-
20

Se
p-

20
De

c-
20

M
ar

-2
1

Ju
n-

21
Se

p-
21

De
c-

21
M

ar
-2

2

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Westbury Court - Occupancy 

            Figure 6

37.The layout and location of the home makes it difficult to adapt and adjust to 
changing needs of the residents as they develop or become more complex. 
Westbury Court has also reported four outbreaks with the longest sustained 
outbreak starting on 07.01.22 extending into February 2022. It lacks the modern 
amenities and ensuite facilities that most individuals expect when moving into 
residential care. The location of Westbury Court is close to the River Severn and 
has the potential to flood and last winter was evacuated due to the risk of flooding. 
As weather conditions worsen in response to climate change this risk is likely to 
increase. The home is also on a site of historical interest and situated between a 
National Trust Garden and an historical building so has limited potential in relation 
for development. Though based in the Forest of Dean district where we have the 
least number of vacancies the Westbury Court site does attract people from the 
Newent area, north of the Forest of Dean.

38.The proposed closure relates to the long-term potential for the home rather than 
capacity within the Forest. The demographic profile for this area is rapidly 
changing in relation to age and identified care needs, becoming more attractive to 
people choosing to move to Gloucestershire as part of their retirement plan. With 
the development of a new community hospital in Cinderford, it is likely that there 
will be an increased demand for services that support individuals being discharged 
from hospital. Developing a site on the former GIS site in Cinderford will provide 
care home capacity to meet the demographic profiles and predicted needs of the 
local population.

39.The decommissioning of this home has the potential to impact positively on the 
viability of the Gloucester market, where we have a surplus of care beds. There 
are also plans to develop other sites within the Forest of Dean district. Work 
undertaken by commissioners in 2019 showed that the Forest of Dean has the 
largest number of supported living facilities in the county so future provision will 
need to be able to cope with an ageing population where those entering residential 
care have long term conditions and may require technology or equipment and the 
room to store these.

Page 30



Consultation Engagement 

        Process undertaken 
40.Prior to going to Cabinet in March 2022, advice was sought on how to best 

conduct the consultation process in order to provide the best possible opportunity 
for residents, families and employees of The Orders of St John Care Trust to 
contribute to the discussion. An independent consultancy, Evolving Communities 
was engaged in order to ensure independence and balance in capturing the views 
of stakeholders. Consultation materials were offered in different languages or 
formats and all on line information was also offered in hard copy format.  Again, 
the offer to produce these in other languages or accessible formats was made.  
Hard copies of the consultation with prepaid envelopes were available at every 
consultation event for those without access to the internet, along with an offer of 
help to complete the survey.

41.On 22nd March 2022, the day of the Cabinet report publication, in order to 
immediately address the concerns arising from the report and to maximise 
participation in the consultation process, representatives from Gloucestershire 
County Council and the Order of St John’s Care Trust arranged meetings in each 
of the four homes concerned.  This included separate meetings with staff members 
and with the residents, their families, and friends. These meetings explained the 
content of the Cabinet report, the dates for the consultation, ways to engage and 
the timeline for the decision-making process.

42.There were further meetings in each of the homes arranged for the Monday 4th 
and Tuesday 5th April 2022 to advise on the consultation timeline and the 
proposed start date of 8th April 2022. Again, there were separate sessions 
arranged for staff and for residents, relatives, and friends. Though the purpose of 
these initial sessions was primarily to convey information about the forthcoming 
consultation, the sessions were documented, and all questions, concerns and 
areas of feedback were logged. These questions and any additional points raised 
have been published on the Gloucestershire County Council website as Frequently 
Asked Questions (FAQs) and have been regularly updated and reviewed 
throughout the consultation period

43.The first consultation meeting took place on the afternoon of 8th April 2022 at 
Bohanam House in Gloucester. Further sessions in the three other homes followed 
on 11th April, (The Elms), 12th April, (Orchard House), and 14th April, (Westbury 
Court). All meetings provided an opportunity for residents and relatives to feedback 
separately to staff. 

44.A second set of meetings supported by GCC and OSJCT staff took place on 5th 
May 2022 (The Elms), 6th May 2022 (Orchard House), 9th May 2022, (Bohanam 

Page 31



House) and 11th May 2022, (Westbury Court). These meetings were designed to 
give those who had been unable to engage in previous sessions the opportunity to 
participate and to provide those who had previously engaged with a further 
opportunity to contribute to the consultation.

45.At the start of each session an introductory script was used to provide the outline 
structure for the meetings so that all attendees were aware of the content of the 
consultation. In order to provide a consistent approach, the questions used to 
structure the meetings were the same as those on the online consultation portal. 
The table below shows the number of attendees at each of these meetings.

GCC Consultation meeting attendee numbers
    

DATE HOME MEETING ATTENDEES
08-Apr-

22
Bohanam 
House Consultation 1 – Employees 20

08-Apr-
22

Bohanam 
House Consultation 1 – Residents and family 29

11-Apr-
22 The Elms Consultation 1 – Employees 21

11-Apr-
22 The Elms Consultation 1 – Residents and family 8

12-Apr-
22 Orchard House Consultation 1 – Employees 17

12-Apr-
22 Orchard House Consultation 1 – Residents and family 12

14-Apr-
22 Westbury Court Consultation 1 – Employees 38

14-Apr-
22 Westbury Court Consultation 1 – Residents and family 17

05-May-
22 The Elms Consultation 2 – Employees 12

05-May-
22 The Elms Consultation 2 – Residents and family 5

06-May-
22 Orchard House Consultation 2 – Employees 16

06-May-
22 Orchard House Consultation 2 – Residents and family 8

09-May-
22

Bohanam 
House Consultation 2 – Employees 30

09-May-
22

Bohanam 
House Consultation 2 – Residents and family 20

11-May-
22 Westbury Court Consultation 2 – Employees 21

11-May-
22 Westbury Court Consultation 2 – Residents and family 10

Table 1

Page 32



46.Attendees were also provided with details of the web address for the 
Gloucestershire County Council consultation portal so they could access the online 
survey. For those without online access, a printout of the questionnaire along with 
a prepaid postage envelope was provided. Printed copies of the supporting 
Equality Impact Assessment questionnaire were also provided. 

47.Gloucestershire County Council also advertised the online survey widely through 
traditional and social media to enable the wider community to contribute to the 
consultation and share their views. Media releases were repeated throughout the 
six-week consultation in order to encourage participation. Figure 7 below shows 
the number of page views and the total number of those who went on to review or 
complete the survey. 

48.The survey opened on 6th April 2022 and closed at 5pm on 20th May 2022.  During 
this time there were 416 visits to the site. 134 surveys were completed. In addition 
to these 10 hard copies were submitted through the post. Of the responses 38.8% 
related to Bohanam House, 21.5% for The Elms, 22.9% for Westbury Court and 
16.6% for Orchard House. Visitor numbers to the website were at the highest on 
the closing with 197 page views on 20th May 2022 of which 79 went on to review 
the questions and 44 submitted a response.

Page 33



44657

44662

44667

44672

44677

44682

44687

44692

44697

44702

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

220

Page-views
Visitors
Visits
New-Registrations

Visitors Summary

 Figure 7

49.The largest individual share of the responses related to Bohanam House - 56 out 
of 144 responses.  Five of these declared themselves as staff, eight were from 
relatives or friends, three from carers or friends, two were from residents and 38 
did not declare the reason for their interest.

50.The Elms received 31 responses through the online survey, 29 online and two in 
hard copy through the post.  Three were from a relative, one from a Carer, one 
other and 26 did not specify the reason for their interest.

51.Westbury Court received 33 responses overall - 31 responses through the online 
survey and two through the post. Two were from staff, six were from relatives, one 
from a friend or carer and 24 did not declare the reason for their interest.

52.Orchard House received 24 responses, 22 through the online survey with a further 
two responses received in the post. Two were from a Carer, three from family 
members and 18 did not specify the reason for their interest. 

        Other 

Page 34



53. In addition to the formal consultation feedback there was a petition submitted on 
behalf of each of the four homes:

54.Bohanam House: Save Bohanam House – Change.org petition comprising 796 
signatures which was submitted on 20th May 2022

55.Orchard House, ‘Keep Orchard House in Bishops Cleeve open’ - this was 
submitted with 447 signatures.

56.Westbury Court, Opposition to the closure of Westbury Court Care Home, with 501 
signatures. 

57.The Elms, Save The Elms Stonehouse - Change.org which received 542 
signatures

58.Comments from the petitions are also included in the consultation overview in 
Appendix 2.

        Additional Information
59.As well as the sessions with the individual homes, the online survey, there were 

meetings with Health and Social Care colleagues, and a wider community 
consultation. We also shared an email address for those individuals who were 
unable to access the consultation portal or attend the meetings and wished to add 
to the consultation. Local Councillors and Cabinet Members also received 
individual communications from the following sources: this has also been collated 
and added into the overall consultation feedback. 

60.Correspondence received via email or letter: 

Number of 
correspondences

Home 

Relatives 8 The Elms
5 Westbury Court
3 Orchard
1 Bohanam 

Staff 2 The Elms
1 Orchard House
1 Bohanam 

General Public 8 All
1 Westbury Court

Health and Social Care 
Colleagues 

2 All

Page 35



1 Westbury Court

Table  2

61. In addition to the online survey and the meetings outlined above, Evolving 
Communities, an independent consultancy firm, held separate meetings starting on 
18th April 2022. Meetings were held in each of the homes in order that residents 
and relatives could contribute to the discussions through a neutral source. 
Gloucestershire County Council representatives were not present at these 
sessions. 

62.Evolving Communities facilitated one session per home and also provided access 
to an online survey. Evolving Communities hosted meetings for residents. Staff 
were encouraged to email Evolving Communities with their feedback. The full 
Evolving Communities report is attached as Appendix 1. 

2. Overview Summary & Findings of the Consultation

First GCC Facilitated Session:

70 The first consultation meetings took place on 8th April 2022 at the Bohanam House 
in Gloucester; the Elms, Stonehouse on 11th April 2022; Orchard House, Bishops 
Cleeve on 12th April 2022; and with Westbury Court on 14th April 2022. These 
facilitated discussions all followed the same format, with the aim of ensuring that we 
were consistent in garnering thoughts and feelings around the closure and the 
impact of the closure. A copy of the survey questions can be found in Appendix 2. 

71 Residents and their relatives: Engagement in the process across the homes 
varied. Only one resident at the Elms was able to express their views. For those that 
did not or were not able to express their views on closure/impact of closure, family 
members gave their views on the impact on the individuals concerned. Some family 
members expressed that their relatives were happy in the home, and they would not 
want them to leave.

 
72 Relatives stated that they had chosen the home because of the ambiance, not the 

facilities. Other said they were concerned that the same care would not be available 
elsewhere. There were also comments and concerns, at Bohanam in particular, 
around the impact on the residents’ friendship groups with one resident stating, ‘I 
don’t want to leave here, all my friends are here’.

73 Much of the focus centred on the fact the Cabinet report mentioned the need for 
ensuite facilities.  It was also felt that GCC had not considered the impact of Covid -
19 on the current level of occupancy and that we were taking the decision to close 

Page 36



too early. Families and residents also expressed their concerns regarding the care 
home staff teams and said, ‘I imagine this is very difficult for the staff if they don’t 
have their own transport and are local to this home’. 

74 Staff were also against the closure.  They were concerned at the proposal, stating 
that there is such a shortage of care staff in the sector. Others said they felt that the 
quality of care provided was exceptional, and that Bohanam had prevented a lot of 
hospital admissions in the past even up to the present day. Bohanam staff felt that 
the home, though small, had been able to cope with social distancing and had had a 
good record of providing quality care and support over the lifetime of the Covid-19 
pandemic. 

75 A staff member said in relation to Orchard House, ‘it was ‘buzzing 24/7 before 
covid’. They dismissed the need for an increase domiciliary care provision. "People 
don’t want to be in their home. They want someone there 24/7 to help support them. 
You cannot give the consistency of care whilst they are living at home", stating the 
need for care homes, particularly during the pandemic where they were still taking 
admissions. For Westbury Court, the majority of employees questioned the closure 
rationale. Many felt that Westbury Court's residents came from the Forest of Dean 
rather than Gloucester, as detailed in the Cabinet paper and occupancy had only 
reduced as a result of the pandemic. Staff for the Elms commented on the lack of 
investment by GCC in refurbishing The Elms over the last few years and suggested 
improving the facilities rather than closing. There was also concern that the site 
would remain empty for years if The Elms closed. In addition to this, they raised 
concerns about the future provision in the area given the number of homes that had 
already closed, stating that there had to be "somewhere for people to go who 
couldn't pay for their full care". 

76.A comprehensive overview of the questions and responses of each consultation 
session in the homes is provided in Appendix 2. 

77.The themes arising from the responses to the initial GCC consultation meeting 
questions are summarised below. These areas along with the overarching 
opposition to the closure and questions on how closures could be prevented 
formed the core elements and main focus of these meetings. The top five concerns 
for each home, in relation to the frequency or number of responses for each 
category are also listed in table 3 below:

Reason for the 
Decision Impact for Residents Impact for Staff External Factors

Care packages as an 
alternatives to care 
home is not viable for 
everyone

Loss of sense of 
community 

Loss of sense of 
community

Use of Care Homes for 
Hospital discharge 
rather than closing

Page 37



Choice of homes for 
closure – why these 
four

Decline in physical 
health 
(residents)/mortality

Loss of jobs – local 
working

Sufficiency of other 
provision/ Vacancies by 
care category

Closure rationale and 
the impact on market 
management is not 
clear

Decline in mental 
health for residents 
when moving

Working through this 
process and remaining 
focused is stressful 

Support for decision 
making

Facilities in homes are 
adequate – additional 
facilities are not 
necessary

People expected a 
decline in quality of 
care if moved to 
another home

Travel time and costs 
(staff), if staff can’t 
work locally

Timeline for the 
consultation is too long 
and has increased 
stress

Future provision – why 
are we closing and 
building new

Reduction in visits from 
family if any new 
placements are not 
local 

Uncertainty of not 
knowing if and when 
the home will close 

Process for transfer to 
new home needs to be 
explained

Process is confusing 
and upsetting for 
residents 

Family Culture between 
staff, residents and 
relatives will be lost

Reduction in visiting 
from friends and family 
due to increased travel

Pandemic – is the 
reason for vacancies. 
Is it too early to take a 
decision on closure

Financial (question on 
profits or financial 
benefits for GCC)

Financial impact if new 
placements cost more 
for the resident/family

Family Culture between 
staff, residents and 
relatives will be lost

Refurbishment would 
be better use of monies 
than closure & new 
build

Location of the home is 
key any new home 
needs to connect 
residents to their 
community 

Bohanam House Orchard House The Elms Westbury Court
 People expected a 
decline in quality of 
care if moved to 
another home 

Process is confusing 
and upsetting for 
residents 

Decline in mental 
health for residents

Closure rationale and 
the impact on market 
management is not 
clear 

Closure rationale and 
the impact on market 
management is not 
clear 

Travel time and costs 
(staff), if staff can’t 
work locally 

Closure rationale the 
impact on market 
management is not 
clear 

Decline in health for 
residents if moved

Process is confusing 
and upsetting for 
residents

People expected a 
decline in quality of 
care if moved to 
another home 

Future provision – why 
are we closing and 
building new

People expected a 
decline in quality of 
care if moved to 
another home 

 Loss of jobs – local 
working

Pandemic – is the 
reason for vacancies. 
Is it too early to take a 
decision on closure

Refurbishment would 
be better use of monies 
than closure & new 
build 

Family Culture between 
staff, residents and 
relatives will be lost

Family Culture between 
staff, residents and 
relatives will be lost

Decline in mental 
health for residents 
when moving

Travel time and costs 
(staff), if staff can’t work 
locally

Financial impact if new 
placements cost more 
for the resident/family

Table 3

Evolving Communities Consultation 

78.When seeking advice prior to the consultation process it was acknowledged that 
any potential closure would have an impact on residents and their 
relatives/representatives. Therefore, GCC were advised to engage an independent 
consultancy to facilitate sessions with residents and relatives in the four care 

Page 38



homes. Evolving Communities was commissioned to host independent 
consultation sessions in each of the homes. The objective of these meetings was 
to understand the likely impact of a closure on residents/relatives’ health and 
wellbeing. To ensure they gained holistic understanding, Evolving Communities 
asked a range of questions to structure the discussion. The open meetings were 
followed by the offer of optional one-to-one sessions, where residents/ relatives 
could share more personal experiences.

 
79. In addition to this, contact details for Evolving Communities were circulated so that 

residents and relatives could send any further comments after the meetings. An 
online survey for each care home (along with hard copy versions), were also 
circulated so that people who could not attend the meeting could also contribute. 
Staff were also encouraged to use these surveys to provide feedback.

80.The Elms – Nine people were present at the consultation meeting - eight relatives 
and one resident. A representative from the OSJCT was also in attendance to take 
any questions. Two relatives shared their comments after the meeting via our 
survey.

81. In the response from the residents and relatives there remained concerns about 
the impact of the closure and any associated moves. One relative described how 
their stress levels rocketed from the moment they heard about the potential closure 
as their mother-in-law had only moved into The Elms the day before. They 
describe their family as being ‘blindsided’, and fear that finding a new home will be 
very difficult, as it has been previously. 

82.A relative who contacted us by email stressed that moving their elderly father from 
a settled location to an unknown one brings a great deal of worry and uncertainty 
given his health conditions. 

83.Conversely, other relatives at the meeting shared that a move wouldn’t cause a 
great deal of stress for their loved ones. One relative stated: “He’s in his own 
world” so moving him won’t make much difference, to which another agreed, 
adding: “She won’t understand where she is.” A further relative declared: “Carers 
are carers”, meaning they believe their relative would receive equally good care 
and support elsewhere. 

84.When asked if the residents would miss their daily activities, one relative 
responded that because of Covid-19 it might not make much difference, while 
another commented “I haven’t got a clue what they do.” It is clear that the 
announcement at The Elms has had a varied impact on different relatives.

85.Bohanam – Seventeen people were present at the consultation meeting – ten 
residents and seven relatives. After the meeting, one relative shared their opinions 
through the online survey, one resident and one member of staff contacted us via 
email and one staff member completed a survey.

Page 39



86.Concerns were expressed about breaking up friendship groups and discussions 
mainly centred on this. Evolving Communities’ summary brought together the 
issues in the following manner:

87. It was evident to us that Bohanam House is comprised of lots of strong, 
established connections. These connections are extensive, and exist not just 
between the residents, but with the staff, families of other residents and the wider 
community. We observed the interactions between residents/relatives and noticed 
that they have a great deal of adoration and respect for one another. As one 
resident put it: “Everyone trusts each other here.”

88.Residents/relatives also shared their fears that some residents may not survive the 
physical demands required of a move. The residents told us: 

“They have tried to move a resident who has been bedridden for four years and 
she has lost consciousness multiple times. If she was moved I don’t think she 
would survive it.” 
Some of the younger residents (in their eighties) shared concern for their older 
residents.

89.Orchard House – Three people were present at the consultation meeting, and all 
were relatives. One additional relative and one staff member filled out the online 
survey; one relative filled out a hard copy survey; and one relative and one staff 
member contacted us via email. 

90.The relatives and residents questioned the reasons for the closure. They argued 
that care home places are needed, and that demand for them will only increase 
further in the near future. One relative commented that they found it “hard to 
believe that there are unfilled vacancies [due to] the local hospitals being full of 
patients waiting for placements in care homes.” 

91.Another relative noted that while Orchard House has been negatively affected by 
the coronavirus pandemic, “it was a very vibrant place with lots going on.” Another 
relative felt that the pandemic had been used as an excuse for closure and said 
that the occupancy levels were at capacity just a few years ago. They described 
how they would “walk around the ground floor three years ago and wave to the 
residents in their rooms when the doors were open” and they noticed that all the 
rooms were full. 

92.When the topic turned to the state of the facilities, those in the room argued that 
the facilities are fine: 

“We have spent a fortune paying for this and a wet room is not needed. All she 
needs is a commode next to her bed.” 

Page 40



Yet a relative and a staff member who contacted us shared a different opinion. One 
relative remarked: “We all know this is in need of an update”; while a staff member 
stated: “Our residents deserve better facilities in this day and age” and referenced 
the size of the rooms and the lack of bathrooms as a concern.

93.Westbury Court - Twenty-nine people were present at the consultation meeting. 
This meeting received the largest turnout, comprising of 12 relatives and 17 
residents. One additional relative filled in the online survey because they were 
unable to attend the consultation meeting.

94.The focus of the conversation resolved around why this home needed to close and 
there was a level of confusion about the reasons given for closure.

95.The general consensus among the relatives was that the residents have had to 
adjust to a strange environment during the coronavirus pandemic, and a closure 
would disrupt their environment further. Relatives are concerned that the upheaval 
caused by a closure would be detrimental to the mental and physical health of 
residents, particularly those with dementia. 

96.One relative described how their relative (with dementia) was in her room for two 
years because of the coronavirus. She has only just started to leave her room to 
meet the other residents, and the relative fears that such a drastic change would 
send her on a downwards spiral. One resident commented that placing residents 
into new environments “would make people confused”, before another resident 
added: “It would turn us into vegetables.” A relative pointed out that this would not 
just be a change, but a trauma. 

97.As the session came to an end, one relative pleaded with us: 
“We don’t have them for much longer so please don’t make the time they have 
left more difficult than it already is. They don’t deserve this.”

98. In summarising what they had heard, Evolving Communities recommended that 
GCC considers the following:

“While the relatives of residents at The Elms and Orchard House have begun to 
make arrangements for their loved ones (including securing places at new homes), 
it appears that the same arrangements have not been made by relatives of those 
at Bohanam House and Westbury Court. We feel that the disruption of a closure 
would be greatest for these two homes, where relatives and residents have not 
started to consider alternative accommodation options. Both of these homes 
expressed great concern at the thought of a potential closure and displayed a 
unique sense of togetherness and community spirit.  In particular, we feel a closure 
would have a deep and lasting effect on the residents and relatives of Bohanam 

Page 41



House, who illustrated their newfound struggles with health-related and social 
anxiety.”

99.Evolving Communities also recommended that GCC considers the following:
 The possibility of refurbishing rather than closing homes. 

 Sharing this report with the care homes and the participants to build trust with 
the council and encourage future participation in engagement projects. 

 GCC to provide substantial notice to participants of future consultation meetings, 
and to consider involving participants when deciding a time for meetings. 

 Encourage cabinet members to visit care homes such as these in the future. 

 If closures do happen, to consider the current friendships and relationships 
between residents and staff in any relocation decision. 

 GCC to hold fewer consultation meetings and avoid repeating the same 
questions to participants. 

100. The proposed response to the Evolving Communities recommendations is 
outlined in the Officer Recommendations below section on page 38.

Second GCC Facilitated Session: 

101. The second consultation meetings took place on 9th May 2022 at the Bohanam 
House in Gloucester, the Elms, Stonehouse on 6th May 2022, with Orchard 
House, Bishops Cleeve on 5th May 2022 and with Westbury Court on 11th May 
2022. As with the first sessions these facilitated discussions all followed the 
same format. The sessions aimed to provide an opportunity for anyone who had 
been unable to contribute previously and to provide an opportunity to seek 
clarification to those who had formerly engaged. The table below outlines the 
attendance numbers at each of these meetings.

05-May-22 The Elms Consultation 2 - Employees 12

05-May-22 The Elms Consultation 2 - Residents and 
family 5

06-May-22 Orchard House Consultation 2 - Employees 16

06-May-22 Orchard House Consultation 2 - Residents and 
family 8

09-May-22 Bohanam 
House Consultation 2 - Employees 30

09-May-22 Bohanam 
House

Consultation 2 - Residents and 
family 20

11-May-22 Westbury Court Consultation 2 - Employees 21

11-May-22 Westbury Court Consultation 2 - Residents and 
family 10

Table 4

Feedback from Residents and Relatives

Page 42



102. Bohanam residents and relatives continued to question the closure rationale as 
they considered it was about finances and profit for GCC:  "It’s got to be cheaper 
to put someone in a home that’s fully staffed than make someone go to see them 
a couple of times a day and they’re sitting alone all day.”

103. They also questioned occupancy levels within the market and if these would still 
be available if the home closed given the number of people still in hospital 
awaiting packages of care:  "When you say there are 900 vacancies how does 
that correspond with the 200 people waiting in hospital." and "There are no Dom 
Care workers so that’s why they’re stuck in hospital taking up beds needed for 
emergencies."

104. Residents and relatives at The Elms considered it made sense to consolidate 
staff into fewer homes and reduce the number of empty beds. The increased 
staff would mean they would be able to support the residents more: "One very 
positive thing if residents have to move from here with more staff and nurses 
they’ll have more showers and their hair washed. For example, the last two 
weeks we haven’t been able to have a skype call as the two ladies that can 
facilitate that are on holiday.”
 

105. Several family members asked questions regarding the capacity in the rest of the 
care home market, in particularly in the Stroud District. With one family member 
wanting to be assured we would place people as close to their home district as 
possible.

106. For the most part when asked, relatives of residents at Orchard House felt that it 
was a done deal that the home was going to close and that the consultation 
meetings would have very little influence on the final decision:  "You have to go 
through the procedure but it’s not going to make a difference."

107. They considered the main thrust of the rationale was around the financial viability 
of homes running at less than capacity. They asked if GCC would divest its 
responsibility if alternative funding could be found.  They also asked if a judicial 
review had been mentioned at any of the other meetings. 

108. During the second consultation meeting at Westbury relatives and residents 
expressed concern about the consultation process and their opinions not making 
a difference to the decision. They questioned the closure rationale particularly 
the criteria being used to make the decisions and questioned if this was a long-
term plan to close the homes under GCP partnership.

Feedback from Staff

Page 43



109. During the second consultation meeting employees at Bohanam questioned the 
closure rationale, particularly around occupancy levels and the need for smaller 
homes, referencing the previous Evolving Communities report. Staff cited the 
popularity of the home saying: "Over recent weeks that we’ve had enquiries 
about beds, but they’ve not been placed but we could have been over 30." and "I 
think a lot of people come into a care home for the company. The smaller homes 
are more like family because we all get to know everyone. And I think that 
sometimes this outweighs what’s in the bathrooms."  

110. They detailed the level of care provided at Bohanam and the family feel it has 
stating that the feeling this home is that it’s a family and a close team.

111. Employees at The Elms questioned the rationale, particularly around occupancy, 
and suggested moving people out of hospital into the home. They recognised 
that residents from The Elms would be used to fill beds in other homes but didn't 
support the closure: "Basically, shut us and we can fill those empty beds. So, 
you’re throwing us under the bus instead so they can survive." 

112. They also questioned the process and the potential site redevelopment.  There 
were numerous questions from the staff around the ability to develop the site 
whilst leaving the current home open.  There was a particular concern that the 
closure of the Elms would leave residents of Stroud district, and Stonehouse in 
particular, without any credible options for residential care. 

113. Orchard House staff felt that the local area didn’t have sufficient provision that 
would accept GCC rates. They questioned the rationale around occupancy as 
they felt that they had a healthy rate of enquiries prior to the consultation but did 
recognise the changing demographics of Bishop's Cleeve:  "It’s just a shame, it’s 
been here a really long time. I was here when it was going to close before. We 
had petitions and it’s stayed open but there isn’t the older population around 
here now it’s all built on younger people. It isn’t really a village anymore it’s a 
town."

114. They also felt that GCC had stopped placing residents within Orchard House 
long before the consultation started and advised that they were getting 
conflicting information from social workers as they had told them there were 
loads of people in the community waiting to go into care, but the beds weren't 
available.

115. During the second consultation meeting, Westbury Court's employee comments 
were predominately about the closure rationale and the consultation process. 
They also queried the occupancy figures, and why the empty beds were not  
being used to alleviate the pressure on the NHS with people waiting for hospital 
discharges. There were also comments on the plans to build elsewhere in the 

Page 44



Forest of Dean and questions about why this home couldn’t be left open whilst 
the work was undertaken.

116. The responses to the second round of GCC consultation meeting questions were 
grouped in the same categories and areas of concern as the first meeting. The 
top three concerns for each home, in relation to the frequency or number of 
responses for each category are also listed in table 5 below.  It was not possible 
to produce a top five as all other concerns were one comment only. The 
responses for both relatives, residents and staff were grouped into the same top 
three despite the difference in the content of the conversations.

Summary of topic areas discussed during second consultation 
meetings   

Orchard House The Elms Westbury Court Bohanam House

Process is confusing 
and upsetting for all 

Process is confusing 
and upsetting for all

 Process is confusing 
and upsetting for 
residents

 Process is confusing 
and upsetting for 
residents

Closure rationale has 
not been clearly 
identified  

Closure rationale has 
not been made clear

Closure rationale has 
not been made clear

Closure rationale has 
not been made clear

Can the site be 
redeveloped

The process has been 
stressful for all 

Use the home to 
support Hospital 
discharge for patients 
waiting to go home

Can we guarantee that 
the site redevelopment 
will be for care rather 
than housing

Table 5 

Local Medical Committee Response
117. The Local Medical Committee (LMC) requested a separate virtual consultation 

meeting which was facilitated by Gloucestershire County Council Officers.  We 
asked the same questions that were asked at all other consultation meetings. 

118. Concerns were raised around the number of individuals awaiting discharge from 
hospital, and that care homes who go into outbreak may not be able to accept 
new residents. 

119. Issues were raised around the added pressure on GP’s and the front line, when 
there are several individuals discharged from hospital without a full care package 
in place. It was felt that the GP practices were therefore having to deal with the 
consequences of these situations.

120. While the challenges were recognised, especially the difficulties in recruiting care 
staff into the sector, members of the committee were concerned about the 
options should demand change in the future and more capacity be needed. 
There was also concern that there would or could be cost implications for 
patients, families or relatives if they were to move to one of these newer built 
care homes. The LMC felt if we were able to ensure that we could have a more 

Page 45



consistent staffing team in the care home this would be positive, commenting 
that it can be hard for GPs to build relationships with nursing staff due to the 
constant loss of staff in care homes. 

121. They also said it would be a positive to see more care homes that are able to 
offer more specialist care such as advanced dementia care and neurological 
care. 

Summary of main themes arising through Consultation
122. The overarching response to the consultation therefore falls into six key areas:

 The impact on the health & well-being of residents associated with the 
move

 The desirability of localised care and the impact of closures on the 
distance of residents from their relative and friends

 The loss of wider friendship groups associated with the home
 Questions about the financial implications:   both individual and as a 

motivator for Gloucestershire County Council
 The process for closure
 The rationale for closure

Conclusions

123. From the level of vacancies in care homes across the county it is clear that there 
is overcapacity in parts of the market, which potentially destabilises it. This 
overcapacity, when partnered with difficulties in recruiting sufficient numbers of 
staff, places additional pressure on residential providers. Increased staff costs 
and low occupancy decreases financial viability and therefore increases the risk 
of care home closure. We are now learning to live with Covid-19 and therefore 
the national funding that supported the health and care system has all ended.  
However, there is a legacy of increased costs for infection, prevention and 
control and staffing.  These factors have led to the residential care market 
becoming increasingly fragile. 

124. Gloucestershire is unusual in having an oversupply of care home beds for older 
people and wider residential provision for working age adults. The County 
Council has statutory duty to not only meet the needs of people eligible for care, 
but also to shape the local care market to ensure sufficiency of provision. They 
also have a duty to manage risk with respect to the market. 

125. There are currently sufficient numbers of vacancies available to be able to 
support all residents of the four homes in question to move to alternative 
provision. The risk in not taking action to manage the market, is that we will lose 
a greater percentage of provision in an unmanaged way. In this scenario there 

Page 46



may not be sufficient places available within the required timescales for those for 
whom an alternative placement would need to be found.

126. In the main, and as we would have expected, consultation feedback has 
focussed on the impact of the closures on those individuals who are directly 
affected, rather than the broader impact on market stability.  However, we need 
to recognise that there has been a general decline in the numbers of individuals 
choosing residential care to meet their long-term health and care needs, and we 
need to make sure that steps are taken to respond to this in order to avoid 
market instability. 

127. Consultation feedback and discussions have also concentrated on those in the 
hospital discharge process not taking into account the choices, needs and 
wishes of the individuals concerned and the long-term impact on individuals of 
using care homes in a short-term capacity.   It is clear that only around 40% of 
those waiting to leave hospital need some form of support from adult social care.  
That might be in the form of short term reablement, or longer-term domiciliary 
care.   We also use care home beds for short term placements to assess people 
for their longer-term social care needs.  Relatively few will require a long-term 
placement in a residential or nursing home.  Therefore, it is not appropriate to 
assume the empty beds in these homes can be used to expedite hospital 
discharge.

128. Gloucestershire County Council’s ability to intervene is primarily through our 
major contracting and purchasing patterns. However, this, by its very nature is 
neither a quick nor an efficient way of managing the market. Covid-19 has given 
rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of some of the care 
facilities particularly in relation to managing infection control measures. The 
impact of the pandemic on our care sector indicates that some provision is no 
longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid world.  By carefully selecting the least 
viable homes in relation to financial sustainability we can remove some of the 
oldest homes in order to facilitate the protection of the wider market. Whilst we 
recognise and acknowledge the strength of feeling and potential distress that 
closures would cause to existing residents their families and the staff teams, this 
does not absolve us of our wider responsibility to ensure that the market is 
sustainable and responsive to the needs of current and future users of health 
and social care. 

Options

Option 1:  Do nothing

Page 47



129. If we were to do nothing, there is a greater risk to the sustainability of the care 
market in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire has an oversupply of care beds in 
some parts of the county, and a lack of affordable, appropriate provision in 
others. As people choose alternatives to a care home placement to meet their 
needs Gloucestershire risks the surplus care home provision being used for 
inappropriate inter-county placements as providers seek alternative means to 
maintain their business viability. 

130. Gloucestershire citizens are choosing to remain in their own homes to receive 
care and support, as opposed to taking up a care home placement. However, 
there is a continued need for residential placements for those who require 24-
hour care or those that lack the capacity to make the right choices in relation to 
their health or safety.  There is therefore a need to support care home providers 
to remain sustainable by working with them to manage the offer and the number 
of placements available in the county.

131. There is also a financial risk to the council due to the number of beds we 
purchase per district under the GCP contract, should we continue to block 
purchase these beds for services we know are no longer in demand. The current 
provision in the some of the homes within the estate under GCP contract is not 
suitable for the complex and advanced care needs we are now seeing when 
individuals require a care home. In seeking to close homes with a limited lifespan 
and invest in new provision we are aiming to match the trends in care against the 
county’s demographic profile.  

Option 2: Decommission those homes with the greatest impact on the market 
and review the redevelopment proposals for others 

132. An option was put forward during the consultation to retain homes in those areas 
where we are predicting the need to invest in the development or redevelopment 
of future residential provision. This option would involve maintaining one or both 
of the homes in Stroud and Forest of Dean district whilst redevelopment is 
undertaken.

133. At The Elms it is possible to keep part of the building operational whilst 
redevelopment is undertaken. However, this limits the build potential and adds to 
the disruption of the residents and brings an additional infection prevention and 
control risk.

134. The Stroud district element of the GCP contract is below the occupancy 
percentage required. The predicted increase in the need for residential care is 
currently suggested as being post 2025. 

Page 48



135. Westbury Court could be maintained as an ongoing site whilst the feasibility 
studies are taken in relation to other potential developments and sites and the 
planned build is underway. However, the proposed de-commissioning relates to 
the lack of long-term potential for the home rather than capacity within the 
Forest. The decommissioning of this home has the potential to impact positively 
on the Gloucester market, where we have a surplus of care beds.  

136. However, this option will not contribute to the development of a consolidation of 
nursing services thus does not enable a better utilisation of the nursing workforce 
and facilitate the protection of the wider market. 

Option 3: Decommissioning the four homes within GCP Estate consulted on to 
aid sustainability for the wider market 

137. This option would allow Gloucestershire to manage the short-term impact of the 
pandemic through the removal of surplus beds. The proposed decommissioning 
of these homes responds to the outline concerns voiced during the Market 
Engagement Programme; providers felt that the block contract arrangements 
under the GCP contract gave the OSJCT homes an advantage, particularly in 
relation to hospital discharge services. The request was that we invest across all 
providers and all provision. It is worthy of note that many other independent 
sector providers praised the additional steps Gloucestershire took to make crisis 
payments to the market during Covid-19. 

138. This proposal to decommission beds in homes that would not be responsive to 
the changes or would not be financially viable following necessary refurbishment 
or investment whilst redevelopment and commissioning new facilities 
demonstrates that Gloucestershire is taking an active role in market 
management.  

139. In closing some of the older homes the care provider will be able to consolidate 
the nursing services they provide in order to better utilise the nursing workforce 
and to facilitate the protection of the wider market. It also demonstrates that the 
council has listened to the concerns of the market as outlined in recent 
conversations and that we wish to work with the independent health and social 
care sector to reach a mutually agreeable solution in the short and longer term. 
This option also builds on the analysis shared last year with our local health 
sector colleagues who are in support of this direction of travel.

140. While consultation feedback emphasised the strength of opposition amongst 
those most directly affected, and we recognise the impact on those individuals, 
at this stage there is a potential greater harm in not actively planning the 
constriction of the residential care market.

Page 49



141. Therefore, this is the recommended option.

Risks

Risks in choosing to act 
142. There are risks in undertaking the proposed action and the personal impact on 

residents and their families does need to be noted. However, as a Local 
Authority with adult social care responsibilities we have had to respond to many 
home closures in the last decade. These can be for a variety of reasons from 
owners wishing to close the business, CQC enforcement notices, financial 
viability to immediate issues around lack of staffing. In each instance we have 
approached the provision of social work and case management with timely, 
skilled, compassionate, and person-centred staff in order to mitigate the personal 
impact of any move. Where possible residents have moved with their friendship 
groups or have been able to find placements closer to their friends and relatives

143. There is a risk that individuals and their families are unable to find a suitable 
alternative placement to meet their needs.  We are committed to working with 
each and every individual and family that is affected by these proposals in order 
to secure a suitable alternative placement.  The support we will provide is further 
outlined in paragraph 161 of this report.

144. In developing new residential care facilities to replace those we are proposing to 
decommission, there is also the potential to destabilise the market by raising 
expectations and potentially oversubscribing the specifications of residential care 
thereby limiting options for those seeking the traditional style of care home.

Risks in choosing not to act 
145. There are significant and sustained risks on both workforce and countywide 

provision in not responding to the current overprovision when coupled with 
workforce concerns for the care sector as a whole. 

146. With regards to workforce, in choosing not to act a scarce staffing resource will 
continue to be dispersed across a large number of facilities. This may well 
impact on the overall sustainability of the market. 

147. The facilities we are consulting on with regards to closure have a limited lifespan, 
in relation to their market appeal and the cost, feasibility and ongoing viability, 
even if the homes were to be brought up to the expected standards. 

148. In not preparing to replace care homes with a limited lifespan for facilities that 
meet the demographic profiles of our residents there is a risk that we will not 

Page 50



have sufficient, adequate provision to meet needs. Which may mean 
Gloucestershire residents would have to be placed out of county we also risk 
failing our wider duties under the Care Act   

Financial implications

149. The costs associated with the closure of each care home are currently estimated 
to be between £200k - £300k per home.  This is estimated using the costs 
associated with the previous closures and the decommissioning of care homes 
within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) contract and includes costs 
of the consultation process.  The funding for the closures is held within the 
Vulnerable Adults Reserve and will be drawn down as required and closely 
monitored.   

Climate change implications

150. The decommissioning of the older, less energy efficient care homes is likely to 
have a positive impact on the carbon footprint of the GCP portfolio. The carbon 
footprint of any new build homes will be countered by the potential efficiencies of 
those properties. 

151. Any new homes will be built to current building regulations and with the Council’s 
new climate change strategy and action plan in mind looking towards being net 
zero by 2030

152. Any developments required for new provision will be constructed with 
sustainability at their heart. We will look at all options of reusing foundations and 
recycling materials which all helps with embodied carbon. We will endeavour to 
use environmentally friendly materials and to utilise the roof spaces for Solar 
panels. Where possible, we will use air source heat pumps which along with the 
highly efficient traditional heating keeps the environment at optimum condition. A 
building energy management system will control heating, ventilation, air 
conditioning plan and lighting to effectively reduce consumption of energy. 

Equality implications

153.  An Equality Impact Assessment has been prepared and accompanies this 
report.  Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact 
Assessment in order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard 
has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

Page 51



154. A DPIA has been completed.

Social value implications 

155. Any contract awarded for the building or redevelopment of properties will contain 
a requirement for the provider to demonstrate social value in line with 
Gloucestershire’s procurement policies and processes with a focus on 
employment opportunities, engagement with the local community and improving 
the lives and outcomes of individuals.

156. Any future care provision commissioned will also need to demonstrate social 
value in relation to community engagement and employment opportunities in the 
short, medium and longer term.

Officer recommendations

The recommended option is:

Option 3: Decommission and close of four homes within GCP Estate to support to 
aid sustainability for the wider market 

157. The County Council have considered the viability of each of the care homes 
named in this report.  We have reviewed in detail the current and historic 
occupancy rates, staffing availability, and the ability of each home to meet the 
future social care needs of its locality.  

158. Bohanam House Gloucester: During the initial GCC consultation meeting staff 
and residents expressed great concern at the thought of any potential closure, but 
this was mainly around their wish that friendship and care groups should be 
supported to move together. Evolving Communities also said that this concern was 
evident in their meeting where there was a unique sense of togetherness and 
community spirit. 

159.   Bohanam is situated in Gloucester City and is one of 25 homes operating in 
Gloucester city. The home is registered for 39 residents, there are currently 14 full 
time residents in the home. The quality of care and the bonds between residents 
and staff at this home have never been in question and the mutual respect and 
liking was evident in the fact that the staff team’s first concerns were for the 
residents and the resident’s first concern for the staff.  There is no doubt that the 
home has provided quality care during one of the most trying times for the health 
and social care sector.  

160. However, Bohanam is an older style building and there have been concerns 
relating to the size of the rooms and the storage of equipment required to meet the 
needs of residents. The home caters for both residential nursing with 64% of the 
residents having an assessed nursing need. Many of these residents are nursed in 

Page 52



bed due to the physical limitations of the rooms and corridors in relation to the use 
and movement of equipment. The home also lacks the necessary storage space to 
house the necessary living aids which could enhance the care experience of these 
residents. This limits the potential of the home to deal with the changing needs of 
the population. We are increasingly aware that advances in technology and 
medicine have improved the quality and length of life for those Gloucestershire 
residents with long term conditions. These very advances support residents to stay 
in their own home and community for longer. When these individuals do require 
residential provision, the expectation is that they will still be able to do so with a 
level of independence and freedom of movement.

161. From Infection Control audits undertaken during the Covid-19 pandemic we are 
aware that the Bohanam has limitations in relation to the storage and the space 
needed to manage infection prevention and control resources. Though the home 
managed the impact of the pandemic well this limitation does pose an ongoing 
risk. During the consultation staff stated that the home had managed Covid-19 with 
only one outbreak. However we have numerous outbreak notifications on record 
including a long sustained outbreak in January 2022 lasting in excess of 90 days. 
In preparing for future management of all types of infection Gloucestershire will 
need facilities that are flexible yet able to operate under a managed risk mitigation 
plan.

162. Though the feedback from Evolving Communities states that they “feel that the 
disruption of a closure would be greatest for these two, (Bohanam House and 
Westbury Court,) homes, where relatives and residents have not started to 
consider alternative accommodation options”, we do have to weigh this against the 
longer term options for the home and the ability to meet the increasingly 
challenging needs of their residents.  

163. Orchard House  - Bishops Cleeve, (Tewkesbury District), is registered for 50 
beds and offers both residential and nursing care There are currently 19 residents 
in the home. There are currently 24 care homes in Cheltenham with 231 
vacancies. Tewkesbury has 10 care homes with a further 31 vacancies.

164. Orchard House occupancy took a steep decline in late 2019 early 2020 
potentially due to the Covid 19 pandemic but the reduction could also be linked to 
the opening of new residential developments in the area. 

165. The layout presents challenges to cater for the increased needs for complex and 
advanced dementia care. It also lacks the modern amenities, and ensuite facilities 
that most individuals expect when moving into residential care. Due to its location 
and the size of the plot it is not possible to redevelop the site in a way that would 
provide the extra facilities required and still leave the home financially viable. 

166. Orchard House, although in Bishops Cleeve, (which is in the wider Tewkesbury 
Borough district), impacts on the Cheltenham care home market. There are 
currently over 200 vacant care home beds in Cheltenham. The Cheltenham market 

Page 53



has been subject to a number of unplanned home closures in the last five years 
but still continues to have the highest level of vacant care beds in the county. The 
majority of the residents in Orchard House originate from the Cheltenham district. 

167. In planning care home developments and care partnerships moving forward 
Gloucestershire County Council will need to review the wider Tewkesbury care 
resource, (other than Tewkesbury Town), in conjunction with Cheltenham and 
Gloucester facilities. 

168. Much of the Cheltenham care market is housed in Georgian and Victorian 
buildings, which though equally as impractical as Orchard House site, appeal to a 
different customer. The home has also lost ground to new developments taking 
advantage of the attractive land costs and business rates in Tewkesbury district to 
build care facilities that meet future needs and expectations.

169. Though the building does not have the ability to be redeveloped as a sustainable 
residential setting able to meet the needs and expectations individuals now 
consider as standard in and for their home, the site does have potential for both 
supported living and home care outreach. We have been approached by home 
care companies wishing to use the site for a home care business, therapy 
outreach centre and as supported living for working age adults requiring care. All 
options would need to be worked up in a feasibility study requiring further 
consultation with local residents.
  

170. During the consultation many of the families of residents note that there had 
been a slow decline in numbers coming into Orchard House. Relatives and 
residents have actively started to make alternative arrangements for their ongoing 
care requirements, recognising that there is a limited future for a home of this type 
in the area.

171. The Elms – Stonehouse, (Stroud District), is registered for 45 beds and offers 
both residential and nursing care. There are currently 25 residents in the home. 
The Elms has had fluctuating occupancy over the past five years however the 
occupancy level could be said to have been stabilised by the closure of two of the 
three other Stroud district care homes in the GCP partnership, Wyatt and 
Southfield in 2019.

172. The property is an older style building which would require significant 
redevelopment of the current footprint to make it fit for future needs and 
expectations. However, the site sits on a sizeable plot and is adjacent to the 
Stonehouse Library site which is also owned by Gloucestershire County Council it 
therefore has the potential to be redeveloped to provide a purpose-built facility to 
support the demographic profiles and needs of the citizens of Stroud district post 
2025.

Page 54



173. The development of this site as a care home and housing with care development 
was first posed in late 2019, early 2020 as Stroud district has a significant number 
of individuals currently receiving care at home - the largest percentage of publicly 
funded care hours for a rural district in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire population 
profiles indicate that these individuals are likely to require a more significant level 
of input post 2025. With this in mind the site at the Elms could provide options in 
relation to both housing with care and residential care.

174. During consultation, questions were raised in relation to maintaining the current 
home whilst developing the site, this option was also tabled as an alternative in the 
proposals presented in 2020. However, upon review the level of disruption for the 
residents, the potential for an increased risk in infection spread through increased 
footfall and the delays which would be added to the building schedule in trying to 
mitigate these risks, would delay the development beyond the predicted date of 
need. Any delays in moving forward this development leaves the residents of 
Stroud district without credible alternatives. 

175. Westbury Court, Westbury on Severn, (Forest of Dean). Evolving Communities 
felt that “the disruption of a closure would be greatest for Bohanam House and 
Westbury Court, where relatives and residents have not started to consider 
alternative accommodation options. This home expressed great concern at the 
thought of a potential closure and displayed a sense of togetherness and 
community spirit.”

176. Westbury Court, is registered for 41 beds and offers both residential and nursing 
care. At the time of writing there are 14 care homes with 49 vacancies in the 
Forest of Dean. There are currently 23 residents in the home. The quality of care 
and the bonds between residents and staff at this home have never been in 
question as the quality of care and interaction between residents, staff and 
relatives has been evident in all consultation sessions and in the level and content 
of feedback received throughout the six weeks of the consultation.

177. However the closure relates to the long-term potential for the home rather than 
capacity within the Forest. The demographic profile for this area is rapidly 
changing in relation to age and identified care needs, becoming more attractive to 
people choosing to move to Gloucestershire as part of their retirement plan. 

178. Work undertaken by commissioners in 2019 showed that the Forest of Dean has 
the largest number of supported living facilities in the county so future provision will 
need to be able to cope with an ageing population where those entering residential 
care have a multiplicity and complexity of need which would require a level of  
technology and equipment that this home is not able to supply. Westbury Court 

Page 55



does not currently have the facilities to meet these expectations and is not on a 
site that could be developed sufficiently to meet these needs.

179. Due to the limitations of the site any development on this site would result in a 
reduction of the number of beds/room available which in turn would make the site 
financially unviable as a registered care home for over 65’s.

180. With the development of a new community hospital in Cinderford, it is likely that 
there will be an increased demand for services that support individuals being 
discharged from hospital. Developing a site on the former GIS site in Cinderford 
will provide care home capacity to meet the demographic profiles and predicted 
needs.

181. The Forest of Dean has the largest number of residents in supported living It is 
therefore envisaged that this site would more closely meet the predicted needs of 
the current recipients of care currently living in the district as their needs develop 
and move towards residential care. 

182. The decommissioning of this home has the potential to impact positively on the 
Gloucester market, where we have a surplus of care beds. There are also plans to 
develop other sites within the Forest of Dean district.

183. Evolving Communities also recommended that GCC considers the following:
 The possibility of refurbishing rather than closing homes. 

Refurbishing the homes would give a short-term boost to occupancy in the 
short term. However, the level of redevelopment required is more than a 
cosmetic overhaul of the rooms. In adding the facilities that people now 
expect when entering care all of the homes would need a major 
refurbishment or rebuild. Where the site makes this possible GCC are 
proposing to close and rebuild a care facility that should be fit for purpose 
moving forward.

 Sharing this report with the care homes and the participants to build trust with 
the council and encourage future participation in engagement projects. 
The report will be shared in full and will accompany the Cabinet Report. 

 GCC to provide substantial notice to participants of future consultation meetings, 
and to consider involving participants when deciding a time for meetings.
We consider that this request was undertaken in all but the initial 
notification meeting and that the timescales here did not allow more notice 
without creating unrest and concern. 

 Encourage cabinet members to visit care homes such as these in the future. 
This does happen and will continue to be part of the process in GCC.

 If closures do happen, to consider the current friendships and relationships 
between residents and staff in any relocation decision. 

Page 56



We have committed to do this and will work with residents, friends and 
families to achieve this where possible.

 GCC to hold fewer consultation meetings and avoid repeating the same 
questions to participants. 
The consultation followed the advice given by legal representatives and 
consultation experts.

184. This report and its appendices also consider the mitigation measures required to 
support this option.   One significant consideration has been that of the residents’ 
human rights.  This report and the Cabinet report in March 22 discuss at some 
length the impact that changing demand, exacerbated by the Covid-19 pandemic 
has had on the adult social care market in Gloucestershire.  Given the County 
Council’s statutory duty with regard to managing and supporting a viable adult 
social care market in the county, the County Council is of the view that the only 
way it can ensure that the market is able to provide the right type of care to meet 
local residents’ needs is to decommission some of the older style care homes it 
owns and rebuilding with more suitable, bespoke provision.   It is of the view that 
this is a legitimate action under Article 8 of the Human Rights Act and that 
options 1 and 2 detailed above will not deliver sufficient impact on the adult 
social care market to reduce the risk of future market failure to an acceptable 
level.

185. This option allows Gloucestershire to manage the short-term impact of the 
pandemic through the removal of surplus beds. The proposed decommissioning 
of these homes responds to the concerns voiced during the engagement 
programme. Our providers requested that we invest across all providers and all 
provision, (many citing and praising the additional steps Gloucestershire took to 
make crisis payments to the market during Covid-19). The proposal to 
decommission beds in homes that would not be responsive to the changes or 
would not be financially viable following necessary refurbishment or investment 
whilst redevelopment and commissioning new facilities demonstrates that 
Gloucestershire is taking an active role in market management.

186. Covid-19 has given rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of 
some of Gloucestershire’s care facilities, particularly in relation to managing 
infection control measures. As we learn to live with this and other viruses, we 
need to work with providers to develop facilities that manage this ongoing threat, 
keeping our most vulnerable citizens safe and able to have a meaningful and 
fulfilled life both before and after entering formal care. The impact of the 
pandemic on our health and care sector has made people question their care 
choices, with many who would previously have entered residential care choosing 
to purchase in retirement villages and other forms of housing with care. Any 
actions taken now will demonstrate that as the Local Authority with health and 

Page 57



social care responsibility we still seen a viable and valuable need for residential 
care. This in turn should help to strengthen and build confidence moving forward.

187. Though recognising the feedback from the consultation was overwhelmingly not 
in favour of closure, we also recognise that the feedback was from those most 
closely impacted. While those views are, of course, important, the Council also 
needs to consider the needs of those who would be equally adversely affected, if 
not more so, should we not take action to ensure the ongoing sustainability of 
the market.

188. During the consultation Gloucestershire County Council and OSJCT Officer have 
offered mitigations in relation to the risks to individuals and have committed to 
the following:

 providing personalised support to every individual and their family in seeking 
an alternative placement should the closures go ahead

 providing adult social care practitioner and commissioner support in identifying 
and securing alternative provision

 moving friendship groups together where possible
 moving staff and friendship groups together where possible
 supporting staff who do not wish to remain in OSJCT into alternative roles 

within care. 

Performance management/follow-up 

189. As previously outlined in this report we have significant previous experience of 
managing care home closures. In each instance we have approached the 
provision of social work and case management with timely, skilled, 
compassionate, and person-centred staff in order to mitigate the personal impact 
of any move. In the past, residents, have moved with their friendship groups or 
have been able to find placements closer to their friends and relatives.

190. Adult social care staff, commissioners and advocates will be allocated to each 
resident and their families in order to facilitate the transition process. This will be 
managed by senior managers through a weekly Senior Oversight Panel. This 
panel will be made up but not limited to representatives from the following:

 Adult Social Care Operations
 Adults Integrated Commissioning
 Integrated Brokerage
 GCC Asset Management & Property Services
 GCC Procurement

Page 58



 GCC Strategic Finance

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



1 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

An independent consultation 
with residents and relatives 
on the potential closure of 

Gloucestershire care homes:
The Elms, Bohanam House,  

Orchard House and Westbury Court

June 2022

Giving people a voice to 
influence positive change 

in health and social care

Appendix 1

Page 61

https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/


2 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

Contents Page

1. Introduction 3

2. What we did 3

3. Who we spoke to 4

4. What people told us 4

4.1.  The Elms, Stroud 4

4.2. Bohanam House, Gloucester 7

4.3  Orchard House, Tewkesbury 10

4.4. Westbury Court, Forest of Dean 12

5. Recommendations 15

6. Limitations 15

7. Acknowledgements 15

About Evolving Communities
Evolving Communities is an independent Community Interest Company. We specialise 
in public and stakeholder engagement and insight to help drive improvements in health 
and social care. Our consultancy team objectively evaluates services from a stakeholder 
perspective to help health and care providers find practical and effective solutions to 
improve how services are designed, developed and delivered. We also run four local 
Healthwatch services in Dorset, Gloucestershire, Somerset, and Wolverhampton.

© Evolving Communities

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk.
You can download this publication from evolvingcommunities.co.uk.

Page 62

mailto:info%40evolvingcommunities.co.uk?subject=
https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/


3 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) recently discovered that occupancy levels in four 
of their care homes have fallen, and the physical environment of the homes no longer 
meet the needs of residents. In particular, there is concern over the lack of modern 
ensuite facilities in the care homes. GCC has also noticed that demand for residential 
care home places has been falling, while the demand for care at home is increasing.

GCC are therefore considering closing four care homes:

 ● The Elms in Stroud

 ● Bohanam House in Gloucester

 ● Orchard House in Tewkesbury

 ● Westbury Court in the Forest of Dean.

GCC acknowledge that any potential closure would have an impact on residents and 
their relatives/representatives. Therefore, they asked Evolving Communities to attend 
a consultation meeting to independently speak with them about the impact a potential 
closure may have on their health and wellbeing.

This report summarises our findings and recommendations for how to proceed based 
on what people told us. It has been shared with GCC and presented at their Cabinet 
meeting in June 2022.

1. Introduction

2. What we did
Residents from all four care homes received a letter from GCC explaining the reasons 
for the potential closure and inviting them and their relatives to a meeting to share 
their views and concerns. We led each consultation meeting and recorded people’s 
feedback. The meetings, which lasted between one and two hours, took place on the 
following dates:

 ● The Elms - 25 April 2022
 ● Bohanam House - 29 April
 ● Orchard House - 3 May
 ● Westbury Court - 6 May

The main objective of these consultation meetings were to understand the likely impact 
of a closure on residents/relatives’ health and wellbeing. To ensure we gained holistic 
understanding, we asked a range of questions to structure the discussion. The open 
meetings were followed by the offer of optional one-to-one sessions, where residents/
relatives could share more personal experiences.

We gave them our contact details so they could send any further comments after the 
meetings. We also created an online survey for each care home (along with hard copy 
versions) so that people who could not attend the meeting could also comment.

Page 63



4 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

3. Who we spoke to

4. What people told us

4.1. The Elms, Stroud

Care home staff were also invited to share their views by email. Where their opinions 
are included in the report, they are clearly highlighted to differentiate them from the 
views of residents and relatives.

The deadline for residents, relatives and staff to provide additional comments was  
13 May 2022.

Most meetings were attended by a mixture of residents and relatives. Nine people 
attended at The Elms, 17 at Bohanam House, three at Orchard House and 29 at 
Westbury Court.

A representative from The Orders of St John Care Trust (OSJCT) attended The Elms 
meeting, but it was decided that the representative would not be present at the other 
meetings to ensure that the consultation remained independent.

We received five emails and eight survey responses.

The following is a summary of what residents and relatives said during the consultation 
meetings, and in any follow-up correspondence. Comments are anonymous, and any 
identifiable information has been changed.

Nine people were present at the consultation meeting - eight relatives and one resident. 
A representative from the OSJCT was also in attendance to take any questions. Two 
relatives shared their comments after the meeting via our survey.

Summarising the ‘feel’ in the meeting room

There was a general sense of acceptance that the home will likely close (the term 
‘closure’ was repeatedly used by the people rather than ‘potential closure’).

Residents/relatives are:

 ● Fixated on what will happen post-closure rather than the possibility of keeping  
it open.

 ● Deflated by and frustrated with the consultation process, and with  
social services.

 ● Uncertain about what is coming next and eager to make arrangements.

Page 64



5 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

A potential or definite closure?
We had to remind people that this is a potential closure. The one resident in the room 
repeatedly asked: “Where are we going?” and a relative queried whether the residents/
relatives will have any input into where they are placed. In response, the OSJCT 
representative replied that each resident would be assigned a social worker. It is clear 
that the resident and relatives believe this is a definite, rather than a potential, closure.

Concerns then turned to the four week’s notice period they thought they had to give 
before moving their residents to a new care home. One relative shared that she had 
secured a new home for her relative but was unhappy about the length of the notice 
period. Once the OSJCT representative explained that residents can now move care 
homes without a notice period, two relatives looked relieved and commented that they 
were pleased with this decision.

The conversation then turned to queries about consultation deadlines and time periods 
allocated for moving relatives out of the care home. There was a real sense that the 
relatives were eager to have more information so that they could get on with the move. 
Relatives were already making arrangements, and while one relative said they looked at 
homes for several hours and discovered there were no vacancies, another had found a 
home, stating: “He’s going to the one I really wanted him to go to in the first place.”

Difficulty with social services
A few people in the room commented that they found social services to be ‘obstructive’ 
and ‘difficult’. One relative shared that social services wanted their loved one to return 
to their own home from hospital with a care package, despite them being a danger to 
themselves and others. Social services had said that their loved one was capable, and 
it was only because the hospital refused to release them unless it was to a care home, 
that they relented. Another relative said there are blurred lines around when social 
services will accept that it is no longer safe for someone to stay at home on their own, 
which prompted the other relatives to question where this ‘tipping point’ is.

Reasons for the potential closure
When discussing reasons for the potential closure, opinions were mixed. One relative  
said they were not surprised, they fully understood, and they felt the GCC 
announcement process was done as well as it could be. Yet, another relative did not 
understand the reasons, arguing that bed blocking persists in hospitals, and that 
decisions like the potential closure do not take this into account.

The conversation soon shifted to the rise in demand for care at home, which is 
considered to be a contributing factor to the reduction in occupancy levels across the 
four care homes. One relative commented that care at home doesn’t suit everyone and 
used the example of a relative who repeatedly suffered from falls at home. Another 
shared that their relative had to sell his own home to fund his current care, so care at 
home is not an option for him.

Page 65



6 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

Concern for staff
The relatives and residents shared their concerns over what may happen to care home 
staff. One relative said: “I feel sorry for the staff and the morale must be very low”, 
while others shared that they could sense that the staff were already being negatively 
affected by the announcement.

The relatives also praised the staff for going to great lengths to understand an individual 
resident’s quirks. One person mentioned that their relative cannot communicate well 
yet the staff have built up a good relationship with her over the years. They know her 
so well that even if she refuses to eat, when they return in a few minutes, she will feel 
differently. This sparked a discussion around how effectively personal needs can be met 
once an environment changes.

Stress and uncertainty
One relative described how their stress levels rocketed from the moment they heard 
about the potential closure as their mother-in-law had only moved into The Elms the 
day before. They describe their family as being ‘blindsided’, and fear that finding a new 
home will be very difficult, as it has been previously.

A relative who contacted us by email stressed that moving their father from a settled 
location to an unknown one, at the age of 94 and with dementia, brings a great deal of 
worry and uncertainty.

Conversely, other relatives at the meeting shared that a move wouldn’t cause a great 
deal of stress for their loved ones. One relative stated: “He’s in his own world” so 
moving him won’t make much difference, to which another agreed, adding: “She won’t 
understand where she is.” A further relative declared: “Carers are carers”, meaning they 
believe their relative would receive equally good care and support elsewhere.

When asked if the residents would miss their daily activities, one relative responded 
that because of COVID it might not make much difference, while another commented “I 
haven’t got a clue what they do.” It is clear that the announcement at The Elms has had 
a varied impact on different relatives.

Page 66



7 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

4.2. Bohanam House, Gloucester

Seventeen people were present at the consultation meeting – ten residents and seven 
relatives. After the meeting one relative shared their opinions through the online survey, 
one resident and one member of staff contacted us via email and one staff member 
completed a survey.

Summarising the ‘feel’ in the meeting room

It is clear that the residents consider Bohanam House to be their home, and that 
the thought of leaving it is unbearable for them.

Residents/relatives are:

 ● Fearful of the future: we sensed high levels of distress and observed an 
overwhelming amount of (health-related and social) anxiety at the prospect of 
leaving Bohanam House.

 ● Discouraged but hopeful: they hold on to hope that Bohanam House could stay 
open and vow to do everything that they can to make that happen.

 ● An extremely close-knit community: they see themselves as ‘one family’ and are 
terrified at the thought of being torn apart from one another.

It’s not a house, it’s a home
It quickly became clear that the residents of Bohanam House are very proud of, happy 
with and comforted by the building they live in. One resident said: “This is a care home, 
a home, our home [and] we want it to stay as it as, with all the people that are here.” 
Residents commented that they enjoy spending time with each other, and that all 
residents share one main lounge, which is the hub of their home. It was explained by 
a member of staff that having one main lounge is special, because unlike other care 
homes, Bohanam House does not separate those with dementia from those without 
dementia. It worried staff that if residents had to move, they may be separated and 
placed into different wards according to their mental state, and that this would be 
upsetting for all involved. The residents/relatives implored GCC to imagine their own 
parents being put in this situation, and suggested that GCC representatives go and live 
at Bohanam House for a few weeks so they can see what it’s like.

Breaking bonds
It was evident to us that Bohanam House is comprised of lots of strong, established 
connections. These connections are extensive, and exist not just between the residents, 
but with the staff, families of other residents and the wider community. We observed 
the interactions between residents/relatives and noticed that they have a great deal of 
adoration and respect for one another. As one resident put it: “Everyone trusts each 
other here.”

Page 67



8 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

The greatest worry that residents/relatives expressed is that they fear they may not 
see each other again. This is also felt by staff, who voiced their concerns that a closure 
would likely destroy the unique relationships between residents that have taken many 
years to form. This prompted one staff member to contact us to ask us: “Are they all 
going to be with their friendship groups [if moved].” Equally, residents/relatives shared 
their worry for staff relationships. One resident commented: “You’re also breaking up 
staff who have built bonds over years”, to which another resident added: “Some staff 
have been here for 40 years.” Residents/relatives said that they are concerned for the 
staff because they are their family; “They’re one of us.” Although staff are currently 
“cheery, smiley and happy”, one relative noted that: “If you move them, they will have to 
try and find their happy again.”

Residents/relatives appeared visibly pained when the conversation shifted to discuss 
the possibility of losing the extended connections (the friendships formed with other 
people’s relatives). While one relative never knew these people seven or eight years 
ago, they now feel that “they will also be taken away from us.” Several relatives and 
residents then commented on how well they got on with other people’s relatives and 
proceeded to talk fondly about them. A relative’s two sons couldn’t attend the meeting, 
but the relative was keen to share with us that: “they know all the residents.” As this 
discussion came to a natural end, a relative remarked that: “It would be such a sad day 
to say goodbye to everybody.”

Growing mental anguish
Not only do the residents fear bonds breaking, but they also fear having to build new 
bonds. A few residents made comments around not wanting to start all over again. One 
resident said that a particular concern is that others in a new home may not be used to 
our ways, and that they may not like us moving into their home. Others agreed.

There was a general feeling in the room of sadness, which was summed up by one 
resident who said: “A lot of the people are getting very depressed at the thought of it 
[moving home].” This was followed by much nodding as well as verbal expressions of 
agreement - “hear, hear.” Residents/relatives felt strongly that a move would require 
reliving past traumas, and that this would be both taxing and harmful. Two main types 
of traumatic experiences were described. Firstly, residents have had to relive the trauma 
of having to leave their family homes and move into a care home:

“Now we are being asked to move on again. It’s bringing up all the 
memories of the trauma.”

Secondly, those that have experienced trauma from having to leave a previous care 
home will have to relive that trauma. One relative explained that if Bohanam House 
closes, it will be the second closure for their mum, as she was in Trevone House before 
it closed. Another relative noted that their mother, who is 102 years old, has previously 
been moved from two other care homes.

Page 68



9 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

End-of-life plans

Relatives shared that much mental anguish has stemmed from not being able to control 
the end-of-life plans prepared for their loved ones, and the guilt they would feel if 
they could not carry them out. One relative shared that staff in a new home wouldn’t 
know anything about their loved one and that’s not what they want for the end of her 
life. Another relative said it’s a big upset for loved ones to be transferred to a new 
environment when they deserve peace in their later life.

After the consultation, a relative approached us for a one-to-one conversation to share 
her fear that she may not be able to carry out her mum’s dying wish, and this is adding 
to the pain caused by watching her deteriorate. She said: 

“My mother knew she was going to die here. It’s her dying wish that she 
dies here like her mum did.”

The relative then questioned if their mum is moved: “Who’s going to know what she 
wants?”, stating that it would be a very cold end to her life to die elsewhere. Before the 
relative left, they emotionally disclosed: “I want her to die here.”

Physically demanding
Residents/relatives also shared their fears that some residents may not survive the 
physical demands required of a move. The residents told us:

“They have tried to move a resident who has been bedridden for four 
years and she has lost consciousness multiple times. If she was moved I 
don’t think she would survive it.”

Some of the younger residents (in their eighties) shared concern for their older 
residents. They explained there are several people in their late nineties and a few over 
100, and argued that to move them would be ‘criminal’ and ‘barbaric’.

Case study: 
Anxiety affects resident’s physical and mental health
One lady talked to us privately at the end of the meeting. She explained that she 
was shaking violently due to her Parkinson’s, and she has experienced a drastic 
deterioration in her physical condition due to elevated stress levels. She said: 
“Moving into a new place where I don’t know anyone is affecting my mental health. 
I have Parkinson’s and had to have more tablets because I couldn’t control my 
shakes. It’s having a huge impact on my health.” The resident explained that she has 
also been introduced to anti-anxiety medication to ease her anxiety, and that other 
residents also need this [medication].

Page 69



10 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

4.3. Orchard House, Tewkesbury

Three people were present at the consultation meeting, and all were relatives. Out 
of the four consultations, this meeting received the smallest turnout. One additional 
relative and one staff member filled out the online survey; one relative filled out a hard 
copy survey; and one relative and one staff member contacted us via email.

Summarising the ‘feel’ in the meeting room

It was surprising to see so few people turn up to the consultation meeting. One 
relative said the absence of attendees “speaks volumes as everyone feels it will 
close anyway.”

Relatives are:

 ● Exhausted from and irritated by the consultation process
 ● Convinced that a closure is inevitable
 ● Concerned for the mental state of their loved ones
 ● Confused as to what happens next.

Frustration with the consultation process
Although just three people attended our meeting, we were told: “There have been 
so many meetings and many people cannot make them all.” People expressed their 
annoyance that yet another meeting was being held on the coming Friday at 4pm, 
which prompted one resident to remark: “What a rubbish time for a meeting.”

As we asked our questions, there was verbal frustration because the relatives felt they 
had already answered these questions in the meetings with GCC. This frustration led 
to the following comment: “The Council has invited Evolving Communities here as due 
diligence and a tick box exercise.”

On several occasions throughout the meeting, the residents declared the ‘closure’ to 
be a ‘done-deal’. One relative said that while other meetings have been very full, the 
numbers have since dwindled because: “Everyone thinks it is a fait accompli.”

The reasons for potential closure
The relatives in the meeting did not agree with the reasons provided for the potential 
closure. They argued that care home places are needed, and that demand for them 
will only increase further in the near future. One relative commented that they found it 
“hard to believe that there are unfilled vacancies [due to] the local hospitals being full of 
patients waiting for placements in care homes.”

Another relative noted that while Orchard House has been negatively affected by 
the coronavirus pandemic, “it was a very vibrant place with lots going on.” Another 
relative felt that the pandemic has been used as an excuse for closure and said that 

Page 70



11 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

the occupancy levels were at capacity just a few years ago. They described how they 
would “walk around the ground floor three years ago and wave to the residents in their 
rooms when the doors were open” and they noticed that all the rooms were full.

When the topic turned to the state of the facilities, those in the room argued that the 
facilities are fine:

“We have spent a fortune paying for this and a wet room is not needed. 
All she needs is a commode next to her bed.”

Yet a relative and a staff member who contacted us shared a different opinion. One 
relative remarked: “We all know this is in need of an update”; while a staff member 
stated: “Our residents deserve better facilities in this day and age” and referenced the 
size of the rooms and the lack of bathrooms as a concern.

The feel of Orchard House is special
When the conversation shifted to how the relatives felt when they first visited Orchard 
House, one relative described that they “knew straight away it was the right place.” The 
same relative explained that when they were looking for a care home, the other ones 
they looked at “left me cold”, whereas Orchard House was visibly “a bustling, happy 
and vibrant place.” Another relative shared a similar experience, voicing that they have 
visited other care homes “which are more like posh hotels [but] they are completely 
soulless.” They all reiterated that the community feel of Orchard House is possible 
because of the small size of the home, and expressed their sadness that if Orchard 
House closed, it would break up a family. They went on to share that their relatives 
would pop into people’s rooms for a chat or a cup of tea, and that they would miss this 
if they had to move.

The relatives offered nothing but praise for the staff, who “love what they do, and it 
shines through.” They shared that they are never made to feel a nuisance and always 
feel involved in their loved one’s care.

“If I think about the closure too much I just want to burst into tears 
because I have been so happy to have my mum here, and she has been 
very happy too.”

Page 71



12 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

4.4. Westbury Court, Forest of Dean

Twenty-nine people were present at the consultation meeting. This meeting received 
the largest turnout, comprising of 12 relatives and 17 residents. One additional relative 
filled in the online survey because they couldn’t attend the consultation meeting.

Summarising the ‘feel’ in the meeting room

Residents/relatives are:

 ● Desperate for the home to stay open
 ● Devastated at the news of the potential closure
 ● Confused at the reasons given for the potential closure
 ● Skeptical as to whether it is at all possible to influence the final decision.

Residents and relatives lack trust in GCC
The consultation meeting started with an open discussion regarding the consultation 
process, and it was evident that residents/relatives were skeptical of our intentions. 
As the meeting went on, they became more trusting, and more open to sharing their 
thoughts with us, including their mutual frustration of GCC. Comments were made such 
as: “Mistrust under-runs all of this” and, “You get the embroidered story in [GCC’s] 
favour.” There were three main reasons for their frustration.

1. Concerns over communication

Residents/relatives were dismayed that they were given such short notice (just two 
days) before the first GCC consultation meeting took place. They felt that this was 
unreasonable, especially when considering that relatives have work commitments 
and that some have to travel long distances to visit their loved ones. They were also 
unsatisfied with the reason given for the short notice, which was: “We didn’t want 
to worry you.” This made the residents/relatives feel undervalued and disrespected. 
One relative added that representatives of GCC were always late for meetings, and 
that they had to wait for half an hour for one meeting to commence. The lack of 
clear communication has led the residents/relatives to believe that GCC is not being 
transparent with them.

2. Not convinced by the reasons for a potential closure

Several relatives wanted to be given more detail on the criteria used to assess each 
care home, in addition to the generic reasons provided at the initial GCC meeting 
(occupancy level, staff shortages, need for upgrading). Without that, they felt they 
cannot adequately comment on the potential closure of the home. Comments such as: 
“We are blind” and “We are being railroaded” were made.

Page 72



13 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

A relative argued that: “Other care homes have no more facilities than Westbury Court, 
so why close this one?” and suggested that the home be refurbished rather than closed. 
We were told this was promised to the residents when the OSJCT acquired Westbury 
Court, but it hadn’t materialised. Regardless, the room was in strong agreement that the 
facilities are up to standard, and that not everyone wants or needs a wet room/ensuite. 
One relative pointed out that the council are not insisting that people cared for at home 
have all the facilities that are said to be needed at Westbury Court. While residents/
relatives were told that infection control is an issue at Westbury Court, a resident noted: 
“There has only been one coronavirus case at Westbury Court” and that infection 
control is good.

Residents/relatives understand that people would prefer to be cared for at home, but 
they are not convinced that there is a fall in demand for places at Westbury Court nor 
are they confident about the practicality of care at home. Reference was made to the 
fact that COVID prevented homes taking more people and that prior to COVID, people 
were on a waiting list to come to Westbury Court. One relative commented that GCC 
have “grand ideas but they haven’t got the means” to properly provide care at home. 
A relative cited her experience of being unable to get home care for her terminally ill 
husband which prompted a resident to say: “Care at home may work for the less needy. 
We need more than that.”

3. Being made to feel that a closure is inevitable

Residents/relatives are frustrated by being made to feel that a closure is inevitable. One 
resident had contributed their opinions in three separate meetings about the closure, 
but admitted: “I’m not sure it’ll make any difference.” A comment was then made about 
the way decisions are made at GCC in the Cabinet, and how hard it is to influence them. 
One resident noted that no councillors have visited Westbury Court, and that this makes 
the residents feel as though the home is insignificant to GCC.

It is clear that residents/relatives at Westbury Court feel it is unlikely that they can play 
a part in determining the outcome of the home. One relative mentioned that she thinks 
the decision is “cut and dried” and all that’s left to sort out is staff redundancies. When 
asked for final comments regarding the potential closure, relatives/residents shared that 
they hope it won’t be closed but they fear “it’s a done deal” and that “there’ll be more 
[closures] after these four.”

The building is their home

The biggest concern in the room was that residents may have to leave their home. 
One relative queried: “There are legal rights to live in your own home - why do these 
not apply here?” Although residents/relatives were provided with information for three 
alternative homes, several people argued that the alternatives are not suitable.

Page 73



14 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

People feel that Westbury Court is of high standard and ‘well loved’. One resident went 
as far to say: “You couldn’t get anywhere better than here.” One relative told us when 
their sister (a resident) was told about the potential closure, she said: “You wouldn’t 
put me in one of those old people’s homes?” The relative explained that this is because 
their sister believes she is at home because of the homely feel that Westbury Court has.

The people are their family
One view that relatives/residents strongly agreed on is that “the staff go above and 
beyond” in their care. One relative gave an example of the kind of care that their loved 
one receives at Westbury Court. The resident (who was present) has complex learning 
difficulties, and previous doctors and care home staff have made incorrect assumptions 
about him. The relative said:

“Here they listen, observe and learn. He is an individual not a list  
of conditions.”

Comments were also made about how staff involve resident’s relatives in their care. 
One relative voiced that if anything happens to a resident, such as getting small bruise 
or losing their glasses, they get phoned right away. Another relative added: “We feel as 
involved [in the care] as the residents.” This relationship between relatives and staff is 
maintained because according to a resident, the staff turnover is low, and this creates a 
sense of continuity for all involved.

Deterioration in mental and physical health
The general consensus among the relatives is that the residents have had to adjust to a 
strange environment during the coronavirus pandemic, and a closure would disrupt their 
environment further. Relatives are concerned that the upheaval caused by a closure 
would be detrimental to the mental and physical health of residents, particularly those 
with dementia.

One relative described how their sister (with dementia) was in her room for two years 
because of the coronavirus. She has only just started to leave her room to meet the 
other residents, and the relative fears that such a drastic change would send her 
on a downwards spiral. One resident commented that placing residents into new 
environments “would make people confused”, before another resident added: “It would 
turn us into vegetables.” A relative pointed out that this would not just be a change, but 
a trauma.

As the session came to an end, one relative pleaded with us:

“We don’t have them for much longer so please don’t make the time 
they have left more difficult than it already is. They don’t deserve this.”

Page 74



15 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

5. Recommendations
We recommend that GCC consider the following:

While the relatives of residents at The Elms and Orchard House have begun to make 
arrangements for their loved ones (including securing places at new homes), it appears 
that the same arrangements have not been made by relatives of those at Bohanam 
House and Westbury Court. We feel that the disruption of a closure would be greatest 
for these two homes, where relatives and residents have not started to consider 
alternative accommodation options. Both of these homes expressed great concern at 
the thought of a potential closure and displayed a unique sense of togetherness and 
community spirit. In particular, we feel a closure would have a deep and lasting effect on 
the residents and relatives of Bohanam House, who illustrated their newfound struggles 
with health-related and social anxiety.

General recommendations to consider
 � The possibility of refurbishing rather than closing homes.

 � Sharing this report with the care homes and the participants to build trust with the 
council and encourage future participation in engagement projects.

 � GCC to provide substantial notice to participants of future consultation meetings, 
and to consider involving participants when deciding a time for meetings.

 � Encourage cabinet members to visit care homes such as these in the future.

 � If closures do happen, consider the current friendships and relationships between 
residents and staff in any relocation decision.

 � GCC to hold fewer consultation meetings and avoid repeating the same questions  
to participants.

6. Limitations
It should be noted that while many views were captured during this piece of work, not 
all residents, relatives and representatives took part in discussions.

7. Acknowledgements
Evolving Communities would like to thank Gloucestershire County Council for 
commissioning this work. We would like to express our gratitude to the residents 
relatives, residents and staff of The Elms, Bohanam House, Orchard House and 
Westbury Court, who took the time to share their views, and were very open and 
honest during what is understandably a difficult time.

Page 75



16 An independent consultation on care homesEvolving Communities

Unit 2 Hampton Park West,  
Melksham SN12 6LH

evolvingcommunities.co.uk

01225 701851

info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk

© Evolving Communities 2022

Evolving Communities is a community interest company (CIC) that specialises in driving improvements in health, social care, and wellbeing 
services through patient, public and stakeholder engagement and insight.

Registered in England and Wales with company number 08464602, the registered office is at Unit 2, Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6LH.

Page 76

https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/
mailto:info%40evolvingcommunities.co.uk?subject=
https://twitter.com/EvolvingCommun2
https://www.facebook.com/evolvingcommunitiesCIC/
mailto:info%40evolvingcommunities.co.uk?subject=
https://www.linkedin.com/company/evolving-communities/
https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/
https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/


Appendix 2

1 | P a g e

Consultation Report
As part of the formal consultation process a series of consultation meetings with residents, family members and staff 
were run with GGC representatives.

In addition, meetings were held with an independent consultancy Evolving Communities, who produced their own 
report, (Appendix 1 to the main Cabinet Report) 

We also held virtual consultation meetings with a GP for Bohanam House who wished to feed into the Consultation 
and the Local Medical Committee (LMC).

The wider community had the opportunity to feed into the consultation and share their views via the online 
consultation portal. 

An introduction script was read at all meetings and attendees at the first meetings were asked the same questions to 
ensure consistency. At the second consultation meetings attendees were asked if there was anything additional they 
wanted to raise, no other questions were asked. Attendees were also invited to complete the online survey and were 
provided with details on the web address, for those without online access a printout of the questionnaire and a prepaid 
postage envelope were provided.

Meeting attendance

 Bohanam House Orchard House The Elms Westbury Court
Consultation 

meeting Staff Residents/ 
relatives Staff Residents/ 

relatives Staff Residents/ 
relatives Staff Residents/ 

relatives
First 20 29 17 12 21 8 38 17

Second 30 20 16 8 12 5 21 10

First consultation meetings
Summary of main themes discussed during the first consultation meeting

The comments recorded at the meetings were categorised and the main themes discussed are detailed below:

Bohanam House Orchard House The Elms Westbury Court
Quality of care Process Decline in mental health Closure rationale
Closure rationale Travel Closure rationale Decline in health
Process Quality of care Future provision Quality of care
Loss of jobs Pandemic Refurbishment Family culture
Family culture Decline in mental health Travel Financial impact
Hospital discharge Family culture Care package  

Page 77



Appendix 2

2 | P a g e

Summary of comments and responses collected during the first consultation meetings 

 Bohanam Orchard The Elms Westbury
 Staff Residents GP Staff Residents Staff Residents Staff Residents

LMC

Care package 0 0 1 3 1 1 3 0 4 1

Choice of home 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Closure rationale 2 7 1 1 0 2 3 23 2 2
Community 
connections with the 
home

2 0 0 4 2 1 0 0 1 0

Decline in health if 
moved 0 2 1 1 0 1 1 2 6 0

Decline in mental 
health if moved 0 2 1 4 3 3 3 3 1 0

Not in support closure 0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 0

Facilities 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 4 0
Family culture at the 
home 5 1 0 4 3 2 0 4 2 0

Financial impact 1 2 0 1 2 3 0 1 4 1

Financial profit for GCC 0 1 0 2 1 1 0 2 0 0

Future provision 0 0 1 0 0 3 2 0 2 1

Hospital discharge 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 2

Location 1 0 0 2 0 1 2 0 1 0

Loss of jobs 4 2 0 0 0 1 0 2 1 0

Mortality impact 0 3 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0

No positive benefits 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0
Pandemic has affected 
the home 0 1 0 4 4 1 0 0 0 0

Petition to save home 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Preventing closure 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 0 0
Process of the 
consultation 5 3 0 7 5 3 0 1 1 2

Quality of care at 
current home 8 9 9 5 4 1 1 2 6 2

Reduction in visits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0
Refurbishment of the 
home 2 0 0 2 1 4 1 2 1 0

Site redevelopment 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Staffing team 2 0 0 0 3 0 1 3 1 3

Stressful 1 0 0 1 2 1 2 0 0 1

Sufficiency of provision 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Support 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Timeline of the 
consultation 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0

Transfer to new home 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0

Travel to another home 1 2 0 8 3 2 2 1 2 0
Uncertainty during 
consultation 1 0 0 0 3 0 1 1 0 0

Vacancies by care 
category 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Visiting 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Page 78



Appendix 2

3 | P a g e

First Staff Consultation meeting - Bohanam
What concerns you the most about the possible closure of Bohanam House?

 Staff shortages

 Quality of care

 Stress 

Staff said they were concerned at the proposal as there is such a shortage of care staff in the sector. 

Others said they felt that the quality of care provided at Bohanam was exceptional, and that they had prevented a 
lot of hospital admissions in the past and more recently. One said ‘at the weekend we took a lady for respite as 
her care package had broken down, with us and rapid response we keep people out of hospital’ 

Another said ‘it’s a small home but we’ve no issues with social distancing and we are not registered for dementia 
so that’s not an issue’ 

They also said they had concerns that it was causing a lot of stress for the residents. ‘We have a resident who is 
98 years old and has been here 6 years, he never shows emotion, but he’s really upset. We are feeling stressed 
so imagine how they are feeling’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact the residents?

 Friendships

 Quality of care

Staff told us there were concerned that residents would not receive the same care in another home as they know 
the residents so well one said ‘We are worried residents won’t get the care they need, some residents will eat with 
their eyes shut but we know that and in a new home they may think there asleep and not even try’ 

Others said they were concerned about the loss of friendship groups ‘we are not spilt we are all together 
(dementia & non dementia) one resident who does not speak still comes down and will watch everyone and smile’ 
‘We are worried they would be split across different homes. 

How do you think a closure of Bohanam House would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

 Financial 

 Trust/Relationships 

Staff said they felt this would impact on relatives and friends immensely. ‘Lots of visitors walk here, they will not 
get on a bus 

Another said ‘Who is going to cover the additional costs, it may be more expensive to move to a more expensive 
home, they have a contract here’ 

Others said there were concerned about the impact on residents and relatives building new relationships with staff 
‘It’s the impact of having to get to know new staff and trust them. Would need to get used to a new environment 
and build trust.’ 

‘We have a lady who spends Christmas day here with her mum as we are the closet thing she has to family’ 

How do you think a closure of Bohanam House would impact on you as a staff member? 

 Loss of job 

 Family culture

 Uncertainty 

Staff told us that the home had a family culture and that was one of the main reasons for wanting to work at the 
home, even if they had other homes they could work at closer to their own home. Others said they lived locally 

Page 79



Appendix 2

4 | P a g e

and said ‘I live round the corner I have been here 3 years; it will be stressful to move, and I feel for the residents 
and their families’ 

Another said, ‘it’s a home, not a hotel, why can’t you close a big one and split it between us four homes (homes 
under consultation)?’ 

Staff were worried about the loss of their jobs and the uncertainty ‘I am gutted, I am the breadwinner I’ve been 
here 34 years and to have to do a cv and interview again’  

Another said ‘single mums, uncertain about what is going to happen, do I start looking for a new job but then I am 
worried there won’t be enough people to look after the residents’ 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have on residents?

 Staff did not see any benefits

All staff told us they did not see any positive benefits a move could have on residents and felt they could meet all 
residents’ needs, and that people had improved since being admitted one added ‘I come from Lydney but chose 
this home as its special’ 

Would you support a closure of this home?

All staff told us that they did not support a closure.

Further comments from staff: 

Further comments from staff were around what they felt they could do to better utilise the home and support the 
market:

 ‘Take out the inadequate care homes, we’ve always been good CQC here’

 ‘Assessment units, couldn’t we be something like that? Could we do reablement care?’ 

 ‘Why can’t we make improvements here?’

 ‘Have you looked into us being used for respite to take the pressure off hospital’

Other comments were around rationale, staff members said they felt they had enquired about beds in the previous 
weeks and could have increased occupancy. Others said ‘we are an older building, but we are one of the best 
homes for keeping residents safe. Only got covid once when we opened. None of our residents need a bathroom, 
maybe one, but there all high risk of falls.’ 

First Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting - Bohanam
What concerns you most about the possible closure of Bohanam House?

 Decline in health & wellbeing

 Travel 

Relatives told us they had concerns around their relative/friend’s health & wellbeing if they had to move to another 
home. One relative said ‘My mother’s health is a concern, she has cancer and dementia, she cannot see or talk, 
and she is in her 90’s. If something happened to my mother in transit if it killed her, who is answerable to that?’ 

Others raised concerns around distance of the home for visitors without access to transport. ‘My mums been here 
8 years, I don’t drive but I can still visit her regularly if she moved to another home, I wouldn’t be able to visit as 
often’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on you as a resident?

Relatives said they chose the home, because of the ambiance and not the facilities and said, ‘it’s such a nice 
home’ and worried there relative/friend wouldn’t get the same elsewhere.

Page 80



Appendix 2

5 | P a g e

Residents said the same. One resident said, I have been here just over 7 years and the quality of care I get here 
is more than good. My worry is that will I get the same level of care somewhere else. Would I settle in my new 
home, we are all a family here we are not just a care home’  

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on your daily activities and everyday life as a 
resident?

There was some discussion regarding covid and that activities and the usual entertainment that was provided had 
changed with restrictions, however a resident added ‘we have an expectational good activities lady here, if you 
want to do something she is there, we will lose a lot of things’ 

There were also comments and concerns around the impact on friendship groups at the home a resident said ‘I 
don’t want to leave here, all my friends are here, my view is your pushing us out’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

Family members said they feel this had been discussed in other questions, and again highlighted visiting concerns 
if they were to move further away and the concerns that the quality of care and atmosphere would not be the 
same in another home. 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for the residents?

All relatives and residents said they did not see any positive benefits

Would you support a closure of Bohanam?

All relatives and residents at the meeting said that they did not support a closure. 

Further comments from relatives & residents:

Family members further told us of their concerns around there fears of relative/friends dying if they were to move 
home. One relative said, ‘My mum is over 100 years old; how would we move her safely and stop her dying on the 
journey?’ 

There was also discussion and questions around occupancy levels of the home, other OSJ homes and the rest of 
the Gloucester care market as well as self-funders. One relative said ‘Is it true you get more money from self-
funders? I am trying to understand why the market has changed and everything is being blamed on covid?’ 

Residents also discussed their friendship groups and if social workers would support them if the decision were too 
close, and what choice there would be. There was a lot of passion from both residents and relatives about the 
home and one resident added ‘But Bohanam house is not closing, you have got our backs up and if we get our 
backs up you people have got a problem’ 

GP Questions & Feedback - Bohanam
What concerns you most about the possible closure of Bohanam House?

 Quality of care

 Decline in resident health

They said they felt that Bohanam was the best home by far, and said ‘the quality of referrals, the staff knowledge, 
and one of the strengths of Bohanam is the end-of-life care.’ 

One resident is over 100 years old and has been on end-of-life care for 9 years, and the GP said they felt it was 
the quality of care that they receive.

The GP also said that they were concerned and worried for the residents’ health, and said ‘uprooting them, will 
have a detrimental effect on their health. Especially for those living with dementia or suffering with anxiety’ 

They also expressed their concerns around individuals living at home who aren’t able to cope and said that these 
often present as medical needs when it’s actually a residential need. 

Page 81



Appendix 2

6 | P a g e

They also expressed a concern around number of beds and said ‘I think we’ll hit crisis point in the next couple of 
months and there won’t be enough beds. Patients keep coming back as their needs are not being met social 
needs rather than medical’ 

Concerns were also expressed around community care, and the sufficiency of provision available. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on residents?

‘It will isolate them from their families, and possibly move them away and destroy relationships’ 

‘Residents had bubbles during covid, and this helped their mental health, I think they will give up and die’ 

How do you think a closure would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

The GP said was concerned about the short-term risk to vulnerable residents. ‘They know the dynamics of the 
family members which impacts on the quality of care, they will have to get to know staff again. Miscommunications 
and poor communication have always played a part in when things go wrong, it will make residents vulnerable as 
there will be gaps in information’ 

They also added ‘good handovers can mitigate risk, but you can make better decisions when you know about 
someone’s past’ 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for residents? 

‘No, I can’t see anything good coming out of it’ 

Would you support a closure of Bohanam House?

They said they would not support a closure

Further comments:

Further comments were around the quality of the care ‘the staff are incredible and the zone of nursing home 
having a lead GP has been their strength, it’s been well run over the last 7 years’ 

They said they understood how an ensuite would be more hygienic but still didn’t feel this was important. 

‘Would I put my relative there, yes I would’ 

They also commented on activity in the home and that there has always been stimulation and something on the 
go for example bingo, and the food always smells nice. 

Page 82



Appendix 2

7 | P a g e

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Concerns around insufficiencies in care in the home
Choice 

Closure rationale
Community Connections 

Decline in health of residents if moved
Decline in mental health of residents if moved

Not in support of closure
Facilities of Bohanam 

Family culture of Bohanam 
Financial impact

Financial profit for GCC
Future provision

Hospital discharge
Location of Bohanam 

Loss of jobs
Mortality impact on residents

No positive benefits
Pandemic

Petition
Preventing closure

Process of consultation
Excellent quality of care in Bohanam 

Refurbishment of Bohanam 
Staffing

Stressful
Timeline of consultation 

Transfer to new home
Travel to another home or workplace if it was further...

Uncertainty during consultation

Bohanam GP Bohanam Residents & Relatives Bohanam Staff

First consultation meetings summary of comments & responses - Bohanam

Page 83



Appendix 2

8 | P a g e

First Staff Consultation meeting – Orchard House
What concerns you the most about the possible closure of Orchard House?

 Popular home

 Community involvement 

 Covid has prevented admissions

Staff told us that they were concerned about the proposal and expressed they felt the home was a popular choice, 
a staff member said it was ‘buzzing 24/7 before covid’ they also said ‘We want to see people here and have the 
home full, to make people’s lives happier and create a buzzing environment’ 

Staff said the home was well known in the local area, and that staff are well known. They said the community had 
said it’s a local resource and stated, ‘people are still wanting to come here, even though you want to close & 
upgrade it’ Staff also said ‘People are queuing for Orchard House, and have been told there can be no new 
admissions by GCC due to outbreak’ 

Staff also said they felt the decision had already been made stating ‘we do have sources in the council who have 
said that the decision has already been made so this is a waste of our time’ and said this was a ‘giant slap in the 
face’ as the manager had asked previously if the home maybe closing and was told no. 

Staff also expressed concerns around who was supporting the residents while they attended the consultation 
meeting. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact the residents?

 Fears for residents’ health and wellbeing if they were moved

 Family culture in the home

Staff expressed their concerns for the residents if the home were to close and told us that the proposal had 
already started to impact on some residents. Staff said ‘their mental state will decline; they get really worried and 
want an explanation on what is going to happen. They are settled and happy here’ Staff expressed their worries 
for the residents and said ‘we may lose the residents much earlier if they move, because of the shock’ 

Staff also said ‘we are a family; we’ve been here over a decade’ they also said that some of the residents had also 
lived there for a long time. 

Staff said ‘didn’t we win a grant for 1.2 million to get the home up to standard, why happened to that’ 

How do you think a closure of Orchard House would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

 Family culture 

 Local to families’ homes and part of the community 

 Resident decline

Staff said that many families had chosen this home as it is part of the community and local to their homes and 
families, and that people may have to rely on public transport to visit which they don’t want to do. A staff member 
said ‘someone moved their auntie here, as she lives locally to Cheltenham, where will she put her now? She can’t 
drive’  

They also told us that families and friends are concerned, as they feel there relative/friend receives extraordinary 
care at Orchard house, and that the home is an extended family to them. ‘For years this has been the care home 
serving Bishops Cleeve, so many people talk about it, it is well known the level of excellent care given here’ 

They felt that the impact on relatives and friends would be them watching a decline of their relative/friend, if they 
were to move.

How do you think a closure of Orchard House would impact on you as a staff member? 

 Travel
 Financial impact
 Family culture 

Page 84



Appendix 2

9 | P a g e

Staff told us that the biggest impact on them would be travel, and they felt that the public transport connections in 
Bishops Cleeve were an issue ‘Travel from Bishops Cleeve is horrible, it is one of the most horribly connected 
places in the county’ ‘I can’t drive which means I’ll have to rely on public transport which will be a nightmare’ 

They said a lot of transport links in Cheltenham have depleted, which makes it more difficult. A staff member 
shared other experiences of travel ‘my sister works in Cheltenham and sometimes the buses are cancelled which 
means she’s had to walk home. Imagine if we had to walk all the way back to Bishops Cleeve’

Staff also expressed that they felt there would be a financial impact to them, with the increase in cost of living and 
petrol prices. ‘This will affect people financially due to the costs of living, which will lead to a decline in mental 
health, we just want an answer so we can start planning for our futures’ 

The family culture of the home was also discussed, and staff told us that they chose to work in this home because 
it is like a small family. ‘I love my job, I love this place, I can find a job in Gloucester so it’s not about transport. 
We’re here for the residents, and you will destroy our lives’ 

Staff said that they felt people didn’t want an ensuite, they just want a friendly family atmosphere. ‘We put our own 
money in this place for the residents for them to enjoy everyday activities’ 

Staff members also expressed that they have children, and this could pose childcare issues if they had to find 
another job, another said ‘being on maternity leave and dealing with the proposal is unsettling, not knowing what 
is going to happen’ 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have on residents?

Staff did not see any benefits

All staff told us they did not see any positive benefits a move could have on residents. They said ‘People don’t 
want to be in their own home. They want someone 24/7 to help them. You cannot give consistency of care whilst 
they are living at home’ 

Staff expressed concerns around domiciliary care, and the time schedules carers have to work to. They also said 
they felt individuals in the community were not given sufficient care as there isn’t the time. 

Staff said they felt this proposal was for financial profit for GCC, one staff member said ‘please don’t focus on the 
improvement of your profit please think about our lives and how you will ruin it. Why have you not done anything 
here to improve it? Despite that people still want to come here’ 

Would you support a closure of this home?

All staff told us that they did not support a closure.

Further comments from staff: 

Many of the other comments from staff were around the process, staff said they felt it was a ‘frustrating’ and ‘long 
process’ with one staff member saying ‘it is a cruel, dragged-out process’. 

The staff also asked several questions around their own employment consultation process which OSJ supported 
to answer:

 At any point can a staff member had in their notice even if they’ve said they are going to stay?
 Is the redundancy paid by OSJ or the Government?

Staff also had questions around the Consultation and Cabinet process  

 What do you do with the feedback, and does it make a difference to the decision?
 Are the council funding the support for extra staff whilst the consultation meetings are happening?
 How do the public know about the consultation, and how do they respond to it?

The consultation timeline and key dates were explained, and the options to feed into the consultation for both 
staff, residents and relatives and the wider community were explained. One staff member confirmed that the GP 
attached to the home has received the letter but stated they did not know if they wanted to respond. Others 
discussed private homes in the area, staff said ‘this is the only home in the village that is council, there is a private 
home, but they won’t take council funded people’ they also asked ‘has the privately funded home been 

Page 85



Appendix 2

10 | P a g e

approached to take council rates? If they start taking them then we are dead in the water’ another staff member 
added ‘I have had the manager of the new home phone us to ask about local authority rates, and considering the 
other homes with all the facilities that you say people want, they are struggling to fill the vacancies how does that 
help?’ another staff member added ‘ultimately, the council is responsible for shutting this home. Why can’t we 
merge with another home?’ 

There were also comments made around the process, and some staff said they felt it was going to close. A staff 
member said ‘It’s just a shame, the homes been here a long time, and I was here when they said it was going to 
close before. We have a petition and it stayed open but there isn’t the older population around here now it’s all 
built on younger people, it isn’t a village anymore its more of a town’ 

First Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – Orchard House
What concerns you most about the possible closure of Orchard House?

 Decline in health & wellbeing
 Stress
 Use of agency staff

Lots of relatives expressed their concerns for their relative/friend’s health and wellbeing if they were to move. ‘For 
someone with dementia, it can push someone in a downward decline. This can be mental and physical’ A family 
member said, ‘my mum had dementia and a move could be enough to tip the balance which is what I’m really 
worried about it could be too much for her.’ 

They also told us that due to the pandemic and the lack of visitor access, residents relate to the carers as these 
were who they saw daily. ‘The quality of care is extraordinary, staff have had a rough time and it has been the 
staff who have kept the relatives happy, you are effectively breaking up a family.’ 

Relatives also felt that Orchard House was a part of the community and said ‘Cleeve is a thriving hub, you should 
be seizing the opportunity to enhance on it’  

One family member told us they had seen an increase in agency staff working in the home and said they were 
concerned they were not passing on information on how to specifically care for individuals. 

Relatives said they felt they have added stress and were worried about changing information about bank details 
for their relative/friends. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on you as a resident?

Residents at Orchard House did not or were unable to express their views on closure themselves, however family 
members gave their views on how they felt it would affect their relative/friends. 

They told us they felt it would upset them, as it’s taken time for them to settle in. One said ‘my mother has been 
moved to different rooms 3 times since being here, and she is oxygen, and she has been very unsettled’ 

Family members asked the following questions: 

Is it the commercial impact, is that the main reason for a proposed closure?

How much do you think covid has affected the whole market in terms of people coming into the homes?

How many times has a home not closed after going through this process?

GCC responded to the questions, with the rationale in the March 22 Cabinet Report as to the purpose of the 
consultation and decision to consult on a proposed closure. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on your daily activities and everyday life as a 
resident?

Residents at Orchard House did not express their views on closure themselves, however family members gave 
their views on how they felt the daily activities and everyday life would be affected for their relative/friends.

Page 86



Appendix 2

11 | P a g e

Relatives told us that due to the pandemic, the activities at the home had been restricted and the residents had 
been isolating in their rooms for most of the past 2 years. They told us that there used to be singing groups, 
quizzes and animal pet therapy visits, and said ‘the dining room would be packed with residents sitting in 
friendship groups’ 

Many told us that since covid, their relative/friends have found making friends in the home has been difficult as 
they haven’t had the chance to socialise. A relative said ‘it used to be a place with so much laughter’ 

They said the staff appear to still keep the residents occupied, and that it’s not just the residents but the staff ‘they 
all do things together’ 

Relatives said having local staff helps to keep them connected and bring back memories of the past. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

 Concerns around care standards/choice of alternative homes
 Travel
 Financial impact
 Stress 

Relatives expressed various concerns on how it would impact them, with some concerned regarding travel and 
distance getting to another home should their relative/friend move and others expressed their concerns regarding 
the levels of care they receive and Orchard and worried they would not be able to find this elsewhere and asked if 
they would get a choice of other suitable care homes.

One family member said ‘The biggest thing for me in not the travelling, I’ve never had to worry about my brother 
due to the level of care he receives here. I will have to re-start the whole process again, getting to know the staff 
and who will be looking after him if he has to move’ 

Some expressed the uncertainty they felt, and said ‘Will we have a choice of where to send our relative or will we 
just have to go where you say?’ Others told us that they were concerned if their relative/friend were to move 
further away, saying they do not want to have to rely on public transport and the reduced time they would get with 
their relative/friend if they moved further away ‘I am lucky that this home is on a bus route, and I work close. My 
concern is that my work will not be happy with me taking longer breaks to see my mum’ Others had similar 
concerns regarding the increased costs of travel ‘We already travel 18 miles to get here (orchard) which can be 
expensive and it will be hard if she is moved for families to come and see her’ 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for the residents?

Residents at Orchard House did not express their views on closure themselves, however family members gave 
their views on any potential benefits for their relative/friends.

All relatives at the meeting said they did not see any positive benefits, some shared with us their reasons for 
choosing Orchard House. ‘We chose this home due to the locality of it, and the price’ 

A family said they had looked at other homes but felt they were ‘soulless’ and that Orchard had a ‘vibrant 
atmosphere’ and that the communication between the staff and families is ‘outstanding’ 

Another family member said ‘while I understand, and ensuite might be nice to have for my mother it is completely 
useless’

While the consensus was that they could not see any positive benefits in closing the home they did say ‘if the 
homes were to close something positive should be done with it, it shouldn’t be left to rack and ruin’

Would you support a closure of Orchard House?

All relatives at the meeting said that they did not support a closure. 

Further comments from relatives:

We had further comments from relatives around the rationale, one family member said ‘if GCC’s main thrust of 
economic viability of running the homes at less than capacity, what would be your view if alternative funding could 

Page 87



Appendix 2

12 | P a g e

be found divesting GCC’s responsibility’ another family member also asked, ‘are there other homes that don’t 
have ensuites are they closing too?’ 

We had questions around the timeline and what to expect and the key dates were shared with family members. 
Others asked what help and support would be available. One relative said ‘as long as my mother is going to be 
safe, and we are going to get help then I am okay with it’ 

There were also questions around security of the property, should the decisions be to close, and family asked ‘if it 
does close and takes some time to decide what to do, will there be security to ensure there can’t be illegal entry’ 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Concerns that care at home isn't sufficent

Choice

Closure rationale 

Community Connections of the home

Decline in health of residents if moved

Decline in mental health of residents if moved

Not in support of a closure

Family culture in the staffing team at Orchard

Financial impact 

Financial profit for GCC

Location of Orchard

Mortality impact on residents

Pandemic has affected the home

Process of consultation 

Excellent quality of care at Orchard

Refurbishment of Orchard

Staffing Team

Stressful 

Support

Concerns timeline for consultation is long

Transfer to new home

Travel to another home if it was further away 

Uncertainty during consultation 

Orchard House Residents Orchard House Staff

First consultation meetings summary of comments & responses - Orchard House

Page 88



Appendix 2

13 | P a g e

First Staff Consultation meeting – The Elms
What concerns you the most about the possible closure of The Elms?

 Decline in resident health and wellbeing
 Loss of jobs 

Staff told us that they were concerned for the residents and worried it would influence their health and wellbeing 
and said that some residents have had to move previously and worried another move would cause a decline in 
their health. 

Staff also said they worried about the loss of their job ‘What will we do?’ 

How do you think a closure of The Elms would impact the residents?

 Residents Anxiety 
 Local community 

Staff told us further that they were more concerned for the residents than themselves and said ‘residents are 
starting to look at other care homes as they are worried’ they also said they feel the chances of residents passing 
away after a move and staff said they were concerned that we had not taken this into consideration. Staff said 
they felt if residents moved it would take them a long time to adjust ‘We know the residents really well so moving 
them were they don’t know would stress them out’ another staff member added ‘we worry that the residents will go 
somewhere where their cant won’t be the same, how we care for them’

Staff said ‘we hand on heart deal with everything here, it’s rare we can’t meet people’s needs’

They also said that the home is a part of the community ‘Some residents came here as they have lived in 
Stonehouse for most of their life and grew up here, it is all they have known and would have to leave’ another said 
‘The Elms is part of the community here in Stonehouse’ 

Others expressed financial concerns and said, ‘What if the residents move and cannot afford it, or they go 
somewhere and their money runs out sooner, what happens then?’ a further staff member added ‘there are lots of 
other private homes in Stonehouse, but there is not anywhere like this. This is for normal people who do not have 
loads of money’ 

How do you think a closure of The Elms would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

 Increased travel

Staff said they were concerned that if The Elms were to close, that friends and relatives may not be able to visit 
as often as many of them live locally to the home and some do not drive. 

How do you think a closure of The Elms would impact on you as a staff member? 

 Family culture 
 Live locally 
 Financial
 Emotional impact

Staff expressed their emotions, and some told us they were finding this very stressful. They told us that they see 
the home as a family ‘we all come as a group, everyone who works here knows each other inside out, closing the 
home would separate us and disrupt the culture and family we have built over the years’ another staff member 
added ‘we are a big family and you’re going to break it, that’s really hard and after the last two years we’ve come 
through we are not letting this family go without a fight’

Some staff said they live locally to the home, and said they are worried about what they would do. One said, 
‘Public transport is very hit and miss around here’ and another said ‘the increased cost of living is rising’ 

Staff members said that some staff have already been through previous closures of other homes and they have 
been concerned for some time and have heard ‘rumours’ about a possible closure of The Elms and said it had 
been unsettling ‘We keep wondering if this is the last Christmas we will have here, what if you decide to close 
more homes in a few years’ time and we have to go through this again?’ 

Page 89



Appendix 2

14 | P a g e

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have on residents?

 Staff did not see any benefits

All staff told us they did not see any positive benefits a move could have on residents. 

Staff felt that the home was full capacity prior to Covid and said that residents do not want modern ensuite 
facilities and choose to come to the home as they hear good things about the care and culture even if they do not 
have the most up to date facilitates. ‘Residents can’t use the facilities on their own, so they’ll be paying for rooms 
just to look at them’ 

Staff said they felt that the home should have been invested in and said, ‘We were meant to have been invested 
in before Covid, why can’t you do this now and not close it?’ 

Would you support a closure of this home?

All staff told us that they did not support a closure.

A staff member said ‘we don’t have many care homes in this area as they’re all being closed down, locals will 
have no choice but to leave the place where they have been their whole life’ 

Further feedback from staff: 

Staff asked questions around what to expect from the process 

 When will we be notified of the cabinet decision?
 What happens if the decision is to close, what happens after the 22nd of June?
 Will we have access to these reports?

There were also further questions around rationale, and many raised questions regarding individuals in hospital 
and asked why we cannot place them in the vacant beds with one staff member saying ‘I am sure you could fill the 
beds if you went over to the hospital’ 

There were also other comments made by staff around the land and property ‘you want the land’ ‘if you are getting 
your rent what is the problem?’ with one staff member adding ‘this is going to be a housing estate; the library is 
closed its going to be council houses’ 

Others said they felt there was so much uncertainty and they felt they wanted to ‘laugh’ at the questions asked. 
Others said they understand that they ‘do not have all the facts’ but this is their team and their lives.

First Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – The Elms
What concerns you most about the possible closure of The Elms?

 Decline in health & wellbeing
 Location of other homes
 Capacity 

Some relatives expressed that their relative/friends were happy in the home and would not want them to leave. A 
family member said ‘my mother has been here only a few weeks, and I was relieved when I saw the quality of care 
here’ 

Another family member said they were concerned about the health of their relative/friend and said ‘for residents 
who have dementia, when they move it will make their condition a lot worse’ 

Several family members asked questions regarding the capacity in the rest of the care home market, in 
particularly in the Stroud District. One family member said ‘I trust that you will put people in care homes as close 
to their districts as possible, which is the closest one to here?

Another said, ‘So will I need to know the vacancies for each of the homes and the categories of care they offer?’ 

Page 90



Appendix 2

15 | P a g e

Family also expressed their concerns regarding the staff team and said ‘I imagine this is very difficult for the staff if 
they don’t have their own transport and are local to this home’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on you as a resident?

 Resident upset

Financial Costs

Only one resident at The Elms expressed their views, for those that did not or were unable to express their views 
on closure themselves, family members gave their views on how they felt it would affect their relative/friends. 

Relatives said they feel it would upset the resident and impact them a lot, one said ‘They come here at a difficult 
time in their life, leaving everything they know, to come to an alien place’ another relative said ‘it’s difficult to come 
to terms with, imagine being told you have 12 weeks’ notice to leave your home’ 

A resident expressed that her family live far away, and said she was worried if she had to move how she would 
visit alternative care homes to view and the cost of the transport to get there. 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on your daily activities and everyday life as a 
resident?

 Familiar staff 

Residents at The Elms did not express their views on closure themselves, however family members gave their 
views on how they felt the daily activities and everyday life would be affected for their relative/friends.

Some family members said that their relative/friends new the staff well, and felt if she were to move, she would not 
know anyone. 

Family expressed that due to Covid regulations, things have been difficult and not daily life as usual. One family 
member said ‘I wanted to take my mother out into town last summer, but they care home risk assessed this and it 
wasn’t possible so instead we sat in the garden’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

Some relatives expressed a concern if there relative/friend was to move to a home further away as they live 
locally. One said ‘I am only 15 minutes up the road so it is very easy for me to come and visit (covid permitted) 
and it will be an upheaval if we have to move her again’ 

Others expressed different views one family member said ‘It would be good if we could move mum closer to the 
stroud centre closer to relatives’ another family member said that they had wanted their relative/friend to go to an 
alternative OSJ home however due to covid the home was closed and so they felt this could be a good time to 
move them to their first-choice home if capacity allowed. 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for the residents?

 Closer to family
 Facilities/staffing to better meet personal hygiene needs

Most relatives at the meeting said they did not see any positive benefits and felt their relative/friends were settled 
in the home and received great care.

While other relatives agreed that their relative/friends were settled at the home, they shared with us the positive 
benefits their relative/friends may experience if they were to move, like moving closer to family.

One said ‘I do not suppose it applies to every resident, but people may have been placed here because it was the 
only space so for some it could be a positive thing to move nearer relatives. 

A resident added, ‘My family live far away and I’ve got to try and make my mind up about where I want to be’ 

Others also expressed their views on modern facilities like ensuites and wet rooms. ‘I understand the rooms here 
do not have ensuites and are dated compared to other homes, is there anything than can be done to change that 
here?’ another relative added ‘While I appreciate not everyone can use these, no one wants to use a commode 
and would rather have their own bathroom.

Page 91



Appendix 2

16 | P a g e

One family member said ‘One positive would be if there were less homes, and therefore more staff working in 
each of them it could mean residents could have showers more frequently, recently that has been a challenge due 
to staff shortages’ 

Another relative said ‘My dad has not been able to have a bath for 2 years due to the risk assessments carried 
out’ 

A family member asked ‘if the homes closed, will the money be spent to improve the care for the elderly?’ 

Would you support a closure of The Elms?

All relatives at the meeting said that they did not support a closure. 

Family members did ask ‘Are GCC planning on building more residential/nursing homes?’

Further feedback from Residents & Relatives: 

Further feedback and questions were around process and social work assessments. Families wanted to know 
what the process would be. Other questions were around vacancies for the staff one relative asked ‘are there 
many vacancies for staff to go to if it does close?’ another relative added. ‘It does make sense if there are lots of 
empty beds and not enough staff to combine them in less homes’ 

Page 92



Appendix 2

17 | P a g e

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5 3 3.5 4 4.5

Concerns around insufficiencies in care in the home 

Choice 

Closure rationale

Community Connections

Decline in health of residents if moved

Decline in mental health of residents if moved

Not in support of a closure

Facilities of home

Family culture of The Elms

Financial impact

Financial profit for GCC

Future provision

Location of The Elms

Loss of jobs

Mortality impact on residents

No positive benefits

Pandemic has affected home

Preventing closure

Process of consultation

Excellent quality of care at The Elms

Refurbishment od The Elms

Site redevelopment

Staffing Team

Stressful

Concerns timeline for consultation is extensive

Travel to another home or workplace if it was further away 

Uncertainty during consultation 

Vacancies of other homes by care category

Visiting impact if location of another home is further away 

The Elms Residents The Elms Staff

First consultation meetings summary of comments & responses 
- The Elms 

Page 93



Appendix 2

18 | P a g e

First Staff Consultation meeting – Westbury Court
What concerns you the most about the possible closure of Westbury Court?

 Decline in Resident Health

Staff said they were concerned about the residents and their mental health & wellbeing. Staff said ‘one of our 
residents is 100 years old and has never left Westbury’ another added ‘one resident is blind, but they can find their 
way around here’ 

Many other comments to this question were around closure rationale. Staff made these comments:

 ‘You’ve closed homes in the past to fill other homes, and it just doesn’t work’ 
 ‘Why pick on the OSJ homes to close?’ 
 ‘Do you think this would give you more money, to build houses on it?’
 ‘We were full before the pandemic; we had a waiting list’ 
 ‘Why Westbury Court, there are similar OSJ homes with a similar layout’ 

How do you think a closure of Westbury Court would impact the residents?

 Decline in Resident Health

Staff said again they were further concerned regarding the wellbeing of the residents. One said ‘Residents with 
dementia don’t do well with change, some of them don’t even have any family, they will die of a broken heart’ 
another added ‘you’ve got residents with dementia who have been sat in meetings, and are now crying saying 
they are being kicked out’ 

Staff also said ‘how is what you are doing a person-centred approach? This is about money’ 

How do you think a closure of Westbury Court would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

Staff said they felt that as the home was on a direct bus route if residents were to move to another home they may 
not have as many visitors. Another staff member said ‘Relatives are devasted they’ve got a support group and a 
petition’ 

Another said that there were worried that by June there would not be anyone left as staff and some residents had 
already started to leave. One added ‘you’ve of lost some good staff by the time there is a decision in June’ 

How do you think a closure of Westbury Court would impact on you as a staff member? 

 Financial 

One staff member said ‘Financial loss if we do not get another job, with four homes closing a lot of people looking 
for jobs. Not viable to travel further for work as they weren’t paid enough. Been here 30 years, gutted and we are 
a family, want to work together.’ 

Many of the other staff agreed and said ‘we are a team; I will miss my work family’ 

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have on residents?

All staff said they did not see any positive benefits and said ‘residents like it here, they have free access to the 
garden next door (National Trust) and are happy walking round it’ 

Would you support a closure of this home?

All staff said they would not support a closure of Westbury Court

Further feedback from staff: 

Further comments and questions from staff members were around the rationale and process. 

Some said, ‘why is this process so long?’ ‘It’s not acceptable that it takes this long there should be an emergency 
meeting for this sort of thing’ 

Page 94



Appendix 2

19 | P a g e

There were other questions raised as to redundancy which OSJ staff answered, there were also questions 
regarding further dates and when the decision would be made.

Others shared experience and comments around hospital scenarios and the NHS, one staff member said ‘we 
have all had experience of NHS Bed Blocking and we’ve got a lady who has come to stay with us today as there 
isn’t the Community Care’ 

Another staff member said, ‘So if in the end this home stays open, will you try to close it in another 3 years?’ 

First Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – Westbury Court
What concerns you most about the possible closure of Westbury Court?

 Decline in Health & Wellbeing
 Distance
 Other facilities 

Relatives expressed concerns around their relative/friend’s health and said ‘people who move from one home to 
another with dementia can have a shorted life’ another added ‘my mum is 96 and this is her fourth home’

Relatives also discussed the location of Westbury Court as being important to them one said ‘it is the distance we 
may have to travel, and I am concerned my mum would be moved further away. Forest of Dean is her home, and 
it will make it hard for her sister to visit also if she were to move’ 

Family members also discussed the other OSJ homes in the area, and the facilities they provide one asked ‘are 
the facilities the same as Rodley and The Coombs, aren’t we just moving people to similar facilities?’ another 
added ‘The important thing is the care, and I don’t see an issue with shared facilities, it’s the care that important’ 

Some relatives said they could understand some of the rationale, but felt the timing was wrong ‘I am not opposed 
to the closure, but we want to know why? The timing is wrong. The Forest is oversubscribed in the number of 
people we need to care for. Moving people withing here friendships groups, and the location of the forest, we like 
to stay local.’ One suggested the following ‘can’t we built the new care home before; we are not really out of covid’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on you as a resident?

Residents at Westbury Court did not or were unable to express their views on closure themselves, however family 
members gave their views on how they felt it would affect their relative/friends.

 Decline in Health & Wellbeing

Nearly all family members expressed a concern over their relative/friend’s health and wellbeing and said ‘this will 
have a negative impact; my grandma built her home in her room due to covid. To move her to a new home all 
open with be stressful and have a detrimental impact on her health’ Another said ‘my sister is deaf and blind, and 
there are a good team here. I feel it will have a massive impact on her health as she is used to the surroundings 
and staff’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on your daily activities and everyday life as a 
resident?

Residents at Westbury did not or were unable to express their views on closure themselves, however family 
members gave their views on how they felt it would affect their relative/friends.

 Visitors
 Church

Many of the comments and concerns were around visitors, and relatives said they felt if their relative/friend were 
to move if it were further away, they would not be able to visit as often. ‘It is hard to get around the Forest if you 
don’t drive, buses are impossible’ another added ‘Older friends won’t be able to travel to other care homes, friends 
are local so it would be difficult for them’ 

Page 95



Appendix 2

20 | P a g e

Others expressed concerns around how close the church was to Westbury Court someone said ‘I come in with the 
church, I haven’t been able to during the pandemic, that’s hugely important to people, I come in and pray with 
anyone who want end of life care that continuity is important’ 

How do you think a closure of this home would impact on relatives and friends of residents?

 Culture

Family and friends told us that they felt it was a family culture at Westbury Court ‘it’s a family here, they know your 
name when you arrive, it’s that continuity of staff’ 

Another said ‘it’s the relation with staff, it takes time to build up relationships with carers’

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for the residents?

 Facilities 
 Technology 

Most family members said they did not see any positive benefits a protentional move could have on residents. 
One did say a wet room, would be a protentional positive. Another added ‘you were told through Care Act 2014 
that you needed to provide better facilities, are there lots of homes who have those facilities already? I do not think 
people with dementia care about a wet room.’ 

Another asked a question around technology ‘how will the new proposal of technology help, what sort of 
technology are we talking about? We need to go back to basics options, like an old dial telephone. Residents can’t 
use a phone without support from staff.’ 

Would you support a closure of Westbury Court?

All relatives and friends at the meeting said they did not support a closure of Westbury Court 

Further feedback from Residents & Relatives: 

Further comments and questions were around the process and key dates around when the decision will be made 
and further questions around the councils’ long-term plans. 

A relative shared with us some of their experience in their relative/friend receiving care in the community, and her 
transition into a care home placement and some of the challenges. 

Others shared with us their emotions one said ‘I am worried and I’m not sleeping well’ 

There were also discussions with OSJ around vacancies in other OSJ care homes, and what the occupancy of 
these homes is like, and families expressed concerns that they did not have any vacancies one said, ‘what’s the 
point of going to see other homes if there’s no chance of getting into them?’ 

Page 96



Appendix 2

21 | P a g e

0 5 10 15 20 25

Concerns around insufficencies in care in the home
Choice 

Closure rationale
Community Connections

Decline in health of residents if moved
Decline in mental health of residents if moved

Not in support of closure
Facilities of Westbury Court

Family culture of Westbury Court
Financial impact

Financial profit for GCC
Future provision

Hospital discharge 
Location

Loss of jobs
Mortality impacton residents

No positive benefits
Preventing closure

Process of consultation 
Quality of care in Westbury Court

Reduction in visits
Refurbishment

Site redevelopment
Staffing

Travel to another home or workplace if it was further away 
Uncertainty during consultation 

Westbury Residents & Relatives Westbury Staff

First consultation meetings summary of comments & responses - Westbury Court

Local Medical Committee Meeting – all homes
What concerns you most about the possible closure of the homes?

The LMC commented from a GP’s point of view, across the county, there is a worry for the number of medically fit 
for discharge patients who are waiting to be moved. They had seen a lot of care homes temporarily going into 
outbreak – therefore shutting their front doors (so unable to accept new patients).

They were concerned that should demand change in the future it would be difficult to reopen a home. They did 
appreciate the difficulty of recruiting carers into the system. The reflection from GPs on the front line is that they 
see a number of patients being discharged from hospital, where a care package is not fully in place in the care 
home, and it falls apart within hours of them being discharged. GP surgeries therefore trying to pick up pieces but 
a lot of time it leads to bouncing straight back to hospital.

How do you think a closure of this home would impact the residents?

The LMC commented that there would be a personal impact – a change of routine, structure, staff and other 
residents that they’re used to. This will be very unsettling for them. Especially people with dementia.

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have for residents within the home?

They would see positive benefits if we were able to ensure better staffing in those care homes and offer those 
more specialist services (such as dementia care and neurological care).

Page 97



Appendix 2

22 | P a g e

Second consultation meetings
Summary of main themes discussed during the first consultation meeting

The comments recorded at the meetings were categorised and the main themes discussed are detailed below:

Bohanam House Orchard House The Elms Westbury Court
Process Process Process Process
Closure rationale Closure rationale Closure rationale Closure rationale
Site redevelopment Site redevelopment Stressful Hospital discharge

Summary of comments and responses collected during the second consultation meetings 

 Bohanam Orchard The Elms Westbury

 Staff Residents Staff Residents Staff Residents Staff Residents

Care package 1 2 0 1 0 0 0 1

Choice of home 0 1 0 1 0 3 0 1

Closure rationale 11 8 5 2 16 2 16 3

Community 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Decline in health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Decline in mental health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Don't support closure 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Facilities 0 0 0 2 0 0 0 0

Family culture 2 0 0 0 3 0 0 1

Financial impact 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Financial profit for GCC 0 1 0 2 2 0 0 0

Future provision 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Hospital discharge 1 1 0 0 1 0 4 0

Location 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Loss of jobs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Mortality impact 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

No positive benefits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Pandemic 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Petition 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0

Preventing closure 0 2 1 0 1 0 0 1

Process 5 14 11 7 13 7 7 13

Quality of care 2 2 0 0 2 1 0 3

Reduction in visits 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Refurbishment 0 0 2 0 1 1 1 0

Site redevelopment 3 3 1 5 3 0 0 0

Staffing 0 0 1 1 0 2 0 1

Stressful 2 1 1 0 5 0 0 2

Sufficiency of provision 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Support 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Timeline 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Transfer to new home 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Travel 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Page 98



Appendix 2

23 | P a g e

Uncertainty 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Vacancies by care 
category 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Visiting 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Second Staff Consultation meeting – Bohanam
During the second consultation meeting staff at Bohanam questioned the closure rationale, particularly around 
occupancy levels and the need for smaller homes: "Over recent weeks that we’ve had enquiries about beds, but 
they’ve not been placed but we could have been over 30.” "The smaller homes are more like family because we 
all get to know everyone. And I think that sometimes this outweighs what’s in the bathrooms." They considered 
the pandemic had been the cause of reduced occupancy. They questioned the rationale around older homes not 
being suitable to cope with potential pandemics in the future as despite Bohanam being an older building they had 
kept residents safe during the pandemic.

They detailed the level of care provided at Bohanam, giving examples of how they have helped prevent people 
having to be admitted to hospital and the family feel it has. "The last few admissions we’ve had they’d looked 
round the bigger homes, but they didn’t like them because the feeling of this home is that it’s a family we’re a 
close team."

They also questioned the process and the potential site redevelopment. "We are already hearing rumours about 
what you’re going to do with the home afterwards. I know you’ve got to do your consultation, but does this impact 
the decision?"

Second Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – Bohanam
During the second consultation meeting, Bohanam residents and relatives expressed frustration with the 
consultation process. "It looks like it’s going to be swept under the carpet. I don’t think the reasons that were given 
at the beginning hold water. People here are still in the dark."

They questioned the closure rationale as they considered it was about financial profit for GCC. "It’s got to be 
cheaper to put someone in a home that’s fully staffed than make someone go to see them a couple of times a day 
and they’re sitting alone all day." "Is it the mix between self-funded and GCC funded that’s changed and makes 
Bohanam unviable?" "Is it true you get more from self-funders? I’m trying to understand why it’s changed and 
everything is being blamed on covid. We’re still coming out of it and if you’d left it another year you could make a 
better decision."

They also highlighted how the pandemic had impacted the quality of care that could be provided. "All the people 
from the day centre couldn’t see anyone they’re lonely. A lot of the clients from the day centre when they needed 
to go into care chose here."

They questioned occupancy levels within the market and if these would still be available if Bohanam closed given 
the number of people still in hospital awaiting packages of care. "When you say there are 900 vacancies how 
does that correspond with the 200 people waiting in hospital." "There are no Dom Care workers so that’s why 
they’re stuck in hospital taking up beds needed for emergencies." They also suggested amalgamating with 
another OSJ home and talked about vacancies at other OSJ homes they would consider moving to.

Second Staff Consultation meeting – Orchard House
When asked if there was anything else they wanted to raise, staff at Orchard House commented on several areas. 
Their initial comments were around the length of the process - they felt it was a long drawn-out process and the 
uncertainty was causing them stress "it’s a ridiculously long time, it’s such a long process"

They questioned the rationale around occupancy as felt that they had a healthy enquiry tracker prior to the 
consultation but did recognise the changing demographics of Bishop's Cleeve: "It’s just a shame, it’s been here a 
really long time, I was here when it was going to close before. We had petitions and it stayed open but there isn’t 

Page 99



Appendix 2

24 | P a g e

the older population around here now it’s all built on younger people." They were concerned about the local area 
not having a sufficient provision of homes that would accept GCC rates.

They also felt that GCC hadn't been placing residents within Orchard House long before the consultation process 
started.

Concerns were also raised about what would happen to the site after closure. They were disappointed that prior to 
the pandemic Orchard House was going to be refurbished.

They were concerned about job losses and people not wanting to move into the domiciliary care after working in a 
care home. “People don’t want to work in domiciliary care, I haven’t been here very long time, when I was looking 
for a job everything was in the field. People don’t want that they want to give care here, where they can give 
people 24 hour care.”

Second Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – Orchard House
Most of the relatives felt that Orchard House was going to close and that the consultation meetings would have 
very little influence on the final decision. Most didn’t support the closure. "You have to go through the procedure 
but it’s not going to make a difference."

They considered the main thrust of the rationale was around the financial viability of Orchard House running at 
less than capacity. They asked if GCC would divest its responsibility if alternative funding could be found. 

They recognised that improved facilities such as an ensuite would be nice but for some residents they wouldn’t be 
of any benefit as the needed more care. They questioned if all homes without these facilities would be considered 
for closure in the future.

Concern was expressed about the site being left vacant for a long time. "Something positive should be done with 
this home, it shouldn’t be left to rack and ruin."

They also requested help with processes change of address details; " As long as I know my mother is going to be 
safe and we’re going to get help then I’m OK with it."

Second Staff Consultation meeting – The Elms
Staff at The Elms questioned the rationale particularly around occupancy and suggested moving people out of 
hospital into the Elms. They recognised that residents from The Elms would be used to fill beds in other homes 
but did not support the closure. "Basically, shut us and we can fill those empty beds" "So you’re throwing us under 
the bus instead so they can survive". They also queried if the instability in the market applied to OSJTC "Are you 
suggesting that OSJ are struggling?" 

They were concerned that the closure would mean a lot of people would leave the care sector as they wouldn’t 
want to move from working in a care home to domiciliary care. “Demand for care has increased but there isn’t the 
workers. If you close all the homes, there will be a lot of people who won’t move onto ‘dom’, (home) care so you 
will have lost more staff.”

They felt Stonehouse had a lot of private care homes but not many that accepted GCC rates and that GCC 
wanted the land to build houses on, that the site would be left empty for years.

They wanted to know the process after the cabinet meeting, the timeline for any closure. They found the 
consultation stressful and suggested that the more meetings we held the more it felt like a "tick box exercise" as 
the decision had already been made. 

"Worry about residents going elsewhere, just worried that they’ll go somewhere where their care won’t be how we 
would care for them."

Second Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – The Elms
Residents and relatives at The Elms considered it made sense to consolidate staff into fewer homes and reduce 
the number of empty beds. The increased staff would mean they would be able to support the residents more: 
"One very positive thing if residents have to move from here with more staff and nurses they’ll have more showers 

Page 100



Appendix 2

25 | P a g e

and their hair washed. For example, the last two weeks we haven’t been able to have a skype call as the two 
ladies that can facilitate that are on holiday."

Other areas raised were support in finding a new home, who would pay for the move and refurbishment if the 
decision was not to close. "If it doesn’t close, are you going to modernise it? Residents would have to move out 
whilst you did the work."

Second Staff Consultation meeting – Westbury
Westbury Court's staff comments at the second consultation meeting were predominately around the closure 
rationale. They queried the occupancy figures, they asked why GCC had not been placing residents in their own 
homes, why it wasn't being used to alleviate the pressure on the NHS with people waiting for hospital discharges, 
why D2A assessments weren't being placed there, why there were plans to build a new home when there are 
already new private homes opening in the area.

"Why aren’t you doing more for the homes you run to make them up to capacity."

"Two years ago, we were turning people away."

"Why aren’t these going into D2A beds. You’re passing the problem off to the NHS."

"Why aren’t you filling your own homes. You’re not because we’re not full. But they’re your homes and you’re 
putting people into the private sector. How does that seem sensible?"

"Why aren’t you doing more for the homes you run to make them up to capacity."

Second Resident & Relative Consultation Meeting – Westbury Court
During the second consultation meeting relatives and residents expressed concern about the consultation process 
and their opinions not making a difference to the decision. They questioned the closure rationale particularly the 
criteria being used to make the decisions and it there was a long-term plan to run the homes down under GCP 
partnership.

"The GCP was set up in 2005 and that was when OSJ came in and took it over there were 21 at the time we’re 
now down to 13. That partnership is not over but we’ve seen what’s happened to Townsend, is the point of the 
partnership to remove this care. It there a long-term plan in the council to run the homes down under the 
partnership."

Page 101



Appendix 2

26 | P a g e

Portal Survey Response:
The survey ran from 13th April to 20th May 2022. A total of 144 responses were received. Questions and responses 
split by home are listed below:

Please specify which care home you would like to feedback on:

Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

56 31 24 33

Which district do you live in?

Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Cheltenham 6 0 11 0
Cotswolds 0 0 2 0
Forest of Dean 3 1 0 30
Gloucester 43 3 0 1
Stroud 1 27 0 0
Tewkesbury 3 0 11 2

Do you or someone you support currently live in one of the homes listed below? 

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Yes 18 5 6 8

 No 38 26 18 25

Are you responding as:

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Resident 2 0 0 0
Family member 8 3 3 6
Carer | Friend 3 1 2 1
Member of staff 5 0 1 0
Other (please specify) 0 1 0 2
Blank 38 26 18 24

How is your/your family member’s care funded?

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

I/we pay for it all 2 0 0 2

I/we pay a contribution and 
Gloucestershire County Council 
pay for part of it 

5 1 1 2

Gloucestershire County Council 
pay for all of my care 3 1 0 1

Prefer not to say 0 1 2 2

Page 102



Appendix 2

27 | P a g e

Blank 46 28 21 26

How long have you/your family member lived there?

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Less than a year 2 1 0 0
1-3 years 2 1 0 4
Over three years 6 0 3 3
Blank 46 29 21 26

What concerns you most about the possible closure of the home? Select all that apply

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Residents moving further away 
from relatives and friends 10 3 4 6

Residents moving away from staff 
and friends in my home 13 1 4 5

Residents not liking the new home 9 2 1 3

Residents' health 13 2 2 5

Other 8 0 1 0

Blank 3 23 12 14

How do you think the closure will impact the daily activities and everyday life? This could include onsite 
activities, opportunities to keep doing what residents enjoy (hobbies/clubs), good community integration, 
near to shops and cafes etc.

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Positive impact 1 2 0 0

Negative impact 17 2 6 8

No impact 0 0 0 0

Don't know 0 0 0 0

Blank 38 27 18 25

How do you think the closure will impact the residents’ friends and relationships? This could include people 
they met in the home, friends who live nearby, relationships with staff, close relationship with another 
resident.

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Positive impact 1 0 2 0

Negative impact 54 29 20 32

No impact 0 0 1 1

Don’t know 1 1 0 0

Blank 0 1 1 0

Page 103



Appendix 2

28 | P a g e

How much do you agree with the proposed plans to increase care at home options across Gloucestershire?

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Strongly agree 3 5 3 3

Agree 11 9 6 10

Disagree 21 6 5 9

Strongly disagree 21 10 9 11

Blank 0 1 1 0

How much do you agree with the proposed plans to close these homes?

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Strongly agree 0 2 2 0

Agree 0 0 1 1

Disagree 6 5 3 5

Strongly disagree 50 23 16 27

Blank 0 1 2 0

How much do you agree with the proposal to commission the building of three new homes, two to provide 
general residential and nursing care and one specifically for dementia care?

 Bohanam House The Elms Orchard House Westbury Court

Strongly agree 7 7 7 2

Agree 19 8 11 18

Disagree 12 5 2 7

Strongly disagree 18 10 3 6

Blank 0 1 1 0

What concerns you most about the possible closure of the home? Select all that apply (Other) Please specify:

Bohanam House

 Dad is nearly 100 and a move at his age will be most unsettling. losing a home is cruel as it affects the most 
vulnerable in our society.

 I am settled with the home GP and have good care from them. I would not be able to stay with this GP. I can 
go out and enjoy the grounds and the local park independently.

 My mother I fear will not survive the move

 Bohanam is a home not a business it is a home.

 These people chose Bohanam as Their forever home with a low staff change over.

 Residents have been with most of the same staff for all their time at the home.

Page 104



Appendix 2

29 | P a g e

 Residents mental state and not recognising anyone 

 My mother’s mental well-being and safety as she has dementia and will not tolerate an ensuite bathroom and I 
do not feel she would be safe to have one 

 Mum is unable to weight bear is blind and has dementia, the care she has received at Bohanam House is 
amazing 

 We specifically chose it because of its relatively small size and its good reputation

 The well-run care homes under OSJ are only being closed because GCC are not prepared to risk the closure 
of private, commercial care facilities that are 'struggling' to exist. They are private companies that have funded 
good lifestyles for the owners for many years and they have to make a commercial decision around their 
businesses.  This should not be buoyed up by ill thought-out decisions from GCC and the commissioners. To 
close these OSJ homes instead of investing in them in short-sighted at best and a step towards the 
privatisation of the care sector which is a licence to print money for the people that have ridden the profits of 
taking public money to provide services for many years. The private care homes I have experienced have 
been poorly run and have not had the residents’ best interests first.

Orchard House

 Financial implications for residents needing to find more funds for their care if they are moved to more 
expensive establishments.

Westbury Court

 Relationships between my husband and the care staff has been of paramount importance in his being settled. 
He is very quiet until faced with strange surroundings and people. The staff at Westbury Court have made the 
ability for me to have quality of life that has been greatly appreciated. His physical health has deteriorated 
over recent months and the staff have been most supportive.

 We choose Westbury Court, so that it would be more accessible for us to visit especially her partner of 85, it’s 
a 10min drive for him, or right on the bus stop if he is ever unable to drive. I live in Tewkesbury, and I really do 
not want to have to put mum somewhere further away from me. I do feel this would have a very negative 
affect on mums’ conditions, and mum not seeing family has a real effect on her.

 The upheaval and stress and worry for a dementia person to be moved into a strange environment with carers 
they do not know.

Do you see any positive benefits a potential move could have on residents within the home?

Bohanam House

 A Larger room

Orchard House

 They could be offered accommodation that is more appropriate to their needs. 

 The only positives would be if the residents and their families were fully consulted in every decision and that 
their wishes and concerns would be listened to. These are the people living with your decisions and unless 
you live through something one cannot fully understand the implications.

 We need new facilities rather than just keeping old ones open for the sake of it 

 The building is not fit for purpose, communal toilets and bathrooms, the lift is not large enough to 
accommodate a stretcher or undertaker’s trolley.

 Dignity in care provision is compromised due to the building restrictions. In 21st century paying and LA 
residents deserve a room greater than 10sqM with no ensuite

 The staff teams have always been caring, committed and experienced but those skills could be relocated to 
other OSJ homes. The residents could also be cared for in other OSJ homes or a private home in their 
location. This would enable relatives to visit as before. 

Page 105



Appendix 2

30 | P a g e

 Occupancy is key to each home being financially viable.

The Elms

 No unless the replacement care improves their quality of life

Westbury Court

 I am in favour of as much care as possible in someone’s own home but there does need to be some provision 

 The only positive outcome would be to upgrade the care home for existing and new residents.

 The only benefit is if the entire “family” of residents and staff from Westbury Court move together into a new 
building.

What else do you think the council should consider supporting and help stabilise the local care market, or 
improve Adult Social Care?

Bohanam House

 ‘Initiate a plan to make the Care Sector a career choice, with NVQ type training to ensure standardisation of 
care across all homes in Gloucestershire. This training should be mandatory and there needs to be proper pay 
and career progression.’

 ‘Be realistic about the time that is given to carers to look after people in their homes. Care at home is OK but 
there is clear evidence that social isolation is a major problem for those who require care at home. The 
Council needs to look at funding and provision for Community hubs/day centres/activities and the transport to 
get people there from their homes.’ 

 ‘Agree with increasing care at home across Gloucestershire but there comes a point when people can no 
longer manage at home and need 24-hour care in a home’ 

 ‘As previously suggested develop a Digital Transformation Strategy for Social Care’

 ‘Provide more consistent care that matches agreed care plans. Provide such services in house where possible 
instead of using contractors who then do not provide the agreed level of care’

 ‘Weekend support for carers’

 ‘At least one of these homes could be used for discharging patients from hospital when they are ready instead 
of taking up beds that are urgently needed for sick people’

 ‘Keep the home open and modernise it’

Orchard House

 Why build new homes rather than convert existing ones? I am thinking of the cost and climate change impact 
of building new homes’

 ‘If the care home in Cleeve has to close, please consider converting it into a women’s refuge. There is little to 
no provision for this in Gloucestershire.’

 ‘Improve discharge delays and transfers from hospital to care homes.’

 ‘Funding for care that is realistic, market levels, support discharge plans to prevent older people remaining in 
hospital when fit for discharge’

 ‘Commission care at home and in care homes that reflect the need and desires of service users.’

 Recognise the huge importance of the fantastic work the staff do in the homes, that far outweighs what they 
are paid

Page 106



Appendix 2

31 | P a g e

The Elms

 ‘Better to have fewer homes with full staffing and more residents. Less empty beds!’ 

 ‘More day centres (to support carers)’

 Lots! E.g., more lunch clubs, activities, more at local leisure centres to cater for older adults, social groups 
etc….

 ‘Better home care services’

 ‘Have new homes in places with good transport links and staff parking’

 ‘More Council-funded carer support for housebound elderly who don't want to go into care homes’

 ‘I think stabilising the care market can only happen if more money is spent to both increase beds in homes 
and increase care help for people in their own homes. With people living longer, and the increase of the 
elderly population, the only way forward would appear to be to make both aspects equally, and more, 
accessible.’

 ‘More sheltered accommodation so that people can live independently but with support.’

 ‘Ensure that local residents have the option of being able to stay in their local area when residential care is 
required’

Westbury Court

 ‘Day services with transport.’ 

 ‘Keep existing care homes open until you build the proposed new ones.’

 ‘Yes, increase pay for carers in order to encourage recruitment and incentivise the recruitment process.’ 

 ‘Clearer advice must be provided earlier to enable people to make better judgements of the alternatives to 
home care and the financial implications to them personally especially about “retirement villages” which may 
be reasonable at the outset but become increasingly expensive when adding on “service costs”. Many of 
these are advertising on TV. Not many elderly people are happy with using social media in its other forms. For 
those unable to cope well alone, there are good opportunities offered at “Dora Matthews House” in Coleford 
and “Hanover House” at Cinderford where at least there are staff on duty 24 hours a day’

 Employ more people and maybe not focus so much on qualifications but experience and passion along with a 
good support mechanism when things get challenging

 Fully integrate health and social care systems and budgets so you can provide personalised support.

 ‘Would like more emphasis on living healthier lives in the county.’

 ‘I don’t think it is the Council’s responsibility to “stabilise the local care market”. I think that it is the Council’s 
responsibility to ensure that care homes that are functioning well and providing good care should be fully 
supported rather than threatened with closure.’

Page 107



Appendix 2

32 | P a g e

Petitions
Petitions to save the homes from closure have been started for each home. 

Bohanam House

Signatures: 796 

Link: Petition · Save Bohanam House · Change.org

Some of the comments on the petition are the following: 

 ‘My Dad was a resident at Bohanam for 5 years, before he passed away in 2020. The care he received from 
all of the staff, was second to none. They couldn't do enough for him.’

 ‘I am proud of the way the staff look after the residents. They are committed and dedicate their lives to looking 
after vulnerable patients.’

 ‘I used to visit there as a Minister of Religion and respect the staffs care’

 ‘We as city need these good homes’

 Bohanam house is home to a lot of old people. To move them would be a cruel act.

 ‘The elderly who can no longer live at home need this support where they are looked after.’

 ‘We need these homes for our community. It allows people to continue to live in safety within their hometowns. 
Otherwise, where will these poor people live and be looked after? The streets, hospitals?’

Orchard House

Signatures: 447

Link: Petition · Please keep Orchard House in Bishops Cleeve open · Change.org 

Some of the comments on the petition are the following:

 ‘Not everyone can afford the new care homes that are opening. Orchard House provides excellent care and 
should not be sacrificed because off cost’

 ‘A village the size of Bishops Cleeve needs this facility for its community to enable families to visit locally and 
not have to travel far to do it.’

 ‘Losing this would be dreadful, many many residents of Cleeve have benefitted from this care home, our 
community needs it. Update its facilities yes close it down no!’

 ‘The residents and staff are owed a lot more by the Council & society than to be treated this way. Short-term 
thinking has to stop. Decision makers need to stop thinking of cost and must instead consider value.’

  ‘My mum was only with you for a short time before she passed away, but you looked after her so well.’

 My friend's mother was a resident, and they were very happy with the care she received

 ‘This is a valued facility for the community.’

The Elms

Signatures: 542

Link: Petition · Save The Elms in Stonehouse. · Change.org

Some of the comments on the petition are the following: 

 ‘My beloved Grandmother was cared for at The Elms for the last year of her life, during the pandemic. I could 
only see her once, but I am still so grateful to the whole of the staff, they all cared for her as if she was their 

Page 108

https://www.change.org/p/save-bohanam-house?redirect=false
https://www.change.org/p/please-keep-orchard-house-in-bishops-cleeve-open?redirect=false
https://www.change.org/p/save-the-elms-in-stonehouse?recruiter=426679174&recruited_by_id=4b4dd324-c518-42e9-b9d5-6dd6ad5e2402&utm_source=share_petition&utm_campaign=share_petition&utm_medium=email


Appendix 2

33 | P a g e

own Grandmother. Please, please, please do not close The Elms Nursing Home. The local community and 
the surrounding areas are still in dire need of superb care facilities like The Elms. We need to have 
outstanding care being taken of our relative/friends and our vulnerable and elderly members of public, and 
they deserve to be looked after with the utmost care and respect, and sadly, there aren’t many other places 
like this in our locality. Please reconsider this disastrous situation and keep The Elms open.’

 ‘This home is essential to the residents & their families. It must stay.’

 ‘We need care homes for our elderly and The Elms is in the community’

 ‘The Elms is an important facility in Stonehouse which is valued and appreciated by many who are unable to 
manage without 24-hour care.’

 There is a shortage of good care homes, and it will put a lot more people out of work when they are already 
struggling with the rising costs of living’

 ‘Local council care homes are needed in the community more than ever’

 ‘The Elms is a much needed and integral part of the community; we need more care homes not less. This is 
home for many elderly people, who are happy and settled there, targeting vulnerable people, and causing 
worry and uncertainty, is totally unacceptable. I hope this proposed closure is reconsidered.’

Westbury Court

Signatures: 501

Link: Petition · Opposition to the closure of Westbury Court Care Home · Change.org

Some of the comments on the petition are the following:

 ‘Relatives have received outstanding care at Westbury Court Care Home’

 ‘What are our local government playing at? Profit and loss is what it’s all about, balancing the books, shame 
on them. No empathy for the people in Westbury Court Staff as well as residents.’

 ‘We should be supporting rural care homes, not closing them’ 

 ‘My mum has had excellent community care for the last 4 years; she has vascular dementia and recently had 
a fall, and her dementia has taken a step change and she can no longer be cared for safely at home. The care 
company cannot increase the package, I have also developed health problems so she needs the additional 
care a home can provide but we are having incredible difficulty in finding one. If GCC close these homes, 
there will be even less choice and more families will be unable to give their elderly parents the care they 
deserve’ 

 ‘We need these nursing homes, more so now than ever, as folk are living so much longer…. what reason do 
they have to even suggest this closure….?’

 ‘It's a wonderful place that is needed!!’

 ‘I knew someone who lived here, and the staff were amazing’

Page 109

https://www.change.org/p/opposition-to-the-closure-of-westbury-court-care-home?recruited_by_id=dfb6b3f0-ac1b-11ec-ada8-afb8addd9d9c


Appendix 2

34 | P a g e

Occupancy rates
Occupancy rates were requested in the consultation meetings, general opinion amongst staff and residents was that 
the homes were full prior to the pandemic, however figures for the past five years show a decline in all four homes:

Ju
n-

17
O

ct
-1

7
Fe

b-
18

Ju
n-

18
O

ct
-1

8
Fe

b-
19

Ju
n-

19
O

ct
-1

9
Fe

b-
20

Ju
n-

20
O

ct
-2

0
Fe

b-
21

Ju
n-

21
O

ct
-2

1
Fe

b-
22

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Bohanam House - Occupancy

Ju
n-

17
O

ct
-1

7
Fe

b-
18

Ju
n-

18
O

ct
-1

8
Fe

b-
19

Ju
n-

19
O

ct
-1

9
Fe

b-
20

Ju
n-

20
O

ct
-2

0
Fe

b-
21

Ju
n-

21
O

ct
-2

1
Fe

b-
22

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Orchard House - Occupancy
Ju

n-
17

O
ct

-1
7

Fe
b-

18
Ju

n-
18

O
ct

-1
8

Fe
b-

19
Ju

n-
19

O
ct

-1
9

Fe
b-

20
Ju

n-
20

O
ct

-2
0

Fe
b-

21
Ju

n-
21

O
ct

-2
1

Fe
b-

22

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

The Elms - Occupancy

Ju
n-

17
O

ct
-1

7
Fe

b-
18

Ju
n-

18
O

ct
-1

8
Fe

b-
19

Ju
n-

19
O

ct
-1

9
Fe

b-
20

Ju
n-

20
O

ct
-2

0
Fe

b-
21

Ju
n-

21
O

ct
-2

1
Fe

b-
22

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Total cccupancy as % of capacity

Westbury Court - Occupancy 

Page 110



REPORT TITLE: Award of Contracts for the provision of Public Health Enhanced Services 
(PHES) to General Medical Practices 

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Councillor Nick Housden, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to award approximately 70 contracts by 
way of negotiated procedure for the delivery of Public Health 
Enhanced Services (PHES) by GP practices in order to secure 
service delivery in the period April 2023 to March 2028. While at the 
time of drafting this Report the proposal is to award 70 such 
contracts, this number is subject to change should any existing GP 
practices merge, or if any new practices open.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health (this delegation will apply to the 
Director of Public Health from 11 July, in response to changes to the 
senior management structure which take effect on that date) in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities to:

1. Award by way of a negotiated procedure approximately 70 
contracts to General Medical Practices for the delivery of Public 
Health Enhanced Services (PHES) on the basis set out in this 
Report. Each of the proposed PHES contracts shall continue for 
an initial period of 2 years (commencing 1st April 2023) and 
include an option to extend its term for a further period of not 
more than 3 years.  The council shall also reserve a right to 
terminate each such contract at any time after 31st March 2025;

2. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the term of 
each of the said contracts for a further period of not more than 3 
years on the expiry of the initial 2 year term; 

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to terminate each of 
the said contracts at any time after 31st March 2025.

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



Reasons for 
recommendations

 The commissioning arrangements for the services comprised in the 
proposed PHES contracts have been reviewed as part of the 
recommissioning process.
  

 The review has concluded that delivery of PHES provision by 
General Medical Practices continues to be central to the delivery of 
these services and to the delivery of two statutory functions: (a) the 
provision of the NHS Health Check; and (b) the provision of open 
access sexual health services, including contraception.

 There are currently 72 PHES contracts with General Practice 
covering the provision of both statutory and discretionary (but high 
priority) public health services.

 The proposed term of such PHES contracts is intended to secure 
continuity and delivery of PHES during an initial two year fixed term 
expiring 31st March 2025, whilst reserving the council an option to 
extend such term for a further period of three years or (as 
appropriate) to terminate individual services independently of other 
services provided under the PHES and mechanisms, thereby 
enabling the Council  to vary such services and/or the price paid 
during the contract period should there be changes in financial 
circumstances faced by the Council.

Resource Implications The estimated total investment required across the PHES contracts 
with General Practices over the full five years of the proposed contract 
term (ie, should the council exercise its three year extension option) is 
£5,326,105. This is the total investment available regardless of the 
number of GP practices contracted to deliver the provision of PHES.

This figure is an estimated total as the actual spend under the 
contracts is variable being based on activity delivered. 

The investment required to implement the recommendations within this 
report is within existing budget allocations from the ring-fenced Public 
Health grant. The proposed initial two year fixed contract term enables 
the Council to review its investment into the PHES according to its 
financial circumstances.

Page 112



Background Documents Cabinet Report: Direct Award of Public Health Enhanced Services 
(PHES) contracts to General Practices (July 2017)

Cabinet Report: Extension of Public Health Enhanced Services 
(PHES) Contracts to General Practices (June 2019)

NHS Health Check programme standards (July 2020)

Extending Public Health England’s contraception return on investment 
tool: Maternity and primary care settings (July 2021)

Equality Impact Assessment: Direct Award of Public Health Enhanced 
Services Contracts (PHES) to General Practices 2023 – 2028

Statutory Authority Health and Social Care Act 2012
Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by 
Local Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013

Divisional Councillor(s) Countywide

Officer Name:  Vikki Clarke, Senior Commissioning Manager (Sexual Health)
Tel. no: 01452 328613
Email: vikki.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Current GP PHES contracts end on 31st March 2023
The initial term of the proposed new PHES contracts shall commence 
on 1st April 2023 and expire on 31st March 2025 and include an option 
to extend their terms for a further period of not more than three years 
to 31st March 2028.

Page 113

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s39895/Item%207%20-%20Direct%20Award%20of%20Public%20Health%20Enhanced%20Services%20PHES%20Contracts%20to%20General%20Practices.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s39895/Item%207%20-%20Direct%20Award%20of%20Public%20Health%20Enhanced%20Services%20PHES%20Contracts%20to%20General%20Practices.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s53477/Item%208%20-%20Extention%20of%20Public%20Health%20Enhanced%20Services%20PHES%20Contracts%20to%20General%20Practices.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s53477/Item%208%20-%20Extention%20of%20Public%20Health%20Enhanced%20Services%20PHES%20Contracts%20to%20General%20Practices.pdf
file://svrshir157/vclarke$/Downloads/NHS%20Health%20Check%20Programme%20Standards%20_July%202020%20publication.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1001464/ROI_LARC_maternity.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1001464/ROI_LARC_maternity.pdf


Background 

What are Public Health Enhanced Services?

1. The Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) contract includes the provision of the 
following services

 Long-Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC)
 Primary care sexual health clinics
 NHS Health Checks
 Stop smoking support

2. All four services provided as part of the PHES contract are currently commissioned from 
General Practices. At present all practices are contracted to deliver at least one of the four 
services listed above.

3. These services assist in the delivery of national public health priorities, including two of the 
six mandatory functions that transferred to local authorities under the Health and Social Care 
Act 2012 i.e. NHS Health Checks and open access sexual health services.

4. The current PHES contracts will come to an end on 31st March 2023.

Services delivered under the PHES contract

Long-Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC)

5. Long-acting reversible contraception (LARC) devices, including implants, intrauterine 
devices (IUDs) and intrauterine system (IUS), are the most effective methods of contraception. 
They are also cost effective compared with other methods of fertility control.

6. The prescribing, fitting and removal of LARC devices form part of Local Authorities’ 
mandated responsibility for commissioning sexual health services. The current service, 
delivered by 72 General Practices across Gloucestershire, benchmarks well across the South 
West, with the latest data showing Gloucestershire has the highest rate of GP prescribed 
LARC in the region.

7. General Practice are already commissioned by NHS England to provide a broad range of 
other contraception options to its patients. LARC is an enhancement to this service ensuring a 
comprehensive and evidence based choice for Primary Care patients as part of an integrated 
contraceptive pathway, which includes consultation and after-care.

Primary care sexual health clinics

8. Primary Care sexual health clinics support the delivery of the mandated responsibility for 
the delivery of accessible sexual health services. Primary Care sexual health clinics are an 
enhancement to the primary care offer of basic sexual health and contraception services 
delivered under the terms of the General Medical Services contract, which is commissioned by 
the NHS. The service offers additional hours of primary care support dedicated to low level 

Page 114



sexual health and contraception needs. This improves access for vulnerable clients and is also 
a key support service for the delivery of the specialist sexual health service model.

9. Currently 11 General Practices in Gloucestershire are contracted to provide the Primary 
Care sexual health clinics. An additional 8 practices have been commissioned on a temporary 
basis to provide additional access to contraception and sexual health appointments to help 
meet the additional need caused by the restrictions as part of the pandemic.

NHS Health Checks

10. NHS Health Checks are a cardiovascular disease (CVD) prevention programme and a 
statutory function which local authorities are mandated to commission. The Council currently 
contracts with 69 General Practices providing good coverage across the county.

11. Legal duties exist for Local Authorities to make arrangements for each eligible person 
aged 40 to 74 to be offered a NHS Health Check once in every five-year period, and for each 
person to be recalled every five years if they remain eligible. At present, only General Practice 
has access to the patient list necessary to operate the mandated invite and recall system.

Stop smoking support

12. Smoking is the leading cause of preventable illness and premature death in England. As 
the adult smoking rate in England continues to decline year on year, it has become 
increasingly concentrated among more disadvantaged communities and groups, leading to an 
inequality gap in smoking prevalence

13. Smoking cessation support is a cost effective intervention. Specialised stop smoking 
support is provided by the Healthy Lifestyles Service.  Stop smoking support within General 
Practice complements this provision.

14. The Council currently contracts with 57 General Practices for the provision of stop smoking 
support.  The service performs well compared to similar services in the South West and is 
extremely cost effective. 

Options

15. The following three options were considered as part of the appraisal of the procurement 
options:

                     Option 1: To decommission the provision of PHES 

                     Option 2: To invite tenders for the provision of PHES 

Option 3: To award approximately 70 contracts, by way of a negotiated 
procedure, to General Practices for the continued provision of PHES 
commencing 1st April 2023. While at the time of drafting this Report the proposal 
is to award 70 such contracts, this number is subject to change should any 
existing GP practices merge, or if any new practices open.

Page 115



Option 1:  To decommission the provision of PHES 
16. This option would result in the cessation of NHS Health Checks and an end to the provision 
of LARC, Primary Care sexual health clinics and stop smoking support within General Practices 
across the county from 31st March 2023.  For NHS Health Checks, LARC and Primary Care 
sexual health clinics this will place the Council in breach of its statutory duty. The Council cannot 
take a lawful decision to knowingly act in breach of its statutory duty. For stop smoking support 
the decision to decommission provision via General Practice will remove a key mechanism for 
delivering its statutory duty to improve the health of the local population and reduce health 
inequalities. 

17. Additional risks include: failure to meet local targets for NHS Health Checks and supporting 
smokers to quit (nationally reported indicators); missed opportunities to treat CVD risk factors 
early resulting in poor outcomes; increase in unwanted pregnancies; increase in the under 18 
conception rate; increase in sexually transmitted infections; and preventable costs incurred by 
health and social care through failure to prevent avoidable ill-health.

Option 2: To invite tenders for the provision of PHES 

18. The total value of the PHES contracts places them above the threshold value under 
Procurement Contract Regulations (PCR) (2015), which would trigger the requirement to 
undertake a competitive procurement exercise to award these contracts. However, these 
contracts are only of interest to General Practice who are the only body that have access to 
their own patient records, which are required in order to be able to provide the services. General 
Practice is not required and cannot be compelled to provide this information to third parties and 
there is evidence from other local authorities to indicate that where these services have been 
openly tendered, General Practice has refused to provide this information to or co-operate with 
third parties who have been awarded these contracts; which has resulted in service failure.

19. The Council must act proportionately under PCR (2015).  Undertaking an open tender 
exercise in this instance is likely to prove expensive and result in General Practice not 
participating and/or not cooperating with other appointed providers which would lead to service 
failure and place the Council in breach of its statutory duty to provide these services. 

Option 3: To award approximately 70 contracts, by way of a negotiated procedure, to General 
Practices for the continued provision of PHES commencing 1st April 2023

20. There is a rationale for continuing to contract with General Practice in respect of each of the 
four services comprised in PHES on the basis that competition is absent for technical reasons 
and no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists. This option will require each 
participating General Practice to enter into a single contract with the council in respect of all four 
services given that this, rather than contracting for each service separately,  will simplify the 
administrative load for participating practices significantly.

Page 116



21. Under this option it is recommended that PHES are provided under a contract up to 5 years 
in length, commencing on 1st April 2023, with an initial fixed term of two years to 31st March 
2025.  The estimated aggregate contract value over the full five year term (if the council’s 
extension option is exercised) is £5,326,105.  The contracts will be terminable on 12 months’ 
notice (exercisable at any time on or after the 31st March 2025). PHES contracts will include:

 provisions allowing the Council to terminate individual services comprised in PHES 
independently of the other such services, and 

 mechanisms allowing the opportunity to vary the services and/or the price paid during 
the term of the PHES should there be changes in the financial circumstances faced by 
the Council.

22. All General Practices in Gloucestershire will be offered a PHES contract. The total number 
of contracts offered will depend on the number of General Practices operating in the county at 
any one time. This will be approximately 70 contracts.

Risks 

Legal risks

23. There is a risk in respect of any direct contract award by way of negotiated procedure that 
the award may be subject to legal challenge under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 
(“PCRs”).  While it is acknowledged that a direct contract award is permissible under the 
council’s Contract Standing Orders and/or the PCRs only on very limited grounds, a direct 
contract award is justified in this instance on grounds that the services can only be provided by 
specific economic operators because: 
(a) competition is absent for technical reasons; 
(b) no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists; and 
(c) the absence of competition is not due to the Council artificially narrowing the parameters of 
the procurement (Regulation 32(2)(b)(ii) PCRs). 

24. The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs) permit direct contract awards where 
market analysis has determined that the required services can only be provided by a particular 
provider. These tests have been applied to each of the four services comprised in PHES. The 
council’s justification for making a direct contract award by way of negotiated procedure, as 
evidenced by such tests, is as follows:

NHS Health Checks 

25. For the purposes of Regulation 32(2)(b)(ii) PCRs, competition is absent for technical 
reasons and no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists given that only General 
Practices have access to the relevant confidential patient information needed to identify 
eligible patients and deliver the mandated ‘call and recall’ system. The Council could not 
award a contract to providers other than GPs on the basis that they would not have access to 
the required patient data.  Moreover, General Practices could only give patient data to a third 
party if it was with the express consent of the patient concerned which would require recorded 

Page 117



consent from approximately 191,000 individuals who are eligible for a NHS Health Check, 
placing considerable administrative burden on General Practice.

LARC provision

26. For the purposes of Regulation 32(2)(b)(ii) PCRs, competition is absent for technical 
reasons and no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists given that the 
commissioning responsibilities of the council and NHS England in respect of the contraceptive 
pathway (in which LARC fitting sits) are of a statutory nature, in respect of which Local 
Authorities are responsible for commissioning LARC fittings only, while NHS England is 
responsible for commissioning the remainder of the contraceptive pathway from General 
Practice. Accordingly, given that LARC fitting is required to sit within an integrated 
contraceptive pathway (including patient consultation and after care) and, as such, cannot be 
readily decoupled from the existing pathway commissioned by NHS England from General 
Practice, competition is deemed to be absent. 

27. A market testing exercise was carried out by the council in March 2022 in order to 
determine market feedback on the future delivery model for LARC. The findings from the 
exercise were that it attracted no interest from service providers other than the current General 
Practitioner providers, thereby indicating a lack of competition due to the aforementioned 
statutory requirements rather than a narrowing of the parameters of the procurement.

Primary Care Sexual Health Clinics

28. For the purposes of Regulation 32(2)(b)(ii) PCRs, competition is absent for technical 
reasons and no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists given that the required 
Primary Care Sexual Health clinics are an enhancement of the basic sexual health and 
contraception services commissioned by NHS England from General Practitioners, hence they 
cannot be readily decoupled from the such services without compromising the integrated 
General Practice pathway (including patient consultation and after care).

Stop smoking provision

29. Specialist stop smoking provision is delivered as part of the contract for the Healthy 
Lifestyles Service, which supports individuals to make lifestyle changes to improve their health 
and wellbeing. The provision of stop smoking support within General Practice is intended to 
compliment this provision because General Practice is uniquely placed to deliver stop smoking 
support directly to patients as part of the NHS Health Check, or on diagnosis, or annual 
review, of a long term condition. 

30. The provision of this service is an effective complimentary enhancement to the NHS 
Health Checks Service which is to be awarded to General Practice under the PHES. As such 
only General Practice has the patient data to deliver both NHS Health Checks and this 
enhancement. 

31. Moreover, for the purposes of Regulation 32(2)(b)(ii) PCRs, competition is absent for 
technical reasons and no reasonable alternative or substitute service exists given that 
confidential patient data is required to deliver stop smoking support as part of the NHS Health 
Check, or on diagnosis, or annual review, of a long term condition. General Practices could 
only give patient data to a third party if it was with the express consent of the patient 

Page 118



concerned which would require recorded consent, placing considerable administrative burden 
on General Practices.

Financial implications

32. The estimated total investment required across the proposed 70 PHES contracts with 
General Practices over the full five years contract term is £5,326,105. 

33. This figure is an estimated total as the actual spend under the contracts is variable being 
based on activity delivered. 

34. The investment required to implement the recommendations within this report is within 
existing budget allocations from the Public Health grant. The proposed initial two year fixed 
contract term enables the Council to review its investment into the PHES according to its 
financial circumstances

35. The break down of the budget across the four services comprised in PHES is as follows:

 NHS Health Checks: £320,221 per annum
 Long Acting Reversible Contraceptives (LARC): £650,000 per annum
 Primary Care Sexual Health Clinics: £70,000 per annum
 Stop smoking support: £25,000 per annum.

36. Since payments under all four service areas are linked to General Practice activity and 
patient uptake these values are modelled estimates based on a number of years’ activity 
levels and modelled trends.  However, it is not possible to completely rule out the possibility of 
cost pressures if activity levels and uptake increase beyond those predicted. Provisions 
allowing the Council to terminate individual services independently and/or vary the price paid 
during the contract term help to mitigate this risk should there be changes in the financial 
circumstances faced by the Council.

Climate change implications

37. Following discussion with the Council’s strategic lead for Sustainability, it was agreed that 
there were no significant negative implications in terms of climate considerations arising from 
the recommended option to award the PHES contracts to General Practice. The design and 
development of the procurement supports the achievement of the Council’s net-zero ambitions 
through the ongoing support and enhancement of existing GP service provision, utilising 
existing staff and premises, maximising access for local residents and minimising the need for 
car usage in communities.

Equality implications

38. An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed and accompanies this report.

39. Consideration of the likely impact of this decision indicates that there should be no 
disproportionate impact on those with protected characteristics.

Page 119



Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

40. A DPIA has been completed. Whilst there was no legal obligation to complete a Data 
Protection Impact Assessment, one has been completed to outline the contractual relationship 
between Gloucestershire County Council and General Practice with regards to the processing 
of data to ensure the appropriate information sharing provisions are in place and any risks 
identified can be mitigated and managed through the ongoing contract monitoring. Due to the 
nature of the processing, General practice will be an independent Data controller and will have 
the responsibility for data collection, storage, and retention of any personally identifiable 
information. They will be contractually obligated to remain GDPR compliant as well as work to 
the NHS Data Security and Protection Toolkit

Social value implications

41. The recommended option to award the PHES contracts to General Practice supports the 
Council’s efforts to promote social value as part of its Economic Recovery Plan and to support 
Gloucestershire based SME by ensure the services are delivered by Gloucestershire based 
suppliers.

Consultation feedback

42. The Sexual Health Public Consultation exercise (2016); and the Healthy Lifestyles 
Consultation exercise (2016)  indicate that GPs remain a preferred source of advice and 
treatment in the service areas in scope for this decision.

43. A national survey conducted by PHE in 2018 found that in general, women reported that 
General Practice was their preferred place to obtain their contraception including LARC.

Officer recommendations

44. It is recommended that the Cabinet adopt Option 3, to directly award to General Practice 
contracts for the continued provision of PHES.

45. It is recommended that the PHES contract is offered as a five year contract, commencing 
on 1st April 2023 with an initial fixed term of two years to 31st March 2025.

Performance management/follow-up 

46. PHES contracts include specific measurable standards and outcomes and are actively 
managed through the collation and analysis of key performance data, and through clinical 
audit of NHS Health Checks delivery against national quality standards and indicators e.g. the 
Public Health Outcomes Framework.

Page 120

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s34776/Item%209%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Sexual%20Health%20Services%20Review%20Public%20Consultation%20Final%20Report.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28951/Item%2010%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Consultation%20Report%20Healthy%20Lifestyles%20Final.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s28951/Item%2010%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Consultation%20Report%20Healthy%20Lifestyles%20Final.pdf


REPORT TITLE: Scheme development funding for M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Strategic 
Transport Scheme in 2022/23

Cabinet Date 22 June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr David Gray, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning

Key Decision Yes/No

Purpose of Report To delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, Environment 
and Infrastructure to procure professional services, to continue work towards 
delivering the M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme.
To obtain approval to spend, at risk, on delivering the Strategic Outline Case 
(SOC) including the Options Appraisal Report, and Outline Business Case 
(OBC) for M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme. 

Recommendations That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment and Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning to

 Procure continuation of development work (SOC and OBC delivery) 
under our Professional Services contract

 Undertake a non-statutory public consultation, and 
 Submit the SOC and OBC to the Department for Transport once 

complete. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

Continuing to fund the work to deliver the SOC and OBC will enable GCC to 
transfer the scheme over to National Highways (NH) to progress the scheme 
to construction. Discussions with NH show they can take over the scheme 
and deliver themselves. The proviso to this is that GCC, as current scheme 
promoter, progresses the scheme ‘at risk’ to OBC submission stage. 

The work on the SOC/OBC can be delivered through our existing long-term 
contracts and the commissioned value is likely to be approximately £6 million.

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



Resource 
Implications

A sum of approximately £6.108 million is required for the development of the 
M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme SOC and OBC for 
financial year 2022/23.  
The circa £6.108m will be funded from:
£1.000m existing transport planning base budget for business case funding.
£1.500m MTFS 2022-23 revenue as approved by the County Council in 
February 2022.
£1.500m Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities funding, to 
support infrastructure needs around the Tewkesbury Garden Town. 
£2.108m Carry forward request of 2021-22 underspend against transport 
planning base budget which is subject to the June 2022 Financial Outturn 
Cabinet paper being approved.
The development work will be determined by the available budget and, 
although no overspend will be incurred, the available budget will impact the 
speed of scheme development. 
Whilst projects of this scale necessarily rely on support from many of the 
Council’s service departments, the scale of the development work has 
already (2021/22) included back filling positions in the GCC legal department, 
in order to support the delivery of the substantial legal aspects delivering a 
successful SOC and OBC to the DfT, whilst ensuring continuity of service. 
This back filling will continue and be funded from the above project funding. 

Background 
Documents

 Gloucestershire County Council ‘M5 Junction 9 A46’ Cabinet report – March 
2021 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s69683/M5J9%20A46%20
Progress%20Report%20FINAL.pdf 

 Gloucestershire Local Transport Plan (LTP) (2020 – 2041) 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-
plan-2020-2041/

 Gloucestershire County Council Local Development Guide 2021
 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-

policy/gloucestershire-local-development-guide/ 
 Gloucestershire County Council Manual for Gloucestershire Streets July 2020
 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099344/2020-july-mfgs.pdf 


Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980, Section 1(2)

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All councillors, with Cllr. Vernon Smith being the local councillor

Officer Name:  Dr Dave Land
Tel. no: 01452 425828
Email: David.land@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) transport scheme
Cabinet approval: June 2022.
Commission work for 2022-2023: June 2022

Page 122

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s69683/M5J9%20A46%20Progress%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s69683/M5J9%20A46%20Progress%20Report%20FINAL.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/gloucestershires-local-transport-plan-2020-2041/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/gloucestershire-local-development-guide/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/planning-policy/gloucestershire-local-development-guide/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2099344/2020-july-mfgs.pdf


SOC completed and submitted to DfT: July 2022
Non statutory consultation: Autumn 2022
SOC decision by DfT: 2023
OBC approved by DfT: June 2024
If confirmed, official scheme handover from GCC to NH: June 2024

 

Page 123



Background 

M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme

1 The M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme is a proposal to upgrade 
the M5 Junction 9 near Tewkesbury and re-route the section of the A46 which currently 
passes through Ashchurch to the east of the M5 (between M5 Junction 9 and Teddington 
Hands roundabout). This transport scheme has been identified in the Gloucestershire 
Local Transport Plan as a highway scheme priority, and that GCC will progress the Pre-
SOBC, SOBC and OBC for M5 J9 and A46 scheme.

2 The A46 is one of the country’s most important trade routes – the Trans Midlands 
Trade Corridor - operating at a national, regional and local level. This corridor runs for 
155 miles from Gloucestershire across to Lincolnshire. It is home to 5.5 million people 
and 2.9 million jobs, with an economic output of £115 billion – almost 10% of the entire 
English economy1. By 2041, the economic potential will have increased by 600,000 new 
residents, 150,000 new jobs and 250,000 new homes. This will have dynamic and 
extensive impacts upon the whole of Gloucestershire; helping to unlock economic 
potential throughout the county. 

3 Key investments will be necessary to unlock this considerable economic potential, 
giving the ‘lift up’ needed for the A46 to take on an even stronger role in national 
prosperity. Infrastructure investment will provide a strong opportunity to engage in the 
levelling up process across the nation. Making smart investment choices to deliver a 
viable, modern, fit for purpose, cross-country national trade route will deliver economic 
equality for areas outside London and the South East, and support the Government’s 
levelling up agenda. 

4 The A46 also provides a strategic link between the South West and the Midlands, via 
Gloucestershire, offering an important alternative to the A42/M42 for traffic travelling 
between the M1 and the M5. However, the section of the A46 through Ashchurch is 
currently acting as a key constraint on the route, with drivers experiencing significant 
delays, which is causing congestion, air pollution and substantial negative impacts on the 
economy - both locally and regionally. Alongside GCC, Midlands Connect - the sub-
national transport body – are also calling for necessary improvements to be made in 
order to unlock economic benefits, lower congestion and remove heavy traffic from 
affected communities. 

5 One aim of the scheme is to improve north-south connectivity for long distance traffic 
and Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGVs) travelling between Gloucestershire, Wales and 
South-West to the West Midlands, East Midlands, Lincolnshire and up to Yorkshire and 
beyond. The A46 could, if it were better developed, provide direct access for business to 
the A1, M1 and M6 and is hence critical for supporting future economic growth through 
the corridor, in our region and for the whole county. All of Gloucestershire would benefit 
from the increased access for businesses to other key regions and cities. 

1 https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/key-projects/a46-corridor/ 

Page 124

https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/key-projects/a46-corridor/


6 A further aim of the scheme is to help solve long standing traffic issues at this key 
location on the A46 corridor, including improving journey times and reliability for journeys 
between the M5 Junction 9 and Teddington Hands roundabout.

7 Regarding safety objectives, the scheme will address mainline queueing on the 
approaches to M5 Junction 9 at peak periods due to congestion, which is currently a 
significant safety concern due to rear end shunts and connected personal injury 
concerns.

Progress update on M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) transport scheme

8.The scheme is being developed with a view to supporting the delivery of future 
sustainable mixed-use development which will enable at least 10,000 homes to be 
delivered along with 120 hectares of employment land at Ashchurch by 2041 and 
beyond. This will require significant investment in infrastructure in the local area. Whilst 
not currently in an adopted development plan, the emerging Tewkesbury Garden Town 
scheme is one of Homes England’s designated garden towns, which was awarded 
Garden Town status in 2019. The Garden Town proposal will be considered as part of 
the emerging Joint Spatial Plan (JSP) for Tewkesbury, Cheltenham and Gloucester. 

9 In November 2021, the DfT Transport Minister approved the scheme for continuation 
up to SOC stage. This approval included NH’s use of additional funding to work in 
conjunction with GCC to produce a mutually agreed SOC. 

10. NH have stated that they wish to take on the Preferred Route Announcement (PRA) 
stage of the project. 

11. GCC is the current scheme sponsor and, through collaborative working with NH, it 
has been agreed that, subject to an approved OBC, NH will take the scheme on for 
delivery. A Ministerial PRA will be withheld until after NH’s formal acceptance and 
adoption of the scheme to ensure that NH is fully satisfied with the decision on the 
preferred route, including all associated works to this point, thus reducing risks to NH and 
to project delivery. As a result, the scheme will be developed by GCC in accordance with 
NH’s Project Control Framework (PCF) for PCF Stages 0-2 to align delivery of the project 
with NH’s processes and enable a smooth handover. PCF stage 2 is the production of 
the OBC. 

12. Department for Transport have confirmed that National Highways are authorised to 
spend up to £0.5million engaging with GCC to support the OBC for submission. This 
figure will apply from SOC submission until the point that DfT has made its decision on 
approval of the SOC. Once the SOC is approved, the cost, and ongoing cost of National 
Highway’s engagement in the scheme will be provided from DfT’s Large Local Majors 
budget, via the bid for OBC development costs, presented as part of the SOC 
submission. This means that DfT should refund costs associated with the development of 
the scheme during OBC. Whilst these costs do not reflect the entire cost of developing 
the OBC, it should cover the cost of the works associated with final scheme design for 
OBC (this would be expected to be around 40% to 50% of total expenditure) as this can 
be considered a capital cost against the scheme.

Page 125



13. The Stages of the M5 J9 project are planned to be delivered as below, and are 
subject to change:

Project Control 
Framework* Stage

Milestone Estimated Date 

PCF Stage 0 Stage Gate Assessment 
Review

July 2022

Submission of SOC to DfT July 2022

Stage 0 & Stage 1

(Strategy, shaping and 
prioritisation, and option 
identification)

PCF Stage 1 Stage Gate Assessment 
Review

August 2022 

Non-statutory public consultation Autumn 2022

Approval of SOC February 2023

Submission of OBC to DfT December 2023

Approval of OBC June 2024
PCF Stage 2 Stage Gate Assessment 
Review

June 2024

Scheme to transfer to NH June 2024

Stage 2

(Option selection)

Ministerial PRA July 2024

*Project Control Framework is NH’s project management delivery methodology. The 
purpose of following NH procedures is to ensure a smooth transition from GCC to NH. 

Options

14. To not delegate authority to the Executive Director and obtain funding 
approval. This would result in the loss of considerable investments already made (c. 
£8million), consisting of all the work that has already taken place. This is a substantial 
reputational risk to GCC and to other stakeholders, given the level of investment already 
undertaken and the strategic importance of the project. It is unlikely another suitable 
funding source of the magnitude required would become available in the foreseeable 
future, and so GCC either cancel the work, or try another funding route to acquire the 
external funding to deliver the scheme. 

15. To deliver the business case work in-house. GCC do not have the expertise or the 
resource level to deliver this work. We would not be able to recruit the substantial 
numbers of specialist staff required, nor deliver the outcomes needed. 

16. To delegate authority to the Executive Director and obtain funding approval to 
commission the work on the SOC/OBC. This will allow the preparation of the SOC and 
OBC to continue, and ultimately for GCC to access the finance from DfT for development 
funding of a scheme. Should funding be secured and the M5 Junction 9 and A46 
(Ashchurch) Transport Scheme contract be in place, GCC would then be in a position to 
draw down any monies expended against the M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) 
Transport Scheme funding going forward. 

Risks 

Page 126



17. Risk that COVID19 delays schemes. We have not seen a delay in the project to 
date. Public consultations are being held online, with good response rates (e.g. M5 
Junction 10 and NH’s A417 Missing Link schemes). Site visits i.e. environmental and 
habitat assessments are being undertaken following strict COVID19 safe working 
guidance. All staff and consultants working on the scheme are doing so in a COVID19 
safe way. 

18. Risk that the SOC/OBC is not delivered on time. The purpose of the finance 
drawdown and delegation to the Executive Director is to enable the deadline for the 
SOC/OBC to be met. 

19. Risk that the investments already made are not recoverable, because the 
scheme does not proceed. Without taking the scheme forward for funding in the correct 
manner, we will not be able to get into development stage with DfT, (post-approved 
SOC) and therefore will not be able to draw down against the historic costs, and hence 
replenish funds. 

20. Risk that there are not enough resources to deliver the work. By delegating 
authority to the Executive Director to procure project delivery, this risk can be 
successfully monitored and managed.

21. Risk of the Garden Town not coming forward in the JSP, and/or the JSP is 
delayed, so there is not an adopted plan by the time planning permission is required for 
Junction 9. We continue to work with all of the JSP authorities to support the delivery of 
the JSP. The JSP authorities have recently appointed a consultant to project manage the 
JSP processes and to deliver the JSP on time.

Financial implications

22. Delivery of the work will continue to operate under the existing transport scheme 
framework that exists between GCC and the professional services provider. This is the 
most appropriate route as it is the most cost effective and most timely, as work can 
continue with the existing provider under current terms and conditions, as allowable in 
the framework context. This complies with procurement regulations and the council’s 
contract procedure rules. Some subsections of the SOC and OBC process have required 
contracts with land referencing contractors and legal advisors to be deployed. These 
have been procured under existing legal framework arrangements, which are compliant 
with procurement regulations and meet the council’s contract procedure rules.

23. A sum of approximately £14.108 million is required in total for the development of the 
M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme OBC of which £8 million has 
already been approved via the 17th June 2020 GCC Cabinet paper. This paper seeks to 
obtain approval for the remaining £6.108m of funding as shown below:
The circa £6.108m will be funded from:
£1.000m existing transport planning base budget for business case funding.
£1.500m MTFS 2022-23 revenue

Page 127



£1.500m  Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities funding, to support 
infrastructure needs around the Tewkesbury Garden Town. 
£2.108m Carry forward request of 2021-22 underspend against transport planning base 
budget which is subject to the June Financial Outturn Cabinet paper being approved.

24. The latest forecast of future costs are in the region of £6.108m which includes costs 
for: 

 Development work of SOC and OBC, including Autumn 2022 non-statutory 
consultation;

 Legal advice costs;
 Land referencing costs;
 Network Rail; and 
 Statutory environmental/other bodies: e.g. Natural England, Environment Agency, 

Active Travel England, etc. 

Climate change implications

25. The recently adopted LTP 2021-2041 addresses the climate change agenda and 
adaptation, the digitisation of transport, all transport user needs, sustainable economic 
growth, and the delivery of a safe, efficient and sustainable transport system.

26. The scheme will re-route traffic away from the existing A46 through Ashchurch on to 
the new road, enabling delivery of an improved street environment through Ashchurch 
and supporting shift to sustainable modes. By alleviating the existing A46 issues, the 
scheme will also support sustainable local growth plans in Gloucestershire, including the 
emerging Tewkesbury Garden Town. Schemes such as this are a sustainable way of 
delivering much needed housing and employment in the county, which means the M5 
Junction 9 and A46 transport scheme is a key device in facilitating the means to make 
these schemes feasible. 

27. The climate change impacts of the scheme will be explored and considered more 
fully as part of the development of the OBC, to ensure the impact of the scheme on 
climate change is properly understood and minimised. 

28. The scheme will seek approval from the Programme Board meeting in June 2022, to 
include the objective to “Deliver a 10% Biodiversity Net Gain in accordance with the 
forthcoming requirements of the Environment Act 2021 (including for any scheme 
amendments/updates)” as part of the Development Consent Order (DCO) process. We 
will seek to advance this draft objective, subject to change, but it reflects the ongoing 
importance to the Council of setting clear environmental objectives for the M5 J9 and 
A46 Improvement Scheme. 

Equality implications

Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes / No

Page 128



Cabinet Members should read and consider the EIA in order to satisfy themselves as 
decision makers that due regard has been given.

Summary of the Equalities Impact Assessment

29. Design: Accessible design should consider: 
 The movement of people who are who are pregnant or travelling with prams 

and/or pushchairs;
 Accessing places of worship;
 All pedestrians, but especially those such as female pedestrians and others with 

protected characteristics who may feel more vulnerable, particularly when dark, 
through appropriate lighting of footpaths;

 Movement of people with disabilities; and 
 Movement of older people.

30. Construction: There is a potential challenge of the impact of construction traffic 
causing barriers for older people and children to access facilities, services and other 
destinations, who are the more vulnerable pedestrians, which will be addressed.

31. Contractors responsible for the construction of the scheme should adhere to 
appropriate codes of conduct and ensure they have the correct mechanisms in place so 
there is no discrimination by age, disability, sex, race, gender, maternity/paternity, 
religion/belief, or sexual orientation of any workers. 

32. Operation: Potential reduction in congestion levels and fostering positive outcomes 
for pedestrians - could benefit those living in the local area, including young and old, 
people with disabilities, resulting in better accessibility and less barriers to local 
movement. 

33. The EIA will be updated on as required basis to account for any changes that we 
become aware of during the development process. 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

34. The DPIA has been completed

35. GCC will engage with landowners, stakeholders and the public to gather feedback on 
the proposed route options in Autumn 2022. Views and comments received during the 
consultation will be considered and summarised in a public consultation report.

36. The information given by survey respondents will be treated as confidential and in 
accordance with UK data protection legislation. Responses received as part of the 
consultation will be anonymised, stored and handled in accordance with GCC’s policy on 
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). 

37. The information provided will be treated as confidential and in accordance with UK 
data protection legislation. GCC is the data controller for all information collected from 
surveys related to the M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme. The lawful 

Page 129



basis for processing this data is for the performance of task carried out in the public 
interest in line with the Highways Act 1980.  

Social value implications

38. Procuring locally as much as possible, means we can deliver added value; using 
local businesses and/or staff that are based in the area in order to deliver the M5 
Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme as a whole; ranging from the 
consultants delivering the OBC to construction firms actually building the scheme.

Consultation feedback

39. A non-statutory consultation is a major contributing factor to the SOC and OBC. The 
non-statutory consultation is due to launch in Autumn 2022.

40. Seldom Heard Groups. The GCC project team have been working to develop 
strategies for improving engagement with seldom heard groups around infrastructure 
consultation. Our consultants have developed a set of strategies which will be deployed 
in support of the non-statutory consultation. Several different groups have been identified 
that are not often heard from during consultations, and actions we will undertaken to try 
and engage with these groups. These are outlined below: 

Seldom Heard
groups Engagement activities

Commuters travelling
through the scheme 
area
Seasonal road users

Online information widely publicised through local 
businesses and media.
Variable Message Signs (VMS) and A-frames

Time poor 

Online information including recorded content available, 
including virtual event recordings.
Online information is accessible for all screen sizes and 
resolutions.
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses.
Updates and engagement via social media.
Design of the feedback survey will be concise and easy to 
use so people can leave feedback in a short time.

Those unable to 
access the internet

Option to request hard copy consultation materials by phone 
or pick up a hard copy of the brochure and survey at 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Libraries.
Ability to respond to consultation by post or over the phone 
via the GCC customer contact centre - set up a dedicated 
line who can input the survey if required.
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses.
Posters displayed in community facilities.

Disabled groups 

Contact representatives of local disability groups.
Option to request hard copy consultation materials by phone.
Ability to respond to consultation by post or over the phone 
via the GCC customer contact centre.
Option to request documents in accessible formats.

Page 130



Posters displayed in community facilities.

Black and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) groups

Contact representatives of local community groups.
Option to request hard copy consultation materials by phone.
Ability to respond to consultation by post or over the phone 
via the GCC customer contact centre (details above).
Postcard drops to local residents and businesses and poster 
displayed in community facilities.
Updates and engagement via social media.

Young people 

Online information including recorded content available, 
including virtual event recordings.
Design of the feedback survey will be concise and easy to 
use so people can leave feedback in a short time.
Updates and engagement via social media.

41. Further to these actions to support seldom heard group engagement, we will provide 
the option to complete the survey over the phone on behalf of respondents, if 
respondents are unable to do this themselves. There will also be the option to get in 
contact via letter. 

42. Consultation materials will be developed for those with learning disabilities, colour 
blindness, visual impairments or those who do not speak English as a first language. 

43. We are working towards all public-facing documents being accessible and inclusive 
to all; this will be a priority going forward, meaning all readers will have access to the 
same information despite the method chosen to digest the information. The Web Content 
Accessibility Guidelines (WCAG) 2.1 are the most widely adopted standards for 
achieving digital accessibility and will be used as guidance for ensuring the portal, 
website, animation, feedback survey and all public facing documents are made 
accessible. Consultation materials will meet the Level AA requirements. 

44. Contact details will be provided if consultees require information in a different format 
to those provided, or if we are unable to create accessible alternatives, for example 
detailed engineering design drawings, for which it is currently impossible to create 
alternatives. 

Officer recommendations

45. Officers recommend that authority is delegated to the relevant Executive Director, 
and the supporting finance changes are implemented as set out in the recommendation 
section, to facilitate the completion of the SOC and OBC in a timely manner, in order to 
access the DfT’s development money and to work towards transfer of the scheme to NH. 

Performance management/follow-up 

46. Progress is managed through regular reporting from consultants working on the SOC 
and OBC. 

Page 131



47. Oversight is achieved through regular reporting via monthly SEEIMB cabinet member 
meetings. 

48. The programme is led by a Programme Board which meets every six weeks. It 
consists of representatives from GCC, NH, Homes England, Department for Transport 
and Tewkesbury Borough Council. This is supported by a steering group, which also 
meets every six weeks, prior to the Programme Board. 

49. An M5 Junction 9/A46 (Ashchurch) Transport Scheme governance process will be 
developed as part of the OBC.

Page 132



REPORT TITLE: Ofsted Inspection of Gloucestershire Children’s Services and 
Improvement Plan

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval for the Improvement Plan developed in response 
to the inspection of GCC Children’s Services (published 1st April 2022), prior 
to its submission to Ofsted.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:

 Notes the Ofsted Inspection report (1st April 2022), attached at 
Appendix 1.

 Approves the Children’s Services Improvement Plan at Appendix 2, 
and; 

 Delegates authority to the Director of Children’s Services to make any 
final changes to the Improvement Plan, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, prior to 
its submission to Ofsted.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

GCC’s Children’s Services were subject to inspection by Ofsted between 7th 
February 2022 and 18th February 2022, with the final report published on 1st 
April 2022. Ofsted judged the overall effectiveness of services as ‘Requires 
improvement to be good.’  Therefore, the local authority is required to submit 
an improvement plan to address the recommendations made in the published 
report to Ofsted by 15 July.

Resource 
Implications

The actions within the Improvement Plan will be delivered within existing 
council resources and budgets. 

Background 
Documents

Report of Inspection of Gloucestershire’s local authority children’s 
services https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50180552

Statutory Authority Children Act 2004

Page 133

Agenda Item 8

https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50180552


Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy
E-mail:  andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Telephone:  (01452) 425019
 

Timeline The Improvement Plan is required to be submitted to Ofsted by 15 July. 

Page 134

mailto:andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1.0 Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services were inspected by Ofsted in 2017, when 
services were judged to be inadequate overall. Consequently, Children’s Services 
were subject to a statutory direction by the Secretary of State and oversight by a multi-
agency Improvement Board (IB), working under an independent chair.  The role of the 
Improvement Board, which comprised GCC councillors and senior officers, local 
partners and DfE representatives, was to oversee improvement activity, with a 
particular focus on the recommendations made by Ofsted.

2.0 Alongside the work of the Improvement Board, which convened on a 6-week cycle, 
Ofsted also undertook periodic monitoring visits, usually comprising two HM 
Inspectors, to assess progress. Monitoring visits tended to look in detail at discrete 
aspects of practice, combining interviews with practitioners and review of a sample of 
associated case records The Department for Education also undertook their own 
reviews on a six-monthly basis, taking a more holistic view of progress.

3.0 The cycle of regulatory inspection is such that a local authority can usually anticipate 
inspection of its Children’s Services on a more or less 3-year cycle. The 
commencement of the pandemic in March 2020 had a significant impact on the 
inspection cycle both locally and nationally. In total, Gloucestershire Children’s 
Services received 7 monitoring visits over the period January 2018 and February 
2020. In October 2020, Ofsted undertook a Focussed Visit, which is more akin to a 
mini inspection, involving a much larger team of five inspectors.   The resulting letter 
noted that ‘the improvement journey had not been straightforward’ but also that there 
had been ‘a noticeable change of pace over recent months.’

4.0 Following the Focussed Visit, full inspection was anticipated imminently, however, this 
was impacted by the second national lockdown, creating further delay and uncertainty 
for services. There is no doubt that for services judged inadequate in such a public 
manner, staff recruitment, retention and morale are all adversely affected, within the 
context of an already strained workforce market and challenging operational 
landscape. 

5.0 Full inspection finally took place in February 2022, almost exactly 5 years after the 
2017 inspection, with the report published on 1st April 2022. Ofsted concluded that the 
overall effectiveness of services was no longer inadequate and had improved to 
‘Requires improvement to be Good.’  A copy of the report is attached at Appendix 1.

6.0 The report makes judgements on 3 aspects of practice, each of which is graded, 
contributing to the overall judgement as set out below:

Judgement Grade
The impact of leaders on social work 
practice with children and families

Requires improvement to be good

The experiences and progress of children 
who need help and protection

Requires improvement to be good

The experiences and progress of children 
in care and care leavers

Requires improvement to be good

Overall effectiveness Requires improvement to be good

Page 135



6.0 The report makes 5 recommendations for further improvement, as set out below:

 The timeliness and application of consistent thresholds for child protection 
strategy meetings.

 The suitability of accommodation for care leavers to meet their needs, including to 
feel safe.

 The quality of case supervision and management.
 The timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated to children, to best 

support their transition and adulthood.
 How well IT systems support social workers to do their jobs.

7.0 Within their report, Ofsted note the significant progress made in ‘many areas of 
Gloucestershire’s children’s services since the last inspection in 2017 and that ‘from a 
very low base, there has been a relentless drive for improvement by both senior leaders 
and staff’. The report also notes that ‘services for children are not consistently good’ 
and ‘there remains more to do to ensure that all children benefit from improved 
services.’ 

8.0 Throughout the inspection, the Ofsted team noted that Children’s Services senior 
leadership understood their strengths and weaknesses, as set out within their self-
evaluation, and articulated by the Director of Children’s Services at the commencement 
of inspection. This was significant given the serious questions raised in the 2017 
inspection about the veracity, integrity and accuracy of data provided to Ofsted.  The 
quality assurance and performance management arrangements now in place provide 
senior leaders with a good understanding of the quality and impact of practice, with the 
appropriate use of meaningful external comparators to further support self-awareness.  

9.0 The next stages for Children’s Services are first, to consolidate our position so there is 
no return to inadequate standards; and second to progress from an overall position of 
‘requires improvement’ to that of ‘good’. As such, the Improvement Plan (IP) attached at 
Appendix 2 looks beyond the immediate recommendations set out within the Ofsted 
Inspection Report to articulate a broader set of actions, reflecting the deeper 
appreciation of service effectiveness by Children’s Services senior leadership around 
what needs to improve to deliver sustainably good services. 

10.0 The IP, once approved, will be subject to regular oversight and review by GCC Senior 
and Corporate Leadership, Elected Members and a reconstituted, multi-agency 
Improvement Board. While no longer under a Statutory Direction, Children’s Services 
will remain in a Department for Education (DfE) category of ‘support and supervision’ 
for at least the next 12 months.

11.0 Children’s Serves do not fail in isolation, neither do they succeed. Ofsted noted that the 
‘significant financial investment and the backing of political leaders, has led to improved 
services that are now more effective in meeting the needs of children and families. As a 
result of these improvements to services and support for children, they are now better 
protected.’  This investment has reduced caseloads, enabled the development of the 
Social Work Academy and ensured our recruitment and retention offer has remained 
competitive within a very challenging marketplace. 

Page 136



12.0 The support and input of partners through the IB, Children’s Safeguarding Partnership 
and Children’s Wellbeing Coalition has also helped to foster a shared appreciation of 
the needs, risks and circumstances of children and young people in the county, as the 
basis for shared vision for their safeguarding and future development. This positive 
corporate and partner engagement will need to be sustained as we respond to the 
significant and enduring impacts of Covid and the emerging cost of living pressures 
impacting on families, while simultaneously improving practice. Developing and 
embedding these arrangements, utilising the greater autonomy that flows from the 
removal of the statutory direction, will provide a necessary bulwark against the cycle of 
marginal improvement and regression that has been characteristic of Gloucestershire’s 
past.

13.0 Alongside the IB, Children’s Services have adopted Systemic Social Work as its model 
of practice and commenced a transformation programme, to ensure its organisational 
form and working arrangements enable practice to flourish and meet the challenges of 
21st Century social work. At a national level, there are several major policy initiatives  
which children’s services and local partners will have to respond including the Early 
Years Healthy Development Review Report: Best Start in Life, Independent Review of 
Children’s Social Care: The Case for Change, Education White Paper and SEND 
Reforms. 

14.0 Taken account of the evolving policy context and challenging operating landscape, 
remaining at the ‘requires improvement to be good’ level will require sustained focus 
and effort, with no let-up. The journey to good will be as challenging, if not more so, 
than that required to move services out of the inadequate category and require a similar 
degree of focus at service, corporate and partnership levels. A Joint Area Targeted 
Inspection (JTAI) focussed on a particular area of practice can also be anticipated in 
the next 12 - 18 months.

Options

15.0 Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services are required to submit an improvement plan to 
Ofsted by 15 July.

Risks 

16.0 There are several risks identified:

1. Risk: The Improvement Plan is not effective in improving services without 
outcomes for children and young people underperforming. Mitigation The 
Improvement Plan will continue to be subject to oversight and input from 
corporate colleagues and local partners, including a reconstituted Improvement 
Board.

2. Risk:  That infrastructure and resourcing is insufficient to service need. 
Mitigation:  There is a continued commitment to the investment and 
infrastructure development necessary to further improve services. 

Page 137



Financial implications

17.0 There are no direct financial implications arising from this decision, however, Children’s 
Services continues to face considerable challenges in this area, particularly in relation 
to staffing, the cost and availability of placements and special educational needs.

Climate change implications

18.0 Meetings will be conducted on a virtual basis whenever appropriate in order to limit 
travel. When travel for visits, multi-agency meetings or inspections is required this will 
be sustainable and smart using efficient route mapping and with fuel conservation in 
mind, whenever petrol or diesel vehicles are used. Electric vehicles, from the Council 
pool, to be used where possible.

Equality implications

19.0 Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

20.0 There are no direct Data Protection Impact Assessment implications arising from the 
Ofsted Report.

Social value implications

21.0 Ensuring that children and families receive the right service at the right time to ensure 
children are safeguarded, whilst avoiding unnecessary intrusion in their lives, is key to 
the next stage of our improvement journey. This is the essence of the improvement and 
transformation activity that will take place over coming months and years. Taking this 
approach will deliver considerable social value through better outcomes for children and 
the wider community of Gloucestershire.  

Consultation feedback

22.0 The Improvement Plan (IP) attached at Appendix 2 has been developed by Children’s 
Services senior leadership in response to the inspection findings. It will be subject to 
ongoing consultation with partners and stakeholders prior to submission to ensure it is 
as exhaustive as practicable and enjoys widespread support.

Officer recommendations

23.0 Ofsted published its Inspection Report for Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) 
Children’s Services on 1st April 2022, a copy of which is attached at Appendix 1. An 
Improvement Plan responding to its findings is required to be submitted to Ofsted by 15 
July. 

Page 138



24.0 The Improvement Plan attached at Appendix 2 builds on the approach that has 
successfully moved services out of the inadequate category and provides a sound 
basis to achieve sustainably good service provision in future .  It is recommended that 
Cabinet approves the plan and gives delegated authority to the Director of Children’s 
Services to make any final changes to the Improvement Plan, in consultation with the 
Lead Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years, prior to its 
submission to Ofsted.

Performance management/follow-up 

25.0 Children’s Services has a comprehensive performance and quality assurance 
framework, which Ofsted acknowledge, has provided service and corporate leadership 
with a comprehensive insight into the effectiveness of practice. These arrangements 
will continue to evolve as part of transformation and improvement activity, with 
performance and quality assurance overseen by senior and corporate leadership and 
a reconstituted Improvement Board.

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Work together to support families and schools to give every child the best possible chance of a remarkable life, especially those children who are disadvantaged 
and vulnerable

Right Child, Right Support, Right Time, Every Time

Social Care & Early Help Improvement – Focus on Practice

Version control

Version number Purpose / Change Author Date
Version 1.0 1st draft Clarisse Forgues & Helen Curtis 18 March 

2
0
2
2

Version 1.1 2nd draft updated following 23 March meeting Clarisse Forgues & Helen Curtis 28 March 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.2 Early Help input added Helen Curtis 7 April 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.3 Input received and feedback from 20 April HofS meeting added 
Ann’s amendments to Introduction, actions 
Vision  added - Draft foreword added

Clarisse Forgues 3rd May 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.4 Ann’s updates added (including PLO added to pace/decision making, Mental Health added to 
Family resilience, Extra familial harm section created)

Clarisse Forgues  10 May 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.5 V1.4 circulated to all for sense checked (owners / timescales etc.), updated with additions / 
amendments received from HofS.
Wording revisions for a number of actions 

Clarisse Forgues 13 May 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.6 Further updating (owner, timescales ) and updates agreed at Heads of Service meeting on 18 May 
April performance and QA data added
Ambassadors’ input added - DCYP workstream added - DA workstream added
Wording revisions across the whole document 
Formatting 

Clarisse Forgues & Helen Curtis 27 May 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.7 Workforce metrics amended
Training metrics updated
Version circulated to EIG

Clarisse Forgues 6 June 
2
0
2
2

Version 1.8 Additions to ICT workstream following meeting with Mandy Q and Karl G
Reviewed at EIG for submission with Cabinet report

Clarisse Forgues 9 June 
2
0
2
2

Foreword 

P
age 141



2

Our focus as a council must always be on making life better for our most vulnerable children: a responsibility for which we lead, but also share across public sector partners in Gloucestershire.  It is clear 
from the recent Ofsted report that the council and its partnership have made significant progress in many areas of children’s services since 2017. In the face of a global pandemic such positive outcomes 
are even more special and, whilst there is still more to be done, we can be rightly proud of the significant progress we have made. 

We’ve got what it takes to achieve GOOD and have an absolute commitment to continue to improve our services for children and families: this document, our improvement plan, sets out our journey for 
as long as it may take. 

We have a stable leadership in place, Ofsted commended our social workers for their passion in achieving the best for children they support and how generally a more stable workforce is helping to 
deliver better support for children and young people.  Our social work academy is another area of strength identified by inspectors, which will support us to deliver a strong, effective workforce for years to 
come

We are committed to working closely with the Department for Education, Ofsted, and the national Local Government Association on our continuous improvement journey. We are establishing a 
continuous improvement board which will meet for the first time at the end of July and will meet bimonthly

We are ambitious for children and young people and together we will continue to work hard to help them achieve their full potential, we are determined to continue improve and this plan gives us the 
clarity we need to do that. 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne Cllr Stephen Davies
Leader of the Council Cabinet Member for Children and Young People

P
age 142



3

1. Introduction
Significant progress has been made in many areas of Gloucestershire’s Children’s Services since the last inspection in 2017, when the local authority was judged to be inadequate overall. However, services 
for children are not consistently good. 

Services for children in need of help and protection, children looked after, and care leavers in Gloucestershire were inspected by Ofsted in February 2022. The overall judgement was that services for these 
children ‘require improvement’. 

Our approach will consolidate the improvement to date and reset our ambition for continued improvement. We will ensure that we deliver a consistently high quality service by spreading what we do well to all 
elements of our service and the children and families we are in touch with, we must go further if we are to deliver a step-change that will build sustainably good outcomes, we will do this through leadership & 
practice development, innovation and partnership that will ensure we have met the Ofsted recommendations and responded to Ofsted’s findings .

Consolidate
What’s good already

Broaden
Spread what’s good to all 

areas

Deepen and enhance
Innovate and create to 

deliver better

This Improvement plan will be submitted to Ofsted by 15 July 2022, after it has been signed off by Cabinet on  22nd June. Thereafter, this plan will be monitored and reviewed through  the following 
governance levels:

This Continuous Improvement plan is overseen by Children’s Services SLT, updating and reporting in turn to the:
 Children’s Services Oversight Board, chaired by the Leader of the Council 
 Corporate Leadership Team  (CLT), chaired by the Chief Executive 
 Continuous Improvement Board, chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive
 Children & Families Overview Scrutiny committee

This continuous Improvement plan is our response to the five Ofsted recommendations (in bold in the plan):
 The timeliness and application of consistent thresholds for child protection strategy meetings
 The suitability of accommodation for care leavers to meet their needs, including to feel safe 
 The quality of case supervision and management
 The timeliness with which personal advisers are allocated to children, to best support their transition into adulthood 
 How well IT systems support social workers to do their jobs

This plan which focuses on practice for children Social Care and Early help, also covers areas for improvement highlighted by Ofsted and in our Self-evaluation; we have built this plan around three 
obsessions:

 Timely and skilled interventions

P
age 143



4

 Eradicate drift and delay
 Build sustainable outcomes 

• Timely and skilled interventions
• Eradicate drift and delay
• Build sustainable outcomes

3 obsessions

2. Vision, Values, Behaviours, Guiding Principles 

The vision for Gloucestershire Children services is

Work together to support families and schools to give every child the best possible chance of a remarkable life, especially those children who are disadvantaged and vulnerable
Right Child, right support, right time, every time

For Social Care and Early Help, this means in particular  that we will:
 do everything we can to enable children and young people to thrive within their family and community, supporting independence and enabling children to grow up to live remarkable lives
 collaborate with families and partners to prevent harm and protect children and young people
 be involved when needed for as long as is needed
 promote inclusion and belonging, helping to make Gloucestershire a place where all our children and young people see their future
 act on what children and young people tell us is needed, developing services with children, young people and families 
 use language that cares
 challenge discrimination and inequality whenever we see it

We will be accountable for our actions and decisions; be honest, learn and act with integrity; practice in a way that is respectful and empowering for children and families, enabling individuals to be the 
architects of their own solutions and will be relentless in our pursuit of excellence

Practice Principles
 We prioritise, and are responsive to, the safety and wellbeing of children and young people.
 Our interventions will be strengths based, evidence informed and proportionate, in the interests of children, young people and families, and will not over-intervene in the life of the family.  
 We will enable children to grow up within their families, unless evidenced to be harmful, and will not over-intervene in family life.
 We will empower families to identify their own solutions and support them to achieve the change they want for themselves and their children.  
 We will actively pursue engagement and involve children, parents, families and partners in our assessments, plans, decisions and interventions. Their voice will be prominent throughout.  We work ‘with’ 

children, young people, families and communities through constructive, respectful and restorative relationships.  
 Children, young people and families know more about their lives than we do, and services alone are rarely the solution.  So, by working together we aim to understand, equip, empower and enable people 

by helping them to access and use the resources inside, around and between them.   
 Children and young people will enjoy an enduring sense of legal, physical and psychological safety and stability which we call ‘permanence’.   
 Each of us is accountable for delivering an effective, and ever-improving, service in the best interests of children, young people and families.
 We value diversity and respect difference because it enriches our understanding of each other.  Our practice is therefore inclusive, ethical and anti-oppressive. 

P
age 144



5

3. Improvement Plan
Aim: Focus on Practice 
Priorities:

 Timely and skilled interventions
 Eradicate drift and delay
 Build sustainable outcome

Aim of the plan Deliver the best outcomes for children and families through building a sustainably good children’s service

Priorities                                     1. Timely and skilled interventions:
 Workforce Recruitment & Retention 
 Practice standards and Essentials
 Virtual Schools / quality of ePEPs
 Care Leaver accommodation & transition to adulthood
 Domestic abuse

2. Eradicate drift and delay
 Quality and Pace of decision making / Supervision & Management oversight
 Strategy meetings
 ICT
 Neglect
 Extra familial harm

3. Build sustainable outcome
 Sufficiency of placement and fostering
 Life Story work
 NEET
 Early Help strategy
 Family resilience 
 DCYP

D A S H B O A R D
Reporting period: I m p r o v e m e n t  B o a r d  –  x x  2 0 2 2

Actions Status Impact Status
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

1. Timely and skilled interventions

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

2. Eradicate drift and delay

 Completed  Completed
 On target  On target
 Compromised  Compromised
 At risk  At risk

3.Build sustainable outcome

 Completed  Completed

P
age 145



6

1.1 Recruitment and Retention Lead: Ann James 

Rational Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Some children experience too many changes of social worker. This does not help them to build a trusting relationship with their social worker 

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Reduce the numbers of changes of SW children experience so that children are able to 
build and keep sustainable relationships with social workers

 Recruit and retain experienced social work qualified staff (SWs, SSWs, APs and TMs)
 Recruit and retain ASYEs (Assessed and Supported Year in Employment)
 Ensure Gloucestershire becomes a place where social workers want to train, work and 

grow

Deliverables

 Workforce strategy 2022/2024
 Revised career progression policy
 Improved job microsite 
 Improved HR recruitment process and on-boarding  
 Improved induction
 Promotion campaign / activities
 Frontline Management Development Programme 

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Plan signed off by SWFPG (Strategic Workforce group) and subsequently reviewed at each meeting Ann James / SWFPG By June 2022
Review and launch new workforce strategy, building on successes of past and amplifying those routes that evidence greatest 
impact for Gloucestershire Ann James / SWFPG / Nina Willenberg By Sept 2022

Revise career progression policy to develop a talent pipeline into senior and advanced practitioner roles, leadership and 
management positions as part of the workforce strategy Ann James / Rob England By Sept 2022

Improve Job microsite Catriona Dry By June 2022

Improve HR recruitment process and on-boarding Catriona Dry By July 2022

Tender and award new agency contract Nina Willenberg / Tom Underwood By December 2022

Design / scope  frontline management programme (APs / TMs) Fiona Walker By Sept 2022

Review current MLDP Fiona Walker / Rob England By Sept 2022

Review induction offer and deliver consistent induction for all staff (permanent and agency) Rob Tyrrell / Tom Underwood By Sept 2022

Identify what people value about working for GCC and what help them to stay Rob Tyrrell By November 2022

Arrange weekly meet with the Director meeting for staff Ann James From 1st  May 2022

Develop communication and engagement strategy about Improvement and Transformation programme Children’s Service SLT / Clarisse Forgues / Sam James From July 2022
Implement remodelling of  assessment and safeguarding teams as part of wider transformation to reduce handoffs and have more 
manageable workloads Ann James / Areas Directors From September 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

P
age 146



7

Job microsite relaunch
Induction offer signed of by SWFPG
Workforce strategy signed off
Revised career progression launched
Implement remodelling of assessment and safeguarding teams

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Turnover (overall) 13% 25% 13% 24.9
%

Turnover Frontline workers (SW/SSW/AP)

% of children with fewer than 3 Social 
Workers in 6 months 80% 84% 90% 85.7

%
Agency rate (overall) 15% 35% 15% 34.7

%
Agency rate (SW/SSW/AP) 

Number of new starters (external) in 
month, SW only
Number of new starters (internal 
promotions or movers) in month, SW only
Number of ASYE recruited (12 month)

Number of ASYE retained 1 year + (12 
month)

1.2 Practice Standards Lead: Ann James

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022:
 For a minority of children, assessments are not always completed in a timely way. Therefore, some children’s experiences within their family are not understood early enough 

and their needs and risks not fully identified or responded to as quickly as they could be. 
 For some children a lack of timescales in plans limits how well progression can be monitored. 
 A minority of children’s plans lack focus on their specific needs and are built on generic actions rather than outcomes and aspirations for children. 
 There are a small number of pathway plans that are not always updated when young people’s circumstances change. 
 Some pathway plans do not routinely include the input of other involved agencies and parties, and this is a missed opportunity to gather partnership views and to share 

information. 
 When learning is identified from audits that the local authority rates as stronger, there is currently no system for using this to further improve services for those children whose 

cases have been audited. This is a lost opportunity.
Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives  Improve the quality and impact of social work practice:
o Timely, purposeful visiting and direct work which champions the voice of the child Deliverables

 Practice standards aligned with QA framework and 
systemic principles and provides clear expectations to 
SWs / TMs

P
age 147



8

o Assessment of needs, risks and circumstances reflect the Essentials ‘Anchor’ and 
‘Risk’ principles

o C-SMART, adaptive and effective planning and reviewing 
o Records are written with a view that the young person or their family may request and 

need to understand this information in the future.
o Up to date, clear and comprehensive recording

 Best practice library / webinars / workshops aligned to 
practice standards

 ICS system enabling consistent recording and data 
collection

 “Conditions for Success“ based on Learnings from 
Good  / Outstanding audits 

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Workshop on SMART planning (Essentials) Simon Rushall From June 2022

Incorporate SMART planning into revised SW induction, Y2 ASYE offer and management development programme Rob Tyrrell / Simon Rushall From Sept 2022
Produce monthly Essential attendance and completion report for HofS Increase completion rate / percentage of SWs having completed 
Essentials Sarah Cairns From May 2022

Develop practice standards for Social Care and Early Help, including quality and compliance with regard to equality and diversity Rob England / SW Academy Sept 2022

Heads of Service to sign off staff non-attendance to training Increase rate of training attendance through Academy HofS From 1st April 2022

Review QA process to focus on Essentials evidence and impact / monitor through QAF Rob England / SW Academy June 2022

Review Practice fundamentals and Essentials delivery model and develop consistent expectations Leadership team / Rob England By Sept 2022

Identify best practice by using performance data, audit  and other quality feedback tools Rob Tyrrell / SW Academy July 2022 onwards

Develop focused workshops etc (SSR model) to highlight learning points /conditions for success in line with the revised QAF Rob Tyrrell / SW Academy July 2022 
Establish a quality group to close the loop of learning from practice, performance and audit (including learning panel and lunchtime learn 
opportunities to disseminate and celebrate best practice) Rob Tyrrell / Simon Rushall October 2022

Direct Work Kits for all social workers and Family Support workers as well as funding to purchase resources for a locality/service resource 
library Ann James / Ambassadors June 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Practice standards signed off 
Practice standards disseminated
QA process / framework reviewed and signed off 
Programme / schedule of learning panels and lunch time learning 
opportunities in place

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Rate of inadequate audits 9% 7% 9% 17%
Rate of good / outstanding audits 50% 41% 50% 33%
SMART planning (Percentage of plans 
evaluated as ‘Good’ or better) 50% 27% 50% 29%

P
age 148



9

% of Single Assessments completed 
within 45 w.days 90% 81.6

% 90% 78.8
%

% of Children in Need with a plan in 
place within 10 w.days of assessment 
completion or step down

95% 52.5
% 95% 66%

% of eligible staff  who have completed  
Essentials 2 (3 modules) 48%

Attendance overall to learning 
opportunities (tbc)

1.3 Virtual School & PEP Lead: Clare Dudman

Rational Ofsted inspection February 2022
 The quality of PEPs remains mixed and many are weak

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Increase quality of PEPS: SMART target, SMART outcomes
 PEPs are more effectively co-constructed between VS/SW and Schools
 PEPs are fully compliant with statutory responsibilities 

Deliverables

 Enhanced audit and QA process
 Training sessions
 Guidance for high quality SMART targets and outcomes
 Good practice library  

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period:  .  

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review e-pep platform pilot and full roll out Jane Featherstone April 2022
Review data dashboard and use of Nexus data so that the Virtual School and CPG have access to the data they need to be able to 
measure progresses and identify areas for development Jane Featherstone April 2022

Develop training to ensure PEPs are written with a view that the young person or their family may request this information in the future and 
include SMART targets Jane Featherstone By Sept 2022

PEP standards and quality assurance process to be reviewed Clare Dudman By Sept 2022

Review structure of the virtual school to ensure there is sufficient administrative support to free consultants to offer direct support for PEPs Clare Dudman By October 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roll-out of E-pep platform completed
Training delivery
Monthly dip sampling
Reshaped Virtual school structure signed off
Refreshed dashboard in place

P
age 149



10

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Percentage of good / outstanding PEP 
in monthly dip sampling
Completion for 1st PEP within 20 days 95%
PEP completion rates for new into care 
and termly reviews 95%

1.4 Care Leavers Lead: Mark Bone

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Personal advisers (PAs) are not allocated to care experienced young people until after their 18th birthday. 
 Care experienced young people spoken to by inspectors were not aware of the offer, nor was there evidence of their awareness in their electronic case files. 
 A few care experienced young people over 18 do not live in suitable accommodation. On a very few occasions this has included bed and breakfast accommodation. A few 

young people live in such unsuitable accommodation for too long. 
 Not all care experienced young people feel safe where they are living when in unsuitable accommodation. 
 When young people live in homes of multiple occupancy, the potential risks that may be posed to them and others from shared living are not fully considered or recorded. 

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Accommodation for care leavers is suitable to meet their needs, including to feel 
safe (Ofsted recommendation)

 Personal advisers are  allocated to children from age 16, to best support their 
transition into adulthood (Ofsted recommendation).

 Care leavers are well aware of the Offer and it meets their needs

Deliverables

 Revised and published Care Leaver Offer 2022/23
 Guidance for young people to understand their rights is 

provided and recorded
 Revised protocol / agreement with Housing / Districts to 

meet the accommodation needs of care leavers
 Revised Sufficiency strategy outlining development of 

supported accommodation for care leavers
 Training pogramme for Leaving Care PAs (Personal 

Advisers)

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Launch of Instagram to communicate with children in care and care leavers including local offer information Ambassadors End of May 2022

Refresh care leaver offer Mark Bone By Sept 2022

P
age 150



11

Establish new forum for 16+/Care Leavers  (opportunity to gather feedback and get the views of care leavers as well as providing them with 
information e.g the local offer) Ambassadors Autumn 2022

Develop protocol with Districts and other accommodation providers in relation to care leavers accommodation (e.g. allocating a percentage 
of new housing to care leavers) ensuring sufficient safe and suitable homes are available to them Chris Spencer / Mark Bone By Sept 2022

Engage with and deliver regional offer to care leavers (regional SLI approach) Ann James / Mark Bone September 2022

Amend LCS Pathway Plan to prompt record that the offer has been shared Mark Bone / Julie Miles By September 2022

Add to audit process and / or dip sample Care Leavers Offer and CL experience Rob England December 2022 
onwards

Develop practice standard for accommodation and Pathway Planning with young people and partner input to include increasing staying put 
and further developing staying close options Rob England / SW Academy September 2022

Implement the Social care remodelling project as part of the Transformation programme to ensure there will be sufficient PAs to allocate to 
all eligible children / young people Ann James Sept 2022 onwards

Remodel 11+ Service, to deliver distinct leaving care teams Ann James Sept 2022 onwards
Devise and deliver tailored Leaving Care Personal Adviser training via GCC’s Social Work Academy (to include SMART planning, and risk 
management approaches) SW Academy / Rob England January 2023

Develop a robust arrangement for Director oversight where YP are placed in unsuitable or multiple occupancy accommodation Mark Bone From 1st May 2022

Capture care leaver experience (BrightSpot Your Life Beyond Care) and use feedback to shape further improvements Mark Bone Autumn 2022
Revise and launch a new Placement Sufficiency Strategy that will include:

• Delivery of Southfield House – a new 30 supported accommodation provision located in Stroud and modelled on the award 
winning Trevone House 

• Development of a supported lodgings scheme 
• Develop a wider range of housing options to meet the needs of YP

Wendy Williams Summer 2022 
onwards

Work with care experienced young people and our Ambassadors to design an accommodation improvement project that builds from their 
experiences (including developing of a “virtual estate agent” to support tenancies and ensure safe and suitable accommodation can be 
maintained)

Wendy Williams / Della Keith Autumn 2022

Introduce a process of monitoring  use of emergency accommodation and report regularly to Corporate Parenting Group Mark Bone Ongoing

Ambassadors to carry out Quality Assurance Joint visits to housing providers to get direct feedback from young people Ambassadors From Autumn 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Launch of 2022/2023 care leaver offer
Develop and deliver comms strategy for care leavers
Website for care leavers updated 
Sign off protocol with Districts
Sign off Revised Sufficiency strategy outlining supported 
accommodation for care leavers
Dip sample that local offer is recorded on young people file

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Percentage of files where Local offer 
discussion have been recorded on LL  
(in development)
% Care leaver in suitable 
accommodation 95% 93.1

% 95% 89.8
%

Number of PA in the service

Percentage of Care leavers with PA 
allocated at 16  (in development)
Percentage of Care leavers with PA 
allocated at 17

100
%

100
%

P
age 151



12

% of 16-17 years old Eligible children 
with pathway plan (in development)

1.5 Domestic Abuse Lead: Ann James

Rational

 Findings of Domestic Homicide Reviews.
 Recent death by suicide attributed to Domestic Abuse.  
 Impact of Domestic Abuse on children, their parents and carers.
 Children and Adult Scrutiny committees have met in April 2022 to reinforce commitment to work on Domestic Abuse and respond to Central Government priorities and 

changes in legislation and guidance.
Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To improve Social Work Practice with families where domestic abuse is prevalent. 
 To increase take up of Domestic Abuse Training by Social workers and Family Support 

Workers
 To develop direct work tools to work with children and parents experiencing domestic 

abuse.
 To strengthen multi-agency and leadership support for all activities and interventions which 

respond to domestic abuse in its many forms
 To improve response to perpetrators
 To explore services for under 13 years old – an identified gap

Deliverables

 Workshops on outcome of LCSPRs and Domestic 
Homicide Reviews to inform and develop front line  
practice and become part of lunch-time training 
programme

 Essentials Training on Domestic Abuse 
 Workshops on Domestic Abuse as part of lunchtime 

learning sessions. 
 Family hub developed to support children & families 

who are victim  of DV

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Contribute to wider strategic work on domestic abuse including working with GSCP for partnership training Kanchan Jadeja / GSCP April 2022

Development of direct work tools to work with children and parents experiencing domestic abuse. Kanchan Jadeja / Rob Tyrrell  December 2022

MASH review on work with domestic abuse. Claire Connolly Summer 2022

Identify leadership champion for Domestic Abuse work. Ann James Summer 2022

LCSPR session delivered to children’s leadership team Kanchan Jadeja / Dave Jones Summer 2022

Presentation of Domestic Abuse work to Children’s Scrutiny committee Kanchan Jadeja March 2023

Develop children’s centre and family hub Wendy Williams July 2023

P
age 152



13

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

MASH review on work with domestic abuse.
Direct tools developed and disseminated
Lunch time learning / workshops launched 
Quarterly audit / dip sample

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% age of practitioners who have 
completed the domestic abuse module
% age of files demonstrating use of 
direct work tools  and / or application of 
Essential Domestic abuse training 
(quarterly dip sampling)

2.1 Quality & Pace of Decision making Lead: Ann James

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Plans are not always informed by sufficient or clear management direction. 
 Managers who have the initial oversight of referrals about children do not record a clear rationale for decisions about next steps for social workers. 
 Some children experience repeated contacts and referrals before they get the help they need. 
 Lack of management oversight have led to delays in progressing child protection and child in need plans for some children. 
 The frequency and quality of the case supervision received by social workers are variable. In too many children’s cases, it lacks reflective analysis and sufficient management 

direction. Records are lacking in challenge where there is delay and rarely reflect children’s experiences as well as they should. 
 For some children who are privately fostered there is a lack of clarity about children’s living arrangements and what needs to happen. Most children experience a delay in 

initial visiting with no rationale as to why. There is a lack of manager oversight to address these issues to make improvements for children. 
 For a minority of children, there is a lack of timely management oversight to approve supervision order, return home to parents. 
 The quality of social work supervision across teams is inconsistent and needs to improve. Although supervision is generally timely, it does not consistently provide social 

workers with time to reflect on the progress they are making for individual children or always give them the added direction they need from their managers. 
 Actions identified by audits are not always followed through and managers do not monitor implementation to ensure that learning from audits is used to drive progress. 

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Management oversight is robust, timely and evident to ensure:
- Team managers set C-SMART actions with a clear rationale and review at an early 

stage.
- Team managers ensure that plans are progressed in a timely way and where not, they 

will take remedial action. 
- Team managers ensure that actions they set and action agreed through audit are 

completed in a timely way.

Deliverables
 Review current Management Oversight Tool 
 Reviewed supervision policy
 Revised frontline manager training programme to 

include focus on quality, timely management oversight 
and supervision

P
age 153



14

 Team managers and social workers prioritise protected time within which they are tasked, 
guided, advised, challenged and supported through supervision which enables them to 
deliver effective practice through progressing work effectively and in a timely way.

 Where there are repeated delays for children, leaders will analyse this to understand the 
reasons and take  appropriate action

 Private Fostering to be recognised and responded to at an early stage so that children and 
carers needs are assessed and met. Ensure there is a consistent understanding of the 
legal framework for private fostering

 Private Fostering plan -  awareness raising and training 
in GCC policy and statutory framework

Progress made this 
period:   

Actions next 
period:  .  

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Revise structure to establish DTMs within C-SPA and process to ensure management oversight is recorded from the outset Claire Connelly April 2022

Amend recording system to enable management direction to be recorded clearly Julie Miles By Sept 2022

Introduce proportionate assessment timescales and management direction to set these at point of allocation Ann James / Heads of Service Sept 2022

Private Fostering awareness raising and process re-launch Tammy Wheatley July 2022
Review supervision policy and revise GCC’s practice standard for supervision and management oversight

• Introduce clinical and group supervision to support us to embed our systemic social work practice model (systemic social work) Rob England / SW Academy By September 2022

Workshops with TM on management oversight and supervision Simon Rushall March 2022 onwards

Develop oversight of care proceedings, embed PLO and court case progression and panel arrangements and continue to monitor impact Julie Miles May 2022 onwards

Embed QA audit process in relation to audit actions (Peer review) Simon Rushall / Rob England By June 2022

Develop Annual schedule for quality assurance and audit activities Simon Rushall By June 2022

Set up Leadership Forum (Learning Panel) Simon Rushall By July 2022

To undertake audit of Private fostering and reg 24 Rob England / Tammy Wheatley / Simon Rushall June 2022

Implement observation of supervision to facilitate learning for both the supervisor and supervisee Heads of Service November 2022
Remodel services to ensure the span of control for every leader supports the ability to deliver high quality supervision and management 
oversight (max of 6 FTE practitioners and target workload of 90 - 116 children/young people) Ann James September 2022 

onwards
Deliver frontline and senior leader development programme to include the use and recording of reflective analysis in supervision, the use 
and recording of the child’s voice and experience, constructive feedback and challenge, and the provision of clear direction SW Academy September 2022 

onwards
Monitor compliance on a monthly basis and quality on a quarterly basis in line with revised Quality Assurance Framework, using 
appreciative enquiry to share the good examples identified Rob England July 2022 onwards

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Revise structure to establish DTMs and process to ensure 
management oversight is recorded from the outset (MASH – 
CSPA)
Care Proceeding tracker signed off
3rd cohort Team Manager Management and Leadership 
Programme
4th cohort Team Manager Management and Leadership 
Programme
Refreshed QA framework signed off
Reviewed supervision policy signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

P
age 154



15

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of Initial contact decisions made 
within 24 hours 90% 65.4

% 90% 70.5
%

Percentage of children open to Social 
Care who have an up-to-date case 
supervision

95% 76% 95% 77.5
%

Percentage of social work 
professionals reported as having a 
professional supervision in the month 
(Tom U report)

95% 91% 95% 91%

Management oversight: percentage of 
‘Good’ or better oversight & 
supervision (QA report)

50% 36% 50% 35%

% of audit actions from previous 
month within timescale 80% 31% 80% 36%

PDR completion rate (tbc)

% of court cases over 26 weeks 
timeline
Numbers of Team managers having 
completed the Team Manager 
Management and Leadership 
Programme (data provided once 
cohorts have finished the training)

17 17

2.2 Strategy Meetings Lead: Karen Goulding 

Rational
Ofsted inspection February 2022

 When safeguarding concerns are identified, managers do not ensure that consistent thresholds are applied to convene child protection strategy meetings and investigations. 
 When children already have a social worker and new concerns emerge, there are sometimes delays in arranging child protection strategy meetings.

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Child protection strategy meetings are timely (Ofsted recommendation)
 Consistent thresholds are applied for child protection strategy meetings (Ofsted 

recommendation)
Deliverables

 Multi agency project group
 Diagnostic / Review of Strategy meeting process
 Workshops with staff and partners
 Revised Gloucestershire threshold document
 Refreshed Strategy meeting process and protocol
 LL forms for Strategy requests and minutes launched

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 

P
age 155



16

 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Establish multi-agency task and finish group Karen Goulding /Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly By June 2022

Analyse current quality and performance, setting targets for future Claire Connolly (MASH and C-SPA subgroup) By July 2022

Partners workshops to review threshold documents strategies flowchart and principles Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly / Karen Goulding Summer 2022
Revise threshold document, protocols and processes to ensure strategies discussions are held at appropriate time Ann James / Julie Miles / Claire Connolly / Karen Goulding Sept 2022

Deliver a series of multiagency workshops to ensure revisions are disseminated and expectations are clear GSCP / Dave Jones September 2022 
onwards

Review of approach to minuting and circulation of notes of strategy meetings Tom Underwood By September 2022

Develop / amend and launch LL forms Julie Miles September 2022 
onwards

Workshop with TMs to help sum up comprehensively information (need to be clear and defendable) Simon Rushall April 2022 onwards
Use PSW and Heads of Service to observe strategy meetings to ensure compliance and identify concerns Karen Goulding / Rob Tyrrell Autumn 2022

Undertake a quarterly, multiagency audit to test and learn from progress Rob England / GSCP December 2022 
onwards

Report to GSCP and Continuous Improvement Board Ann James Autumn 2022
Develop metric that splits timeliness of strategy meetings into new and children already allocated to a SW to monitor improvement in this 
area Kelly Headley By September 22

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Multi agency project group established
Workshops with partners
Sign off refreshed strategy meeting process
All staff and partners comms
MA Audit
Report to GSCP

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of Strategy discussions that took 
place within 5 w.days 90% 76% 90% 75.2

%
Timeliness of strategy meetings for new 
children  (in development)
Timeliness of strategy meetings for 
children already allocated to a SW  (in 
development)

2.3 ICT Lead: Andy Dempsey/ICT Rep TBC

Rational

The Ofsted inspection (February 2022) highlighted some concerns about ICT as it supports effective practice:
 There remains a gap in what can be delivered to ensure that frontline managers have consistent access to up-to-date information that enables them to do their jobs 

effectively. This, alongside system stability and accessibility, continues to have an impact on progress. 
 These challenges also have a negative impact on the generally positive morale of staff. They are a very real frustration for staff as they can sometimes hamper their ability to 

do their jobs as efficiently and effectively as they otherwise might.
Actions status Impact StatusComment about 

overall status
There is a corporate ICT development plan which aims to address the future ICT of GCC. This 
will provide the context for the specific Children’s Services programme to address the concerns  On target  On target

P
age 156



17

of Ofsted and enable practitioners to undertake work with children and families in an agile 
manner.

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To address the Ofsted recommendation ‘IT systems support well social workers to do 
their jobs.’

 To ensure practitioners have reliable and predicable access to the ICT tools they need for 
their work and improve their confidence in these tools

 To support and facilitate practitioners’ face to face and direct working with children and 
family in the context of ‘agile working’ 

 To ensure managers and practitioners have consistent access to up-to-date data.
 To ensure practitioners are ICT aware and able to confidently exploit ICT capabilities to the 

full. 

Deliverables

 Reliable and Predicable access to ICT tools
 Specific plan to increase ICT reliability and access in 

the Social Work Academy
 Regular (daily) performance data available / web 

reporting
 Programme for LL enhancements/amendments agreed 

by CS SLT and supported by revised governance 
arrangements. 

 Options appraisal completed of software/hardware 
necessary to support agile direct work with children and 
families such as PDAs, portable printers, electronic 
memory box etc.

 Tailored ICT training programme for Practitioners.

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Deliver corporate ICT plan to increase ICT system stability and access:
 Roll-out Microsoft office 365
 Network improvement to GCC buildings (Shire Hall and locality office)
 Move e-mails and calendar to cloud
 New BT connection for Home Working
Whole council training to use One Drive and Share Point

Karl Grocock Jan 2022 to March 
2023

Develop plan to increase ICT reliability and access in the Social Work Academy Karl Grocock By July 2022

Identify and implement actions to meet List 1-11 reporting and restore regular (daily) performance data. Clarisse Forgues / Andy Dowden / Nick Taylor By July 2022

Explore options for LL hosting Chris Spencer & Mandy Quayle May 2022 to 
September 2022

Develop and sign off programme enhancements/amendments to LL Children’s Service SLT By November  2022

Review LL governance arrangements Andy Dempsey & Mandy Quayle By Sept 2022

Implement LL enhancements/amendments programme LL / Andy Dowden December 2022 
onwards

Develop guidance where documents should be stored in LL Julie Miles By November 2022
Complete options appraisal for the software/hardware necessary to support agile, direct work with children and families – PDAs, portable 
printers electronic memory box etc. Karl Grocock From July 2022 

onwards
Develop and deliver tailored ICT training programme for CS Practitioners. Karl Grocock By December 2022 

Explore options to make best use of Controcc and Capita Karl Grocock December 2022 
onwards

P
age 157



18

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Initial scoping meeting with CS SLT and ICT leads to scope out 
the improvement programme
Web reporting moved back to daily
Network improvement in remaining GCC building (completed 
by December 2022)
Sign off ICT improvement plan for SW Academy
Move to exchange online and migrating mailboxes (to improve 
the stability of the Network and performance)  
Implementation of BT connection for Home working 
LL upgrade
LL hosting options signed off
Refreshed LL governance signed off
Whole council training (One Drive and SharePoint)
Pulse survey of practitioners 
Delivery of tailored ICT training for CS practitioners

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Number of P1 incidents

Number of P2 incidents

Response time to issues raised via 
Service Now

2.4 Neglect Lead: Kanchan Jadeja

Rational
Neglect is a key driver for our safeguarding work and we are working to embed our use of the “Neglect Toolkit”. Commencing at the point of contact, the “Neglect Toolkit” is opened 
with the Assessment Teams as necessary. This has been supported by a series of roadshows and workshop activities to explore how the Toolkit can inform our assessment, 
planning, intervention and review processes. The recent audit of contacts into MASH highlighted the low levels of use of the Neglect Toolkit by partners across the system. Work is 
now underway via the Safeguarding Partnership to explore how this can be improved, including embedding thematic issues such as neglect within exiting partner processes. 

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives  Better identification and response when there are concerns about neglect
 Increase and embed use of Neglect toolkit across the partnership Deliverables

 Network of Champion across partner organisations
 Roadshow to promote use
 Workshops to develop practice
 Essential training module

P
age 158



19

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period:

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Work with GCSP partners to review our understanding of and approach to neglect, re-launching and re-naming the ‘neglect toolkit’ Kanchan Jadeja and GSCP / Dave Jones Summer 2022

Essentials module developed and delivered SW Academy October 2022 onwards

Re-launch toolkit working with families, partners and ambassadors as a web-based tool Kanchan Jadeja / Emma Trigwell and GSCP / Dave Jones October 2022

Deliver multiagency practice workshops (lunch-time learn, linked to the neglect bitesize briefing) Kanchan Jadeja and GSCP / Dave Jones October 2022 onwards

Develop QA framework to evaluate implementation and use (compliance and impact) Rob England July 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Delivery Essential Training Neglect module
Multi agency workshops

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

%age of Neglect toolkit used at contact 6% 2%
Attendance to MA workshops (tbc)

2.5 Extra familial harm Lead: Claire Connolly

Rational Positive feedback received from Ofsted on our response to CCE, CSE, missing however, we know we need to continue to improve in these areas.

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Improve early identification and prevention 
 Better identification and multi agency response when there are concerns about exploitation
 Deliver the working together tackle exploitation strategy (GSCP)

Deliverables

 Information sharing agreement and data analysis
 MACE Hub terms of reference and implementation plan
 Clear pathway for children, families , partners, C-SPA 

and localities 
 Interoperable multi agency hub 

P
age 159



20

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period:  .  

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review resources and service configuration to deliver the newly launched CCE Strategy and ensure we are able to respond to changes in 
risk and demand amongst this cohort Claire Connolly By October 2022

Review information sharing agreements to support implementation of the strategy and develop a data informed approach to enable early 
identification and prevention at every level Claire Connolly July 2022

Develop and implement MACE Hub and locality meetings Claire Connolly By September 2022

Establish clear pathways Rob England December 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Launch of Exploitation Strategy
Sign off detailed implementation plan for the strategy
Implement MACE Hub, Locality meetings, pathways

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

number of children and young people 
accessing awareness raising 
events/training  (tbc)
increased identification of child 
exploitation ‘hotspots’ and people of 
interest’ (tbc)
Number / %age of children missing 
offered return conversations
Number / %age  of children missing who 
have accepted return conversations

3.1 Life Story Lead: Tammy Wheatley

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 For most children who have been looked after for many years, there is very little evidence of life-story work to help them to understand their journeys into care or to assist 

them to make sense of any trauma they may have experienced before coming into care. 
 Children’s later-life letters are generally not sufficiently sensitively written. A child or adult reading their letter later in life may well struggle to clearly understand their journey 

into and through care. Although letters do provide a basic chronological account of key life events, they do little to make sense of them, to place them in a wider context or to 
draw out the positive experiences, achievements and relationships in children’s lives 

Comment about Actions status Impact Status

P
age 160



21

 On target  On targetoverall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives
 Children in our care understand their early childhood experiences leading them to have a 

secure sense of self, progress well and influence decisions about their future Deliverables

 Procedures / guidance when and how life story work is 
to be undertaken 

 Improved later life letters
 Life story training and targeted roll-out
 Life story toolkit for practitioners 
 Repository of best practice examples for workers to 

draw on
 All children and young people have a life-story book

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Scope a one-off piece of work to complete life story work for all those older children who have not received life story work to date Tammy Wheatley September 2022

Roll out Life Story work in over 11 teams including for care leavers PSW / Rob England / Tammy Wheatley Sept 22 onwards

Develop a life story performance web report Lisa Long / Scott Richards By August 2022

Dip sample quality of  life story work Social Work Academy / Morven Nelson July 2022

Review Later life letters with support from Ambassadors and develop best practice examples Tammy Wheatley / Rob Tyrrell By July 2022

Commission Later Life training from BAAF Tammy Wheatley By September 2022

Develop repository of best practice Rob Tyrrell By October 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roadshows / Training event promoting Life Story Work 
Draft performance web report tested
Web report in place and included in strategic performance meeting 
and team performance surgeries 
Joint later life training delivery
Gather feedback from adopters re later life letters
Life story work backlog started and completed

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% Children’s file audits evidencing a good 
standard of ongoing life story work

P
age 161



22

Number of SW taking part in life story 
training / roadshows
Number of SARs received from care 
leavers
Percentage of children who have life 
story work recorded on LL file
Percentage of children aged 11 + who 
have life story work recorded on LL file
Percentage of children who have life 
story books

3.2 NEET Lead: Sarah Poultney

Rational
Ofsted inspection February 2022

 Senior leaders are committed to doing even better for young people, improving the experiences of care experienced young people even further. In particular, they have 
identified that there is more to do to engage the care experienced young people with the most complex needs. 

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Children in care and care leavers achieve educationally, are supported to develop the skills 
for independence and successfully find training or employment

 To reduce the proportion of young people who are not in education, employment or training 
(NEET)

 Increase the take up of our apprenticeships offer

Deliverables

 Improved guidance and support for young people to 
help them make choices and sustain their education or 
employment journey

 Engagement plan to engage care leaver in programmes 
(e.g. works for me) 

 Year 9 Annual reviews include Preparing for Adulthood 
(PFA)

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Improve awareness of Post 16 and 19 Support and guidance Sarah Poultney / Sarah Winwood / Viki Walters / Ellen Sanders

Improve pathways into adult services Sarah Poultney / Sarah Winwood / Viki Walters / Ellen Sanders

Improve joint working with Prospects Sarah Poultney / Viki Walters 

Develop strategy to engage with Care Leavers Sarah Poultney / Mark Bone
Scope the development of a holistic approach building on best practice from innovation such as that developed elsewhere and identify 
funding sources (SIB and ACT) Sarah Poultney / Viki Walters

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

P
age 162



23

Care Leaver engagement strategy signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Care Leavers are in employment, 
education or training 75% 58.4

% 75% 55.8
%

% of Children in Care transitioning into 
education, employment or training at 16
% of EHCP 16-25 who are in 
employment, education or training 

3.3 Early Help Services Lead: Emma Trigwell
Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On target
Comment about 
overall status

OFSTED inspection February 2022:
Children and their families benefit from a comprehensive offer of early help services provided 
by the local authority. Children’s early help assessments identify needs well, but subsequent 
plans are not always informed by sufficient or clear management direction. Early help plans 
identify the right outcomes and levels of support needed for children, although the quality of 
plans is not consistently strong. There are effective systems in place to ensure that children 
are stepped up or down between the thresholds in line with their needs

 At risk  At risk

 Compromised  Compromised
Reporting period: To

 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To ensure all children have access to high quality early interventions across the spectrum of 
services.

 To continue to improve the understanding of the early help offer across the partnership and 
strategic alliance with the principals within

 Clear Early intervention services in place and publicised. 
 FGC offer that is understood, published and accessed across the levels of intervention.
 Better data sharing agreements in place across core services in order to facilitate a 

systemic approach to family and community need in turn resulting in support being offered 
at the lowest levels and earliest points for children and families.

 To ensure that Family Support Standards are understood and embedded across the service
 Improved data dashboards which are reflective of the activity across the services.

Deliverables

 Early Help Strategy - written and signed up to across 
the partnership

 Reviewed QA framework for both Targeted and Advice 
and Guidance elements of the service to test and 
evidence impact.

 Reviewed current Graduated Pathway with partners to 
ensure it meets the need and explore digitisation of the 
paperwork

 Training with partners and bespoke sessions to improve 
awareness of early help agenda and develop quality 
assessments and plans that are impactful for families

 Communications plan internally and externally with 
partners

 All GCC service areas to record interventions and 
outcomes using the EHM system

 A clear and accurate data dashboard available across 
the GCC EH services

P
age 163



24

Progress made this 
period:   

Actions next 
period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Roll out of FSW standards and expectations across the Families First teams and management Emma Trigwell June 2022

Merge of FSW standards with Children services document Emma Trigwell/ Andy Dempsey/Rob England Sept 2022

Discussion with commissioning to introduce FSW standards and universal KIP’s for performance measures Andy Dempsey By October 2022
Development of a subgroup to the child friendly coalition of partners to develop an Early Help Strategy, Early Help System guide and act as 
the governance for the supporting families programme. Andy Dempsey/ Emma Trigwell By July 2022

Develop EH Strategy 2022-25 Emma Trigwell  / sub group / GSCP Autumn 2022

Roll out of the EH overview document to key partners and update of website pages. Emma Trigwell May 2022 

Development of a Data governance group to work together to improve the data sharing protocols across the county Andy Dempsey/Emma Trigwell/ By August 2022
Development of a QA framework for activity carried out in the community to ensure children are receiving high quality interventions and 
services Emma Trigwell By October 2022

Review, alongside Childrens services, the QA framework and the introduction of QA for the advice guidance elements of the service Emma Trigwell/ Rob England. By June 2022

Review of the graduated pathway and digitisation Emma Trigwell/ Karen Morgan/ Phil Haslett April 2022 to 
December 2022

Report to be presented to SLT regarding the FGC service impact and structure Emma Trigwell September 2022

Data dashboard to be reviewed to ensure it is reporting accurately across all service areas Emma Trigwell/ Leanne Fisher By September 2022

Review EH and CIN  planning under the Transformation programme (in particular escalation, response to the care review, approach to risk) Ann James / Emma Trigwell / GSCP By December 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Roll out of FSW standards and expectations
Develop EH strategy
Data governance group set up
FGC report to SLT
Data dashboard signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of children re-referred to SC following 
closure to GCC EH services 20% 20% 20%

% of audits rating inadequate from audit 
within the GCC family support services 10% 10% 10%

% of audits rating good/outstanding 
from audit within the GCC family 
support services

50% 50% 50%

% of children referred for an FGC which 
resulted in a FGC meeting 40% 40% 40%

P
age 164



25

3.4 Sufficiency of placement & fostering Lead: Ann James

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 There is not a sufficiently wide range and choice of placements available to meet the needs of all children in care, and, as a result, a small minority of children in larger family 

groups continue to live in unsuitable arrangements while the right home is found 
 Some children have experienced more moves than they should have as a result of being placed in an emergency placement at the point of coming into care due to the lack of 

a suitable placement being available at that point, and then waiting to move when one becomes available. 
 Some children who are in stable long-term placements also wait too long to be formally matched for permanence with their carers. 
 Placement sufficiency remains a challenge. A few children are waiting too long for placements that are well matched to their needs. At the time of the inspection, there was 

one child in an unregistered children’s home. 
Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To have a wide range and choice of placements available to meet the needs of all children 
in care

 Increase placement stability
 Increased in-house foster care capacity
 Strengthen and increase capacity for “harder to identify” children groups
 GCC is seen as the fostering service of choice for Gloucestershire children

Deliverables

 Sufficiency Strategy 2022 - 26
 Children’s home capital investment programme 
 Refreshed Recruitment and Marketing strategy for 

Foster Carers
 Strategic Plan for the Fostering Service
 Development of 24/7 support arrangements to foster 

carers
 Permanency Tracker
 Property portfolio

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Refresh Fostering transformation plan:

- Increase in carers to enable choice and matching
- Skills to support placement matching and placement stability 
- Innovation is supported (mocking bird, practice model)
- Development of specialist scheme and development of short term, emergency scheme

Tammy Wheatley July 2022

Develop Fostering recruitment & marketing strategy Tammy Wheatley By Sept 2022

Develop fostering retention strategy Tammy Wheatley By Sept 2022

Review of placement request process, including profile Tammy Wheatley / Chris Bush By October 2022

Development , training , planning in locality teams Tammy Wheatley Sept 22 onwards

Develop and embed robust planning especially exit strategy plans for children in residential settings Heads of Service May 2022  onwards

Revise, launch and deliver Sufficiency strategy Wendy Williams September 2022
Implement of SS Home@TheHeart to include:

- Further semi independent accommodation following Trevone House model
- Assessment and emergency accommodation for under 16 years old
- Double number at 28 days and PACE fostering placement

Wendy Williams September 2022 
onwards

P
age 165



26

- Residential CH framework
- Dedicated UASC accommodation

Develop a workforce Academy for GCC sufficiency strategy Wendy Williams 2024/2025

Trauma informed commissioning to remove transition points / reducing placement moves Wendy Williams December 2022

Utilise EP / Reg 24 options, internal parent & child residentials Tammy Wheatley May 2022  onwards

Instate permanency tracker and a fortnightly panel to drive and quality assure timely achievement of permanence for all children Tammy Wheatley By July 2022

Develop and implement celebration event for children and carers Lisa Long By October 2022

Implement practice standard/monitoring for length of time from placement request to placement matched/achieved Tammy Wheatley / Chris Bush By July 2022

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Sufficiency strategy signed off
Implementation of Fostering recruitment strategy
Placement request process signed off and launched 
Permanency tracker and panel process signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

% of children in care experiencing 3 or 
more placement in 12 months 13% 12.5

% 12% 12.6
%

% of children aged under 16 in care for 
at least 2.5 yrs who have been in the 
same placement for at least 2 yrs

68% 6539
% 68% 65.5

%

Number of approved in-house 
placements (incl on-hold) 325 328

utilisation of available in-house Foster 
placement capacity 90% 96.2

% 90% 96.8
%

Long term matching panels timeliness

Percentage of children living with in-
house foster carers 
% children placed OOA (out of area)

3.5 Family resilience Lead:

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Mothers who have experienced removals of children from their care do not receive a structured programme of support to help prevent the likelihood of repeated removals. 
 Some children experience repeated contacts and referrals before they get the help they need. 
 For some disabled children, there are delays in progress with their child in need and child protection plans due to waiting lists for some health services

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
Reporting period: To  Compromised  Compromised

P
age 166



27

 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 Prevent successive removal of children and provide good family support to care 
experienced parents

 Improve the health and wellbeing offer for disabled children 
 Care Leaver young parents are well supported
 Services are co-constructed with families who are “experts by experience” 
 Timely and integrated health offer for most vulnerable children

Deliverables

 Scope of the extend of need 
 Business case to deliver a programme such as PAUSE 

that prevent repeat separation of parent and child
 Reviewed and enhanced health provision for children 

with disabilities 

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Families in Care pilot  - Research phase:  baseline data, LA lessons learnt Julie Miles and Project Manager May to Sept 2022

Identify Project Management resource Clarisse Forgues / Julie Miles July 2022

Investigate opportunities to develop Family care  / Pause type support in Gloucestershire Julie Miles / Ann James June 2022 to Sept 
2022

Develop cost benefits analysis (including how this fits with local intervention  e.g complex women project) / business case Julie Miles and Project Manager Sept 2022

Develop offer for care leaver young parents (involving Children’s centres / Family hubs) Mark Bone / Julie Miles Sept 2022
Include in Practice standards: 

- The use of FGC and family network meetings at start and close of social work involvement
- Owned and rehearsed safety and contingency plan at close of social work involvement

Rob Tyrrell / Rob England Sept 2022

Review pilot project in Stroud & Cotswold in relation to feedback from families on the impact of social care involvement Sue Staley / Rob Tyrrell August 2022
Develop ‘Experts by Experience’ group to ensure we hear from and develop effective responses with those who have been involved in our 
service Rob England December 2022

Work with JCPE and ICS Exec to analyse need and ensure a timely and integrated offer for our most vulnerable children Wendy Williams
Work with partners and the developing ICS to ensure that children’s emotional and mental health needs are resourced and wait times 
reduced Wendy Williams

Develop an integrated pathway for children and young people with emotional and mental health needs Helen Ford / Health group chaired by Kirsten Harrison

Roll-out Capacity to Change training to staff Social Work Academy Sepet 2022 onwards

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Present cost benefit analysis to SLT for decision to go ahead or not
Launch offer for care leaver young parents
Report to LT about Stroud pilot project 

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Repeat referrals in-month (previous 
referral start within 12-mths of current 
referral start)

22.5
%

23.2
%

21.5
%

23.8
%

P
age 167



28

% of CP plans starting in month that are 
second/subsequent plans 25% 27.1

%
23.5
%

31.8
%

QAF: Family and family owned safety 
plan (tbc)

3.6 DCYP Lead: Sue Hall

Rational

Ofsted inspection February 2022
 Work with disabled children demonstrates an understanding of risk and need that is evidenced in assessments that are detailed and generally timely. There is a focus on the 

children’s needs, leading to focused multi-agency plans that improve outcomes for children. 

Whilst positive feedback has been received from Ofsted on our work with disabled children, we know we need to do more for children / young people with disabilities and their 
families.

Actions status Impact Status

 On target  On targetComment about 
overall status

 At risk  At risk
 Compromised  Compromised

Reporting period: To
 Completed  Completed

Objectives

 To provide an enhanced quality of service for children and families  (including streamlined 
pathway and specialist assessment at an earlier stage where necessary)

 To better evidence early help and short breaks impact for disabled children and their 
families

 To ensure disabled children and their families have access to the information they need 
and know how to access support 

 To ensure eligibility criteria to access DCYP statutory service are clear to families, 
consistently applied by professionals  and available as part of our Local Offer

Deliverables

 Review of DCYP service structure and a business case 
for reviewed structure

 Simplified pathway for access to children social care 
services, whether through localities or DCYPS

 Improved local offer 
 Local offer communication plan
 Revised eligibility criteria 

Progress made this 
period:  Actions next 

period: 

Key Actions, Owners and Timescale 
 Key Actions Owners Timescale
Review structure of  DCYP service and develop business case Simon Rushall & Sue Hall July 2022

Review and simplify current pathway for access to DCYP service Simon Rushall & Sue Hall August 2022

Review direct payments process Sue Hall / Adrian Wells By December 2022

Develop and embed robust process in response to new standards Liberty Protection Safeguarding Sue Hall/Mark Bone/Rob Tyrell April 2023

Develop robust process to ensure compliance with deaf-blind duties Sue Hall / Jenny Mansell( teaching advisory service) By December 2022

Review local offer Sarah Poultney By March 2023

Develop and deliver communication plan for local offer Sarah Poultney April 2023
Develop protocols with partners in relation to:

- housing for children/YP with disabilities,
- transitions to adulthood and
- support for disabled young people becoming parents

Vicky Townsend/Sue Hall/housing. December 2022

Review commissioning of short breaks and development of new resources to respond to families needs Commissioning / Adrian Wells September 2022

P
age 168



29

Continue to develop our performance data for early help and short breaks Sue Hall & Performance team September 2022

Review eligibility criteria  and co-produce new set of criteria with parents and partners Simon Rushall / Sue Hall July 2022

develop process  to measure how the local offer, eligibility criteria and pathways are easily accessible, clear and understandable Sue Hall March 2023

Key Milestones
Mar 22 Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan 23 Feb Mar April May June July

Reviewed structure signed off
Implementation of reviewed structure
Direct payment review signed off
Short break statement signed off
Launch of refreshed local offer
Launch of reviewed eligibility criteria
Deliver training / workshops / guidance to staff in relation to LPS 
Data set signed off

Metrics including saving / efficiency (if relevant)

 March 22 April May June July August September October November December January 23 February March
 Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual Target Actual

Open SA in timescales

Timely transition to adult service 
Decrease family breakdown / 
emergency admission to care
Audit and sampling show that children 
receive help at the right level and from 
the right service.

P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Children & Families Capital Programme Update

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus 
Transport

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve changes to the previously approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations

1. To approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the report: 
1.1.A new scheme for the expansion of Twyning Primary School, funded 

by a £0.350 million transfer from the approved Basic Need Provision.
1.2.A new scheme to establish a new 60 place primary special school 

funded by a £0.650 million transfer from the approved High Needs 
Provision Capital. 

1.3.Additional facilities for Bettridge Special School funded by a £0.150 
million transfer from the approved High Needs Provision Capital and 
approved Basic Need Provision.

1.4.An addition of £0.088 million s106 developer contributions for 
Ashchurch Primary School.

1.5.An addition of £0.098 million s106 developer contributions for Oak Hill 
Primary School.

1.6.An addition of £0.172 million s106 developer contributions for Dene 
Magna School.

1.7.An addition of £0.074 million s106 developer contributions for The 
Cotswold School.

1.8.A reduction of £0.183 million School Condition Allocation Grant for 
2022/23.

1.9.An addition of £6.464 million High Needs Provision Capital Grant for 
2022/23 and £7.056 million for 2023/24.  

2. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director of Asset Management and 
Property Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for  
Education, Skills and Bus Transport & Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change, to approve the award of Call-Off Contracts under the 
Gloucestershire County Council Major Capital Works Framework following 

Page 171

Agenda Item 9



either a) competitive tendering exercise or b) allocation on rotation, or c) 
direct award if deemed appropriate for the purpose of undertaking works 
for the expansion and development of the Gloucestershire schools set out 
in recommendations 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3 to this report.

Reasons for 
recommendations

County Council approved the Children & Families Capital Programme for 
2022/23 on 16th February 2022.  This paper provides an update of individual 
schemes within this programme.

Resource 
Implications

All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital Programme are 
fully funded by capital grant, developer contributions and revenue 
contributions.

Background 
Documents

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - Council Budget 2022/23

 Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 2021-2026

 Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 
2019-24

Statutory Authority Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

The Department for Levelling up, Housing and Communities Guidance :  
Planning Obligations: Use of planning obligations and process for changing 
obligations available from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations

Department for Education Guidance: Securing Developer Contributions for 
Education (2019) available from: Securing developer contributions for 
education (publishing.service.gov.uk)

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Councillor Cate Cody, Councillor David Drew, Councillor David Gray, 
Councillor Paul Hodgkinson, Councillor Emma Nelson, Councillor Philip 
Robinson, Councillor Vernon Smith.

Officer Name:  Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
Tel. no: 01452 328686 
Email: clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Cabinet meeting 22nd June 2022 - Updates to Cabinet on further changes to 
the programme as required.

Page 172

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/909908/Developer_Contributions_Guidance_update_Nov2019.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/909908/Developer_Contributions_Guidance_update_Nov2019.pdf
mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. County Council approved the 2022/23 Children’s & Families Capital programme at its 
meeting on 16th February 2022.  This report provides an update to various schemes agreed in 
this programme.

Proposed changes to the approved capital programme

2. Twyning Primary School

Twyning Primary school will increase its capacity by 35 places to meet the increased demand 
for places within the village for September 2024.  A scheme has been identified to provide the 
additional accommodation at an estimated cost of £0.350 million.  It is proposed this scheme 
will be funded from the approved Basic Need allocation budget and implemented using the 
Gloucestershire County Council Major Capital Works Framework (Lot 1).

3. New Primary Special School

Gloucestershire County Council has identified the need to establish a new 60-place special 
school for primary aged children with Moderate and Additional Learning Difficulties (MALD).  
The additional places are required for the academic year 2023/24. The council has recently 
launched a free school presumption competition to identify a suitable academy trust to 
establish and operate the new school.  Further details can be found via the 
link:https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-
projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/a-new-60-place-special-school-at-the-former-
severn-view-primary-academy-in-stroud/

It is proposed to use a site in Stroud which was, until August 2021, occupied by a mainstream 
primary school (Severn View Primary Academy).  The school site and buildings have been 
returned to GCC and are to be retained for the delivery of this education project.

A scheme has been identified for the adaptation and refurbishment of the existing primary 
school provision.  The estimated cost of the works has been put at £0.650 million.  It is 
proposed that the scheme is funded from the approved High Needs Provision Capital grant 
fund received in 2021/22 and implemented using the Gloucestershire County Council Major 
Capital Works Framework (Lot 2).

4. Bettridge Special School

The school requires some additional remodeling and refurbishment of some of its classrooms 
to meet the needs of children & young people attending the school.  The total cost of the 
works has been estimated at £0.150 million.  It is proposed that the scheme is funded from the 
approved High Needs Provision Capital grant fund received in 2021/22 & approved Basic 
Need allocation budget and will be implemented using the Gloucestershire County Council 
Major Capital Works Framework (Lot 1).

Page 173

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/a-new-60-place-special-school-at-the-former-severn-view-primary-academy-in-stroud/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/a-new-60-place-special-school-at-the-former-severn-view-primary-academy-in-stroud/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/a-new-60-place-special-school-at-the-former-severn-view-primary-academy-in-stroud/


Section 106 Developer contributions

5. Ashchurch Primary School

The Council is in receipt of an £0.088 million S106 contribution from a housing development at 
Ashchurch (east of the railway) to be used at Ashchurch Primary School.  The Council 
recently completed a scheme to replace temporary accommodation and provide additional 
capacity at the school.  The Council underwrote the scheme pending receipt of the 
contributions to ensure the changes were in place as part of a larger capital project to make 
the most efficient use of the funding.    

It is proposed that this contribution is used to replace some of the basic need grant currently 
allocated to the scheme, thereby making the grant funding available to fund other priority 
capital projects.

6. Oak Hill Primary School

The Council is in receipt of a total of £0.098 million Section 106 contribution from a housing 
development at Beckford Road, Alderton towards a new project at Oak Hill Primary School. A 
scheme has been developed to enable the improvement to the capacity and suitability of 
places at the Alderton site. It is proposed the funding is allocated for these works. 

7. Dene Magna School

The Council is in receipt of £0.172 million s106 contribution from a housing development at 
Manning’s Farm, High Street, Drybrook which is to be used to improve suitability and capacity 
at Dene Magna School.  A suitable scheme has been developed in agreement with GCC 
officers and will be included as part of a phased development by the school.  It is proposed the 
funding is allocated toward these works which will be delivered by the school. 

8. The Cotswold School

The Council is in receipt of £0.074 million S106 contribution from a housing development at 
Sandy Lane Court and Southgate Court, Upper Rissington towards to be used at the Cotswold 
School.  The school is managing a capital scheme for additional 6th form provision, and it is 
proposed that this funding is added to the budget for these works.

9. High Needs Provision Capital Allocation

The Council has received notification of a High Needs Provision Capital Grant from the 
Department for Education totalling £14.320 million.  This will be allocated across two financial 
years (£6.464 million in 2022/23 and £7.856 million in 2023/24).  This funding is to support 
local authorities to deliver new places and improve existing provision for children and young 
people with special educational needs and disabilities or who require alternative provision. 
The Local Authority has identified the need for additional specialist SEND provision in county 
over the next few years to respond to the growing demand for places and this funding will go 
some way to enabling the council to commission and deliver new specialist school provision.

Page 174



It is proposed that this funding is added to the Children & Families capital programme for 
investment in a future years’ capital programme.

10. School Condition Allocation Grant 2022/2023

The MTFS included an estimate of £4.600 million for SCA in 2022/23. This funding is allocated 
on the need to address the highest priority condition items at schools across the county. The 
actual DfE allocation announced in March 2022 is £4.417 million (ie. a reduction of £183k). It 
is proposed that this amendment is noted.

11. Additional Revenue contributions

The Council has received contributions from various schools towards the capital maintenance 
programme and capital projects. £0.574 million revenue contribution was received from the 
AMPS trading catering revenue budget towards kitchen improvements at various schools in 
2022/23, together with £0.427 million school contributions towards the Capital Maintenance 
Programme 2021/22.  It is proposed that this funding, totalling £1.001 million, is added to the 
capital programme.

Overall Change to Capital Programme

12. As a result of the above changes the Children & Families Capital Programme will 
increase by £15.570 million. 

Capital Outturn Spend 2021/22 

13. The school’s capital outturn spend for 2021/22 is £37.050 million against the revised 
budget of £40.857 million. Details of the budget, forecast and spend can be found in Appendix 
A.

14. High School Leckhampton Update

The new High School, Leckhampton, is currently under construction and due to handover for 
occupation and opening in September 2022. Construction is progressing well, and the project 
is on time. However, the costs associated with a number of external works, offsite highways 
works, utility connections and the possible re-routing of a public right of way across the site, 
have yet to be finalised.  

The highways works were tendered in October 2021 however there was a very limited 
response from prospective contractors. Most contractors declined to tender due to workload or 
type of work.  A further exercise was carried out earlier this year and two quotations were 
received for the highways works. The overall rates and fees are at the higher end of expected 
rates for the type of works specified and take account of the impact of the current economic 
climate.  

There has also been similar work undertaken to obtain quotations from the utility companies 
which commenced last autumn. Again, the estimated costs being received are higher than 
expected.  

Page 175



While these costs are being substantiated it is felt the position reflects the uncertainty around 
the current unstable economic climate and supply chain challenges including rising 
fuel/delivery costs.  Additional funding for this scheme is available within the approved 
Children and Families Capital Programme from the unallocated basic need grant.  A further 
report will be provided to Cabinet in due course once the cost evaluation exercise has been 
undertaken and will confirm the final costs to ensure the school is completed on time.  

Options

15. (1) To approve the recommendations and note the changes to the Children & Families 
Capital Programme to enable the schemes to proceed.

(2) To not approve the recommendations to provide additional places or agree funding 
to ensure delivery of existing approved schemes.   

Risks 

16. Risk of overspend against individual schemes. This will be reduced by effective 
management of the programme and suppliers by the Council’s Asset Management and 
Property Services and will be overseen by the Head of Commissioning for Learning.

17. Risk that school capacity exceeds demand. Pupil forecasts for each area within the 
county are reviewed on an annual basis to provide assurance that any school expansion is 
timed to meet expected increase in need for places as seen by the proposals in this report. 
This enables the Head of Commissioning for Learning to reallocate funding to those schemes 
where there is the most pressing need when these forecasts alter. 

18. Risk that schools are not expanded in time to meet the demand for additional 
places. The forecasting approach enables the council to effectively plan ahead to mitigate 
this. In addition, where permanent expansion cannot be achieved within necessary timescales, 
temporary arrangements can be put in place to meet need and costs are factored into the 
planning for this. In terms of special school places, lack of capacity would result in children 
being placed in non-maintained independent schools, but this would have a significant impact 
on the dedicated schools grant revenue budget. 

19. Risk that Covid and supply chain issues delay proposed schemes.  We are getting 
reports from contractors of significantly increasing costs and potential longer lead in times for 
materials.  We are working with schools and contractors to monitor the situation and assess 
the need for any mitigation measures to ensure continuity of school provision.  This will 
continue to be monitored monthly and mitigation measures will be put in place where 
necessary.

Climate change implications

20. Where applicable the capital works will support the Council’s Climate Change Strategy 
through delivering buildings which minimise emissions associated with the construction 
materials and the whole life running costs of the buildings themselves.  

Page 176



Equality implications

21. These decisions will ensure the council meets its statutory duties to provide sufficient, 
accessible school places and improve the facilities and provision for children and young 
people, regardless of their level of need, background, and status.  

22. The individual schemes will be subject to user audit so that their impacts on all groups 
of society, including those with a protected characteristic(s), are assessed and mitigated 
where appropriate.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

23.      A DPIA is not required for this decision because it does not involve the collection, 
storage, or use of personal data.

Social value implications

24.      The Council will seek where possible to ensure projects maximise the additional social, 
economic, and environmental benefits to the local area, and consider the recently adopted 
Council social value policy.

Consultation feedback

25. Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, service areas, schools, 
and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this strategy.

Officer recommendations

26. Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts Option 1 and approves the proposed changes 
to the identified schemes for progression as necessary.  This will enable the council to meet its 
statutory duties with regard to school place sufficiency and improving outcomes for children 
and young people in Gloucestershire. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

27. Each scheme will be subject to its own oversight and monitoring by the Head of 
Commissioning for Learning.

Page 177



Appendix A

Schools Capital Programme 2021/22 - Outturn Position

Project Description

Total 
Budget

£000

Total 
Spend

£000

Previous
Years 

Spend
£000

Revised 
Budget
2021/22 

£000

Outturn 
Spend

2021/22 
£000

Future 
Years' 

Budget 
£000

Advanced Design 20/21 136 112 107 28 5 0
Advanced Design 2021/22 100 93 0 100 93 0
Alderman Knight expansion 1,900 1,470 1,246 219 225 435
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 1,016 1,060 510 438 550 68
Balcarras School hygiene suite 78 78 0 78 78 0
Barnwood Park School hygiene room 95 95 93 2 2 0
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 3,906 0 0 316 0 3,590
Basic Need Grant 2022/23 6,774 0 0 0 0 6,774
Belmont expansion 603 570 127 443 443 33
Bishops Cleeve New Primary School 11,000 779 357 3,225 422 7,418
Bishops Cleeve Primary additional places 225 225 0 225 225 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 1,004 950 936 34 14 34
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, expansion 990 973 967 23 6 0
Cam Hopton Primary platform lift 55 9 0 55 9 0
Carbon Reduction in Education Properties 800 0 0 100 0 700
Caretakers Properties 20/21 8 8 7 1 1 0
Caretakers Properties 2021/22 29 35 0 29 35 0
Chipping Campden School Performing Arts 905 362 292 536 70 77
Chosen Hill School hygiene suite 106 106 0 106 106 0
Christ Church Primary s106 adaptations 153 153 153 0 0 0
Churchdown Village Junior kitchen refurb 205 205 0 205 205 0
Cirencester Kingshill s106 adaptations 138 83 75 63 9 0
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 2,087 1,934 1,901 148 33 38
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 5,477 5,370 5,336 50 34 91
Cleeve School dining facilities 206 184 184 23 0 0
Coopers Edge Primary, FFE & ICT 288 288 286 2 2 0
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 1,345 1,382 1,345 0 37 0
Dursley Primary remodelling 274 176 176 98 0 0
Early Years 89 1 1 25 0 63
Eastington Primary outdoor teaching area 89 88 80 9 8 0
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 3,438 3,300 3,290 10 10 138
Farmors School s106 adaptations 245 188 125 100 63 20
Finlay Primary 1FE expansion 1,393 1,377 1,265 128 112 0
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 948 938 938 10 0 0
Gardners Lane Primary kitchen refurb 194 194 0 194 194 0
Gloucester & Forest APS new site 170 164 0 170 164 0
Gloucester Road Primary s106 adaptations 159 119 1 151 118 6
Gotherington Primary s106 expansion 196 9 0 196 9 0
Grangefield Primary, ICT/FFE 152 118 77 45 41 30
Great Oldbury Primary Academy ICT/FFE 350 102 0 150 102 200
Hartpury Primary hygiene room 107 99 99 7 0 0
Heart of the Forest SEMH provision 1,600 0 0 0 0 1,600
High Needs Provision Capital 21/22 798 0 0 0 0 798
Hillview Primary KS2 toilets phase 2 156 156 153 4 4 0
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 222 163 55 59 188
Kempsford Primary dining centre 83 83 75 8 8 0

Page 178



Project Description

Total 
Budget

£000

Total 
Spend

£000

Previous
Years 

Spend
£000

Revised 
Budget
2021/22 

£000

Outturn 
Spend

2021/22 
£000

Future 
Years' 

Budget 
£000

Leckhampton Primary expansion 4,298 3,730 2,933 865 797 500
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271 232 226 15 6 30
Mickleton Primary, kitchen upgrade 99 99 89 9 9 0
Mitton Manor Pre-School 8 7 7 0 0 1
Mitton Manor Primary outdoor learning 69 68 68 1 0 0
Naunton Park Primary kitchen refurb 160 160 0 155 160 5
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 29,910 24,182 6,411 16,589 17,772 6,910
New SEMH Special School 9,750 5,856 381 5,100 5,475 4,269
Park Infant hygiene room 122 121 121 1 0 0
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 247 240 237 10 3 0
Pittville School access works 25 24 0 25 24 0
Pittville School expansion 264 259 255 9 4 0
Pittville School hygiene room 91 91 89 2 2 0
Rednock School hygiene room 70 4 0 0 4 70
Rednock School sports hall 309 193 171 138 22 0
School Kitchen Upgrades 2021/22 129 0 0 0 0 129
Schools Condition Allocation 2020/21 885 0 0 340 0 545
Schools Condition Allocation 2022/23 4,600 0 0 0 0 4,600
Schools Condition Allocation 21/22 4,605 0 0 0 0 4,605
Schools Health & Safety 2021/22 134 214 0 134 214 0
SEND Support in mainstream schools 47 47 17 30 30 0
Shurdington Primary expansion 1,459 1,454 1,454 5 0 0
Springbank Primary hygiene room 63 59 58 5 1 0
St. David's Primary expansion 1,500 211 211 0 0 1,289
The Cotswold School expansion 5,800 5,456 2,064 3,536 3,392 200
The John Moore Primary expansion 2,253 2,237 2,233 20 3 0
Upton St. Leonards Primary hygiene room 109 106 104 5 2 0
Warden Hill Primary replacement 7,503 1,467 161 1,500 1,306 5,842
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,500 115 113 5 2 1,382
Winchcombe School expansion 4,747 4,592 2,574 2,000 2,018 173
Woodmancote Primary hygiene room 77 70 70 7 0 0
Wyedean School hygiene room 113 113 110 2 2 0

131,691 75,263 40,518 38,320 34,745 52,853

Schools Capital Maintenance Programme 5,188 4,197 1,892 2,537 2,305 0

136,879 79,460 42,410 40,857 37,050 52,853

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Community and Adult Skills Programme 2022 -2023 
Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus 
Transport   

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek cabinet approval to:
1. Run a competitive procurement process to set up a framework 

agreement, valid for 4 years, for the provision of adult learning 
services and then to award call off contract(s) of varying lengths up 
to a maximum of 12 months, depending on the type of courses or 
piece of work, for the 2022 – 2023 academic year

2. Enter into the funding agreement with the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency (ESFA) for the purpose of funding the delivery of 
Community Learning and the Adult Skills Programme during the 
2022 – 2023 academic year.

Recommendations

That the Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Bus Transport delegates 
authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Education, Skills 
and Bus Transport to: 

1. Enter into a funding agreement with the Education and Skills Funding 
Agency (ESFA) under which the council shall receive ESFA funding for 
the purpose of delivering Community Learning and Adult Skills 
Programmes for 2022 – 2023 academic year. 

2. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a four-year 
Framework Agreement for the supply of adult learning programmes 
through the following five lots:

 Employability
 First Steps
 Adults with Learning Disabilities and/or Difficulties (ALDD)
 Supported Internships
 Local Flex (Responding to identified/emerging local need) 

3. Award such Framework Agreement to the preferred tenderer(s) for each 
lot set out in Recommendation 2 (up to a maximum of six suppliers per 
lot)

4. Procure and award Call-Off Contracts for the supply of adult learning 
programmes under such Framework Agreement whose combined 
aggregate value shall not exceed £499,999.99

Page 181

Agenda Item 10



Reasons for 
recommendations

1. Without the Education and Skills Funding Agency funding the Adult 
Learning Direct Delivery Service (Adult Education in Gloucestershire) 
would not be able to continue to deliver Adult Education in 
Gloucestershire in the 2022 – 2023 academic year or procure the delivery 
of such services from the third-party providers. The council would need to 
manage the resulting costs of liabilities arising in respect of any 
redundancies in relation to the Councils Adult Education staff.

2. Without the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) funding the 
Council would not be able to utilise such funding to contribute to 
developing skills the local community; especially following the global 
pandemic. 

3. The framework agreement governs the relationship between Councils 
Adult Education staff and the Subcontractor in respect of the provision of 
services by the Subcontractor to the Councils Adult Education staff

Resource 
Implications

The costs of the Adult Education contracts will be met from the ESFA grant, 
totalling £2,645,980.00 for the 2022 – 2023 academic year.  

Background 
Documents

1. Cabinet Member Decision (23/06/2021) Community and Adult Skills 
Programme 2021 – 2022 

Decision - Community and Adult Skills Programmes 2021 – 2022. 
(gloucestershire.gov.uk)
 

Statutory Authority N/A 

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All 

Officer Name: Natasha Panchbhaya 
Telephone: 07795 265598
Email: Natasha.panchbhaya@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Funding agreement August 2022 – July 2023 

Page 182

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1681
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1681
mailto:Natasha.panchbhaya@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 
1. Gloucestershire County Council has been receiving funding for Adult Education
from the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) since 2011. A contract is issued by the 
ESFA to the council for each academic year, with funding allocated to specific areas of 
provision.

2. For the 2022 - 2023 academic year the Education and Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA) will require Gloucestershire County Council to enter into a Condition of
Funding Agreement for an amount expected to be £2,645,980.00 that contains agreed 
delivery of learning for:

- Community learning (non-accredited learning programmes primarily aimed at adults
with low skills levels and economically disadvantaged learners): £2,064,048.00
- Adult skills (Accredited learning utilised by the Adult Education service to improve
English, mathematics and language skills of adult learners): £536,481.00
- National skills fund: level 3 offer for over 24-year olds: £45,451.00

3. The Conditions of the funding agreement also require organisations to register as
an Education and Skills Funding Agency provider and comply with their requirements.
These cover issues to do with learner health and safety, equalities, quality standards,
data collection and return and sub-contracting arrangements. Gloucestershire County
Council is fully compliant with all their requirements.

4. During the 2022 - 2023 academic year funding from the ESFA will be used to
deliver learning programmes to approximately 4,000 adults in Gloucestershire.
Currently funding is primarily focused on meeting the needs of low skilled and
economically disadvantaged adults, enabling them to re-engage with education and to
progress into vocational training, employment/self-employment. This contributes to the 
Council’s plans for Levelling Up Local Communities.

5. In order to meet the needs of learners across Gloucestershire and to make use of
the expertise of partner organisations, the council’s Adult Education Service has hitherto
sub-contracted its delivery of certain adult learning obligations arising from its funding
agreement with the ESFA to partner organisations.

6. For the current academic year 2021 – 2022 the Community and Adult Skills Programmes 
2021 – 2022 framework is coming to an end; a new 4-year framework will be developed in 
which providers will be able to submit bids with prices that will be applicable for the academic 
year of 2022 -2023. The framework has improved efficiency, effectiveness and quality of the 
service in awarding contracts to training providers and is fully compliant with the council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules and procurement regulations. It does not affect the annual ESFA 
funding arrangements.

Options
7. To authorise entering into funding agreement for Adult Education in Gloucestershire
for the 2022 - 2023 academic year between Gloucestershire County Council and the
Education and Skills Funding Agency and to engage in a procurement process for the
delivery of adult learning by partner organisations.

8. To engage in a competitive procurement process to set up a framework agreement, valid 
for 4 years for the provision of adult learning services and to then award call off contract(s) of 
varying lengths up to a maximum of 12 months, depending on the type of courses or piece of 
work, for the 2022 – 2023 academic year.

Page 183



9. To discontinue the Education and Skills Funding Agency Agreement. The resource
implications of this would be: -

a) Adult Education would not be able to continue in the 2022 - 2023 academic year 
without funds available from the ESFA as there is no immediate or alternative source of 
funding available. The council would need to pick up the costs of liabilities arising in 
respect of any redundancies in relation to the council’s Adult Education staff.
b) The council would not be able to utilise this funding to contribute to developing skills
in the local economy.
c) There would be an impact on the skills base in the county and the reputation of the
council as an enabler of economic growth and improving the life chances of citizens in
the county.

Risks
10.  The main risk in relation to this proposal arises from the possibility that the ESFA
may withdraw its community learning and adult skills funding as this would result in: -
a) the council being unable to deliver adult learning programmes in the county; and
b) the council incurring liabilities in respect of redundancies in relation to the council’s Adult 
Education staff as a consequence.

This risk is assessed as low because the ESFA is contractually committed to give twelve 
months’ notice of any significant changes to contract values and no notice has been issued.

Financial Implications 
11. The costs of the Adult Education contracts will be met from the ESFA grant, totalling 
£2,645,980.00 for the 2022 – 2023 academic year. 

The cost of the framework contract will be contained within the resource available from the 
grant.

Climate Change Implications 
12. Adult Education teaches in venues across Gloucestershire, reducing the need for learners 
to travel via personal or public transport. The global pandemic opened up an opportunity to 
reassess teaching approaches, allowing for a blended learning approach to be adopted across 
the Adult Education service.  An approach which requires less reliance on travel and 
subsequently reducing carbon emissions.

13. Adult Education are involved in several community initiatives such as allotment and 
gardening projects, which allow learners to become more self-sufficient, improve mental well-
being and become eco-friendlier; as the food they harvest will only travel a few miles, be more 
organic and involve no machinery or plastic wrapping.   

14. Adult Education use energy efficient buildings in areas where public transport is available 
including local shops, reducing the travel time and use of private transportation, it operates 
within existing infrastructure and uses energy efficient lighting. 

Equalities Implications 
15. The learning provision targets learners within groups with protected characteristics
and sets targets to reach a higher proportion of people with protected characteristics.

16. Local community providers and partner organisations are utilised in order to reach

Page 184



adults with protected characteristics. There is access for learners to all areas of the
curriculum, and the curriculum strategy does not differentiate, or discriminate between
age groups, gender, race, sexual orientation, religion and/or belief, or disability.

17. Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) and
Due Regard Statement in order to satisfy them as decision makers that due regard has
been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications 
18. A DPIA will be prepared to ensure that the data rights of individual learners will be 
appropriately protected. 

Social Value Implications
19. Community based Adult Education has been an integral part of life for
Gloucestershire for many years located in people’s homes, schools, community
centres, libraries and even churches when no other space has been available. It
reflects a strong sense of local ownership of the learning process, tremendous pride
in the educational achievements of people from the local community and increasingly a
determination to defend a form of learning which flourishes outside of the formal
education sector. Providers will demonstrate in their bids how they will demonstrate social 
value, which be evaluated in moderation of bids and ongoing contract review meetings. 

Consultation feedback
20. The Delivery and Subcontract Manager has consulted current and potential
providers about the proposed curriculum and associated funding for the 2022 - 2023
academic year. The range of organisations includes Further Education (FE) colleges,
schools, and other training, community and voluntary organisations. All new subcontracting
opportunities will be advertised and awarded using the GCC Pro- contract
system. The consultation has concluded that a lot of the providers support persons
within the community who otherwise would not be in education and the funding that we
provide is crucial in supporting them to take the next steps in education. The providers
that we work with are specialists in their field and support learners in some cases with
extreme disabilities or learning difficulties, without the funding we provide these
individuals would not be supported or integrated within their community.

Officer Recommendations
21. Engage in a competitive procurement process to set up a framework agreement, valid for 
4 years for the provision of adult learning services and to then award call off contract(s) of 
varying lengths up to a maximum of 12 months, depending on the type of courses or piece of 
work, for the 2022 – 2023 academic year.

22. Enter into the funding agreement with the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) for 
the purpose of funding the delivery of Community Learning and the Adult Skills Programme 
during the 2022 – 2023 academic year.

Performance Management / Follow-up
23. Key targets and performance indicators will be agreed with each provider and
included in their contracts. A programme of reviews will be conducted with providers to
assess performance against targets, particularly in the areas of numbers and types of
learner, target groups, guided learning hours and learner hours. The contract is
regularly monitored by the Education and Skills Funding Agency through data and
funding returns, and contract performance review meetings are held with providers as
required throughout the year.

Page 185



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

REPORT TITLE: INCLUSION AND SEND STRATEGIES

Cabinet Date 22 June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member with responsibility for Education, 
Skills and Bus Transport

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet to launch and 
deliver the proposed Inclusion and SEND strategies.  

Recommendations

Cabinet approves the adoption and implementation of the:

1. Gloucestershire SEND Strategy for 2022-2025 and
2. Education and Inclusion Strategy for 2022-2025

set out in Appendices one and two.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

To agree the strategic approach to improving the quality of services and 
support we provide to children and young people that are struggling to 
access education or have a special educational need or disability.

Resource 
Implications

Funding to support inclusion and children with SEND is delivered through 
the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). The total 
DSG budget (including the Supplementary Grant) for 2022/23 is 
£562.506m, of which £84.310m is allocated to High Needs. 
The strategies aim to balance the need to deliver against statutory 
responsibilities whilst delivering value for money. The national programme 
‘delivering best value work in SEND programme’ led by the DFE will also 
influence the use of resources and seek to address areas where spend is 
above average. 
All resource implications will be assessed as part of the planned 
implementation of the strategies and will need to be agreed through the 
Schools Forum, which is the decision-making body for use of the DSG.

Background 
Documents

 High Needs Consultation 
 Summary SEND Green Paper
 Opportunity for all: Strong schools with great teachers for your children 

(Education White Paper)

Statutory Authority Children and Families Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Page 187

Agenda Item 11

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/special-educational-needs-and-disability-send/the-joint-additional-needs-and-high-needs-transformation-programme-jhntp/high-needs-consultation/
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1064655/SEND_Review_Right_support_right_place_right_time_summary.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063602/Opportunity_for_all_strong_schools_with_great_teachers_for_your_child__print_version_.pdf


Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

Officer Name:  Philip Haslett & Amanda Henderson
Tel. no: 01452 324155 & 01452 324341
Email: Philip.haslett@gloucestershire.gov.uk  
Amanda.henderson@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Key dates
 Seek Cabinet approval June 2022

 Implementation Plan Stakeholder Engagement June and July 2022 

 Publish Strategy September 2022

Page 188

mailto:Philip.haslett@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.henderson@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

Background
 

Development of the Strategies
1. In 2018 officers undertook an extensive consultation which helped shape the 

development of the High Needs, Joint Additional Needs and the Participation 
and Engagement Strategies (henceforth referred to as ‘previous strategies’). 
These strategies set out our ambitions to improve the quality of the services and 
support we provide for children and young people with additional needs.  They 
also set out plans to reduce High Needs spending to enable the delivery of a 
balanced budget and recovery of any accumulated deficit.

2. We reviewed the existing Strategies and we have identified that there are some 
benefits in consolidating the previous Strategies into the:

 Gloucestershire SEND Strategy for 2022-2025 and
 The Education Inclusion Strategy for 2022-2025

This has involved:

 Updating the language within the previous Strategies to align the language 
with that used by national policy makers.  Inclusion and SEND are clear and 
recognisable terms that better define the focus of activity than the more 
technical language, “High Needs” and “Joint Additional Needs”

 Continuing to reflect the same strategic direction and strategic objectives that 
were set out in the previous Strategies

3. The Gloucestershire SEND Strategy for 2022-2025 and the Education Inclusion 
Strategy for 2022-2025, for which we are seeking cabinet approval, set out our 
plans to continue this work. The change in terminology does not reflect a 
change of strategic direction, but a desire to make them more accessible by 
aligning the language with that used by national policy makers.  Inclusion and 
SEND are clear and recognisable terms that better define the focus of activity 
than the more technical language, “High Needs” and “Joint Additional Needs”.

4. In shaping these strategies, we carefully considered the need for a full refresh of 
the consultation that was undertaken in 2018. Our decision not to do so was 
informed by two key factors:
I. We are still in the process of delivering many elements of the previous 

strategies, in part due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, but also 
due to the long-term nature of the activities.

II. Implementation of the previous strategies has been undertaken in close 
partnership with all stakeholders, including Gloucestershire Parent Carer 
Forum, who have informed and shaped the approach we have taken. This 
has been reinforced with a full 5-week engagement exercise in April/May 
2022.

Page 189



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

5. As such we have shaped two strategies that continue the work of the previous 
strategies and that have been fully informed by engagement with key 
stakeholders.

6. A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) Decision Checklist has been 
completed

Strategic vision
7. In developing The Gloucestershire SEND and the Education Inclusion strategies, 

we were careful to consider the clear interdependencies that exist between an 
inclusive education system and the provision of high quality and effective support 
for children and young people with SEND. As such the two strategies have been 
developed together and have a shared strategic vision for the way in which our 
local system should develop, before identifying specific Inclusion and SEND 
priorities.

8. The strategies have a shared vision statement, ‘All children can flourish and 
achieve; it’s our shared responsibility to unlock their potential’.

9. They also share a common message about the importance of developing a 
sustainable system that has strong foundations and a common set of features to 
which all stakeholders subscribe and that underpin our priorities and decision 
making. These were articulated in a short presentation we made available during 
the engagement process, which can be found here.    

What are our priorities?
10. The strategies collectively set out nine priorities. They incorporate ongoing 

priorities; learning from the delivery of the previous strategies; and core 
messages in the DfE’s SEND Green Paper. In shaping the priorities, we have 
identified, what we are going to do, why we are doing it and the impact we 
expect it to have. The nine priorities are:
1. Inclusion: Development of an inclusion baseline
2. Inclusion: Embedding a graduated approach to inclusion
3. Inclusion: Improving access to education for specific groups
4. Inclusion: Working together: effective multi-agency working
5. Inclusion: Workforce development: adverse childhood experiences, trauma 

informed approaches and restorative practice
6. Inclusion: Alternative provision: developing the local offer
7. SEND: Communication that is timely and informative
8. SEND: Access to support when it is needed
9. SEND: Improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND

Implementation
11. To ensure effective implementation of the strategies, we will put in place clear 

action plans that set out the key activities to be undertaken, the timeline for 
completion, key milestones and who is responsible for leading the activity. 
Progress against the action plans will be monitored and governed by the multi-

Page 190

https://youtu.be/zlTqpp9t7k4
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-and-ap-green-paper-responding-to-the-consultation


Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

agency SEND Improvement board and, where necessary, ensure remedial 
action is taken to maintain progress. 

Evaluation
12. To measure the impact of our work we will engage an independent evaluator to 

develop an evaluation model that uses both quantitative and qualitative 
methodologies to gain a holistic view of the impact of our work. We expect the 
quantitative methodology to be based on a ‘common outcomes framework’. The 
framework will identify the key outcome data that will help measure success, for 
example, this might include increased attendance or reduced permanent 
exclusion of children with an EHCP. The qualitative methodologies will focus on 
the user experience and include case studies, interviews, and focus groups with 
key stakeholders, including parents and carers and children and young people.

Risks 
12. The number of young people with special educational needs and disabilities and 

those who require support to access education, both locally and nationally, 
continues to rise.  This creates two risks:

a. Quality and sufficiency of provision for vulnerable children and young 
people could be affected if numbers continue to rise.

b. In 2021/22 the High Needs budget overspent by £6.9m, resulting in a 
cumulative Dedicated Schools Grant deficit position of £17m.    

13. The strategies set out our plans to address these risks through the development 
of a strong and sustainable local model of support that focuses on meeting the 
needs of children and young people earlier to reduce the escalation and 
complexity of needs.  

14. The strategies also focus on capacity building models, workforce development 
and effective multi-agency working to ensure that we are working collaboratively 
to implement sustainable solutions to address the risks. 

15. There will be some risks associated with delivery on some aspects of the SEND 
strategy due to the challenged social care workforce position in the voluntary 
and community sector.  An example of this is the available marketplace to take 
forward pieces of work such as delivery of short break services.

Financial implications
16. The key financial implications are linked to the High Needs Block of the 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  The Gloucestershire DSG is currently £17m in 
deficit.  This significant deficit compares favourably to the national position, 
where the estimated deficit position is over £1.5b, with some Local Authorities 
having deficit positions of over £100m and in some instances the deficit is 
greater than the budget.  

17. Whilst we recognise that the pressure on High Needs is a national issue, it is 
essential that we continue to do the right things to minimise the pressure and 
achieve a balanced in-year budget.  The DfE Green Paper sets out the 
government’s views on changes that will be made at a national policy level. The 
core messages in the green paper align with those set out in our local strategies, 
in particular:

Page 191



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

i. The need to provide high quality support earlier – earlier intervention 
provides better outcomes for children and young people, which is of course 
the primary reason for it being a key feature of our local strategies, but it also 
reduces the need for higher cost placements and will reduce financial 
pressure on the High Needs Block.

ii. Sustainability is essential. The strategies reference a sustainability model 
that is focused on how we move resource from child level interventions to 
whole school and whole setting development where the impact of funding 
can have a broader reach.  A key element of this is workforce development, 
ensuring that all those involved in supporting children and young people 
have access to high quality professional development that affects universal 
practice for all children and young people.

iii. The ‘delivering best value work in SEND programme’ led by the DFE will 
commence in Gloucestershire in the Autumn and will benchmark our current 
services and identify where resources could be used more effectively. This 
will complement the implementation of our local strategies, which are in line 
with the proposals in the SEND Green paper, and will provide a vehicle to 
share and learn from best practice nationally.

Climate change implications
18. We expect the effective delivery of these strategies to support the council's 

Climate Change Strategy and associated targets and journey to net zero, which 
are set out in item 9 of the December 2021 cabinet report. 

19. Specifically, we would expect the following activities to reduce the need for 
lengthy travel around the county:

 Enhance the use of digital solutions, including use of virtual meetings for 
multi-agency meetings.

 Reduce the need to access specialist provision through the continued 
development of early intervention models. Specialist provision often 
requires significantly longer travel to school.

 Ensure, where it is required, specialist provision is expanded to meet local 
needs and reduce travel distances and times. 

20. We will ensure environmental reporting is included in KPIs for contract 
management.

Equality implications
21. Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment 

in order to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been 
given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications
22. A Data Protection Impact Assessment (DIPA) Checklist has been completed. 

This confirms there are no specific DPIA implications to be addressed.
Social value implications

Page 192

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g10153/Public%20reports%20pack%20Wednesday%2022-Dec-2021%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=10


Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

23. Through the strategic coordination of integrated commissioning, the strategic 
objectives aim to address a range of needs holistically; recognises the impact of 
not intervening early, and refocuses on positive impact on social, economic and 
environmental outcomes of early identification and support.  ‘The Timpson 
Review’ states “the cost to the public purse was and continues to be 
disproportionate to what early intervention with the pupil/family would have cost”. 
The average whole costs without early intervention are circa £370,000 per 
young person including education, health, social services - with there being a 
higher likelihood of entry into the criminal justice system; higher likelihood of 
social security involvement; and increased average healthcare costs.

Engagement feedback
24. A five-week engagement exercise was undertaken during April and May 2022.  

The strategy was shared through all open and public communication channels. 
In addition, targeted communications were shared with education providers, 
parent, and carer groups, health, and social care agencies.  

25. To support the process, we provided a recorded presentation that summarised 
and built on the key messages in the strategies.  We also ran a range of open 
engagement webinars for all stakeholders and some targeted sessions for 
groups, such as heads’ associations, parents’ groups etc.

26. Feedback was collected through a formal engagement survey and questions 
and answer sessions at the live webinars. We also received less structured 
email and verbal feedback from a range of stakeholders.  All feedback has been 
captured and collated in a central record.

27. Over 200 people attended and contributed to the live webinar/presentations. The 
engagement survey received 72 responses in total. 40 responses to the SEND 
survey, of which 52% were from parent and carers and 42% from professionals 
or organisations and 2% from young people. 32 responses to the Inclusion 
survey, of which 41% were from parent and carers and 50% were from 
professionals or organisations.

28. The overall feedback has been incredibly positive about the ambitions and 
priorities that we have set out in the strategy, with 86% agreeing with the 
priorities.

Common/General feedback
29. In the qualitative feedback there were a number of respondents who commented 

positively on the priorities but noted the complexity and level of ambition will be 
difficult to deliver. The importance of resourcing effective implementation and 
delivery are recognised.  We have put in place strong governance arrangements 
and will ensure there are clear, detailed and resources implementation plans in 
place.

30. The importance of developing strong foundations in the local system was 
recognised and received positively. The features that we want to see in the local 
system were also received positively, and after feedback, have been extended 
to include ‘Inclusive Leadership’ and ‘High Quality and Effective Transitions’.

Page 193

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/school-exclusions-review-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/school-exclusions-review-call-for-evidence


Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

Education Inclusion Strategy for 2022-2025
31. Overall, 32 people who completed the engagement survey fed back on the 

inclusion priorities, with 88% agreeing with the priorities.  Overall respondents 
felt that the priority to improve multi-agency working was the most important and 
the inclusion baseline the second most important.

32. In relation to Priority 1: Development of Inclusion baseline, feedback was 
positive including statements such as:

“Agree - I find great inconsistencies among different schools in their level 
of inclusion. As such children can be disadvantaged just by postcode 

lottery so to speak.”

“We are a school who have a very high incidence of SEND and find it 
very frustrating when we hear of other schools using Quality First 

Teaching techniques as intervention who then may get further funding. 
A baseline would be welcome, remembering that some schools have 
many more children who need to access support at a higher level and 

therefore would require more funding.”

“It would be good to have clear expectations. There is a discrepancy 
between schools.”

33. There was a recognition that this is difficult to achieve, with one respondent 
articulating the views of a number of others by saying “Brilliant, but a real 
challenge to address”. This is recognised, but remains the right ambition, 
which we believe is deliverable. 

34. Feedback also noted the need for greater clarity of accountability and whether a 
standardised ‘inclusion policy’ could be implemented.  Whilst this is not possible 
to mandate, we will ensure that responsibilities and accountabilities are included 
in the planning and delivery of this priority.

35. Priority 2: Improved use of the Graduated Pathway, again received positive 
feedback with respondents noting the importance of an effective early 
intervention pathway and the current issues faced:

“Early intervention makes such a difference, i.e., having ELSAs has made 
such a difference to our children. Support is accessible quickly.  Easy 

follow up is achievable.  Relationships between child/adult goes beyond a 
few sessions.”

“In some cases, earlier intervention is key, so if this is done well it will 
greatly improve some children's outcomes.”

“Currently the graduated pathway isn't always effective, and it is difficult to 
get support from GCC.”

36. The Graduated Pathway can sometimes be perceived as an “obstacle” or 
“tick-box exercise”, which supports our focus on this as a key priority that will 
be addressed through further engagement with stakeholders and partners.

37. Priority 3: Improve outcomes for minority groups - overall responses to the 
survey were again positive, with respondents saying:

Page 194



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

“Targeting specific groups with specific help can only make things 
better/easier.”

“A key point and something which needs to be challenged and changed.”
38. There was, however, recognition both in the survey and by attendees at the 

webinars that this is a by-product of broader inclusion and cultural issues. This 
included a comment that both nationally and locally children and young people 
from disadvantaged backgrounds are more likely to be excluded from school. 
We recognise this broader issue and are confident that our priorities will help 
provide greater support and impact for all children that are at risk of exclusion or 
excluded from school.  However, we feel strongly that we need to prioritise 
support for the minority groups identified as they are disproportionately excluded 
in Gloucestershire compared to the national data.

39. Priority 4: Improved multi-Agency working - again this priority was welcomed 
in the feedback.  Respondents were clear that “different agencies involved 
need to communicate better”, that when multi-agency support is provided it is 
“key and in my experience can be helpful.”; and “I find this particularly 
helps with more complex children, and often leads to more meaningful 
actions.”, but that effective multi-agency working is inconsistent across the 
county, with some specialist agencies very difficult to engage.  There was also 
feedback about the need for clarity of roles and responsibilities, with a concern 
that “schools and settings should not be expected to do it all”.

40. This feedback is helpful and is recognised as a key factor in delivering good 
quality service, this will underpin the implementation plan.

41. Priority 5: Workforce development. Feedback again was positive, with one 
respondent saying “Definitely! Empower informed SENDCos to train those 
on the front line or have easy access to what they need.”  There was a clear 
message that whilst the priority is the right one, we need to consider both the 
funding and range of the offer, with one respondent specifically saying, “Staff 
need more training on neurodiversity” and another saying, “Having a 
workforce with appropriate training with SEND will greatly improve the 
child outcome.”

42. We have incorporated this feedback into the strategy and will expand our 
ambitions to support workforce development, beyond ACEs, Trauma Informed 
approaches, and Restorative Practice.

43. In the strategy we are clear that we want to provide greater support for whole 
school SEND development, which again received positive feedback, and it was 
also clear that the ability to do so is limited by the prioritisation of leadership in 
the school, with one respondent stating, “At the moment access to training 
and whole school development can be affected by the priority the head 
gives to SEND.” We will consider and address this in our implementation 
planning.

44. Priority 6: Continue to improve Alternative Provision (AP).  Responses to 
this priority outlined concerns about the lack of capacity across the county. One 
parent/carer commented that, “There's a massive shortfall in alternative 
provision across the whole country” and another commenting that “more 
spaces are needed, and more specialist settings needed”. This makes 

Page 195



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

reference beyond AP into wider specialist provision which is addressed in the 
SEND strategy.  However, we recognise the rising need for alternative provision 
support and have adjusted the strategy to include an objective to improve the 
information about provision that is available, identifying ‘What Works’ and to 
explore the development of the AP third sector marketplace.

Gloucestershire SEND Strategy for 2022-2025
45. Overall, there is support for the three overarching SEND priorities, and there 

have been a wide range of views and experiences shared during the 
engagement period. These will inform the next steps in delivering what we have 
set out in the strategy.  There was a range of helpful operational feedback that 
will be included in the co-produced implementation plan.  

46. There were 40 responses to the SEND Strategy. As the survey was anonymous, 
we are unable to ascertain how many of these were individual or group 
responses.   85% of respondents agreed with the priorities. The overall feedback 
indicates a strong agreement for priority 3 (improving outcomes) with 50% of 
respondents selecting this as the most important priority.  5% of respondents did 
not allocate an importance level to the priorities and therefore we have relied on 
the feedback to further our insight into what is most important to respondents.  

47. Engagement was carried out with Future Me Youth representatives aged 
between 17 and 23 years, all with direct experience of SEND and Additional 
Needs, and also students from Alderman Knight Schools (Years 7-10).  

48. Below is a summary of the feedback for each priority responding to the points 
made.

      Priority 1: Improve our Communication
49.  There is support for adopting a more individual personalised approach to the 

way in which we communicate and provide support for children and young 
people with SEND. 

50. We need to continue to build trust in our relationships with parents and carers, 
and young people. “‘[Having a trusting relationship makes a difference 
because], having teachers that you know inside of school, who teach you 
lessons and you know them really well, it’s a good thing… it’s nice to have 
someone else to support you as well.”

51. Everyone involved in the young person’s journey into adulthood needs to be 
accountable and responsible. It was recognised that this is an area where we 
need to improve the consistency of our work. One parent/carer said, “We get 
passed from one person to another.”

52. The Future Me Youth Representatives suggested that children and young 
people are always included and at the heart of conversations and planning about 
them

53. Communication needs to improve. It needs to be clear, sensitive, and 
transparent so that parents/carers/professionals/young person understand the 

Page 196



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

pathway and the reasons behind decision making, and that it leads to the right 
support in the right place, at the right time. 

54. We acknowledge the stresses and challenges for parent and carers in 
navigating the range of services and communication style needs to be sensitive 
to the family’s particular circumstance. One parent/carer said “Communication 
is important particularly the need to be sensitive in what is being said. 
Parents find the process and discussions about their child’s needs 
upsetting and emotionally draining”.

55. The right professionals need to be engaged at the right time and there needs to 
be joined up working to ensure that there is targeted support.

56. Quality First training should be part of the universal offer.
57. A user-friendly Local Offer is key for good quality, up to date, accessible 

information and guidance in a single location. This should be co-produced with 
parents and carers. One young person said, “Currently too many documents 
and places to find it! One website with the others removed from the system 
would be good”. A professional said, “There is a lot of information online - 
but not always kept up-to-date”.

58. It is important to have skilled professionals who listen to parents and carers in 
order to deliver effective support, build relationships through a personalised 
approach, and good quality casework.

59. Provision of a digital portal should provide a single point of access, allow 
transparency, and reduce time spent on process so that casework can spend 
time listening, understanding the family, and building relationships
 Priority Two: Improving Access

60. Adopting a more individual personalised approach to accessing support would 
help build meaningful relationships and improve outcomes.

61. Feedback was clear that funding shouldn’t be a barrier to good flexible support, 
as delays only serve to escalate needs and increase the likelihood of statutory 
support being required.

62. A review of cross-border processes would be beneficial for all agencies involved. 
A parent/carer said, “our GP is Welsh & we were unable to register with an 
English GP due to our address so improving the accessibility and 
flexibility of support would be beneficial”

63. Processes and rationale need to be clear and easy to understand so that 
families and health, social care and education professionals know where to go 
for advice and guidance.

64. Support needs to be equitable and accessible at the right time, with clear 
expectations set that account for the pressures that services are under. A 
professional said, “Access to services needs to be more equitable and 
timely.” 

65. We also received general feedback about the need for more investment in 
support for early years’ training and access to professional guidance. 

66. More support for mental health “Anxiety, depression of any mental health, 
[could get in in the way of the priorities, communication, accessing 

Page 197



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

support and ambition]. It just builds and builds and builds”. Furthermore, 
there was recognition of the third sector and the benefits and support that can be 
provided to strengthen our Local Offer.

67. Improvements are needed for parents and professionals to access training that 
will best support children and young people. A professional said, “Training 
needs to be better placed for all staff to access. Training / support for 
parents who do not share your parental promises”

68. Practice needs to be consistent across schools on the Graduated Pathway. 

 Priority Three: Improving Outcomes
69. Outcomes for children and young people with SEND need to improve and the 

language used (outcomes vs achievements), to reflect individual child level 
outcomes ensuring that they are measuring what is appropriate, aspirational, 
and broader than educational attainments. As a parent/carer said, “outcomes 
need to be appropriate to the child concerned.” 

70. Young people said that ‘‘Ambition is something that gets missed a lot, they 
[school staff] assume because you have some sort of special need, that 
you might not be as able as people who don’t.” “‘My year 5 teacher, she 
kept saying, ‘you won’t be able to do it,’… next day we had the same 
lesson, so I went… and done the whole thing, and she was in tears… so 
she felt sorry [for doubting my abilities.]”

71.  We also received feedback about the need to improve guidance for schools 
around statutory duties. 

72. Timely and sufficient support will help to avoid exclusions and support children 
who have been excluded to continue their education. A parent/carer said, “I 
have many friends whose children are being excluded because insufficient 
support has been put in place”

73. Improving training and skills across all professionals working with children and 
young people with SEND is key to inclusive practice

           Additional comments highlighted the need to consider:
74. More focus on support in rural areas. Feedback from a parent/carer suggested 

that there appeared to be less support for children living in rural areas.
75. Forward plan more in engaging parents and professionals in coproduction. A 

parent/carer said, “More parental input into the design of these services. If 
you want to truly ensure the child and family is central to decisions and 
the options they have, you need to include them fully and explain to them 
what they should expect at each stage, how they can be involved and how 
to challenge you if they don’t agree.”

Next steps 
76. The feedback that has been received clarifies the support for the SEND priorities 

and where we should focus the implementation plan to achieve better 
communication, access and outcomes for children and young people in 
Gloucestershire.  

Page 198



Cabinet Report – Final 20220530

77. We will ensure:
i. the SEND strategy is clear what is meant by outcomes and achievements.
ii. that our commitment to building trust in relationships with families is 

explicit; and 
iii. the importance of coproduction at the right time is emphasised as part of 

the strategies implementation and ongoing work.
78. The next steps are to engage with parents, carers, young people, and 

professionals to ensure that our implementation plan and timeline support the 
views shared above.  We will be engaging with stakeholders throughout June 
and July on development of the implementation plan.  

Officer recommendations
79. Officers are presenting the SEND and Education Inclusion Strategies for review 

and recommending that Cabinet approve them to guide the development of our 
support for Inclusion and SEND for the period 2022-2025.

Performance management /follow up

80. There are strong governance arrangements in place to oversee and support the 
implementation of the Inclusion and SEND strategies. The SEND and Inclusion 
Improvement Board, a multi-agency board with representation from education, 
health and social care services and parents and carers, will provide expert 
advice, guidance and support to services leads, whilst also holding them to 
account for the delivery of the strategies.

81. Each strategy will have a clear action plan in place. The plan will clearly set out 
the key activities to be undertaken, the timeline for completion, key milestones 
and who is responsible for leading the activity. Progress against the action plans 
will be monitored by the SEND and Inclusion Improvement board and where 
necessary ensure remedial action is taken to maintain progress.

79. To measure the impact of our work we will engage an independent evaluator to 
develop an evaluation model that uses both quantitative and qualitative 
methodologies to gain a holistic view of the impact of our work. 

80. We will regularly publish progress against our action plan to ensure children, 
young people and their families are aware of progress.

Page 199



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
“All children can flourish and achieve; 

it’s our shared responsibility to unlock their potential”

Gloucestershire SEND Strategy for 2022-2025

Introduction

This strategy has been built on the priorities from the Joint Additional Needs Strategy, this was 
co-produced with parent carers, young people and health and social care partners. 
The strategy builds on the work that has been delivered over the past three years through the 
Joint Additional Needs and High Needs Strategies, and sets out to simplify these priorities. 

This is the next phase of our work to grow together as a Local Area. To ensure that 
Gloucestershire’s Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) offer continues to 
improve the experience and outcomes for children and young people. 
Children and young people are at the heart of this strategy to enable children to live 
remarkable lives. The focus is on co-production and collaboration to provide good quality 
services, to achieve good outcomes for the children, young people, and families we serve.

We know that good provision for children and young people with SEND requires a strong and 
effective culture of inclusion that supports all children and young people to thrive.  As such this 
strategy will be delivered alongside our Inclusion strategy  In Gloucestershire we want to focus 
on:

 Removing barriers and improving inclusion across all education settings and services

 Ensuring all children and young people can access education and services to identify 
needs and provide the right support at the right time

 Making sure that everyone is working collaboratively in the best interests of children 
and young people

 Ensuring that specialist services are of high quality, available when needed and 
provide best value for public money.  

Page 201

https://search3.openobjects.com/mediamanager/gloucs/glosfamilies/files/approved_joint_strategy_for_cyp_with_an_2018-2021.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2114227/inclusion-strategy-v2.pdf


All children and young people deserve the support they need to be confident, resilient 
individuals with their own ambitions and aspirations as they develop into adulthood 
irrespective of their learning needs or abilities. 
We know how important it is for support to be provided at the right time particularly for children 
and young people with SEND so that they can develop the skills they need to thrive and to be 
ready to transition to the next phase of their lives. 
We believe in celebrating difference and learning from each other. 
We want Gloucestershire’s Local Offer to reflect this. This will mean that every child and young 
person can grow in their local and inclusive, supportive community. 

What does SEND mean? 

Special educational needs (SEN)
 A child or young person has SEN if they have a learning difficulty or disability which 

calls for special educational provision to be made for him or her.
 A child of compulsory school age or a young person has a learning difficulty or 

disability if he or she:
• has a significantly greater difficulty in learning than the majority of others of 
the same age, or
• has a disability which prevents or hinders him or her from making use of 
facilities of a kind generally provided for others of the same age in mainstream 
schools or mainstream post-16 institutions

SEN is a legal term derived from s.20 of the Children and Families Act  2014. A detailed 
description can be found in the SEND Code of Practice: 0 – 25 years. Or you can read the 
easy-read version of the SEND Code of Practice from Mencap. 

In Gloucestershire and nationally, we know that there continues to be an increasing number of 
children and young people needing extra support, short term, and longer term. We see this in 
the rise in Education, Health and Care plans (EHCP) and hear this from our families, local 
schools, and settings.

We also know that the global pandemic and subsequent economic challenges has meant 
significant disruption and immense pressure for children and young people. For some families 
these have lessened resilience, increased poverty, and increased mental health difficulties 
across the population.  For some children and young people with SEND and their families the 
impact will have delayed access to learning, access to social support and health provision. This 
may mean more local support is required and our work will reflect this.  

We will focus on what is important to our young people, parents and carers and our schools 
and settings locally.  Our priorities set out where you have told us we need to invest time and 
resources to support the wide range of social, emotional, educational and health needs; as well 
as making sure children and young people of Gloucestershire with SEND have access to the 

Page 202

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf
https://www.mencap.org.uk/sites/default/files/2016-08/FINAL%20DESIGNED%20Easy%20read%20SENDreforms%20parents%20v11.pdf


right support at the right time. Wherever possible for support to be close to home helping to 
build local provision and community connections.

Who is the SEND Strategy for? 
The SEND Strategy is for everyone in Gloucestershire who has a responsibility for supporting 
children and young people with SEND. Having heard what is important to children and 
families, we have co-produced clear and shared responsibilities and priorities. We want to 
work collaboratively for children with SEND. It is a local area commitment to grow together, 
delivering service improvements and measure the outcomes this achieves.
We believe that we should all contribute to improving the outcomes and reducing inequalities 
for children and young people with SEND.  
The strategy and action plan provides a framework for everyone supported by and working in 
SEND in Gloucestershire across Education, Health and Care and the range of 0 – 25 services 
who are growing and working together to achieve the priorities.

When we say ‘we’ it means Gloucestershire’s SEND community: Gloucestershire Parent Carer 
Forum, Education, Social Care and Health services, local schools, and education settings; with 
youth voice at the heart of our work in partnership with children and young people, parents, 
and carers.

Our vision

We want all children and young people in Gloucestershire to thrive, exceed 
expectations and live remarkable lives.  We will support children to be confident, 
achieve their ambitions’ be aspirational and progress positively into adulthood.

To do so we will grow together, work co-productively with children, families, education, 
health, and care services to have a shared responsibility so that locally we provide

 A positive learning experience in their school or education setting(s)
 Joined up access to early support using the Graduated Pathway or statutory 

support through the Education, Health and Care Plan
 Opportunities to shape and influence the support children and their families receive

What do we mean when we talk about working collaboratively and a shared 
responsibility?

These terms emphasise the importance of working together to support children and young 
people.  When we use them, we are referring to everyone that is involved in helping a child to 
flourish and succeed. This includes families, early years, and post 16 providers, schools, 
partners, support services and the local authority.  Everyone has a role to play:

We expect all settings, services and providers to:

 Be aspirational for all children and young people.

Page 203



 Understand and promote an inclusive culture. 

 Provide good or outstanding education.

 Understand and respond holistically to barriers and underlying needs to education and 
learning, including the impact of  Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES)

 Through early identification of needs and effective use of Gloucestershire’s Graduated 
Pathway of Early Help and Support. 

 Provide accessible and up to date information on the Local Offer and Glos Families 
Directory

 Support families to support their child, understand the challenges families may be 
facing and feel able to discuss any concerns they may have.

We expect parent and families to:

 Be aspirational for their child/children 

 Make sure their child attends regularly and on time unless they are unwell.

 Make sure their child is ready to learn.

 Encourage their child to learn and reach their potential by taking an active role in their 
work and activities. 

 Ask for help or advice if they believe their child is struggling.

We expect the Local Authority to:

 Be aspirational for all children

 Enable all children to access high quality education, learning opportunites and 
community inclusion suitable for their needs and phase of development.

 Support and work in partnership with schools and other settings to develop a highly 
skilled workforce that keeps children and young people safe and enables them to reach 
their potential.

 Work in partnership with schools, other settings and partner agencies to identify the 
inclusion needs and priorities year on year, using hard and soft data, research and 
local intelligence.

The importance of inclusion

We know that the Inclusion Strategy will play a significant role in improving the quality of 
provision for children and young people with SEND and as such this strategy and the Inclusion 
Strategy have been developed alongside each other.

In our Inclusion Strategy we have set out a vision for the development of our local education 
system where we promote the development of strong foundations that: 

 Ensure early identification, early intervention and inclusion are funded focussing on 
whole setting inclusive practice and early intervention

Page 204

https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=2
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_4
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_4


 Ensures high quality support services and interventions that are available at the 
earliest opportunity to support children, young people, whole setting development and 
system change

 Enables and promotes everyone to work collaboratively with a shared vision and 
responsibility to support, challenge and hold each other to account to support children 
and young people in Gloucestershire.

Features of the local system

  

Building strong foundations will provide us with a stable platform upon which we can continue 
to successfully develop the key features of our local system.  The features of our local system 
shape the experience that we want people to have and drive decision making and planning.  
They are:

1. A culture that adopts a graduated approach to early identification, effective 
assessment, and early intervention; ensuring holistic child and family centred support is 
available when it’s needed – “the right support at the right time”.

2. A shared set of inclusive principles to which everyone signs-up.

3. That we focus on sustainable long-term solutions that support whole school and 
system development.

Page 205



4. Effective multi-agency working in which shared responsibility is a consistent theme.

5. To operate in an ACEs and Trauma-informed way, looking beyond external behaviours 
to understand the needs of children and young people and to respond to that in a 
restorative and relational way.

6. To ensure that all developments and interventions are data and research-led – we find 
out what works and apply it to our local context.

7. That we remain focussed on the impact our work has on the outcomes for children and 
young people.

8. That everything we do is co-produced with key people, but most importantly, families, 
children, and young people. 

9. Workforce development – great people are at the heart of a great and sustainable local 
system and it’s critical that we provide support to develop their skills and expertise.

Page 206



Our SEND Priorities 2022-2025
Improving outcomes for children and young people with SEND is everyone’s responsibility. 
Inclusion is the foundation of our improvements for those with SEND, however we also know 
that there are key areas for SEND provision in Gloucestershire to work on. As such, 
stakeholders, including parents and carers, within Gloucestershire will commit to working 
together on the following priorities over the next three years to improve:

1. Communication that is timely and informative.
2. Access to support when it is needed.
3. Outcomes that are ambitious and achievable.

These priorities have been informed by:

 A self-assessment of what works and what’s missing across the Gloucestershire SEND 
partnership.

 A review of the local area SEND services and outcomes.
 Feedback on local SEND services.
 Findings from the Ofsted inspection of SEND services in Gloucestershire.
 Progress made against our service transformation plans.

Other information and the data we collect tells us that:

• The attainment outcomes for young people with SEND should be better. 
• Poor educational attainment is linked to poorer outcomes in other areas of life.
• We spend and do a lot, but we are not always clear on what is making the biggest 

difference to the outcomes of children, young people, and their families.
• Children’s needs to be identified and addressed more quickly.
• We need to improve our communication of specialist SEND provision locally.
• Financial pressures are increasing due to increased demand.

Further information on local needs can be found in our SEND Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment.
Priority 1 – Improve our communication 
What will we do?

We will work together to make sure that communication is timely, effective and information is 
easy to access and updated regularly.  
Work in progress:
Review of our Local Offer and developing a refreshed website to deliver sustained 
improvement in our Information, Advice and Guidance to everyone involved in supporting 
children and young people with SEND.
To further achieve this, we will: 

• Work co productively with parent carers, children and young people and partners to 
make sure information is accessible, and decision making is clear and communicated.

• Improve access to up-to-date information through a refreshed digital Local Offer.

Page 207

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2114172/children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs-send-jsna-update-2021-22.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2114172/children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs-send-jsna-update-2021-22.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2114172/children-and-young-people-with-special-educational-needs-send-jsna-update-2021-22.pdf


• Provide clear information on available support and transitions from Early Years’ 
settings, schools and in preparation for adulthood.

• Review our Graduated Pathway to ensure this is accessible and used effectively.
• Improve and increase opportunities for communication with parents and carers through 

parent voice, Gloucestershire Parent Carer Forum and SENDIASS.
• Support the development of our SEND workforce through skill sharing evidence based 

best practice and investment in professional development. 

Why are we doing this and what impact will it have?
Parents and carers, children and young people and our wider stakeholders have told us that:

• Access to information needs to be clearer, simpler, and straight forward.
• Navigating SEND processes can often be difficult and confusing.
• It isn’t often clear what support is available locally.
• There are sometimes delays to accessing SEND support and assessments are taking 

too long.
• Parent, carers, children, and young people do not always feel listened to, understand 

how decisions are made, or are part of the decision making.

Improving our communication will:

 Ensure engagement is planned early and meaningfully so that co-production can be 
achieved well and people feel listened to

 Reduce confusion and mixed messaging by making sure information is accurate, up-to- 
date and consistent across the county and build trust by doing what we say we will do. 

 Support all settings and services to adapt and operate inclusively for all children
 Make sure information is relevant, easy to find and easy to read.
 Provide clear and simplified pathways to access support when it is needed.

Priority 2 - Access to support when it is needed
What will we do?
We know that not all children with SEND require long term support. We believe that support 
should be accessible, delivered flexibly and that our roles are to work with children, young 
people, and their families to help find the right support at the right time. 
Work in progress:

 Review and redesign of the EHCP pathway, to simplify access, maximise digital 
solutions, improve communication and timeliness. 

 Review of the Graduated Pathway to ensure this is used to maximum effect to identify 
need and provide early intervention support to provide the right support at the right time 

 Development of our banded funding model, so that funding can be used flexibly to meet 
need

To further achieve this, we will:
• Review use of resources to make most efficient and effective provision available at all 

stages of the Graduated Pathway and Statutory resource. 

Page 208



• Invest in SENDIASS services to ensure parents and young people have access to free 
and impartial advice.

• Provide support as early as practical to do so, including transition support when moving 
settings or schools.

• Provide clear information to simplify access to the right support at the right time.
• Implement the new EHCP pathway to improve access, communication, and timeliness,
• Support schools and settings with whole school training so that they can increase skills 

and knowledge to improve outcomes for all children with SEND.
• Develop our available special school provision in the county, through increased special 

school places and resource bases.
• Continue to develop our banded funding model so that funding can be used flexibly to 

meet need.

Why are we doing this and what impact will it have?
We want our services to be agile so they can meet the evolving needs of our children and 
young people. We need to reduce the complexity of processes so that we can give children 
and young people the support they need in a setting that is appropriate for them.
These changes will:

 Set clear expectations and increase confidence in the system.
 Help ensure children and young people get access to the right support at the right time. 
 Streamline systems and processes to improve access and reduce waiting time for 

assessment and support.

Priority 3 – Improve outcomes for children and young people with SEND 
What will we do?
We want to do more to help young people with SEND achieve better outcomes; outcomes that 
are ambitious and allow children and young people to achieve their personal goals, these 
ambitions may range from academic aspirations to individual goals that help them to develop 
into happy, healthy young people.  To do this, we need to make sure that their support plans 
are built around personal aspirations, needs and outcomes.
Work in progress:
Increasing SEND services capacity through investment into early intervention and casework 
services.
To further achieve this, we will:

• Support schools and settings with whole school training so that they can increase skills 
and knowledge to improve outcomes for all children with SEND.

• Provide a skilled workforce with access to training and development, to enable learning 
and sharing of best practice. 

• Work together across Education, Health and Care to reduce unnecessary barriers to 
assessment and support and ensure that the aspirations of young people are clear 
within the support plan

• Provide casework capacity to attend some and progress annual review amends to 
support children, young people and schools have up to date plans, measure progress 
and outcomes

Page 209



• Listen and share learning from feedback from compliments, complaints, mediation, and 
Tribunals to understand what is working well and improve practice to support good 
outcomes for young people.  

• Review and publish our performance benchmarks.

Why are we doing this and what impact will it have?

We know from our data that we have more work to do to support children and young people 
with SEND achieve academically.  We must continue to listen and adapt our local services in 
responding to what we learn. This is how we will help children and young people with SEND in 
Gloucestershire to have positive achievements and outcomes from their education experience.
These changes will:

• Improve attainment outcomes for children and young people with SEND.
• Improve the quality and timeliness of support that is based around their needs.

Measuring Impact
How will we check and share information on the difference we are making?

 We will co-produce SEND Improvement Action Plan that will work towards our priorities 
so that we continue to improve our local SEND offer. This will show how we are going 
to implement the strategy and measure the progress we are making.

 We will provide regular updates on our progress against our action plan objectives to 
the SEND and Inclusion Improvement Board who will oversee the delivery of the 
priorities set out in the strategy.

 We will use the feedback from our young people and their families and our schools and 
education settings, and regularly review our performance data to check that what we 
are doing is making a difference and delivering against the action plan.

 We are accountable to children and young people with SEND, their families and the 
wider public, so we will regularly publish progress against our action plan.

What is the SEND and Inclusion Improvement Board?
The SEND Improvement Board is a group of people, including young people with SEND, 
parents, schools, the County Council, and health services. The SEND Improvement Board 
agrees the Inclusion and SEND Strategy action plans and makes sure we carry it out.

Page 210



Appendix 2
“‘All children can flourish and achieve; 

it’s our shared responsibility to unlock their potential’”
Education Inclusion Strategy for 2022-2025

Introduction
We know how important a high-quality education is for children and young people. When it 
works well it provides not just a learning environment, but supports and enhances their 
aspirations for the future, whatever they may be. It is also a stabilising factor that provides 
consistency and structure for them, which when other things in their life are changing or 
turbulent, provides a sanctuary and safe place.
The challenge we face is that it doesn’t always work well and that isn’t good enough. There are 
too many children and young people that find accessing education really challenging which 
results in non-attendance, suspension or permanent exclusion, the levels of which, remain a 
significant concern for us in Gloucestershire. We are particularly concerned about the high rates 
of permanent exclusion for children and young people with SEND and those from with a Black 
Caribbean heritage which are both above the national average. 
However, we want all children and young people to be able to benefit from the fantastic 
opportunities that education provides, so any child or young person that is missing education is 
a concern for us. 
The solutions are not straightforward; the education inclusion landscape is a complex and 
challenging one, with many stakeholders that play critical roles in supporting the education 
system.  The complexity was well articulated in The Timpson Review and certainly hasn’t been 
helped by a global pandemic that has meant children and young people have missed large parts 
of their education over the last 2 years.  
Whilst the landscape is complex and challenging, we are clear that there are common factors 
that we can address collectively.  Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACES), early childhood 
trauma, mental health issues, speech and language delay, involvement in anti-social behaviour, 
and other risk factors all contribute to concerns in relation to attendance, behaviour and 
exclusion issues that education providers experience. 

This strategy outlines the next phase of our work to address these challenges and ensure that 
the Gloucestershire education system is underpinned by an inclusive culture; a culture which 
provides the opportunity and encouragement for all children and young people to flourish and 
achieve their aspirations for the future.

The strategy builds on the work that has been delivered through the Joint Additional Needs and 
High Needs Strategies and retains a focus on:

1. Removing barriers and perverse incentives that work against inclusive practice.

2. Ensuring that there is high quality, evidence-based support available at the ‘right time’.

3. Supporting effective multi-agency working that enables system leaders to work 
collaboratively in the best interests of children and young people.

Page 211

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/807862/Timpson_review.pdf


Ensuring that we make best use of public money by maximising the value for money we achieve 
from the funding that is available.

What do we mean when we talk about the Education System and multi-agency 
working?
When talking about the education system we are referring to all schools and education providers and 
settings in the county including childcare and early years’, primary, secondary and specialist schools, 
further education (often described as post 16 education), those that offer alternative provision and the 
Local Authority who support and work with schools and academies to ensure all children and young 
people aged 0-19 (25 with SEND) are able to access high quality education that prepares them for 
adulthood.

When talking about multi-agency working we are referring to the Education System working 
collaboratively with our colleagues in the Police, Youth Justice, Housing, Health, Social Care and the 
third sector.

Our vision

We want all children and young people in Gloucestershire to be ambitious and aspirational and 
to have access to an education that inspires them to exceed their ambitions, maximising their 
opportunities for the future.  

We know that this isn’t easy to achieve. Throughout their education there will be times when 
children and young people face pressures that make accessing education more difficult. These 
pressures can come in many forms and are often unpredictable, for example familial changes, 
health issues, transition from one education setting to another, a global pandemic, exam 
pressure etc. That’s why we are going to focus on working together to build a sense of 
belonging and community in each school or setting. 

By working together and prioritising the activities outlined in this strategy, we will help all 
children to thrive in their school or setting, attending, and attaining. When that is not possible, 
we will minimise the length of time children are out of school and reduce the number of school 
moves some of our children experience, by ensuring the right interventions and support are 
available in the right place and at the right time. 

Building Strong Foundations

To deliver our vision it’s important that the foundations of the local system are strong; that they 
support inclusion and provide an environment and culture of collaboration in which key 
stakeholders can support and challenge each other to deliver the best outcomes for children 
and young people. 

Our focus on strengthening the foundations of the system has three elements:

1. Funding systems that support inclusion and early intervention: Developing our 
funding systems to ensure they are focussed on supporting whole setting inclusive 
practice and early intervention.

2. High quality services and interventions that drive sustainable change: Ensuring 
that we are investing in high quality evidence-based services and interventions that 
support children and young people, whole setting development and system change.  

Page 212



3. Collaboration and shared vision: To maximise the opportunities for children and 
young people. It’s critical that all stakeholders in the system work collaboratively to 
support all children and that we have a shared understanding of inclusion and best 
practice; all stakeholders are clear on their responsibilities and that we are able to 
support, challenge and hold each other to account. 

Features of the local system

Building strong foundations will provide us with a stable platform upon which we can continue to 
successfully develop the key features of our local system.  The features of our local system 
shape the experience that we want people to have and drive decision making and planning.  
They are:

1. Evidence of, and a commitment to strong, inclusive leadership from all organisations and 
services that support children and young people.

2. A culture that adopts a graduated approach to early identification, effective assessment, 
and early intervention; ensuring holistic child and family-centred support is available 
when it’s needed – “the right support at the right time”.

3. That all organisations, services, and leaders understand and accept the shared 
responsibility and accountability we hold to provide the best support we can for the 
children and young people of Gloucestershire.

Page 213



4. That we focus on sustainable long-term solutions that support whole school and system 
development.

5. Effective multi-agency working in which shared responsibility is a consistent theme.

6. To operate in an ACEs and Trauma-informed way, looking beyond external behaviours 
to understand the needs of children and young people and to respond to that in a 
restorative and relational way.

7. To ensure that all developments and interventions are data and research-led – we find 
out what works and apply it to our local context.

8. That there is, high-quality and effective support in place when children and young people 
transition between different settings and phases of education 

9. That we remain focussed on the impact our work has on the outcomes for children and 
young people both in terms of their academic achievements and their social, emotional, 
health and wellbeing.

10. That everything we do is done collaboratively through co-production or engagement with 
key stakeholders, but most importantly, families, children and young people. 

11. Workforce development – great people are at the heart of a great and sustainable 
education system and it’s critical that we provide support to develop their skills and 
expertise.

Underpinning Principles of inclusive education

The principles underpinning this strategy are that:

• Every child and young person, regardless of their characteristics, needs or type of 
provision they access, receives a high-quality education that supports them to engage 
and succeed.

• All children and young people feel safe, connected, and accepted and have a trusted 
adult they can turn to for support.

• Behaviour is a form of communication and needs to be understood so it is responded to 
appropriately and effectively.

• All barriers to education and learning need to be identified early in order to be 
considered and responded to effectively to offer the right support, in the right place, at 
the right time. 

• Families are at the heart of decision making. They work in partnership with schools and 
providers to develop plans that respond to their needs.

• We share a common language, understanding and approach to inclusion.

• All settings, services and provisions work together to provide an inclusive educational 
experience in the best setting for each child or young person.

Page 214



• We take a holistic approach in which inclusion is an ethos central to our vision and 
policies, curriculum, and provision; where every member of our community feels valued, 
is proactively included and diversity is celebrated.

• We have high ambitions and expectations for all children and young people and take 
collective responsibility for closing the gap in their social, emotional, health and 
educational outcomes.

Sustainability Model

In shaping our priorities, we have tried to find a 
balance between offering the best possible services 
and support that we can now, whilst ensuring that we 
consider capacity building models that support longer-
term sustainability.  In delivering our priorities, we will 
consider the following model, which recognises that 
investing support at a whole school, setting and 
system level will provide long-term sustainability for 
the system.

What do we mean when we talk about working collaboratively and a shared 
responsibility?

These terms emphasise the importance of working together to support children and young people.  
When we use them, we are referring to everyone that is involved in helping a child to flourish and 
succeed. This includes families, early years and post 16 providers, schools, partners and support 
services and the Local Authority.  Everyone has a role to play:

As education providers we will:

 Be aspirational for all children and young people.

 Understand and promote an inclusive culture. 

 Provide good or outstanding education.

 Understand and respond holistically to barriers and underlying needs in education and 
learning , including the impact of  Adverse Childhood Experiences through the use of 
Gloucestershire’s Graduated Pathway of Early Help and Support. 

 Support families to support their child, understand the challenges families may be facing and 
feel able to discuss any concerns they may have.

As parent, carers and families we will:

Page 215



 Be aspirational for our child/children. 

 Do all we can to encourage and help our  our child to attend regulary and be on time unless 
they are unwell

 Encourage our child to learn and reach their potential by taking an active role in their 
education and activities. 

 Ask for help or advice if they believe our  child is struggling.

As the local authority we will:

 Be aspirational for all children

 Enable all children to access high quality education and learning opportunites suitable for 
their needs and phase of development.

 Support and work in partnership with schools and other settings to develop a highly skilled 
workforce that keeps children and young people safe and enables them to reach their 
potential.

 Work in partnership with schools, other settings and partner agencies to identify the 
inclusion needs and priorities year on year, using hard and soft data, research and local 
intelligence.

Page 216



Our Priorities 2022-2025 

Priority 1: Development of an Inclusion Baseline

The development of an inclusion baseline is becoming increasingly important. The variation of 
practice both locally and nationally is too broad, with some great practice taking place, but also 
too much poor practice. If we are to have a consistent and effective local inclusion offer, we 
must have a shared understanding of what good practice looks like, clear expectations of what 
support should be provided and clarity about the roles and responsibilities all stakeholders have.

What will we do?

Working with stakeholders across the system, we will develop an inclusion baseline that:

 Includes a clear set of principles to which we can collectively agree to deliver against. 

 Clearly sets out what good practice looks like and the expectations children and young 
people and their families should have for the support they receive.

 Share data and best practice guidance to support improvement and hold each other to 
account 

 Promotes the use of Gloucestershire’s Graduated Pathway of Early Help and Support to 
identify and respond to holistic needs at the earliest opportunity as soon as concerns 
emerge. 

 Sets out the roles and responsibilities of everyone in ensuring that we operate an 
inclusive education system – everyone has a role and responsibility.

 Provides support and training to further develop capacity and expertise in the workforce.

 Commission appropriate support for the local system. 

 Make funding more accessible to support children and young people where their needs 
are above the baseline but don’t meet thresholds for or need statutory support.

What impact will it have?
We expect the baseline to:

 Improve the consistency and quality of assessment, provision and practice for all 
children and young people. 

 Improve access to and consistency of support for schools and other settings. 

 Provide clear expectations for children and young people and their families of the 
support they should receive. 

 Clarify the importance of the role children and young people and their families play in 
supporting inclusion.

Page 217



Priority 2: Embedding A Graduated Approach to Inclusion

Supporting children and young people across Gloucestershire to be able to access an inclusive 
Education offer relies on a broad understanding of their individual needs. 

Adopting the Assess, Plan, Do, Review approach - Gloucestershire’s Graduated 
Pathway - is a family centred, holistic and multi-agency approach to 
understanding and addressing unmet needs including barriers to education. The 
model is consistent with the statutory guidance for schools obliging them to 
provide a Graduated Approach for all pupils requiring Special Educational Needs 
(SEN) Support. 

What will we do?
All children and young people in Gloucestershire should have their needs met at the earliest 
opportunity and as soon as concerns emerge. By working across organisational boundaries in 
pursuit of the ‘whole picture’ for a family, we believe we are most likely to have a sustainable 
impact on the lives and educational outcomes of children and young people. To improve the use 
of the Graduated Pathway as a multi-agency approach in support of education inclusion and to 
work towards a culture where it is a shared priority we will:

 Ensure Inclusion priorities contribute to the robust governance arrangements for the multi-
agency oversight and development of Gloucestershire’s Graduated Pathway.

 Ensure Education Inclusion is a core principle of the shared understanding and application 
of the Graduated Pathway across GCC teams and services, schools, and our partner 
agencies. 

 Ensure that schools and other settings receive the consistent advice and support they 
require to engage meaningfully with the Graduated Pathway as a vehicle to promote 
educational outcomes for children and young people. This should include an 
understanding of the intrinsic link with Gloucestershire’s Levels of Intervention.

 Develop the Inclusion system to have a more explicit emphasis on the importance of 
assessment (understanding needs) along the Graduated Pathway continuum.

 Develop digitalised platforms in support of more effective collaboration between schools 
and across agencies that prioritise earlier intervention and inclusion.

What impact will it have?
 Provide earlier identification of unmet needs for the child/ young person and wider family 

unit that are contributing to Inclusion barriers. 

 Ensure Education needs are considered and addressed holistically alongside Care and 
Health needs that contribute to one plan.

 Support successful transitions between school/ setting phases as well as between 
different agencies who may be mobilised at various stages of a child/ young person’s life 
in response to newly identified needs.

 Promote a consistent approach to identifying and removing barriers to an inclusive 
education across the continuum of non-statutory and statutory levels of intervention. 

Page 218

https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_4
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_4
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/398815/SEND_Code_of_Practice_January_2015.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2103929/gloucestershire-revised-loi-guidance-v7-dec2021.pdf


Priority 3: Improving access to education for specific groups

Our data demonstrates disproportionately high levels of exclusions for two specific groups of 
children and young people in Gloucestershire:

 Children and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND)

 Ethnic minority students, particularly Black Caribbean, mixed ethnicity and ‘Other White’ 
students  

Rising levels of mental health issues amongst children and young people have also led to rising 
levels of reduced attendance or non-attendance in schools and other settings. 

We have therefore identified these as priority groups where immediate action needs to be taken.  

What will we do?

We will work in partnership to review and understand the issues facing these groups of children 
and young people across the county by: 

 establishing a working group focused on SEND students across all settings in order to 
take a collaborative approach to improving outcomes.

 develop a clear action plan to improving outcomes and achievement of Black Caribbean, 
mixed ethnicity and ‘other white’ students across all settings.

 mapping the mental health support services and resources available to children, young 
people and settings and identify where there are gaps and make recommendations (both 
preventative and reactive) at system, setting and child level.

 working with partners, including schools, to respond to these recommendations and put 
into place at system, setting and child level those which will have the most impact both 
medium and long term. This will be likely to include commissioning specific and/or 
specialist support and provision as part of the response.

 embedding the mental health non-attendance resources and related training developed 
by the Educational Psychology Service, Education Inclusion Service and partners.

 clearly setting out what good practice looks like for all children and young people, what 
the expectations, roles and responsibilities are, and identify / undertake any specific 
support and training required.

 identifying and action any system level changes required. 
What impact it will have?

For all these groups of children and young people, there are specific issues impacting on their 
inclusion in its broadest sense and so targeted oversight of the issues they are facing is vital. 
Through this, we aim to achieve the following:

 Raised awareness across the system and review of practice;

 Increasing evidence of good practice at system, school and child level;

Page 219



 Data and other evidence demonstrates a reduction in the number of children and young 
people disproportionality excluded from education;

 Clear processes, guidance and educational support for children and young people 
struggling to engage in, or stay in education due to mental health issues;

 Increased attendance and reduction in persistent absence and non-attendance.

Page 220



Priority 4: Working Together: Effective Multi-Agency working

Supporting inclusion is a shared responsibility. Taking responsibility as an individual is 
important, but we must work better together if we want to effect real change and have the 
greatest impact for our children and young people. 

A key part of working better together is better multi-agency working - all the key agencies and 
services, including third sector partners, working together with their relevant education settings, 
children and young people and families to:

 help all stakeholders in the education system to develop a shared understanding of the 
local inclusion issues, agree priorities and develop a shared action plan to drive 
improvements sustainably. 

 ensure that children and young people that are struggling to access education, or remain 
in education, are enabled through the mobilisation of Gloucestershire’s Graduated 
Pathway, to access the right support in the right place at the right time and that 
resources are used in an efficient and effective manner.

 ensure that schools and other settings are well-supported by the key agencies and 
services to offer an inclusive education for all children and young people.

 identify system-wide issues that we all face and can support each other to tackle e.g. 
knife or drug crime, mental health issues etc. 

What will we do?
Alongside the multi-agency collaborative working that already takes place, we have already 
started developing and operating further multi-agency models to support individual school -aged 
children and young people. These are referred to as Collaborative Education Inclusion Forums 
(CEIF) and consist of the Team Around the Locality Cluster (TALC ) and Intervention Circle (IC). 
Similar support is also provided for Early Years settings through a Tier 3 multi-agency group.

Together they provide an opportunity for agencies to work together to identify and deliver 
solutions for children at Level 3 and 4 of the Graduated Pathway, who despite current levels of 
support, still experience barriers to education because of unmet needs.  

Page 221

https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_10
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/family.page?familychannel=3_2_11


Building on the development of the Collaborative Education Inclusion Forums and in line with our 
ambition to focus on more sustainable models of support, we will also develop Strategic 
Locality Inclusion Clusters (SLInCs). SLInCs will operate on a local area model, bringing 
together key agencies, alongside schools, EY settings and families to discuss and develop a 
shared understanding of the broader issues that are affecting children and young people in their 
local area. We are also working with our partners in Health to develop a ‘single point of access’ 
to support the delivery of plans to improve the mental health of children young people and future 
generations in Gloucestershire by:

 Providing more support and training to parents and everyone working with children 
and young people  

 Enabling services to work together better across mental health, care, and education 
to ensure children and young people can quickly and easily find and get the support 
they need

 Promoting good mental health and wellbeing and enabling mental health support in 
schools and within all our diverse communities

What impact will it have?
We expect this work to:

 Reduce the number of children and young people accessing support at Level 3 and 4 of 
the Graduated Pathway. 

 Encourage and support stronger collaboration between schools and partner agencies 
across individual localities.

 Shape commissioning priorities to support whole-school and system development 
(sustainability model).

 Support a move towards a single point of access for schools to access services and 
support;

 Inform a revised training offer to further develop capacity and expertise in the school 
workforce thus increasing the development and facilitation of peer support models

Page 222



Priority 5:  Workforce Development: Adverse Childhood Experiences, Trauma 
Informed Approaches and Restorative Practice
A skilled and experienced workforce is essential to effective inclusion. Universal and specialist 
inclusion training and increasing awareness and training in ACEs, Trauma Informed 
approaches, Relational and Restorative Practice supports our vision for more inclusive and 
nurturing Schools and remains a priority. As our multi-agency working and expertise grows, we 
will identify further areas for workforce development in significant areas of need.

Why are we focussed on ACEs and Restorative Practice?
The science is clear about the impact ACEs and Trauma can have on children and young 
people, and can, without the right support, be significantly detrimental to their education, their 
mental health and wellbeing and their future life chances. The Gloucestershire ACEs strategy 
has recently been broadened to include the wider field of Trauma Informed Approaches. 

Research shows that children and young people who have positive relationships and good 
resilience skills are better able to cope with the effects of Childhood trauma. A whole school 
approach to Relational and Restorative Practice focuses on building, maintaining and repairing 
relationships. Local and national evidence shows it has a positive impact on leaders, children, 
young people, and families creating a more nurturing and inclusive school environment.
What will we do?

It is our vision and ambition that all children and young people are educated in an inclusive and 
restorative environment; an environment where there is an understanding of the impact of 
Adverse Childhood Experiences and Early Childhood Trauma. To achieve this, we will:

 Ensure that all children and young people can identify a safe and trusted adult who is 
available to support them when needed.

 Ensure all educators have access to training and professional development resources to 
enhance their skills and understanding around inclusion and the impact of ACEs and 
Trauma.

 Provide implementation support and guidance to schools wishing to implement a whole 
school approach to inclusion and Relational and Restorative Practice. 

 
 Support education providers to establish a ‘Relationship Policy’ as part of their approach 

to pastoral and behavioural support.

What impact will it have?

We expect this training and support to:

 Develop a confident and highly skilled workforce. 

 Support children and young people to develop the skills to be ready for learning.

 Increase School attendance and reduce persistent absence.

Page 223

https://www.actionaces.org/the-science/
https://www.thersa.org/blog/2021/06/lessons-from-inclusive-and-nurturing-schools#:~:text=For%20this%20project%2C%20we've,seeks%20to%20reduce%20unnecessary%20exclusions.


 Reduce suspension and permanent exclusion.

 Improve personal and educational outcomes for children and young people.

Page 224



Priority 6: Alternative Provision: Developing the local offer 

As we emerge from the global pandemic, the number of young people struggling to engage in 
mainstream learning and education is increasing and the need for high quality, short-term and 
specialist alternative provision has never been greater.

Effective Alternative Provision is an essential part of our local education system.  It provides an 
opportunity for children and young people, who are unable to attend or struggling to engage in 
mainstream learning and education, with an opportunity to access short-term specialist support.

The local alternative provision offer comprises:

 Local Authority commissioned Alternative Provision Schools (APS)*

 An Alternative Provision Free School*

 Gloucestershire Hospital Education Service (GHES)*

 Third sector Alternative Provision providers

*Other than third sector providers, referrals into Alternative Provision can only be made by the 
LA or professionals involved in a child or young person’s education or support

What will we do?

In terms of the LA commissioned APS, both schools are currently judged ‘Good’ by Ofsted, but 
we share an ambition with the headteachers to achieve Outstanding provision across the 
county.  

In the last 12 months we have agreed, in partnership with the APS head teachers and other key 
stakeholders, a vision for the development of APS.  Some progress has already been made with 
the opening of a new primary provision in Quedgeley and the development of a new service 
offer that is focussed on earlier intervention and support.

We will deliver the vision by prioritising:  

 The Improvement of the buildings and facilities. 

 The implementation of the new early intervention service offer, including outreach and 
satellite working to support those struggling to engage in education or at risk of exclusion

 Increased capacity and support for primary provision.

 Enhancement of the therapeutic services available to the APS.

 Transitions into and out of alternative provision.

In addition to the development of the LA commissioned APS, we will maximise the opportunities 
and support provided by the third sector, which can provide flexible and specialist support where 
required and reduce the pressure on LA commissioned APS and mainstream schools.

Page 225

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2114313/alternative-provision-transformation-project-v1.pdf


We will also work with the providers and school system to develop a directory of ‘what works’, 
enabling schools and commissioners to access a comprehensive, accessible and quality 
assured understanding  of the services available, the children that they support and the 
effectiveness of the support.

What impact will it have?
By continuing the development of Alternative Provision we expect to:

 Help more children and young people to re-engage with school and learning and return 
to mainstream education;

 Increase attendance and reduce persistent absence in the mainstream setting, 
particularly linked to SEMH needs;

 Move LA commissioned provision to outstanding;

 Significantly improve access and use of third sector provision;

 Provide primary and secondary schools with access to a stronger more developed 
Alternative Provision market place;

 Reduce the numbers of children and young people needing to be permanently excluded.

How will we monitor progress and measure impact?

There are strong governance arrangements in place to oversee and support the implementation 
of the Inclusion and SEND strategies. The SEND Improvement Board, a multi-agency board 
with representation from education, health and social care services and parents and carers, will 
provide expert advice, guidance and support to services leads, whilst also holding them to 
account for the delivery of the strategies.

Each strategy will have a clear action plan in place. The plan will clearly set out the key activities 
to be undertaken, the timeline for completion, key milestones and who is responsible for leading 
the activity. Progress against the action plans will be monitored by the SEND Improvement 
board and where necessary ensure remedial action is taken to maintain progress.

To measure the impact of our work we will engage an independent evaluator to develop an 
evaluation model that uses both quantitative and qualitative methodologies to gain a holistic 
view of the impact of our work.  We expect the quantitative methodology to be based on a 
‘common outcomes framework’. The framework will identify the key outcome data that will help 
measure success, for example, this might include increased attendance or reduced permanent 
exclusion of children with an EHCP. The qualitative methodologies will focus on the user 
experience and include case studies, interviews and focus groups with parents and carers and 
children and young people.

Page 226



REPORT TITLE: Youth Justice Plan 2022/23

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet’s recommendation that Council approve Gloucestershire’s 
Youth Justice Plan 2022/2023.

Recommendations
To recommend the Youth Justice Plan 2022/23, attached at Appendix 1 to 
Council for approval.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

Gloucestershire County Council is the accountable body for youth justice 
services in the county and is required to work with local partners to bring 
forward an annual youth justice plan.  The Council’s constitution requires that 
the plan be considered by Cabinet prior to approval by Council.

Resource 
Implications

There are no direct resource implications arising from this decision.

Background 
Documents

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-guidance-
for-youth-justice-services/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-
services

Statutory Authority Crime and Disorder Act 1998

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy
E-mail:  andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Telephone:  (01452) 425019
 

Timeline Following its consideration by June Cabinet, the Youth Justice Plan will be 
submitted for approval by Council and Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice 
Partnership Board, prior to submission to the National Youth Justice Board by 
30 June.

Page 227

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services/youth-justice-plans-guidance-for-youth-justice-services
mailto:andy.dempsey@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1.0 Local authorities have a statutory duty to submit an Annual Youth Justice Plan relating 
to their provision of Youth Justice Services (YJS).  Section 40 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 sets out the Youth Justice Partnership’s responsibilities in 
producing a plan.  It states that it is the duty of each relevant local authority, after 
consultation with local partner agencies, to formulate and implement an Annual Youth 
Justice Plan, setting out how youth justice services are to be provided and funded, 
how they will operate and what functions will be carried out.

2.0 Local governance for the YJS is provided by Gloucestershire Youth Justice 
Management Board (YJMB) comprising representatives from the statutory partners – 
local authority, police, NHS and probation services, alongside relevant local agencies, 
including the Judiciary. The Youth Justice Plan 2022/23 is required to be approved by 
the YJMB prior to its submission to the Youth Justice Board no later than 30th June 
2022.

3.0 At a national level, the Youth Justice Board, as the relevant oversight body, has set 
out its expectations for the format and structure of youth justice plans for 2022/23 in 
their guidance document ‘Youth Justice Plans: YJB Practice Guidance’ (March 2022). 
The YJB planning guidance for 2022/23 requires that local plans address the 
following:

 Introduction, vision and strategy
 Local context
 Application of Child First principles for youth justice
 Voice of the child
 Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements
 Resources and services
 Progress on previous plan
 Performance and priorities 
 National standards
 Challenges, risks and issues
 Evidence-based practice and innovation
 Looking forward

5.0 The performance of YJS is determined by reference to a range of national and local 
performance metrics. At a national level, there are three key determinants: - 

 The number and rate of first-time entrants (FTE) to the criminal justice system – 
those young people receiving a substantial, sanction-based outcome.

 The re offending rate of a tracked cohort – this includes the number of young 
people committing further offences and the number of offences on average each 
has committed.

 The use of custody as a rate per 10,000 young people aged 10 – 17 years old.

6.0 Gloucestershire YJS, which is delivered by the Youth Support Team (Prospects) on a 
commissioned basis, is generally performing well against these metrics when compared 

Page 228



with both national and comparator performance. There is currently a question about 
local reoffending data, which is not aligning with national data, indicating higher rates of 
recidivism than understood locally. This is subject to joint exploration with the YJB to 
ensure the confidence of local leaders in our data is justified.  

7.0 Although Gloucestershire YJS is generally performing well, there are considerable 
national and local challenges in continuing to improve outcomes for children and young 
people, encountering the youth justice system and in protecting the wider community. 
These are reflected in the priorities for 2022/23 as set out in the plan:

 Disproportionality – there is considerable evidence of an over representation of 
young people in the criminal justice system based on ethnicity and gender.

 Serious youth violence.
 Mobilising health, education and other services.
 Promoting the voice of young people.

8.0 At the end of May, the Ministry of Justice (MoJ) announced an upshift in the core grant 
for youth justice, alongside an expansion of the performance framework to encompass 
an additional 9 key performance indicators (KPIs).  At the time of writing, local funding 
allocations had yet to be announced however the new KPIs will cover suitable 
accommodation, education, mental health, out of court disposals, children open to 
social care, remand, serious youth violence and partner engagement in the YJMB.  
Interim reporting on the new KPIs will be required from October 2022 and therefore 
work to address these issues will form part of the 2022/23 plan.

Options

9.0 There is a statutory requirement for Gloucestershire County Council, working with local 
partner agencies, to publish an annual Youth Justice Plan.  The local Youth Justice 
Plan is also required to be submitted to the Youth Justice Board for their approval as a 
condition of their grant funding.

Risks 

10.0 There are a number of risks identified:

1. Risk: The Youth Justice Plan is not effective in tackling key issues including new 
entrants to the justice system and re-offending. Mitigation: The Youth Offending 
Service is currently performing well against key performance metrics and the current 
plan sets out further measures to improve effectiveness

2. Risk:  There is a risk that the outcomes and experience of some children are 
disproportionate and unfair, based on their ethnicity or gender. Mitigation: A 
programme of training on disproportionality and work with partners around their core 
processes are key elements within the Youth Justice Plan.

3. Risk: Partners are insufficiently engaged in the administration and effectiveness of 
Youth Justice in Gloucestershire. Mitigation: The Youth Justice Management Board 
provides oversight of partner agency support for the YJS and delivery of the annual 
Youth Justice Plan.

Page 229



Financial implications

11.0 Gloucestershire’s YJS is funded by a combination of direct grant funding from the Youth 
Justice Board and contributions, both financial and material, from the statutory partner 
agencies identified within the Crime and Disorder Act. The precise funding 
arrangements for the current year are yet to finalised as the details of the funding 
upshift and changes to the performance framework, announced at the end of May, are 
awaited. When finalised these will be set out in the Youth Justice Plan 2022/23, 
attached at Appendix 1. There are no direct financial implications arising from this 
decision and funding for the current year considered to be sufficient to meet service 
needs.

Climate change implications

12.0 There are no direct climate change implications arising from the completion of the 
Youth Justice Plan.

Equality implications

13.0 A key aspect of the Youth Justice Plan and work of Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice 
Service is to ensure that the administration of Youth Justice is fair and non-
discriminatory. Current data evidence that children and young people from mixed and 
BAME ethnic groups and females are overrepresented within Gloucestershire’s YOS 
population.  The Youth Justice Plan sets out a range of actions to address this, with 
performance reported on a regular basis to the Youth Justice Management Board.

14.0 A further focus within the Youth Justice Plan 2022/23 will be the extent to which other 
vulnerable groups, such as looked after children and children with behavioural, 
emotional or mental health needs become involved in the Youth Justice System.  The 
Children First programme which takes a restorative, trauma informed approach is key 
to ensuring that young people, who are vulnerable, and/or disadvantaged, do not 
become labelled by the system with all that implies for their longer-term prospects.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

15.0   There are no direct Data Protection Impact Assessment implications arising from the 
completion of the Youth Justice Plan 2022/23.

Social value implications

16.0 There is a considerable body of research evidence that the early involvement of young 
people in the criminal justice system has a significant and adverse impact on their 
subsequent outcomes. An effective YJS and local youth justice plan are key to diverting 
young people in the first instance and preventing the escalation of those young people 
already in contact with youth justice services, which together deliver significant social 
value for the wider community of Gloucestershire.

Page 230



Consultation feedback

17.0 In developing the Youth Justice Plan, GCC has undertaken extensive consultation with 
local partners and stakeholders working through Gloucestershire’s Youth Justice 
Management Board. Feedback has been positive, and the plan will be subject to 
approval by the Youth Justice Management Board, prior to submission to the Youth 
Justice Board by 30 June.

Officer recommendations

18.0 Gloucestershire County Council, working with local partner agencies, has taken the 
lead in developing the local Youth Justice Plan.  The plan proposes an early 
intervention approach and the progressive replacement of criminalising sanctions with 
restorative approaches and direct work that address offending behaviour and meet the 
needs of victims.

19.0 It is considered that the Youth Justice Plan 2022/23, when finalised, will provide an 
effective mechanism through which GCC, and its partners can meet their statutory 
obligations under the Crime and Disorder Act (1998).

Performance management/follow-up 

20.0 There is a comprehensive range of performance indicators in place to evidence the 
impact, or otherwise, of the YJS and Youth Justice Plan. These include the rate of first-
time entrants, re-offending, the use of custody alongside a range of local measures.  
The performance framework will be further enhanced by the wider range of KPIs 
announced by the MoJ at the end of May.

21.0 At a local level, performance is scrutinised by the Youth Justice Management Board 
and, at a national level, by the Youth Justice Board. Gloucestershire YJS is generally 
performing well against key performance metrics when compared to regional, statistical  
national comparators.

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Youth justice plan template

Service Gloucestershire

Service Manager/ Lead Hannah Clune & Sarah Penny

Chair of YJP Board 1

Contents 
1. Introduction, vision and strategy

2. Local context

3. Child First

4. Voice of the child

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements

6. Resources and services

7. Progress on previous plan

8. Performance and priorities

9. National standards

10. Challenges, risks and issues

11. Service improvement plan

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation

13. Looking forward 

14. Sign off, submission and approval

15.Appendix 1 - Full board membership; linked to Governance, leadership and 
partnership arrangements

Page 233



2

1. Introduction, vision and strategy 

Foreword 

I will draft a foreword as Chair of YJMB>

Executive summary

This Youth Justice plan outlines the vision in Gloucestershire to operationalise the Child 
First evidence base which puts the child first principles into practical effect to support 
children in the justice system, promote long-term desistence and create fewer victims –
It details the Youth Justice Services (YJS) commitment and approach to understanding 
and addressing the underlying needs of children in the justice system.

The report details our further commitment to coproduction with children and families and 
embedding this into systems and processes. The governance and leadership of the 
service including funding is provided along with the details of the service priorities for the 
coming year. These include recognising that there are a small but highly complex cohort 
of children who commit multiple offences and the recognition that there needs to be a 
focus on understanding and supporting these children on their desistence journey. The 
YJS is also aware of the racial and gender-based disproportionality, in addition to an 
over-representation of children open to social care in the cohort, both out of court and 
statutory cohorts. There is a commitment to address this while recognising that this will 
be complex and difficult due to the range of factors that contribute to these issues. The 
Youth Justice Management Board (YJMB) also continues to maintain a focus on 
education for children in the justice system and aims to ensure that all children in contact 
with the YJS have a suitable education placement. 

Working in partnership is fundamental for the effective delivery of services for children in 
the justice system. This means statutory organisations and in particular those 
represented on the YJMB and more community-based provision. This report highlights 
several examples of how community-based resources such as the Music Works are used 
to support positive change for these children. This is also anticipated to be a challenging 
year for the YJS with emerging issues such as, an increase in serious violence committed 
by children, addressing exploitation, the legacy of national lockdowns on children and 
ensuring access to suitable education in a partially academized system. However, the 
recently announced national commitment to fund targeted preventative activity offers 
hope for the future. The YJS will be steadfast in its commitment to understanding and 
supporting some of the most vulnerable children in society using evidence and 
researched based practice. 

Page 234



3

Vision and strategy

The vision for the Gloucestershire Youth Justice Service (YJS) is for child first principles 
to underpin wider aspects of practice. Additionally, we aim to build on the statutory and 
wider partnerships, across the county, to understand and address the needs of children 
in the justice system. The service endeavours to deliver high quality support to children 
in the justice system through the operationalisation of the Child First evidence base 
(Case & Browning, 2021). The provision of high quality support to children in the justice 
system will include a strategic pivot towards a less offence focused service, towards one 
that recognises the stories, needs and unique strengths of the children we work with. 
Discussions with partners to support this are ongoing  and the change in focus will ensure 
that children have holistic interventions that are strength based, future focused and which 
support long term desistence and positive change. The vision is to avoid excessive 
responsibilisation (viewing children as primarily responsible for change. Case and 
Browning, 2021)) though increased work with families and making clear the distinction 
between individual and structural support for children.

Vision for Child First in Practice

Page 235



4

The strategy to achieve this is based around training and developing our own staff to 
have a greater understanding of how to apply Child First in practice. However, this needs 
to extend beyond our own service, and we need to share and disseminate evidence, 
training, and research to support the best interests of children with other partners, board 
members and the community, bringing them with us, in creating opportunities for change 
for some of the most disadvantaged children in our society. We will build on the support 
and training that is already delivered and well received by our partners.  

2. Local context 

Gloucestershire is a semi-rural county in Southwest England covering an area 
approximately 1,649 square miles. The county has two major population centres in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham and 4 other districts, Stroud, Tewkesbury, Cotswolds, and 
the Forest of Dean. Gloucester and Cheltenham are the most ethnically diverse areas of 
the county. The overall population is 633,558 with a 0 -19 population of 142,244. The 10-
17 population of Gloucestershire is 56,312 of which around 7% are children from black 
and minority ethnic backgrounds (ONS, 2019 UK Population estimates, mid-2018).

Gloucestershire is a diverse county, contrasting areas of affluence and deprivation. 
Areas of Gloucester, Cheltenham and the Forest of Dean which are amongst the 10% 
most deprived areas in the country. Yet there are also areas of the county that are in the 
10% least deprived (ONS, 2019 English indices of deprivation). 

Gloucester has the highest crime rate per 1,000 at 92.6 with Cheltenham second at 72.1. 
The remaining 4 districts have similar rates around 43. Overall reported crime, the crime 
rate in Gloucestershire has increased since December 2019 to December 2021. 
However, the rate per 1,000 for possession of weapons offences has had a marginal 
increase over the past 2 years from 0.1 to 0.12 (Police.uk, 2021). This difference in crime 
rate is also reflected in hospital admission data for violent crime which has Gloucester 
followed by Cheltenham having significantly higher rates than other areas of the county 
(Gloucestershire ICS Population Profile, 2019). The same data set also notes that with 
regard to school readiness, Gloucester has a lower rate than other areas of the county 
but that this gap widens further when considering children who access free school meals.

In Gloucestershire, the YJS is incorporated within targeted youth support through the 
County’s Youth Support Team (YST), a multi-agency, multi-disciplinary service, 
commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council and delivered by Prospects, part of 
the Shaw Trust Charity. This integrated model enables support to be delivered at a 
preventive stage or equally sustained beyond the young person’s Court Order. This is 
defined as targeted prevention activity by the Youth Justice Board (2021), working with 
children who have experienced some contact with the justice system but are not 
otherwise being supported by YJS intervention.

Page 236



5

The Gloucestershire YJS is unique in its position as an outsourced provision. Integration 
is a key element to the youth justice model across the country with statutory partners 
being situated together. In addition, the integration with Childrens Services is important 
to provide support to those children within the system. All of this is in place and robust 
integration exists both at an operational and strategic level. However, the 
Gloucestershire model brings an additional level of integration which is unique and 
impactful for children. The Youth Support Team includes a variety of specialist services 
which can be accessed without delay for the children entering the criminal justice system 
and can therefore have a positive impact on the success of the youth justice intervention. 
In addition, the journey for the child is consistent and timely with an overarching aim to 
support children to achieve their potential and prepare them to make a successful 
transition to adulthood. 

3. Child First 

Child First in Practice

The Child First evidence base is fundamental to the work delivered with children in the 
justice system in Gloucestershire. The above diagram illustrates how the various 
approaches utilised by the YJS with children and families in Gloucestershire are linked 
to, and support the Child First Tenets in practice. 

We recognise that Children who offend are often themselves vulnerable and that 
traditional criminalising sanctions can be ineffective, inappropriate, and disproportionate. 
Gloucestershire Children First diversion scheme continues to divert children away from 
the Criminal Justice System and we continue to push boundaries and challenge 
traditional cultural and systemic responses to youth offending in the interests of children, 

Seeing children as 
children 

Awareness of adultifaction

Exploitation and NRMs

Education

Family work / structural support

Health needs

Develop prosocial 
identifies for positive 

change 
Identity shift / future focus (PCP)

Education / NEET work

Trauma informed approach

Constructive resettlement

Relational approach

Restorative approach 

Collaboration with 
children

Engagement skills

Motivational interviewing 

Community engagement e.g. music 
works, reparation

Systems approaches  

Service user panel

Promote diversion

Children First diversion

Minimise criminogenic stigma (contact)

Integrated service allows for exit 
planning

Preventative work in schools

Early revocation

L&D - Triage

Child First

Restorative Justice Victim engagement

Page 237



6

young people, and the wider community. We monitor the effectiveness of Children First 
using local data to analyse reoffending rates. These have consistently been lower than 
the national data for Youth Cautions and all other formal sanctions (see Children First 
reoffending tracker in section 8).

The Children First diversion system has also developed a return from court process for 
children who may have provided a no comment interview to the police and been charged 
to court. This option allows the YJS duty officer, CPS and defence to collaborate in the 
best interests of the child. The YJS recognises the developmental stage of a child and 
how this impacts the decisions that they make. This is considered by giving children more 
than one opportunity to be diverted, recognising progress that has been made and 
diverting offences after a period of desistence or returning from court if the child has 
changed their mind about admitting responsibility. 

Child First is not limited to diversion and is evident across Youth Justice practice in 
Gloucestershire. A recent area of development is how the service uses the term Child in 
discussions with partner organisations to continually remind them of the responsibilities 
they have to this cohort of children which can be forgotten through the adultification in 
terms such as adolescent or young person. The YJS also recognises  the concerns 
around responsibilisation of the child and aims to practice in a systemic way, 
incorporating families and communities into the support for children. This includes 
working with education settings and advocating for the rights and needs of children in the 
justice system. 

The YJS have developed and are in the process of rolling out training for the service 
around identity shift. This draws on the identity shift research from Beyond Youth Custody 
and combines this with the evidence base of Personal Construct Psychology (PCP) and 
Motivational Interviewing (MI) to give practitioners skills they can use with children. While 
work is still in the early stages, the initial feedback from practitioners has been positive. 
There is a strong belief within Gloucestershire YJS of the benefits of supporting children 
to develop pro-social identities. This has been included in the training for the new panel 
volunteers but is also considered in other areas of work such as reparative activities. 
While reparation continues to have benefit to the community, the YJS is exploring with 
community partners how this work can be used to support positive pro-social identities 
through the tasks completed. Examples include using a workshop to support children 
interested in construction skills or cooking activities which can support the development 
of an identity related to those skills/competencies. These options are available to the 
children in the service but the decisions about what takes place, or the development of 
the identities is co-constructed with the child based on their interests or what they would 
like to try or explore, and where appropriate victims’ views. 

Gloucestershire has established a process for identifying concerns around exploitation 
and National Referral Mechanism (NRM) submissions. The strong working relationship 
the service has with the courts in the area ensures that children who have been exploited 
are given the support they need with minimal criminogenic stigma.

Page 238



7

Gloucestershire have recently received funding and have become part of a wider 
southwest project developing the trauma-informed approach and enhanced casework 
model. This is an exciting area being developed in conjunction with other YJS’s across 
the southwest including the implementation of the Trauma Recovery Model. The team 
have received YJB trauma-informed training and through funding via Shaw Trust, are in 
the process of receiving enhanced trauma training from Dr Anna Draper.

4. Voice of the child 

The voice of the child is integral to the service offered in Gloucestershire; however, we 
acknowledge this as an area for continual development. There is a regular, quarterly 
Feedback Fortnite where additional focus is provided to encourage children to provide 
anonymous feedback for their experience of the service. This feedback is collected and 
used to guide service development. The feedback from children consistently 
demonstrates that the workers in the YJS are strong at using relational based practice 
and the benefits that children derive from the relationships that are developed. There is 
also a strong recognition that the support they receive creates positive change in their 
lives. However, there are more mixed responses around their own understanding / 
articulation of what needs to happen next in their lives and the pace that this should 
happen. This is feeding into conversations within the service around the shift to a Child 
First approach to contact, replacing the scaled approach levels of intervention.  

The YJS have a strong audit process in place, this includes a minimum of two youth 
justice cases being audited each month. The independent manager will contact the child 
and parent/carer to give them an opportunity to provide feedback / their views. This 
information has been aggregated and shows that children found the relationships with 
the work was positive, they felt better about themselves, some reported feeling safer and 
comments were about enjoying the content of sessions. Other children reported that they 
valued the links into community-based provision such as Music Works. 

Children supported by the service are reporting that there are range of issues within their 
communities such as exposure to criminal behaviour, the disruption of illegal drugs and 
poverty in some cases. This has been valuable to the development of the service and is 
an area of work that needs to develop further to understand their diverse needs and lived 
experiences. 

The service recognises that the past two years have been particularly challenging and 
would like to expand the contribution of children in the design and development of the 
Youth Justice Service and the wider Youth Support Team. The ambition over the next 
year is to establish a Youth Board for the whole of the Youth Support Team comprising 
children who have experienced the service. This group will also have the opportunity to 
feed into the Youth Justice Management Board to assist with strategic decision making. 

Page 239



8

5. Governance, leadership and partnership arrangements 

The Youth Justice Management Board (YJMB) have oversight of the effectiveness of 
Gloucestershire YJS and provides strategic direction. It is chaired by the local authority’s 
Director of Partnerships and comprises of senior representatives from the National 
Probation Service, the OPCC, District Councils, Police, Health, Children’s Social Care, 
Restorative Gloucestershire, Education, Courts, Prospects (commissioned as the YST 
which incorporates the YJS), Commissioning, Early Help and the YJB. The Board meets 
quarterly and oversees the quality of delivery and its success in terms of delivery of key 
aims and objectives.

The YJS Head of Service reports into the operations Director of the Youth Support Team 
who is, in turn, accountable to the Assistant Director Commissioning and GCC’s Director 
of Children’s Services. The CEO of GCC is reported to via the Director of Childrens 
Services and the Director of Partnerships who chairs the YJMB. 

The YJS is part of an integrated service, and the Head of Service has responsibility for a 
portfolio of services including all Youth Justice related activity including Children First, 
targeted and open access youth work and activities, and the Liaison and Diversion 
service. Delivery is via a structure comprising small multi-disciplinary teams to ensure 
that a child’s journey is seamless (See Appendix A structure chart).

This work also sits within the wider YST portfolio, which delivers a variety of services to 
vulnerable young people. The inclusion of the YJS staff in this integrated model enables 
the sharing of expertise and transferable skills that allows for a more co-ordinated and 
timely response to individual young people who often have multiple and complex needs.

In addition to the Youth Justice Management Board, the YJS Head of Service or 
Operational Director also sit on the following Boards - Gloucestershire Criminal Justice, 
Gloucestershire Prevent, Channel Panel, MAPPA, Safer Gloucestershire, Serious 
Organised Crime Prevention Strategic, and Restorative Gloucestershire. Safer 
Gloucestershire provides the strategic framework for county-wide community safety 
activity including Youth Justice and provides a forum for the discussing issues that cannot 
be resolved within the YJMB.

The Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Partnership (GSCP) receives performance 
information on youth justice.

6. Resources and services 

In Gloucestershire, the YJS is part of the multi-disciplinary Youth Support Team and has 
access to the following specialists:

Page 240



9

 Substance Misuse Workers
 Teenage pregnancy specialists
 Speech and Language specialists
 Exploitation and Missing support
 Housing Advisors
 Social Workers 
 NEET Workers
 Youth Workers
 Activity Workers

Please note:  We are awaiting confirmation of final partner and grant contributions.

Gloucestershire YJS Return 2021-22

Income YJB Grant GCC Police Probation Health PCC Total

Cash

In Kind

Total Income

        
Expenditure 
Details        

Salaries

Activity Costs

Accommodation

Overheads

Equipment

Total Expenditure

Gloucestershire YJS uses the Youth Justice grant, partner contributions and available 
resources to deliver the Youth Justice Service. 

7. Progress on previous plan 

Reduce disproportionality and ensure that outcomes and the experience of ethnic 
minority children and females who come into contact with the youth justice system in 
Gloucestershire are proportionate and fair. 

We will work with Education colleagues to ensure that all children open to the service 
receive an appropriate education offer and continue to challenge and pursue a reduction 
in exclusions. 

Contribute to the prevention and safeguarding of children at risk of criminal exploitation 
in Gloucestershire. 

Page 241



10

We will continue to work with Commissioning and Children’s Social Care to ensure 
practice synergises with the work of the YOS in order to avoid the criminalisation of 
children and young people and reduce offending. 

Develop greater insight into violent offending by children and young people and 
the underlying causes in order to inform prevention activity. 

To continue to develop our trauma informed approach towards our practice to 
support the complex cohort of young people who are responsible for high 
numbers of reoffences and who have experienced trauma and Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs). 

Develop and implement a countywide strategy to Harmful Sexual Behaviour 
displayed by children and young people in Gloucestershire. 

Ensure that learning from the Why Me? Project exploring our restorative justice 
practice is incorporated within our intentions to further expand the utilisation of 
restorative interventions. 

Gather feedback from children and young people, parents/carers, victims, and 
partners on a systematic basis and use it to further develop services and improve 
outcomes for these groups. 

Ensure that the YOS continues to operate in an agile and flexible way which allows 
for uninterrupted delivery, should further restrictions be necessary due to COVID-
19.

The previous plan aimed to continue to reduce the custody numbers, while the custody 
rate remains low, there are currently several children remanded to custody for serious 
offences. They are likely to be sentenced in the coming year and this will impact the 
custody numbers. This is indicative of a need and plans for the service to work more 
closely with partners to both prevent serious offences and to offer robust alternatives to 
custody.

The previous plan aimed to maintain low FTE rates. Gloucestershire continues to do 
this in comparison to national figures. However, this has increased in the past year and 
has been driven by an increase in the use of Youth Conditional Cautions, weapons 
related offences and traffic offences. The YJS is working with partners to address this 
emerging issue, as it is clear from the re-offending data that a Children First intervention 
is more effective in reducing the risk of further offending behaviour than Youth 
Conditional Cautions.

The previous plan aimed to develop the offer for victims and restorative work through 
collaboration with Why Me. Since this work, the service has developed the co-ordination 
and co-allocation of restorative justice work between the YJS victim worker and 

Page 242



11

Restorative Gloucestershire, a local restorative organisation. They have provided 
restorative justice training to the YJS victim worker, skills sharing, group supervision and 
co-working of cases. The service now aims to contact all victims prior to the initial 
diversion panel so that victims’ voices are evident in decisions and decision making. The 
regularity and feedback to victims has been greatly improved over the past year and this 
is ensuring more expedient resolution of diversion interventions with police colleagues. 

8. Performance and priorities 

Performance

Scene setting overview paragraph – how are performing ? 

First Time Entrants 
A first-time entrant (FTE) to the criminal justice system is a child aged 10 to 17 who has 
been recorded in the Police National Computer (PNC) as having received their first 
conviction, youth caution or youth conditional caution. The table below summarise FTE 
performance in Gloucestershire from published data. It should be noted that annual data 
measurements would usually be taken from April to March, however, for FTEs we are 
using a January to December timeframe. This is because Children First was implemented 
in January 2018 and by using this timeframe we can directly relate nationally published 
data that aligns with the commencement of the Children First diversion system.

Previous plan had FTE numbers as well as rate per 100K – helps reader get a sense of 
scale. Please can we add or explain why different?

First Time Entrants PNC Rate - Per 100,000 of the 10-17 Population

Jan – 
Dec 
2015

Jan – 
Dec 
2016

Jan – 
Dec 
2017

Jan – 
Dec 
2018

Jan – 
Dec 
2019

Jan – 
Dec 
2020

Gloucestershire 294 295 263 72 67 66
South-West 376 337 299 242 195 126
Nationally 371 328 294 236 207 154

As evidence in the above table, the number of children entering the justice system has 
deceased significantly because of the implementation of Children First in January 2018 
and that these reductions have continued. It is worth noting however that 2020 included 
a significant period of national lockdown which is likely to influence these numbers. 

Page 243



12

Reoffending

Apr 18 – Mar 19 Apr 19 – Mar 20

Reoffences 
per 
Reoffender

Binary 
Reoffending 
%

Reoffences 
per 
Reoffender

Binary 
Reoffending 
%

Gloucestershire 3.13 40% 10.35 40.8%
South-West 3.89 38.2% 3.9 33.8%
National 3.91 37.8% 3.64 34.2%

The reoffending picture in Gloucestershire is complex due to the number of children who 
are diverted through Children First. This results in small numbers of children receiving 
criminalising outcomes which is positive for these children – the numbers in the cohort 
would help to support this assertion so need to be included. However, it also results in 
those children with the most complex needs entering the statutory cohort. When 
examining the data pre-dating the implementation of Children First, there were around 
300 children a year in this cohort. Children First has prevented circa 200 a year receiving 
a criminalising sanction, however the reduction in the number of children who reoffend 
from this group has not decreased at the same rate. This has resulted in a binary 
reoffending rate which is higher than the YJS family average but a notably lower FTE 
rate than the family average. Understanding and addressing the needs of the children 
with the most complex needs will be one of the priorities for the coming year.

The published data for reoffences per reoffender is currently being queried with YJB, as 
it has jumped significantly for the past few quarters and does not correlate with the locally 
produced data. However, it still supports a picture that there are a small number of 
children supported by the YJS who have multiple and highly complex needs, requiring  
additional support  to help them live positive and pro-social lives. 

Page 244



13

 

19%
15%

18% [VALUE]
16%

22%24% 24%
21%

24% 25%

36% 36%
33%

34% 34%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Q4 2018/19 Q1 2019/20 Q2 2019/20 Q3 2019/20 Q4 2019/20 Q1 2020/21
Glos Children First 19% 15% 18% 19% 16% 22%
ONS Youth Caution 24% 24% 21% 24% 25%
ONS Overall reoffending rate 36% 36% 33% 34% 34%

Glos Children First ONS Youth Caution ONS Overall reoffending rate

Ongoing Children First reoffending rate tracker

Children First Reoffending Tracker

This chart shows the reoffending by quarter for Children First (including second or 
subsequent CFP) in blue compared with national reoffending data for Youth Cautions 
(orange) and the overall national reoffending rate (grey). The inclusion of second or 
subsequent diversionary interventions in this to mitigate the concerns of repeated use of 
diversion to artificially reduce FTE rates – wording ?. needs to be clearer. i.e. aware of 
the risk of allowing subsequently diversion 

In the year April’19 – March’20 a total of 210 CFP’s were issued with a reoffending rate 
of 17%. The reoffending rate has consistently been below the National Youth Caution 
reoffending rate. The increase in Q1 2020/21 is likely to be related to the Covid-19 
pandemic – while the same number of children reoffended as the previous quarter the 
cohort was smaller. Multiple factors are likely to have impacted this such as the Joint 
Decision-Making Panel (JDP) focusing resources on children with the greatest need and 
children for minor offences.

Page 245



14

10%

14%

14%

6%26%

14%

14%
2%

School

College

Work

Unemployed

NEET

PRU

Training provider

Home Ed

Education, Training and Empployment Jan-Dec '21

Custody

Custody rate 
per 1,000 of 10 
– 17-year-old 
population

Gloucestershire South-West YOT family National

Jan 21 – Dec 
21 0.03 0.05 0.05 0.11

Jul 20 – Jun 21 0.03 0.06 0.05 0.14

Apr 20 – Mar 
21 0.09 0.06 0.06 0.13

Jan 20 – Dec 
20 0.12 0.07 0.07 0.15

Between January 2021 – December 2021, 0.03 per 1,000 10 – 17-year-olds in 
Gloucestershire were sentenced to custody. This equates to two young people in total.

One was a 2 years and 4month sentence for wounding with intent and possession of an 
offensive weapon. The other was a 4month DTO for 3 offences of Common Assault, 
Criminal Damage and Threats to Kill, there had been extensive prior support for this child 
on community orders.

One was female and of dual heritage and one was male and of dual heritage.

Education, Training and Employment 

For the year Jan-Dec 2021, 30% of the children who completed a statutory intervention 
with the YJS in Gloucestershire had an EHCP and 54% were in suitable education. 
However, 60% of children with an EHCP were not in suitable education at the conclusion 
of the support offered by the YJS.  

Page 246



15

The chart above shows the education, training or employment status of the children 
who’s orders with the YJS came to end during Jan-Dec ’21. As can be seen, nearly a 
third of children were classed as NEET or unemployed and this is an area that the service 
aims to improve in the forth coming year and work is underway with education providers 
and partners.

Priorities for the coming year

In deciding upon priorities for the coming year, the YJMB members have been 
consulted and their views incorporated in the plan. 

During the coming year, 2022/23  priorities for the service are, to provide a high-quality 
service to the children, families, victims, and communities in Gloucestershire this will be 
achieved by:

 Working with partners and in particular the Police and CPS to expand the range 
of offences that can be diverted. For Example nationally there has been some 
examples of incorporating traffic offences in diversionary programmes, we will 
explore this option in Gloucestershire. This will reduce the FTE and result in the 
criminalisation of fewer children. This will be achieved through a reduction in the 
use of YCC’s through the development of a shared understanding of the robust 
and effective diversion offer made to children through the Children First system. 

 Addressing the multiple and complex needs of the children that continue to 
reoffend. This has been an emerging issue for the service since the diversion 
system resulted in a higher concentration of children with complex needs in the 
statutory cohort. However, while these children do have complex needs, they will 
also have multiple strengths. The development of strong strengths-based 
assessment and planning skills that draw from the Child First evidence base and 
trauma informed practice, combined with strong partnership working will aim to 
reduce this number in the live data and in official data in the coming years .

 While the service is aware that custody numbers are likely to increase in the 
coming year due to the number of children currently remanded for serious 
offences, it is hoped that these are isolated incidents and work is underway with 
our partners including education to provide preventative work when worrying 
behaviour is identified. The wider work for the Youth Justice Management board 
and other local priorities such as the County Exploitation Strategy will  reduce and 
prevent further serious offences that result in custodial sentences 

 An area of emerging need for the county is around serious violence committed by 
children. In the past year there have been two very serious offences where 
children have been involved. The YJS recognises that there is a need to work 

Page 247



16

effectively with these children while also having a strategic vision to prevent 
children becoming involved in these types of offences. To address this need there 
is the development of a countywide exploitation strategy which will bring together 
local partners to both safeguard children while disrupting and pursuing the 
exploiters. In addition, the YJS and wider YST are working with local voluntary 
organisations to develop prevention and education work, including group work in 
community and educational settings, however resourcing for expanding this is 
currently challenging.

 Education is a universal right for children. However, for many children involved 
with the YJS they do not have or are not attending a suitable education placement. 
There are concerns about the number of children with EHCPs who do not have 
an education placement. This will be addressed through the reestablishment of 
the education subgroup. The Director of Education for the LA and YJMB member 
is fully engaged with the YJS to address emerging issues. Liaison with both 
strategic educational partners and individual educational establishments is on 
going and in the coming year our plan is to engage through the group but also on 
a district level – 

 The YJS have an early help offer which provides some provision for Targeted 
Prevention which the service aim to expand over the coming year. However, there 
remains a need for an early prevention offer that avoids the unnecessary 
criminogenic stigma associated with the YJS. The YJS, while being well skilled to 
work with children with complex needs are not currently resourced to deliver a 
comprehensive early prevention offer. The aim for the coming year is to develop 
a strong partnership with Families First (Gloucestershire’s Supporting Families 
Team). The vision is to embed senior leaders from the Families First team into the 
wider Children’s First diversion team. This will enable support for children and their 
families who have a No further action (NFA) outcome. This is being worked on 
and without the conflict of needing a justice disposal to obtain this support. 
However, the YJS will need to offer strategic support and training to Families First 
to support this offer.  

 The YJS aim to continue to develop the excellent work of the children’s pathway 
for Liaison and Diversion. There is now a dedicated manager with oversight of 
both the custody and community offer. The aim is to further these links with the 
Children’s First diversion system so that children who have been triaged and who 
are having their needs met can have minimal contact from the YJS. There is a link 
with targeted prevention, identifying and screening those children who have 
received multiple NFA’s but no substantive outcomes. While this has been tried 
previously, the pandemic prevented further development and this an area that 
could be innovative in the preventative sphere. The coming year will focus on 
reviewing the Joint Decision-Making Panel (JDP) guidance and terms of reference 
to ensure that the good practice is recorded, and that the system is not reliant on 
individuals from any partner.

Page 248



17

 There are a growing number of children within the YJS who present with multiple 
and complex needs. These children are often those who are more likely to 
reoffend. It is notable that children with multiple and complex needs are evident in 
both statutory and diversionary caseloads. To develop the work around this group 
of children and the challenges that they experience in their lives, the service plans 
to introduce a complex needs subgroup to have strategic oversight –This will aim 
to reduce the risk of reoffending by this cohort of children through strategic 
direction and links with the complex needs oversight processes in the YJS and 
children’s social care.

 The YJS and Management Board in Gloucestershire have recognised that there 
is overrepresentation of black and minority ethnic children, girls and care 
experienced children within the YJS cohort. The YJMB are committed to 
addressing this and are supporting the YJS in conversations with partners around 
the county about this issue. Work is starting to address this disproportionality at 
an early stage. This includes additional efforts to engage sectors of the 
community, utilising the wider contacts of the YST to build trust within communities 
of services. We will also explore the option of developing some research looking 
at the outcomes for children from black and minority groups at first contact. It 
would also be helpful to look at school exclusion information to explore if 
disproportionality is evident. Addressing this issue requires an open and strategic 
response involving a range of partners. This will be a valuable but complex area 
of work to undertake so will be a theme that will be revisited in subsequent plans. 

 Transitions into adult services remain a priority for the coming year, the service 
will explore how to build on the transition work undertaken by the seconded 
probation officer. There are opportunities to share learning and practice with 
Probations new 18-25’s POD being formed. There is currently a transition process 
map and in the coming year the service aims to cement the crossover from Youth 
Justice to Adult Services and continuity of oversight. Next Steps: Supporting the 
transition from youth offending services to probation (Jan 2022) is relevant here.

 The YJS are aware that there is a need to develop constructive resettlement 
practice – how effective is our resettlement practice at present  - what are we fixing 
?. The YJS have recently had very few children released from custody under YJS 
supervision due to working hard to provide robust community options, reducing 
the numbers of children who receive short custodial sentences. However, with 
several children currently remanded the children receiving longer extended 
sentences and being released once they transition to adult services, there is a 
need to explore constructive resettlement practice with the local probation 18-25 
POD as this is developed. 

 The Youth Support Team (YST) have a comprehensive health offer for children 
who have contact with the Justice System. This includes mental health 

Page 249



18

practitioners, speech and language therapists (SALT), physical health nurse and 
substance misuse workers. The impact of this early support is that issues can be 
assessed and addressed at the outset of the justice intervention. An example 
includes the provision of  SALT assessments which ensure that all communication 
needs are met and therefore barriers to understanding overcome. Additionally, if 
substance misuse is a factor in the offending behaviour, specialist intervention can 
be offered to address this at the outset thereby making all work more impactful.– 
This offer is accessible to children from the first contact with the justice system 
through the Liaison and Diversion offer. There are opportunities in the coming year 
to further develop and refine this support for children and their families including 
through the complex needs subgroup.

 The YJS has refined the PACE protocol  and will be monitoring the application of 
this over the coming year through the children in custody subgroup of YJMB or 
LCJB ?, aiming to minimise the number of children held overnight in police 
custody. There will also be work undertaken around the use of appropriate adults 
in custody to try to reduce the use of commissioned provision and support and 
encourage parents / carers/social workers, who have relationships and 
responsibilities to the children to attend interviews. This is to avoid responsiblising 
the child and ensuring they have appropriate support.

 In the forthcoming year the service will have an additional two practitioners who 
will have completed the AIM3 training, They will be able to support children who 
have engaged in sexually harmful behaviour, alongside colleagues from the 
CAMHS sexually harmful behaviour team and the wider YST who have completed 
the AIM3 training. 

 In recent years the YJS has expanded the collection and analysis of data, this has 
allowed for a greater understanding of overrepresentation and of understanding 
the characteristics of children who offend following diversion. There are 
opportunities to expand this in the coming years by working with Probation to 
explore the longer-term impact of diversion when these children enter adulthood 
to really gain an understanding of impact. There are also opportunities to have a 
greater understanding of our Health data for example what is the effectiveness of 
the Liaison and Diversion service and understanding the impact of the referrals 
made to our health colleagues on the outcomes for children. 

 The YJS and wider YST recognise the importance of children’s contribution to 
planning and development of services. This will take the form of a young person 
panel where service experienced children will have the opportunity to input into 
the decision-making process but also provide their thoughts around future 
developments such as the use of context-based approaches for addressing 
exploitation. 

Page 250



19

 The YJS aims to continue to build on the successful development of victim work 
over the past year. Further innovative victim work with young people will be 
developed and improved recording of restorative interventions. Restorative 
Gloucestershire have made steps in this direction and are willing to support the 
service by sharing their experiences. The service also aims to continue to develop 
the reporting of data relating to victims to ensure that victim work has good 
oversight. The YJS attend the victim and witness’s county group, to ensure that 
all the work is integrated and effective. The integration of wider victim work within 
the county and the robust offer to victims will improve the quality and depth of work 
with young people around the overall consequences of behaviour. In addition, 
victims of youth crime will feel listened to and involved and therefore negative 
feelings towards young people within communities will be minimised.

 As part of the diversion system there is an acknowledgement that the Child First 
evidence base is applicable to children who are victims. The YJS are well placed 
to work with Victim Support to develop a deeper understanding of this evidence 
base. There is a strong link between children who have been victims going on to 
offend, therefore this partnership at both an operational and strategic level(YJMB 
?) could contribute to an early prevention offer. There remains work to do with 
gaining a better understanding of the children who are victims, the contexts in 
which the offences take place and how to work together with partners to address 
these concerns. This will allow us to work at a preventative stage and therefore 
reduce the numbers of victims becoming involved in criminal activity.

 The Gloucestershire YJS is well placed  to integrate the revised YJB KPI’s into 
the reporting and oversight mechanisms announced in May 2022. Several of the 
measures are currently monitored on a local level such as percentage of diversion, 
suitable education, racial disparity and which children are open to wider children’s 
services. However, the inclusion of measures around suitable accommodation, 
serious violence, and remand concordance are welcome additions. Regarding the 
mental health support measure, the YJS have already begun to develop reporting 
systems to be able to monitor this in addition to physical health and speech and 
language support. The YJS is also well placed to be able to explore this data for 
children who enter the service through the Liaison and Diversion children’s 
pathway. 

9. National standards

The YJS complete two audits a month, allocated randomly from the youth justice cohort. 
The composite findings from these are that practitioners establish strong relationships 
with children and that access to specialist services for children was facilitated where 
needed. The audits noted excellent use of the internal specialist staff, a strong 
understanding of trauma and demonstrated good analysis. However, areas for 
development include improving planning for change and while generally management 
oversight was good, there is a need for this to evidence increased timeliness.

Page 251



20

Some audits have also noted that there is little resilience within the YJS when staff are 
absent and the impact this has on children. This was also a theme from the 2019 HMIP 
inspection which noted that staff were working at full capacity managing complex cases 
with little resilience. The short-term solution was to make use of wider YST staff in the 
form of one of the children and families team case officers which provided some initial 
additional capacity. However, there is currently recruitment activity due to internal 
promotions and additional responsibilities of practitioners, funded by the YJB which 
recognises the high-quality staffing in place within the Gloucestershire YJS. 

10. Challenges, risks and issues 

When horizon scanning, there are several issues that could prove to be problematic for 
the YJS and children in the justice system. The most apparent now is an increase in 
serious violence offences in the past year and the need to work with partners and 
reassure the wider community. The high profile of the offences locally and the 
forthcoming trial is likely to elicit strong feelings in the community with pressure to take a 
more punitive but less evidence-based approach. 

The service is also aware of the challenges for children with complex needs in education. 
Education colleagues have been consulted and have identified a link between exclusion 
and disproportionality. There is also some concern that the Education White Paper 
makes reference to a fully academized education system by 2030 and the impact this 
could have on supporting children with the most complex needs, whilst having little 
statutory influence. There is YJS data that shows educational placements are not always 
available for children who have EHCPs.  

The Police, Crime Sentencing and Courts Bill has the potential to reduce the use of 
remand and custodial sentences but proposes to increase the restrictions available in 
the community with a proposed maximum of 365 days ISS explain acronym. While the 
aim of reducing custodial sentences is welcomed the additional impact of community 
sentences needs to be considered. There are also local priorities from the OPCC to 
increase the numbers of police officers, these could have a negative impact on funding 
for the YJS while also increasing the number of children entering the justice system. 
Together these proposals have the potential to impact the quality of work delivered or 
the availability of prevention or diversionary services.  

As a result of serious incidents in the county, there has been an increase in the use of 
tactical operations by police colleagues to address behaviour by groups of children 
involved in offending behaviour. It is essential that all work involving children takes a 
Child First approach, recognises children are children and is distinct to work involving 
adults. This needs to be integrated in the exploitation strategy for the county. When this 
work is delivered as a single agency response to a child who offends and/or victims of 
exploitation it has the potential to depart from a Child First focus. This increase in the use 

Page 252



21

of tactical responses, has the potential to increase the number of children entering the 
justice system and a wider implication on the capacity of the YJS.

There is increasing recognition at a national level from the YJB of the benefits of early 
and targeted prevention work with children. While this is not directly funded currently and 
considering the potential for increased work from the statutory side of the service, the 
aim to deliver an effective and important prevention offer could be compromised.

The previous year's Youth Justice Plan identified that reoffending rates were high for a 
small but complex cohort of children on statutory orders. This remains a challenge for 
the coming year but with the introduction of more Child First based practice including 
identity shift work, trauma informed practice and liaison with wider strategic partners to 
address access to services (e.g. education) for these children, it is anticipated that their 
outcomes will be improved in the coming year.

The use of remand to youth detention accommodation has increased in the past year. 
There is national evidence that a significant number of children who are remanded to 
custody do not ? go on to receive community sentences and that the remand episodes 
disrupt the positive aspects in their life which would support long term desistence. The 
use of remand to local authority accommodation is a viable alternative and when well-
managed, can provide evidence to the court on sentencing that a community order is 
viable. However, it is a challenge for our colleagues in children’s services to find suitable 
placements for these children and more work needs to be undertaken at a strategic level 
to find viable solutions to these operational issues but also in developing and sharing 
understanding of what is effective practice for children who have offended and the wider 
Child First evidence base. The updated YJB KPI will help monitor concordance with 
recommendations made in magistrate’s court. 

11. Service improvement plan 

Aim Target Expected impact / measure
Continue to 
improve the 
Children First 
diversion system. 

Increase range of offences 
which can be diverted.

Create a targeted prevention 
offer with the YST, Families 
First and wider partners. 

Review JDP guidelines and 
term of reference to develop 
the role of partners in panel.

Reduced FTE rate.

Reduced reoffending by children.
Children will have access to services to 
meet their needs at earliest 
opportunity. 

Reduction in the number of children 
who receive CFP diversion 
interventions with no increase in 
statutory work. 

Page 253



22

Increased use of L&D for 
children who receive NFA or 
have been charged, arrested 
or voluntary interviewed.

Reduce the use of YCC’s 
through increased 
understanding of the robust 
diversionary offer. 

Assess and 
address the needs 
of children with 
multiple and 
complex needs. 

All staff to have undertaken 
trauma training and to have an 
understanding to the TRM 
model.

Increased use of identity 
concepts in assessment and 
planning with the aim of 
supporting positive identity 
shift.

Consideration of Child First 
evidence-base and co-
production even with children 
with complex needs.

Reduced binary and reoffences per 
reoffender rates. 

Minimise the 
number of children 
in custody

Develop a strategic 
understanding with children’s 
services around the benefits of 
remanding children to the care 
of the local authority.

Increase use of remand to LA 
care to minimise children 
remanded to custody. 

Use evidence of successful 
remand in the community to 
support community sentence 
proposals in PSR’s.

Collect evidence of outcomes 
for children sentenced to 
robust community orders to 
demonstrate the effectiveness.

Oversight of this area will be 
allocated to the custody 
subgroup who will feed back to 
the YJ management board.

Reduced number of children remanded 
to YDA.

Reduced number of children held 
overnight by police.

Increased confidence and commitment 
by local courts and increased use of 
community sentences resulting in 
reduced number of children sentenced 
to custody. 

Page 254



23

Monitor the effectiveness of 
the revised PACE protocol to 
ensure that children are not in 
police custody overnight 
unnecessarily.

Reduce serious 
youth violence

Wider YST (inc. YJS) 
involvement in developing the 
countywide exploitation 
strategy.

Continue to develop the 
preventative offer to provide 
support to schools. Utilising the 
Youth Work provision within 
the YST.

Consideration of context in 
assessment and exploration of 
identity. 

Review of High-Risk Planning 
Meetings in line with the 
exploitation strategy and 
complex needs subgroup.

Continued development of 
violence prevention panel 
which draws together partners 
to identity needs for children 
considered at risk of violent 
offences. 

Reduction in exploitation and young 
people being identified as offenders as 
a result of activity as a result of 
exploitation -wording

Reduction in high gravity violence 
against the person offences compared 
to previous year. 

Effective process for oversight of 
children with complex needs.

Multi-agency partnership around 
prevention and disruption, 

Improved 
education 
outcomes for 
children.

Re-establish the education 
subgroup which will have 
strategic oversight of the 
education of children in the 
justice system.

Make use of education data to 
identity children not receiving 
suitable education of training. 
Particular attention needs to be 
given to ensure that children 
with EHCP’s have suitable 
education. 

Work with partners in the local 
authority to champion the 
rights of children in the justice 
system to have suitable 
education placements. 

We have the ambitious target that 
100% of children will be attending 
suitable education, training or 
employment however acknowledge 
that this is unlikely to be achieved in 
the next year and is a more long-term 
target. 

Page 255



24

YST youth work to develop a 
programme during the summer 
holiday period, with the virtual 
school to deliver activities for 
year 6 moving into year 7 to 
reduce the risks associated 
with this period of transition.

Ensure the use of 
Child First 
evidence base. 

Continue to develop a practice 
model that ensures the Child 
First evidence base is integral 
to all work with children who 
have contact with the YJS.

Reduce the responsibilisation 
of children though a focus on 
working with families to 
support change. 

Practitioner and manger training and 
development to be monitored through 
quality assurance processes. 

Increase 
prevention offer in 
Gloucestershire.

Increase the number of 
children who received an L&D 
health screening by developing 
an offer for children who have 
received multiple NFA’s.

Work with partners in Families 
First to offer training and 
consultation from the YJS and 
YST to support Families First 
in delivery on early intervention 
prevention work.

Development of targeted group 
work offer for schools that is 
based on the Child First 
evidence. 

Reduction in children receiving 
diversion and statutory outcomes in the 
community.

Children entering the Youth Justice 
system with fewer unmet needs. 

Address over-
representation in 
the youth justice 
system. 

Data from previous years has 
evidenced that children from 
black and minority groups, 
care experienced children and 
girls are overrepresented in the 
youth justice cohort in 
Gloucestershire and progress 
at reducing this will be 
monitored by the Youth Justice 
Management Board.

Increase the number of 
children from Black and 
minority backgrounds receiving 
diversion through return from 

Fewer girls are evident in the statutory 
caseload. 

Fewer children from black and minority 
backgrounds give no comment 
interviews resulting in greater use of 
diversion.

Longer term reduction in exclusion 
from school for all groups currently 
over-represented in the youth justice 
system. 

Page 256



25

court and the availability of 
second diversionary offer and 
reduction in use of YCC’s.

The work being undertaken 
with the complex need and 
education subgroups will also 
impact on overrepresentation.

A reduction in the use of 
YCC’s will hopefully reduce the 
number of girls becoming first 
time entrants as the most 
recent data indicated that they 
were strongly overrepresented 
in this small group. 

There is ambition to undertake 
a research project with the 
local university to explore the 
early experiences children 
from black and minority groups 
have with children’s services. 

There needs to be a strategic 
plan to build trust and 
oversight of responses 
provided in local services with 
families from black and 
minority communities. 

The work that the YST are 
planning to complete in 
schools could be expanded to 
work with school leaders and 
children’s services to explore 
the issues that result in 
overrepresentation in 
educational exclusion. Can 
draw on the good practice in 
schools guide published by the 
London Councils. 

Development of training 
materials and tools with the 
involvement of children with 
lived experience to support 
partners in their understanding 
of the issues for children from 
black and minority groups.

Longer term reduction in 
overrepresentation in the youth justice 
system. 

Improved 
outcomes for 

Monitor the effectiveness of 
the transition process map in 

Reduction in the number of children 
who struggle with the transition to 

Page 257



26

children who 
transition to adult 
services.

ensuring smooth transition into 
adult services.

The development on 18-25 
POD in Probation will provide 
an intermediary step for 
children as they move into 
Probation.

There remains work to do in 
the coming year with the 
transition for children into adult 
health provision once they 
become 18. There is 
opportunity to link this with the 
development of the18-25 POD.

probation evidenced through reduced 
compliance issues.

Young adults in Probation continue to 
have access to address health needs 
identified in the Youth Justice system. 

Improve the 
application of 
constructive 
resettlement in 
practice.

In recent years there have 
been fewer children reviving 
short custodial sentences in 
Gloucestershire meaning that 
most who received custody 
receive longer sentences and 
have transitioned to Probation 
on release. This means that 
while the YJS have a good 
understanding of constructive 
resettlement this would be 
beneficial are part of the 18-25 
POD development with 
Probation.

The YJS have taken the 
approaches advocated for in 
the Beyond Youth Custody 
literature and applied this with 
children to help encourage 
identity shift prior to a custodial 
sentence.

There is also the opportunity 
via the board to make use of 
the lessons from constructive 
resettlement and use this when 
Children are placed in care, 
either through the courts or on 
welfare grounds. 

The 18-25 POD in Probation have a 
strong understanding and can apply 
constructive resettlement in practice.

The YJS develops and delivers support 
to both Probation and children’s 
services colleagues about how to 
make use to constructive resettlement 
theory with their individual cohorts. 

Children in the 
justice system 
have their health 
needs met. 

The YJS have access to a 
comprehensive health offer for 
children. We aim to develop a 
better understanding of the 
barrier to participation with 
health colleagues and the 

The YJS know the number of children 
who have been referred to the health 
team and the number of referrals that 
have been accepted. 

Page 258



27

impact that this has for 
children.

The L&D service is a health 
funded provision and 
Gloucestershire is well placed 
to monitor the effectiveness of 
this support in reducing further 
offending. 

There will be a greater understanding 
of the effectiveness of health-based 
support for children in reducing 
offending behaviour. 

L&D reoffending data will be included 
in the management board report. 

There is strategic 
oversight of the 
sexually harmful 
behaviour strategy. 

Conversation between the 
Youth Justice Management 
Board and Gloucestershire 
Safeguarding Children’s board 
to ascertain which board will 
oversee this area of work. 

There is clear strategic oversight of 
sexually harmful behaviour in the 
county. 

The data collected 
by the YJS is 
effectively 
analysed and used 
to improve 
services for 
children. 

Collect and analyse data on 
the effectiveness of L&D 
provision in reducing offending.

Work with colleagues in 
probation to understand the 
long-term impact of diversion 
on offending in adulthood.

Improve the understanding of 
health data to understanding 
the children receiving a service 
and the impact that this has for 
them. 

Improved reports to the Youth Justice 
Management board that shows an 
understanding of the impact of a range 
of work undertaken in the YJS.

Improve the 
participation of 
children in the 
development of the 
service. 

Establish a young person’s 
participation board for the YJS 
and wider YST where children 
who are service experienced 
can provide their unique insight 
and observations on decisions 
being made at a strategic and 
operational level. 

The board is established, and the 
outcomes are feeding into the Youth 
Justice Management Board and 
strategic direction for the county.

Information is utilised in conversations 
with partner organisations when 
considering the impact decisions have 
for children.  

Improved offer for 
children who are 
victims of crime. 

Training, practice sharing offer 
and Diversion panel support to 
be made to Victim Support to 
guide their work with child 
victims in a Child First 
approach to, identifying and 
addressing needs as evidence 
shows that children who offend 
are often victims themselves. 

Reduced first time entrants.

Impact on reduced serious youth 
violence.

Page 259



28

Improved 
integration and 
community 
engagement by 
the YJS. 

The YJS aims to support pro-
social identity shift with 
children through integrating 
them with their communities to 
build relationships and 
community integration. This 
could take the form of positive 
reparation opportunities that 
support identity shift, work 
experience placements or 
positive community activities 
that support long term 
desistence.  

The YJS have a range of community 
resources available that can help 
support pro-social identity shift with 
children in the justice system. 

As a general observation the actions above need some work.  In some instances it is 
unclear what actions are proposed, who is responsible and/or included within scope – 
particularly when workforce training and development is concerned.  Others are largely  
descriptive/situational in nature rather than an action. I agree that we need to go back 
over this bit and allude more to work with partners particularly where it is agreed i.e. 
engagement by education, Police and Probation. Health is difficult as they are less active 
and responsive when we try to consult with them. I am happy to have a go, just let me 
know if this is something you would like me to do.

Workforce Development

In the coming year the focus for JYS and our partners will be workforce development and 
will be around developing a greater understanding of the Child First evidence base and 
how this can be applied in practice. There are several planned activities that will support 
this in the coming year that includes:

 Youth Justice development day – Child First
 Unitas Child First Module 
 Identity Shift training 
 Trauma informed training from both the YJB and wider through Dr Anna Draper
 Revised volunteer training based around Child First
 Revised specific Referral Order panel volunteer training
 There are also 2 staff who are undertaking the AIM3 training.

The above training opportunities are in addition to the wider YST annual training plan 
and the numerous Shaw Trust training and development courses, therefore ensuring that 
both specific and more generic understanding is maintained to a high standard.

Additionally, it is expected that there will be new case managers joining the service in the 
coming year which will require that induction and training  be reviewed to incorporate the 
Child First evidence base and how to apply this in practice.

Page 260



29

The YJS will also offer to deliver and support training for partners including Families First 
and Victim Support around Child First and how to work with children with multiple and 
complex needs. 

The Gloucestershire YJS  have also provided and will continue to provide workshops and 
training to local externally funded organisations, to aid their understanding of the CJS 
and diversionary work in Gloucestershire. This benefits the children who have contact 
with both provisions as all involved have a clear understanding of the processes that they 
are involved in.

Board Development

We might want to say something about the Youth Justice Management Board having 
revised its terms of reference and membership to align with the JYB Guidance on 
governance issued earlier this year.  A YJMB development session (half day) will also 
be held in 2022/23 with specific reference to the broadened performance framework.  

will be developed through the re-establishment (have these always existed ?) of the 
following subgroups.

 Complex needs subgroup
 Custody subgroup
 Education subgroup
 Youth Board ?

The YJB KPI on partner attendance at the Youth Justice Management Board will provide 
transparency and accountability on partner commitment. The challenge for the board is 
to ensure its influences the wider system in support of YJS outcomes – the service might 
be following a child first approach, but the evidence suggests this is not the case with 
other partners ?

12. Evidence-based practice and innovation 

The YJS in Gloucestershire have been developing and will continue in their 
understanding of the Child First evidence base and how this should guide practice within 
the service and with partners. The aim is to develop both a practice model that is 
concordant with Child First while supporting practitioners to develop a deeper theoretical 
and practical understanding of Child First and how this can be applied in practice. This 
could include the consideration of both individual and structural support to address 
identified need. The focus for the service is about identifying and addressing the needs 
of the children who enter the justice system 

Page 261



30

The YJS with the YST training manager, have recently begun to develop training for 
practitioners and partners around understanding identity and identity shift. This approach 
integrates the identity shift ideas incorporated in the Beyond Youth Custody research 
with an understanding of constructs from Personal Construct Psychology – research 
source ? Can you pop something in here .  This work aims to equip practitioners with 
skills to develop a better understanding of identity in assessment and planning alongside 
practical skills that can be used with children and families to support them on their identity 
shift journey.

Gloucestershire has a well-established diversion system, Children First, that has 
evidenced low levels of recidivism. There are innovative links?sorted leave as is. 
between this element of the service and the wider YST in particular the liaison and 
diversion practitioners. The L&D screening is used to support diversionary decisions and 
where work to address needs has been undertaken prior to panel, matters can be 
discontinued at this stage. In more complex situations the assessment and any 
participation by the child is used as evidence of their willingness / capacity to take part in 
a diversionary intervention. There is a concerted effort within the service to take a 
proportionate response to children who are diverted with a range of pathways available 
depending on their level of need. The innovative links continue with the direct support of 
the health team within the YST and in particular the substance misuse specialists with 
young people who come through Children First with issues of use, which affect their 
offending behaviour.

In the statutory cohort there is a focus on diversion and proportionality. This takes the 
form of ensuring that plans address the needs of the children, and that early revocation 
is considered where children have completed the required work and there is a robust 
plan in place to ensure that their needs are met. 

Gloucestershire is unique as it is an integrated service that is commissioned from a 
charity, the Shaw Trust, which provides scope and opportunities to draw on experience 
from outside of the county. The integrated nature of the service allows for exit planning 
and links with other professionals in the service for example NEET specialists who can 
support children into employment or further training, aiding their long-term desistence 
away from the justice system, youth work and an activity team that can support on going 
positive activity, substance misuse specialists who can support desistence of use and 
therefore the impact of that use on positive outcomes.

The YJS have established a partnership with a community project, Music Works, who 
support and mentor children who have experienced challenging circumstances using 
music. Music works and the YJS work in partnership with some of the time of a part-time 
programme officer and senior Youth Justice Case Officer, being funded by the 
organisation. The YJS have access to a specialist programme that has been designed 
around the needs of children in the justice system. This continues to be a developing 
area of practice and the two parties are exploring how to track and evaluate the longer-
term outcomes of children who have made use of this innovative approach. This 

Page 262



31

partnership demonstrates the value of wider integration with community services and is 
an area that the YJS plan to continue to cultivate over the coming year for the benefit of 
children in the justice system. 

13.Looking forward 

This is an exciting time for Youth Justice in Gloucestershire as we leave the pandemic-
imposed restrictions behind and embrace a new, more outward looking approach to 
addressing the needs of children in, and on the periphery of the justice system. Child 
First is the guiding principle driving the service forward to understand and meet the needs 
of some of the most vulnerable and complex children in our community, whilst ensuring 
victims and the wider community feel involved and supported. The aim of the service is 
to put children first and work with partners to create a safer and more equitable county 
where every child can receive the help and support, they need to fulfil their potential. This 
is clearly an ambitious aim and will require collaboration and pragmatism in working with 
both strategic and operational partners. However, this is what the children we work with 
deserve and we should not be dissuaded because of the complexity or challenge of the 
task.  

The key areas of focus for the coming year are: (this doesn’t quite align with SIP above)

 Reduce first time entrants
 Reduce reoffending rates (binary and reoffences per reoffender)
 Reduced custody (police, remand and sentenced)
 Reduced serious youth violence
 Improved education attendance and attainment
 Increased prevention
 Reduced over-representation
 Improved understanding of health outcomes
 Strategic oversight of sexually harmful behaviour
 Improved use of data
 Improved community integration
 Better support for children who are victims of crime
 Developing a young person’s participation board

14. Sign off, submission and approval

Chair of YJS Board - name

Signature

Page 263



32

Date

15.Appendix 1 (Page 10 of the Guidance) Outline of full board membership, including 
attendance, job title of the board member and dates of board meetings should be 
included in Appendix 1

16.Appendix 2 – Service Structure Chart (Page 10 of Guidance) 

Page 264



33

17.should include details of the staff roles in the YJS and the reporting arrangements 
for the Head of Service. Information on the links to the data analyst should also 
be included. There should be a separate table in the appendix recording the 
ethnicity, sex and known disability of staff. 

Ethnicity and sex of staff ****to be updated

Page 265



34

References

Case, S. and Browning, A. (2021) “Child First Justice: The Research Evidence-base [full 
Report]”. Loughborough University, available at Child First Justice: the research 
evidence-base [Full report] (lboro.ac.uk)

YJB (2021) Definitions for Prevention and Diversion, Youth Justice Board, available at 
https://yjresourcehub.uk/images/YJB/Definitions_for_Prevention_and_Diversion_YJB_2
021.pdf 

Page 266

https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Child_First_Justice_the_research_evidence-base_Full_report_/14152040
https://repository.lboro.ac.uk/articles/report/Child_First_Justice_the_research_evidence-base_Full_report_/14152040
https://yjresourcehub.uk/images/YJB/Definitions_for_Prevention_and_Diversion_YJB_2021.pdf
https://yjresourcehub.uk/images/YJB/Definitions_for_Prevention_and_Diversion_YJB_2021.pdf


35

Common youth justice terms, please add any locally used terminology 
ACE Adverse childhood experience. Events 

in the child’s life that can have negative, 
long lasting impact on the child’s health, 
and life choices 

AIM 2 and 3 Assessment, intervention and moving 
on, an assessment tool and framework 
for children who have instigated harmful 
sexual behaviour

ASB Antisocial behaviour
AssetPlus Assessment tool to be used for children 

who have been involved in offending 
behaviour 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health 
services

CCE Child Criminal exploitation, where a 
child is forced, through threats of 
violence, or manipulated to take part in 
criminal activity

Children We define a child as anyone who has 
not yet reached their 18th birthday. This 
is in line with the United Nations 
Convention on the Rights of the Child 
and civil legislation in England and 
Wales. The fact that a child has reached 
16 years of age, is living independently 
or is in further education, is a member 
of the armed forces, is in hospital or in 
custody in the secure estate, does not 
change their status or entitlements to 
services or protection.

Child First A system wide approach to working with 
children in the youth justice system. 
There are four tenants to this approach, 
it should be: developmentally informed, 
strength based, promote participation, 
and encourage diversion 

Child looked-after Child looked-after, where a child is 
looked after by the local authority 

CME Child Missing Education
Constructive resettlement The principle of encouraging and 

supporting a child’s positive identity 
development from pro-offending to pro-
social

Contextual safeguarding An approach to safeguarding children 
which considers the wider community 
and peer influences on a child’s safety

Community resolution Community resolution, an informal 
disposal, administered by the police, for 

Page 267



36

low level offending where there has 
been an admission of guilt 

EHCP Education and health care plan, a plan 
outlining the education, health and 
social care needs of a child with 
additional needs 

ETE Education, training or employment
EHE Electively home educated, children who 

are formally recorded as being 
educated at home and do not attend 
school 

EOTAS Education other than at school, children 
who receive their education away from 
a mainstream school setting 

FTE First Time Entrant. A child who receives 
a statutory criminal justice outcome for 
the first time (youth caution, youth 
conditional caution, or court disposal 

HMIP Her Majesty Inspectorate of Probation. 
An independent arms-length body who 
inspect Youth Justice services and 
probation services 

HSB Harmful sexual behaviour, 
developmentally inappropriate sexual 
behaviour by children, which is harmful 
to another child or adult, or themselves 

JAC Junior Attendance Centre
MAPPA Multi agency public protection 

arrangements
MFH Missing from Home 
NRM National Referral Mechanism. The 

national framework for identifying and 
referring potential victims of modern 
slavery to gain help to support and 
protect them 

OOCD Out-of-court disposal. All recorded 
disposals where a crime is recorded, an 
outcome delivered but the matter is not 
sent to court 

Outcome 22/21 An informal disposal, available where 
the child does not admit the offence, but 
they undertake intervention to build 
strengths to minimise the possibility of 
further offending 

Over-represented children Appearing in higher numbers than the 
local or national average

RHI Return home Interviews. These are 
interviews completed after a child has 
been reported missing

Page 268



37

Responsibilisation Relates to children being regarded as 
primarily responsible for their own 
offending behaviour and their
desistance from it, rather than taking 
into account mitigating circumstances, 
age-related differences
between children and adults in levels of 
capacity, responsibility and maturity, or 
the level of
responsibility held by others such as 
adult professionals.

SLCN Speech, Language and communication 
needs

STC Secure training centre 
SCH Secure children’s home
Young adult We define a young adult as someone 

who is 18 or over. For example, when a 
young adult is transferring to the adult 
probation service.

YJS Youth justice service. This is now the 
preferred title for services working with 
children in the youth justice system. 
This reflects the move to a Child First 
approach 

YOI Young offender institution 

Page 269



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Managed Print Service 

Cabinet Date 22 June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Change

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to conduct a competitive procurement process for 
the award of a contract for a Managed Print Service for Gloucestershire 
County Council. The contract will be for to 5 years (with the option to extend 
for a further 2 years) with an estimated value of £3.85M

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management & Property Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change to:

1. Conduct a mini-competition process under the Crown Commercial 
Services Multifunctional Devices (MFDs), Print and Digital Workflow 
Software Services and Managed Print Service Provision (RM6174) 
framework agreement in respect of a call-off contract for the supply of 
a Managed Print Service Contract. The proposed call-off contract, 
referred to as the “Managed Print Service Contract”, shall continue for 
an initial period of 5 years and include an option to extend its term for 
two further periods of not more than 12 months in length.

2. Award such contract to the preferred tenderer; and

3. Determine whether to exercise the options to:
a) extend the term of such Managed Print Service Contract for a 

further period of 12 months on the expiry of the initial 5-year term; 
and

b) extend the term of such Managed Print Service Contract again for 
a further period of 12 months and on the sixth anniversary of the 
contract.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

The existing Managed Print Service Contract has served the Council well for 7 
years. It has proved to be a successful strategy. Refreshing our requirements 
and going out to tender will ensure we continue to get the benefits of integrated 
services at the best market rates.
There are council-wide efficiencies to be made through delivering a
Managed Print Service that reflects new modern ways of working digitally and 
supporting new agile working arrangements
.

Page 271

Agenda Item 13



Resource 
Implications

The total value of the contract over 7 years is anticipated to be approximately 
£3.85m, based upon a review of expenditure as agreed with the project’s
based upon our current spend of £550k per annum on print-related activity. 
Exact costs would be confirmed through the tender process.

It is anticipated with the current reduction in the use of the Managed Print 
Services like printing, there will be a significant reduction in the number of 
devices required overall. This will in itself generate significant savings, that we 
would expect to see approximately one third reduction in the overall cost.
The costs of the contract will be funded in full from within existing budgets, as 
a continuation of the current recharging arrangements whereby services are 
charged quarterly based on actual usage.

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Member Decision (22/06/2020): Managed Print Contract (Canon) – 
Direct Award

Statutory Authority Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

N/A

Officer Name:  Stephen Hetenyi 
Tel. no: 07503 922668
Email: Stephen.hetenyi@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline  Cabinet approval – June 2022

 Managed Print Service  – commences between January 2023 and 
March 2023

Page 272

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1503
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1503
mailto:Stephen.hetenyi@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background

1. Due to the effect of Covid 19 and the adoption of agile working on the consumption of 
services provided under the current contract, a fundamental review of the service provision 
is required to ensure it is fit for purpose going forward. Having consulted service users and 
using historic volumetric data from the current contract will provide opportunities to drive 
further savings in the long-term and deliver cashable benefits. We will procure print services 
which meet the Council’s future needs rather than simply replicating the past. The last 2 
years has seen an enormous shift away from hard copy printing which on average has 
reduced by 71%. It is anticipated that print levels will steadily increase as Officers return to 
the workplace and have access to printing. Digital Services have remained constant or have 
increased significantly for example “Print to Post”. The Managed Print Service will need to 
reflect these shifts in behaviour as “Agile” is adopted and have the flexibility to adapt to the 
changing demands of new ways of working.

2. There are currently 7 key strands to the Managed Print Service (MPS) as detailed below. 
With the exception of “A Print Room” they will all be carried through into the mini competition 
under the framework. The print room will close at the end of the current contract.

A. Print Room: GCC’s ongoing need of a digital print room facility based at Shire Hall 
has diminished to the extent where it will not continue to be available at the end of the 
current contract. The requirements are currently met by Canon and this contract will 
end in January 2023. Much of the work of the Print room has declined dramatically 
over the duration of the contract, particularly in respect of usage by the Democratic 
Services Unit and the effects of the pandemic. The Print room facility will not be 
included in the mini competition under the framework

B. Multi-Function Printing Devices: To replace all current multi-function print devices 
(185) across up to 60 sites. The above requirements are currently met by Canon and 
this contract will end in January 2023. Whilst print volumes have reduced dramatically 
over the last 2 years costs have not reduced in line with this reduction due to lease 
and fixed costs associated with the contract having remained the same. The new MPS 
will ensure the fixed cost is aligned with the reduced printing volumes. Importantly the 
new contract will need to have the capability scale up if increased printing demands 
are required. We are looking for a significant reduction in the numbers of Multi-
Function Printing devices across the estate.

C. Print Management: Canon provides a comprehensive offsite specialist printing 
service in response to individual requests by officers. This work is specialist by nature 
and cannot usually be completed in the onsite print room. Canon provides three quotes 
from other affiliated suppliers and fulfils our requirements at the agreed price.

D. Payslips & Portal: Deliver payslips to all individuals who are paid via the payroll 
service offered by GCC via the Business Service Centre (BSC). Besides LA schools, 
academies and GCC BSC provide payroll services to Gloucester City, 
Gloucestershire Constabulary, GFRS (as part of GCC) and five very small 
organisations. It is a legal requirement for a payslip to be produced and made 
accessible to each individual detailing the breakdown of their salary payment.  It is 

Page 273



also a legal requirement to provide all individuals on the payroll at the end of each 
tax year with a P60 detailing payments and deductions.  This service needs to be 
delivered either via a secure portal with individual access or with a paper copy 
payslip or P60 sent to the individual.

In the long term (from 01/01/2025) this service will be provided under the new SAP 
ERP (Enterprise Resource Planning) SaaS contract. In the short term (up to 
31/12/2025) this service will be included in any tender as an optional service that a 
supplier may or may not be able to supply at an affordable rate. If the new MPS 
provider cannot provide this service or it is not cost effective to do so. Procurement 
options being explored for this eventuality with our existing provider to cover the period 
01/03/2023 to 31/12/2024, after which it is anticipated that the ERP SaaS contract will 
be providing this service.

E. Print to Post: Provides a print to post document service direct from desktops. The 
above requirements are currently met by Canon through a third party “DocMail” and 
this contract will end in January 2023.

F. Transactional Printing: support of/to deliver a service that will enable us to record 
and report on all transactional printing that comes out of SAP on a monthly basis.    We 
need to be able to recharge print outputs to other departments as appropriate. 
Transactional printing includes paper payslips, invoices, reminders, remittances, 
P45’s, paper copy P60’s and P11D’s. It is a legal requirement for a pay related 
documents to be provided to all individuals in receipt of a salary payment and whilst 
we use a secure portal for electronic access, we still provide paper payslips to a 
significant number of individuals. The above requirements are currently met by Canon 
and this contract will end in January 2023.

G. Digital Mail Room: We are also looking to secure a digital mail room for incoming 
post. This will replace the mail scanning service offered by IMS throughout the 
pandemic to ensure incoming mail could reach home working recipients. Moving 
forward all incoming mail will be scanned and sent to recipient’s network folder or inbox 

Options

3. Option 1: Do nothing. Allow the Managed Print Service Contract to come to an end with 
the removal of all hardware and digital services completely by March 31st, 2023.This would 
mean that all the current leased hardware would be collected by Canon.  Whilst this would 
remove the fixed and variable costs associated with these services. There would still be a 
requirement to offer these services and facilities, not only for the Council, but to all those 
customers purchasing our services. All digital services would cease all of which are still 
required and are a legal requirement for a number of our services.

This option is not recommended.

4. Option 2: To procure the same set of services. As identified in this paper the print room 
has become increasingly unprofitable.  The current service has a very high fixed cost base 

Page 274



which could not flex down as much as the print volumes decreased. The current contracted 
service was procured prior to the pandemic and does not take into account technology 
advances, new services and the new agile ways of working within the Council. There is 
currently no provision to further extend the contract.

This option is not recommended.

5. Option3: To procure a reduced set of services. To include B to G of the Background 
options detailed above. This will be set out in more detail within the Procurement Strategy.  
The Project Team have reviewed a number of Print frameworks.  Following conversations 
with the Crown Commercial Service we have received confirmation that all the services 
currently provided are within the scope of the CCS Framework (RM6174). A flexible 
approach in how the Digital printing services will be provided, will be incorporated into the 
procurement

This option is recommended.

Risks

6. Being able to predict future needs and volume. Where possible we need to reduce the 
amount of the fixed cost so that the service can flex up and down.

7. The timescales for the procurement and subsequent implementation will be tight. The 
Council will seek to mitigate this by robust project planning and securing dedicated project 
resources.

8. Inadequate resourcing of skills and/or loss of key personnel during the project’s lifecycle. 
The Council will seek to mitigate this by backfilling where appropriate

9. Challenge(s) to Awards –
There is a risk in respect of any contract award that such award may be subject to legal 
challenge under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (“PCRs”).
The council shall seek to mitigate such risk in respect of the proposed Managed Print 
Service Contract by:

a) first seeking expressions of interest from framework suppliers in order to establish 
whether such suppliers would be interested in the opportunity to bid for the Council’s 
proposed Managed Print Service, thereby enabling the council to determine an 
appropriate format for the council’s proposed mini-competition process

b) conducting a mini-competition process in accordance with the rules of the framework 
(that is, rather than make a direct contract award without competition)

c) issuing a voluntary standstill letter to all suppliers on the framework before awarding 
such contract.

10.Responses to ITT exceeds budget – A reduction in the direct printing requirements and 
associated costs of the council supports the confidence that costs can be managed within 
existing resources.

Page 275



Financial implications

11.The report recommends the procurement of the proposed Managed Print Service Contract 
as a service solution. The costs of the contract will be funded in full from within existing 
budgets, as a continuation of the current recharging arrangements whereby services are 
charged quarterly based on actual usage . Historic contract costs, at their peak, were close 
to £600k per annum. The experience during the pandemic demonstrated a significant 
reduction in printing costs and it is likely that some of these will be on-going.  As the transition 
to an agile working model takes place, costs incurred will be closely monitored in order to 
quantify the value of these savings.

Climate change implications

12.The Managed Print Service (MPS) supports the council in delivering its carbon reduction 
ambitions including reducing the current number of devices as well as supporting the council 
approach to agile and remote working. Potential providers will be asked to demonstrate their 
commitment to environmental performance and the Total Energy Consumption (TEC) 
credentials for the new proposed devices. Twenty-nine end of life devices from the existing 
contract were replaced with 29 new devices which have a far better toner yield and are more 
energy efficient (50% improved toner yield, 30% increased energy efficiency compared to 
previous). For the new contract, we anticipate  the new devices will be more efficient, 
consume less toner and require less maintenance. We will reduce numbers further as work 
from home is more prevalent, volumes have reduced and there will be a greater requirement 
for scanning. In line with our agile and flexible working arrangements, we have proposed a 
move to a hub printing solution which will reduce the printers by a third. This proposal 
includes removing the print room but still making adequate provision for officers to function 
effectively.

Equality implications

13.An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed. This identified that, in time, 
this Strategy is anticipated to continue to have a positive impact on people with protected 
characteristics. 

14.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

15.All current arrangements and mitigations implemented will be transitioned to the new cloud 
hosted solution where applicable. The Data Protection Impact Assessment will be drafted; 
however, the full scope of the implications will not be understood until the chosen supplier 
is confirmed and their approach is understood.

Social value implications

16.Any contract awarded under the Managed Print Service, will contain a requirement for the 
provider to demonstrate social value in line with Gloucestershire’s procurement policies 
and processes

Page 276



Consultation feedback

17.Through informal discussions, key stakeholders (Business Services Centre, Registration, 
Information Management Service), strongly agree with the scope of services remaining 
unchanged initially with the exception of the onsite print room facility no longer being 
required. The inclusion of a digital incoming mail facility (subject to cost) and enhanced 
scanning capabilities were areas of interest, making the most of the new document 
management system, and seamless integration with Office 365 & Teams. Many services 
have moved away from hard copy printing. Even though the ability for individuals to print 
remains a priority, the new contract will need to reflect significantly reduced volumes and 
have the ability to scale up if required.

Officer recommendations

18.Option 3: To procure a reduced set of services 

Performance management/follow-up 

19.The project will follow the GCC recommended project management methodology, with 
governance provided by a project board, chaired by the project sponsor/s, who will meet on 
a monthly basis. The dedicated project team will be derived primarily from current staff 
fulfilling the roles of subject matter experts, with back-filling for their substantive roles as 
appropriate. Weekly highlight reports will be produced by the project manager and business 
analysis and business change management will also be required. The project will report into 
the Digital Transformation Programme Board.

20.The supplier will be managed through an on-going contract management process whereby 
regular review meetings will be held with key stakeholders across the organisation to ensure 
the supplier and buyer deliver on their respective responsibilities under the terms of the 
agreement.

21.Key Performance Indicators will be clearly defined within the call-off contract which the 
parties will agree, shall be used to measure the performance of the services by the supplier.

22.The supplier shall monitor its performance against each Key Performance Indicator and shall 
send the council a report detailing the level of service actually achieved in accordance with 
the agreement and the review meetings as agreed at the time-of-service commencement.

23.The contract will be managed by a combination of Facilities Management and Asset 
Management & Property Services. Each will undertake business as usual roles to ensure 
supplier performance is being regularly monitored and managed appropriately through the 
duration of the contract.

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



1

REPORT TITLE: REVENUE AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE OUTTURN 2021/2022

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022
Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader/Cabinet Member for Finance and 

Change 
Key Decision Yes
Purpose of Report To consider the Council's outturn expenditure for 2021/22, agree 

recommendations and approve changes to the Capital Programme in 
2021/22 and future years.

Recommendations

That Cabinet:
1. Notes the 2021/2022 revenue budget underspend of 

£1.533 million and recommend that £1.053 million is 
transferred to General Reserves, and £480k to the 
Vulnerable Children’s Reserve in order to provide budget 
support to SEND as previously approved by Cabinet March 
2022.

2. Approves the £8.674 million carry forward of the Covid 19 
Emergency Grant funding and transfers and use of carry 
forwards that total £5.939 million, as detailed in annex 1.

3. Notes other technical reserve movements for 
2021/22 as set out in annex 3.

4. Notes delivery of the £7.393 million of savings against a 
target of £6.761 million in 2021/22 or 109.35%

5. Transfer £677k to the Business Rates Reserve in relation 
to the GCC share of the surplus on the Business Rates 
Retention Pool. In addition, approve a transfer of £834k to 
the Business Rates Reserve, ring fenced for the Strategic 
Economic Development Fund also as a result of the 
Business Rates Pool surplus for 21/22. 

6. Notes the capital outturn position for 2021/22 of £119.065 
million against a budget of £153.909 million, giving in year 
slippage of £34.844 million.

7. Approves an increase of £13.094 million in the Capital 
Programme as detailed in section G of the report.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that Councillors and the public are made aware of the 
Council’s current financial position. 

To utilise funding provided by the Government across several financial 
years, in line with the purpose of the Covid 19 Emergency grant.

Page 279

Agenda Item 14



2

To reflect the effects of minor changes within the Capital Programme.
Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council and Financial 

Monitoring Report to Cabinet 21st July 2021, 22nd September 2021 10th 
November 2021 22nd December 2021, 26th January 2022, 23rd February 
2022 & 30th March 2022

Statutory 
Authority
Divisional 
Councillor(s) County Wide

Officer Alistair Rush, Interim Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
 Alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Not applicable

Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Outturn Position

1. The overall revenue outturn position for 2021/22 is an underspend of £1.533 
million (or 0.3% of the total budget). It is proposed that this underspend is 
transferred as follows:-
 £1.053 million to General Reserve to support the Council from any 

additional budgetary impact of future inflationary pressures. 
 £480K to the Vulnerable Children’s Reserve to provide additional budget 

support for SEND, as approved by Cabinet March 2022.

2. The Council’s cost of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding 
expenditure funded from specific grants) is £13.798 million in 2021/22. Covid-
19 funding available to support this expenditure included £11.526 million 
2021/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant, £10.946 million carried forward from the 
2020/21 Emergency Grant and the reimbursement of £343k of lost Sales, 
Fees and Charges.  It is proposed that the remaining balance of £8.674 
million of Section 31 Covid-19 Emergency Grant is carried forward to fund the 
continuing cost of recovery from the pandemic in 2022/23 and 2023/24.   

3. In addition to the £22.472 million of Covid-19 funding detailed above, the 
Council has also received other ring-fenced Covid-19 related grant funding. 
The specific grant allocations for 2021/22 totalled £29.902 million with an 
additional £16.632 million carried forward from 2020/21. 

4. £10.376 million of this ring-fenced funding was unspent at the year end and 
will be carried forward to be spent in 2022/23, whilst unspent grant allocations 
of £1.048 million will be returned, in accordance with the grant conditions.

Page 280

mailto:Alistair.rush@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


3

5. Details of the Covid-19 and outturn position expenditure are provided in 
Tables 1 and 2 below.

Table 1 – Covid-19 Expenditure & Funding

Other Covid -19 Related Grant Analysis

spend 
21/22        
£m

Carry 
forward 
for 22/23     

£m

Grants to 
be paid 
back £m

Received 
for 21/22 

£m

Brought 
forward 

21/22     
£m

Infection Control Grant  6.775 -0.845 7.620
Department of Health & Social Care Workforce Recruitment 
and retention 4.875 4.875

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 4.605 4.605

Department for health and Social Care-Omicron Support 0.000 -0.632 0.632

Test & Trace 0.803 -0.623 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.180 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.373 -0.203 0.237 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 8.734 -7.639 3.036 13.337
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant 
Scheme 0.524 0.524
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Local Support 
Grant 1.396 1.396
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  0.000 -1.435 0.205 1.230

Community Testing 0.873 0.873 0.000

Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 2.035 2.035 0.000

DWP - Household Support Grant 2.833 2.833 0.000

Practical support payment 1-6 1.073 0.952 0.121

Home Office training grant 0.031 0.031

Covid-Health Grant Funding 0.000 -0.047 0.047

Other Covid -19 related grant 35.110 -10.376 -1.048 29.902 16.632

Page 281



4

Table 2 – Outturn Position 21-22

Cabinet Outturn Position - Proposed Outturn Figures 2021-22

Non Covid-19 
Carryforward 

Requests

Final Non 
Covid-19 
Outurn 

Position

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Adults 155,705 153,769 -3,141 2,047 -1,094 1,205 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,108 34,374 -743 40 -703 9 

Children & Families 125,860 143,146 7,600 0 7,600 9,686 

EE&I 76,456 74,612 -2,841 2,534 -307 997 

Community Safety 20,003 20,096 9 0 9 84 

Corporate Resources 37,087 37,585 -1,293 1,318 25 1,791 

Total for Services 450,219 463,582 -409 5,939 5,530 13,772 

Technical & Countywide 32,789 25,752 -7,063 0 -7,063 26 

Additional Funding Covid-19 
to be allocated

22,472 0 0 0 0 -22,472 

Covid-19 Grant 
Carryforward

0 0 0 0 0 8,674 

Total 505,480 489,334 -7,472 5,939 -1,533 0 

Service Area
2021/22 
Budget

Current 
Outturn 

including 
Technical 

Caryforwards

Non Covid-
19 Forecast 

Variance

Covid-19 
Outurn and 

Grant 
Carryforward 

Request

Page 282



5

Commentary and main reasons for the outturn positions are provided in the 
following sections.

Adult Social Care

6. Adult Social Care (ASC) is reporting an underlying overspend of £111k which 
includes £1.205 million in relation to COVID-19 costs. Excluding the COVID-19 
costs ASC are reporting an underspend of £1.094 million. The underspend relates 
to the increasing difficulties of recruiting and retaining staff across Adult Social Care 
teams. The underlying vacancy position is significant and is creating a one-off 
underspend position in 2021/22.  Included within the outturn position there is 
unachieved Adult Single Programme (ASP) target of £1.074 million temporarily 
covered within the ASC outturn, carry-forward of £2.047 million in respect of 
Assurance Self Evaluation and a £415k revenue contribution to Capital (RCCO) for 
the community equipment service refurbishments and equipment replacement. 

7. There continues to be a number of significant ongoing risks primarily relating to the 
impact of COVID-19, S117 backdated payments with £0.518k (leaving £1.057 
million) being paid to date, responding to winter/hospital pressures, as well as the 
ASP. Following a review of the provision for S117 backdated payments, it will be 
reduced by £100k, the revised provision carried forward to 2022/23 is £957k.

8. The cost of the COVID-19 response for 2021/22 within ASC consists of a number of 
separate initiatives supported by a range of specific and non-ringfenced 
Government grants.  These included providing additional support to care providers 
to a value of £1.148 million, a total of £17.733 million utilised to support infection 
control measures, workforce recruitment and retention and support around testing, 
vaccinations and addressing variants and addressing budget pressures arising from 
service developments that were delayed as a consequence of the pandemic.

9. Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care is projecting a £2.745 million underspend. 
The £2.745 million relates to £979k of underlying underspends and a further £1.766 
million of MTFS funding which was not used during 2021/22 because of delays 
relating to COVID-19.  Although this funding is not needed in this financial year it is 
incorporated in the full position for the Transforming Care Programme and will 
therefore be required in 2022/23.  

10. Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) are reporting a £6.068 million 
overspend.  The overspend is split across individual service budgets, with OP 
showing as £3.460 million and PD £2.608 million. The current overspend relates 
primarily to underlying financial pressures, voids relating to homes run by a major 
provider, increased cover for bad debts, additional demand and winter/hospital 
pressures, and support to the external market.

Page 283



6

11. The Mental Health position is a £905k overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team, net of unallocated MTFS 
growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner. A long-term plan is being 
developed with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the 
underlying overspend.

12. Community Equipment and Telecare is reporting an underspend of £599k. 

13. Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
several specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to a 
£4.793 million underspend, including these significant variances of

 £5.129 million of significant underspends: £655k Care Act due to delayed 
projects/recruitment; £1.800 million OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management 
(ISCM) largely due to vacancies; £677k LD Assessment, Support Planning & 
Management mainly due to vacancies.

14. Directorate Central Budget is reported as £1.276 million overspend. The £2.047 
million carry forward request is included, which will be utilised to support the 
development of services that will underpin and support the introduction of the 
national reforms in 2023/24. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

15. Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £694k under-spent which includes £9k of COVID-19 general 
expenditure.  

16. In total Covid-19 grants either carried forward or allocated in year to the Council 
totalled £19.744 million. The funding has been targeted at the containment and 
management of the outbreak through testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable 
groups and communities. Of the total funding available, £8.262 million has been 
carried forward into 2022/23 to continue with the support to vulnerable communities 
and to address the longer-term impacts of COVID across the County.

17. The underlying non-COVID-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £3.587 
million under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, 
which, if unspent, is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public 
Health (PH) position, excluding COVID-19 expenditure, is £2.884 million under-
spend (including the carry forward from 2020/21) and this has been transferred to 
the PH reserve at year end. Therefore, the non-COVID-19 under-spend net of the 
transfer to the PH Reserve is £703k with £559k relating to Supporting People due to 
a number of framework lots not being called off and an underutilisation of top up 
and personalisation funds as a result of the COVID impact on the demand for 
services. 

Page 284



7

18. The outturn position for Public Health is an under-spend of £2.884 million, £971k 
relating to 2020/21. The 2021/22 under-spend was due to lower take-up for health 
checks as fewer people were accessing the service, dispensing costs for substance 
misuse, activity against the substance misuse and healthy lifestyles contracts (both 
affected by COVID) and the cost of staff involved with the COVID response having 
been charged to grants instead of the Public Health grant. 

Children and Families

19. The year-end revenue position as at March 2022 for non-DSG funded services is an 
over-spend of £17.286 million (13.73% of budget). Included within these figures is 
the additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 on budgets which totals £9.683 million 
giving an underlying over-spend of £7.603 million. Significant over-spends include 
the external placements budget due to the increased number of children in care, 
which is partly linked to the pandemic but also the number and cost of external 
placements and disability services.  The net over-spend has reduced by £1.062 
million due to lower safeguarding staff and home to school transport costs.

20. Additional expenditure arising from the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas, 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, the cost of social care staff and support provided to vulnerable 
pupils. Covid-19 grants totalling £7.1 million have been spent including the Winter 
Grant, Local Support Grant, Holiday Activities Fund and Household Support Fund. 

21. Activity levels within social care continued to cause significant budgetary pressures 
and in particular against external placements. At the end of March 2022 children in 
care numbers were 841 compared to 754 at the end of April 2020. Gloucestershire’s 
number and rate of children in care is above statistical neighbours but remains 
below the England average.

22. The over-spend against the external placement budget is £15 million (48.2% above 
budget) including the impact of Covid-19 on placement numbers, which totals £7.9 
million, resulting in an underlying over-spend of £7.1 million. The underlying over-
spend is due to a combination of the volume of residential, fostering and supported 
living placements and the cost of complex residential placements. The average unit 
cost of a placement is £115,800 per annum, (residential/supported living average 
unit cost of £180,900), this is compared with the budgeted cost of £105,200 per 
annum. At the end of March there were 480 external placements, of which 114 are 
residential and 141 supported living placements. 

Page 285



8

23. To address this over-spend position in 2022/23 additional MTFS funding of £6.6 
million for external placements has been budgeted for, along with the continuation 
of the strategy to bring the children in care population more in line with statistical 
neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of measures, aimed to 
impact on both numbers and associated costs, including:  
 further development of the edge of care offer to support children at home and to 

prevent their escalation and entry into care;
 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in-house foster 

care;
 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a 

greater influence on the market and associated costs;
 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and 

ensure children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence 
or reunification as appropriate.

24. Safeguarding staffing budgets were over-spent by £144k (0.7% above budget). 
Effective management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more 
effective advertising and the support and training provided by the social work 
academy has reduced this cost pressure in year. The inability to recruit to both 
agency and permanent staff has also contributed to the position. Turnover of staff 
has been rising and has been between 20.7% and 24.5% over the last six months 
and at the end of March there were 125 agency workers in post which is an 
increase on previous months. 

25. Services for children with disabilities are over-spent by £1.644 million due to the 
increased cost of care packages, including s.76 contracts with Health, and disability 
service staffing costs.

26. In-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent by £933k due to activity at 
the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

27. Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are over-spent by £17.043 million 
in 2021/22, which includes the deficit brought forward of £13.665 million. Within the 
total deficit position, the High Needs block is £20.205 million in deficit offset by early 
years and de-delegated balances. The High Needs budget was £2.869 million 
above the deficit budget that was set with top-up budgets for colleges, special 
schools, primary and secondary schools overspending by £3.18 million due to 
increased demand.

28. The Early Years block was under-spent by £2.8 million due to lower spend against 
the budget for free entitlement for nursery places for three- and four-year-olds and 
project initiatives. In March the Schools Forum agreed that £1.4 million of these 
balances should be allocated to providers and specific projects.

Page 286



9

29. Gloucestershire’s High Needs block, like most local authorities nationally, remained 
in deficit throughout the year. The increase in the allocated funding for 2022/23 of 
an additional £6.968 million and a further £2.98 million Supplementary Grant will be 
required to meet forecast demand pressures for additional special school places 
and to provide support to mainstream schools. The current forecast for 2022/23 for 
the high needs block is an in-year deficit of over £3.4 million, but recent trends are 
still being analysed to identify a realistic position. The local authority and the 
Schools Forum are looking at proposals on how to resolve this deficit, including 
initiatives to tackle need more effectively and reduce costs over the longer term.

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 

30. The outturn position for Economy, Environment & Infrastructure is an overspend of 
£690k, which includes £997k for COVID-19 related costs. Excluding the COVID-19 
costs EE&I are reporting an underspend of £307k.  

31. In the March Cabinet Financial Monitoring Report, the EE&I forecast for COVID-19 
related spend was £1.676 million however the actual outturn was £1.275 million, 
due to higher income being achieved from parking and reduced Covid expenditure.  
The lost income grant credit of £278k has been transferred to EE&I bringing the 
total outturn COVID-19 spend down to £997k. The breakdown of the £1.275m 
Covid-19 related costs or loss of income is set out in the paragraphs below.

32. Loss of income totalling £932k is mostly made up of £711k from parking related 
income and smaller amounts from other teams.  

33. Approval is requested to make £1.136 million of revenue contributions to capital, 
and to carry-forward £2.534 million to support the delivery of specific projects or 
pressures in future years as detailed below.  

34. As part of the third tranche of the Active Travel Fund the DfT has awarded GCC a 
£79k revenue to conduct a feasibility study across residential streets of St Marks 
and St Pauls in West and North-West Cheltenham. The funding will be used to 
provide a range of measures to support and encourage cycling and pedestrian 
movement in the area by making it safer and easier to walk and ride with improved 
cycle access to residential streets, Cheltenham Spa Station, the Honeybourne 
Cycle Link and the recently completed West Cheltenham Walking and Cycling 
Improvements scheme, that form part of the Gloucestershire Cycle Spine. 

Community Safety 

35. The Community Safety Directorate outturn position is an overspend of £248k 
including COVID costs of £84k. Following adjustments for COVID costs and a 
reserve request of £154k, to cover the additional cost of On-Call training, the outturn 
position shows a minor overspend of £9k.

Page 287



10

Corporate Resources

36. Corporate Resources are reporting an overspend of £1.816 million (4.9% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the additional cost of the impact of COVID-
19 on budgets, which totals £1.792 million giving an underlying outturn position for 
Corporate Resources of an overspend of £25k (0.07% of the budget.).  Within the 
outturn position, approval is requested for Revenue contributions to Capital of 
£117k as outlined in section F of this report; and for underspends totalling £1.318 
million to be carried forward primarily to support additional project management 
resources alongside resources to support Visit Gloucestershire, the provision of 
training and development and Archive cataloguing in 2022/2023.

 
37. The additional expenditure of £1.792 million for the impact of Covid-19 incudes 

£152k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £127k against 
Occupational Health, £85k Information Management Service, £40K in Policy & 
Performance and £1.386M Legal costs.

Technical and Countywide

38. The outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a £7.037 million 
underspend, included within these figures is a £26k additional cost of the impact of 
Covid-19. The main areas of variance are highlighted in the paragraphs below.

39. Positive interest rate credits on cash balances have produced a £1.295 million 
underspend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

40. The 2021/22 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council 
to reflect the high-risk nature of some of the savings’ programmes in demand led 
areas in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall budget position 
for 2021/22. 

41. The 2021/22 budget includes a Pay & Price provision to fund unexpected price 
increases during the financial year, £1.200 million is being released to support the 
overall budget position for 2021/22. 

42. An underspend of £1.959 million within the Capital Financing Budget is now 
reported following reductions in capital financing costs due to slippage on approved 
capital schemes.

43. Other Budget areas achieved an underspend of £1.054 million, mainly the LGPS 
Employers Contributions Contingency (£659K).

Page 288



11

44. The Council’s share of the Gloucestershire Business Rates Retention Pool surplus 
for 2021-22 is estimated at £677k. It is recommended that this surplus is transferred 
to the Business Rates Reserve.  There is also a gain for the Strategic Economic 
Development Fund (SEDF) of £834k. It is recommended that this also be 
transferred to the Business Rates Reserve and ring fenced for the SEDF.  Use of 
the money will be considered by the Gloucestershire Joint Economic Committee.

45. A Covid-19 carry forward of £8.674 million to the Government grants unapplied 
reserve which will be used for future covid commitments.

Delivery of Savings Programme

46. At the end of Quarter 4 of 2021/22, £7.393 million of savings have been delivered 
against a 2021/22 target of £6.761 million. This represents an achievement of 
109.35% of the annual target. 

47. There has been slippage in savings achieved for some areas due to lower demand 
or slower recovery to service delivery during 2021/22.Slippage and savings met 
temporarily have been funded using Covid-19 Emergency grant. The savings target 
was therefore achieved and slightly exceeded at 109.35%.

B. Reserves

48. Full details of all reserve movements in 2021/22 are shown in the table at 
annex 3 with the summary position outlined below:

Type of Revenue Reserves Balance at
1st April 2021

£000

Balance at
31st March 2022

£000

Earmarked Revenue Reserves – Non 
Schools

147,881 150,412

Earmarked Reserves – Schools 
Excluding Dedicated Schools Grant 
Deficit Account

20,148 23,486

General Fund Balances 21,999 23,052

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES 190,028 196,950

Dedicated Schools Grant Deficit 
Account

-11,892 -17,043

49. Earmarked reserves non schools have increased in year by £2.531 million to 
£150.412 million. 

50. There has been an overall net increase in school balances of £3.338 million.

Page 289



12

51. General Reserves have increased by £1.053 million to £23.052 million. A risk-
based approach has been taken when assessing the level of reserves, this 
was included within the Medium-Term Financial Strategy approved by 
Council in February 2022.  The Medium-Term Financial Strategy and General 
Reserve balances will continue to be kept under review, recognising that 
there are potentially significant factors that could influence the strategy going 
forwards. The 2022/23 approved budget included a 2% provision for pay 
inflation, however given the forecast inflationary pressures, if the national pay 
award is greater than this then additional budget support from general 
reserves  may be necessary.

52. There is clearly a broader inflationary risk arising from national and 
international circumstances that the Council will need to keep under review 
during the coming year relative to the 2022/23 budget and the potential need 
to mitigate these from General Reserves.

53. The DSG deficit has increased by £5.151 million to a deficit position of 
£17.043 million. An action plan is being developed with the Schools Forum to 
address future funding pressures. 

54. In addition Capital Reserves used to support the approved capital programme 
are as follows:

Balance at
1st April 2021

£000

Balance at
31st March 2022

£000
Total Capital Reserves 130,675 103,285

These Capital Reserves are fully committed to fund the approved capital programme 
– see Annex 3. 

C. Schools

55. Details of maintained school ring fenced balances movements are provided in 
annex 2.

56. The Schools Fair Funding scheme allows schools to carry forward, from one 
financial year to the next, any surplus or shortfall in expenditure, relative to 
the school’s budget share for the year, plus/minus any balance brought 
forward from the previous year.

57. After transferring seven balances due to academy conversions, the key 
figures to note between the March 2021 and March 2022 position are:

58. Total Maintained School Balances increased by £3.407 million (17%) made 
up of:

Page 290



13

 Revenue Balance increases of £3.357 million (17.8%)
 Capital Balance increases of £84k (8.4%). 
 Academy transfers decreased the balances by £34k.

The number of schools with a revenue surplus or deficit at the end of 
March 2022 is summarised below.

59. The Council works closely with deficit schools to support them returning to a 
balance budget position.

 A Deficits Officer Group meets monthly to review the position of every 
deficit school and make decisions on whether additional support or 
intervention is needed. The group consists of: Head of Education Strategy 
and Development, Head of Education Outcomes and Intervention, HR 
Business Partner (School intervention), Schools Finance Team 
Accountant, and Senior Area Finance Officer (SAFO).

 All schools in deficit are required to submit a recovery plan showing how 
and when they will to return to a balanced budget. Schools with their own 
local bank account also submit monthly bank statements and cash-flow 
forecasts. Plans and submissions are analysed and monitored against 
frequently.

 Members of the group will visit schools and attend Governing body 
meetings where appropriate to offer support or ensure engagement in the 
deficit recovery process.

 If necessary, the Head of Education Strategy and Development will add to 
or replace governing body representatives and can in extreme 
circumstances implement financial sanctions upon a school or remove 
delegated powers if improvements are not being made.

 Funds are de-delegated from maintained primary school budgets for 
targeted intervention and support work which contributes towards the 
groups work with deficit schools.

Page 291



14

D. Debt Write-offs

60. During 2021/22 debts totalling £136,267.07 were written off (compared to 
£475,084 in 2020/21). A detailed analysis of debts written off during 2021/22 
is provided at Annex 4.  The cost of write offs is included in the outturn 
expenditure.  Debts are only written off if they are irrecoverable and all 
reasonable steps have been taken to recover the money owing, including 
legal action. 

61. All services have reviewed their debts, taken legal advice and where 
necessary produced the relevant documentation to write off the debt in 
accordance with the Council’s debt policy.

E. Overdue Invoices

62. Annex 5 provides a summary of the £10.930 million of overdue (more than 30 
days old) debt as of 31st March 2022. This compares to £10.881 million as of 
31st March 2021. The majority of this increase relates to social care debt 
(£5.645 million as of 31st March 2021 compared to £6.248 million as of 31st 
March 2022).  The non-social care debt decreased from £5.236 million as of 
31st March 2021 to £4.681 million as of 31st March 2022.

F. Capital Expenditure 2021/22

Outturn 2021/22

63. The re-profiled capital budget for 2021/22 totalled £153.909 million reflecting 
new approvals recommended in this report. The outturn position for 2021/22 
is £119.065 million, giving in year slippage of £34.844 million. 

60. Details of the re-profiled budgets and outturn position, analysed by service 
area, are provided in the table below with commentary and main reasons for 
the outturn position provided in the following sections.  

Page 292



15

Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Outturn 
Spend 
2021/22

Year-end 
Variance

Spend as 
% of 

Budget
£000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 142 142 0 100%
Adults 8,817 5,854 -2,964 66%
Childrens Services 0

Schools 40,857 37,050 -3,807 91%
Non-Schools 532 258 -274 48%

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 0
Highways 63,927 62,269 -1,658 97%
Strategic Infrastructure 4,809 2,154 -2,655 45%
Waste Disposal 608 183 -425 30%
Libraries 426 338 -88 79%

Community Safety 0
Fire and Rescue Service 772 586 -186 76%
Trading Standards 39 0 -39 0%

Corporate Services 0
AMPS 10,680 6,987 -3,693 65%
ICT Projects 8,619 2,937 -5,681 34%
Business Service Centre 227 82 -145 36%
Archives & Information Management 111 21 -90 19%
Digital Innovation (Customer) 844 205 -639 24%
Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 -12,500 0%

Total 153,909 119,065 -34,844 77%

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2021/22

Page 293



16

Financing of Capital Expenditure 2021/22

Financing applied to the £119.065 million 
capital spend: £000

GCC Revenue Contributions 756
Capital Receipts 11,277
Capital Fund 2,818
Reserves 1,747
Grants 84,335
External Contributions e.g. developers 3,744
Internal Borrowing 14,387

Total 119,065

61. Government financial regulations require local authorities to charge a 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) each year as a proxy for capital 
repayments. For 2021/22 the MRP for the Council was £8.745 million.

62. Managing borrowing effectively remains a priority of the Council.  The 
Council’s Capital Financing Requirement at the end of 2021/22 was £457.553 
million, an increase of £3.158 million compared with the position at the end of 
2020/21.  The increased borrowing during the year has been held internally to 
offset the additional borrowing costs that would otherwise be incurred.

Capital Outturn 2021/22: Reasons for the major variances

Adults Capital Programme 2021/22

63. The Adults outturn spend was £5.854 million in 2021/22 against the revised 
budget of £8.817 million, resulting in slippage of £2.964 million. This is mainly 
due to slippage of £2.200 million on the Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
budget.

64. During 2021/22 DFG funds were underspent, mainly due to a reduction in the 
processing of grants, meaning the central fund was not required. This is a 
nationwide issue with an estimated reduction of around one third, due to 
delays in assessments being carried out and processing of applications. This 
was largely due to issues caused by the pandemic, with priorities of staff 
changing and access to houses of vulnerable people restricted. Work 
continues to streamline the DFG process and make it simpler for applicants, 
to enable more grants to be allocated. We also have a number of initiatives 
planned for 2022/23 to increase the spend and avoid a significant 
underspend. This will also address issues of accessibility for disabled people 
and the increase in fuel poverty as a result of the rise in fuel bills.

Page 294



17

Schools Capital Programme 2021/22

65. The schools outturn spend was £37.050 million in 2021/22 against the 
revised budget of £40.857 million, resulting in slippage of £3.807 million. This 
is mainly due to delays to the new Bishops Cleeve New Primary School 
project where further detailed survey and design work was required to finalise 
the submission of the planning application. 

Economy, Environment, and Infrastructure Capital Programme 2020/21

Highways

66. Highways schemes spent £62.269 million in 2021/22, against the revised 
budget of £63.927 million, resulting in slippage of £1.658 million, this primarily 
relates to highway works at the Llanthony Road section of the Gloucester 
south-west bypass are now being delivered in the next financial year. 

Strategic Infrastructure 

67. Strategic Infrastructure schemes spent £2.154 million in 2021/22, against the 
revised budget of £4.809 million, resulting in slippage of £2.655 million. 
£2.548 million relates to the Fastershire scheme where delivery challenges 
have caused slippage in settling contractor claims. Expenditure has been 
incurred within the project but is still subject to verification processes which 
are impacting the drawdown of capital contributions from GCC. A further 
£149k of this relates to delays on Flood Alleviation external schemes.  

Waste

68. Waste schemes have spent £183k in 2021/22, against a current budget of 
£608k, resulting in slippage of £425k. Site improvements related to the 
conversion of Wingmoor Farm HRC to mobile waste compaction have been 
delayed whilst planning permission and the site lease area are revised.  

Libraries

69. Libraries schemes have spent £338k in 2021/22, against a current budget of 
£426k, resulting in slippage of £88k. 

Community Safety Capital Programme 2021/22

70. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Services spent £586k in 2021/22, against a 
current budget of £772k, resulting in slippage of £186k. 

Page 295



18

71. The Trading Standards project, purchase of a vehicle, was deferred until 
2022/23.

Corporate Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Asset Management & Property Services (AMPS)

72. The AMPS Capital Programme final outturn position is £3.693 million slippage 
against the reprofiled budget, mostly relating to: -
 £325k Area Based Review delays due to decisions with agile 

working/locality hub locations.
 £383k Planned Capital Maintenance delays due to COVID restrictions, 

contractor availability and materials.
 £222k M&E/Corporate Property Condition Data Works due to COVID 

restrictions, contractor availability and materials.
 £432k Social Care Services Remodelling Delays due to decision making 

(service led).
 £499k Quayside Multi Storey Car Park delays due to ongoing discussions 

with directors, strategic partners, and planners.
 £378k County Offices Cheltenham Refurbishment & Reconfiguration due 

to the ABR programme and the ongoing dialog with the MOJ / 
Probationary service the project has been delayed, only emergency works 
are taking place. 

 £262k Rural Estates – Farm Investment programme has been delayed 
due to on-going supply and Covid issues as these works are being carried 
out on live working farms.

 £222k Quayside Health Hub due to a successful first year our income and 
our capital contributions where higher than expected. However due to the 
ongoing works and the new diagnostics centre being created these 
monies will be used to start the feasibility and the pre commencement 
works.

ICT

73. The ICT Capital Programme final outturn position is £5.693 million slippage 
against the reprofiled budget of £8.630 million, mostly relating to: -
 £3.611 million the project to replace the Wider Area Network and the Local Area 

Network has been delayed. The costs for the remaining sites will move into next 
2022/23.

 £250k relates to the Children & Families ICT Systems Rationalisation now being 
push out to 2022/23 & 2023/24.

 £1.128 million on Desktop due to procurement delays.  

Digital Innovation (Customer)
74. The Digital Innovation (Customer) Capital Programme final outturn position is 

£639k slippage against the reprofiled budget of £844k, mostly due to: -

Page 296



19

a. £520k relates to the Business Analytics procurement being off track and will 
now not be done in 2022/23.

Investing in Self-Funded Income Schemes
75. The Investing in Self-Funded Income Scheme final outturn position is £12.500 

million slippage.  This will be carried forward for investment in self-funded 
income schemes in the future.

Archives & Information Management

76. The Archives scheme has spent £21k in 2021/22, against a current budget of 
£111k, resulting in slippage of £90k. 

G. Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Adults

77. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £415k to the Adults 
capital programme funded by a revenue contribution towards refurbishment 
and equipment replacement at GIS sites.

Children’s Services

Schools

78. Changes to the Schools Capital Programme totalling £15.070 million are 
included in a separate report on the agenda.

Non-Schools

79. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £812k in the Children’s 
Services Non-Schools capital programme, as summarised below:

 Southfield House – at its meeting on 30th March 2022 Cabinet approved an 
addition of £1.000 million contribution from the CCG towards the project, 
reducing the need for internal borrowing. It is proposed that Cabinet approves 
a transfer of £36k internal borrowing to the Trevone House project.

 Trevone House – it is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £48k to 
the Trevone House capital budget, funded as follows:

 £12k transfer from the ICT WAN/LAN capital budget for ICT works.
 £36k transfer the Southfield House project, towards the Wellbeing Suite.

Page 297



20

 London Road – it is proposed that Cabinet approves a new project to provide 
a Children’s Home, funded by the transfer of £800k internal borrowing in 
2022/23 from the Investing in Self-Funded Income Schemes capital budget.

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

Highways 

80. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £11.783 million in the 
Highways capital budget as summarised below:
 £373k RCCO from Rural Mobility Grant Fund to fund the purchase of four 

minibuses.
 £235k RCCO from the Covid grant to cover the 21-22 costs of the London 

Road Active Travel project. 
 £258k RCCO from Highways Locals allocated to 2021/22 projects.
 £5k RCCO from the Climate Change fund as part match funding for the 

Local Tree fund monies form the Forestry Commission.
 £8k RCCO towards works at Cirencester Depot
 £40k from the DEFRA Air Quality Grant to be used for the development of 

an E-bike company that will operate a small fleet of bikes and electric 
vehicles out of a warehouse near the centre of Cheltenham to act as a 
delivery depot.  

 -£108k approved contribution from Stroud District Council towards the A38 
Canal Bridges project - Based on actual costs allocation instead of the 
forecasted costs.

 -£5k approved contribution from Parish Council towards the St Briavels 
speed reduction scheme – approval was overstated

 £40k contribution form Crest Nicholson for providing info on Hardwicke 
Flyover Testing

 £200k developer contribution towards Albert Street Junction part of the 
Lydney Highways Strategy

 £17k developer contribution towards Honeybourne Cycle track.
 -£2k Natural England Grant which was claimed in line with the agreement 

however actual spend was slightly lower than forecast.
 -£470k reduction against the B4063 Gloucester to Chelt Cycle route due to an 

over estimation of grant income.
 £4,220k increase against the Gloucester City Centre Cycle Spine due to the 

receipt of the Active Travel Fund Tranche 3 grant.
 £9,907k increase against the Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Track 

due to the Active Travel Fund Tranche 3 grant
 -£2,937k reduction against the Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle 

Track which was an estimate of the (ATFT3) grant included in the 22/23 
MTFS.  

Page 298



21

 -£2,290k reduction against the Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle 
Track which was temporary moved over from the GSWB scheme to 
enable the scheme to be delivered.     

 £2,290 increase in funding for the Gloucester South West Bypass scheme 
moved from the above scheme.   

Strategic Infrastructure

81. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £93k in the Flood 
Alleviation capital budget as summarised below:
 £10k Thames Water Smarter Catchment Fund grant towards the 

Bledington FAS project. 
 £57k RCCO from the flood revenue budget to fund Flood Alleviation 

projects during 22-23.
 £26k Environment Agency grant towards Lydney Flood Alleviation works.

Waste Disposal

82. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £200k in the Waste 
Disposal capital budget funded from a RCCO from the Waste revenue 
budget. 

Libraries

83. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £269k in the libraries 
capital budget as summarised below:
 £250k Arts Council grant for the Oakley Immersive Storytelling Centre 

project.
 £19k Developer contributions towards Gloucester Library.

Corporate Services 

AMPS

84. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £271k in the AMPS Capital 
Programme budget for: -

 £17k RCCO’s for a VAT only invoice for Capital Contributions towards 
the cost of the Quayside Health Hub from Badham’s Pharmacy

 £100k Capital Contribution towards St Georges Road Car Park from 
Cheltenham BC

 £92k Capital grant towards the roof works of the Council Chamber 
refurbishment from Gloucester City Council

 £27k Capital Contribution towards Clearwater Path from Gloucester 
City Council

Page 299



22

 £35k RCCO towards Clearwater Path £30k from Build Back Better 
fund and £5k from Revenue Capital Maintenance

ICT

85. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £183k in the ICT Capital 
Programme budget for: -

 £65k RCCO for the Windows 10 project.
 -£12k virement into Adults Capital programme for Trevone WAN/LAN
 £130k virement from Digital Capital programme for Children’s & 

Families video conferencing & iPads.

Digital Innovation (Customer)

86. It is proposed that Cabinet support a decrease of £130k in the Digital Capital 
Programme budget for a virement into ICT for Children’s & Families video 
conferencing & iPads.

Archives and Information Management

87. It is proposed that Cabinet approves a decrease of £2k in the Archives capital 
budget funded by Capital Receipts for the now complete For The Record 
Project at Alvin Street.

Investing in Self-Funded Income Schemes

88. It is proposed that Cabinet approves a transfer of £800k from the 2022/23 
capital budget into the London Road Children’s Home project under 
Children’s Services.

Overall

89. As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase 
by £17.444 million. 

90. The increase of £15.070 million to the Schools Capital Programme is included 
for approval in a separate report on the agenda, therefore it is proposed that 
Cabinet approves an increase of £13.094 million via this report.

Page 300



23

Annex 1
Summary of Carry forwards for 2021/22

Adults
 £2.047 million carry forward for Adult Social Care for Assurance 

Self Evaluation review development plan

Prevention & Wellbeing
 £40k Prevention & Wellbeing, - Supporting People, Rough 

Sleeping plan
EE&I

 £1.800 million into EEI reserve for Street Works Permit fee and 
Electricity Income we have received during 2021-22, to offset 
MTFS approved budget savings in 22-23.

 £97k - Saturn Model 
 £63K – 6 Flood Schemes, Surveys & RSP Fees
 £31K – Bridge Maintenance
 £495K – Concessionary Fares
 £48K - Kickstart Project

Corporate Resources

 £93k to fund cataloguing in Archives
 £100k for corporate training & development
 £125k to continued funding for Visit Gloucestershire 
 £1million toward project management for supporting council wide 

corporate projects and the centralisation of legal costs for the 
whole council

Total Carry forwards £5.939 million

Page 301



24

Page 302



25

Page 303



26

Annex 3 

 
Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 

31st March 
2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Strategic Waste Reserve 3,840 -592 1,173 4,421 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract of the EFW project. 
Fire Joint Training Centre 990 -58 0 932 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire Training Centre.

Fire PFI Reserve- GRFS 3,907 0 186 4,093 This is a smoothing reserve relating to the full life contract for the Fire Stations PFI.

Insurance Fund 13,923 -5,779 3,287 11,431 Insurance Fund levels are based on external professional actuarial review and advice to mitigate GCC's 
insurance liability.

Capital Fund 14,675 -6,505 5,736 13,906 This reserve is used for capital financing and funds schemes approved under the Council's Capital 
Programme. 

Transformation Reserve 10,170 -6,075 8,743 12,838 This reserve funds the transformation required for the Council to make sustainable savings. 

County Elections 864 -351 0 513 This reserve is to smooth the cost of funding the council elections.

Invest to Save 2,759 -1,000 173 1,932 This reserve is used to support invest to save projects eg: Salix loan grants initiative for energy saving 
projects.

Education Funding Risk Reserve 216 -64 0 152 This reserve was established to smooth the impact from schools becoming academies.

Economic Stimulus Reserve 2,614 -1,506 0 1,108 The Economic Stimulus Reserve is fully committed to fund: Rural Broadband ; Apprentices ; Grow 
Gloucestershire; Saturn Model.

Public Health 1,061 -1,061 2,884 2,884 Public Health is a ring fenced grant, and this ring fenced reserve was established in accordance with 
national grant conditions to carry forward any unspent balances from the annual grant received from 
Government.

Vulnerable Children Reserve 174 -247 1,169 1,096 The reserve offsets demand-led pressures in children's services. 

Contractual Commitments

Technical Funding Reserves

P
age 304



27

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Adult Care Reserve 9,879 0 2,047 11,926 This reserve provides funding to mitigate demand risk in Adult Social Care, given given the continuing 

concern about the volatility in demand and the pressure across the health and social care economy. 

Growing Our Communities Reserve 149 -60 0 89 Growing Our Communities Fund – this fund will allow each Councillor to allocate £30,000 over a three 
year period to invest in key community projects.

People Services Reserve 231 0 40 271 The reserve offsets demand-led pressures in People services. 

Home to School Transport Reserve 28 0 136 164 This reserve is to smooth the impact changes in schools days year to year on home to school 
transport.

A417 Missing Link Reserve 289 -348 174 115 This reserve has been established to support pre development work on the A417 project to be 
undertaken.

Business Rates Reserve 7,490 -1,898 6,253 11,845 This reserve was established to cover the Council against a potential funding shortfall in business rate 
income, given the volatility of the scheme and the potential impact of Business Rate appeals on 
income.  The reserve holds £3.440 million ringfenced for economic development projects within the 
County.  Spending plans for this is via the Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee.   

Revenue Grant Reserves 62,845 -49,731 44,809 57,923 The Revenue Grants Reserve is a technical reserve for specific unapplied revenue grants and 
contributions, where conditions related to the monies have been met but expenditure has not been 
incurred. The monies remained ring fenced and fully committed.  This reserve is prepared in 
accordance with the Accounting Code of Practice issued annually by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy, which the Council is legally required to follow.

Economy,Environment & 
Infrastructure Reserve

6,805 -8,378 11,003 9,430 The reserve was established to carryforward specific budget under spends.

Traded Services Reserve 161 -31 0 130 This reserve was established to mitigate against any loss in traded income, and invest in services to 
generate more traded income.

Shared Audit Services Reserve 170 -50 32 152 This reserve was established to hold specific reserves held under the Shared Audit Services.

P
age 305



28

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

LED Renewables Reserve 532 0 0 532 This reserve was established to provide budget support for the LED renewables project.

Highways Act Comuted Sums 
Reserve

2,097 -93 204 2,208 This reserve was established to hold contributions received to provide future revenue budget support to 
Highway Services.

Minimum Wage Reserve 1,000 -1,000 0 0 This reserve was established to provide budget support for increases in the cost of employment and 
engagement with partners.

Ash Die Back Reserve 700 -700 0 0 This Reserve was established to support the Ash Die Back Project

Other Reserves 312 -21 30 321 A number of small miscellaneous reserves eg:Minerals & Local Waste;disputed capital receipts.

Total Earmarked Reserves
147,881 -85,548 88,079 150,412

P
age 306



29

Earmarked Revenue Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
School Balances 19,918 -19,918 23,326 23,326 This reserve represents ring fenced balances held by individual schools carried forward to support future 

years expenditure.

Other Schools Related 230 -230 160 160 This represents a number of specific ring fenced school related reserves

Total School Related Reserves 20,148 -20,148 23,486 23,486

Total 168,029 -105,696 111,565 173,898

General Fund Balances 21,999 0 1,053 23,052 General balances protect the Council from unknown risks including any overall Council over spend.

Total Revenue Reserves 190,028 -105,696 112,618 196,950

Dedicated Schools Grant Deficit 
Account

Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Dedicated School Grant Deficit -11,892 11,892 -17,043 -17,043 This represents balances carryforward for the Dedicated Schools Grant. The fund is currently in a 

deficit position and an action plan is being developed in association with the Schools Forum to address 
future funding pressures. Following changes to Legislation and Accounting Standards this Deficit must 
now be shown separate from the Councils Earmarked Reserves. 

Total DSG Deficit -11,892 11,892 -17,043 -17,043

P
age 307



30

Earmarked Capital Reserves Balance at 
31st March 

2021

Transfers Out 
2021/22

Transfers In     
2021/22

Balance at 
31st March 

2022

Notes

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Capital Grant Reserves 120,655 -110,784 88,216 98,087 This technical reserve relates to unspent capital grants and contributions, which are fully committed to 
funding the Council's approved Capital Programme. 

Capital Receipts Unapplied 
Reserves 

10,020 -11,493 6,671 5,198 This reserve reflects capital receipts, which are fully committed to funding the approved capital 
programme.

Total Capital Reserves 130,675 -122,277 94,887 103,285

P
age 308



31

Annex 4
Summary of Debts Written Off - April 2021 to March 2022

As required by Financial Regulations, this is the annual summary of debts written off during the previous financial year.

Debts are only put forward for write off if the debt is deemed irrecoverable and after all reasonable steps have been taken to recover 
the money owing, including legal action.

The table below shows the number and value of debts written off during 2022/23, which represents less than 1% of the total 
outstanding debt on 31st March 2022.

WRITE OFF OVERVIEW 2021/22

 
Sum of Net 
amount £

Sum of VAT 
£

Sum of Gross Amount 
£

Sum of Count of 
Invoices

Sum of Count 
of Debtors

Adults Commissioning 122,417.05 - 122,417.05 321 98
Children & Families Commissioning 9,985.43 - 9,985.43 56 42
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 2,033.68 40.00 2,073.68 9 7
Children & Families Commissioning Salaries 380.65 - 380.65 3 3
Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 
Salaries 237.38 - 237.38 2 2
Technical & Corporate 37.29 - 37.29 1 1
Technical & Corporate Salaries 1,135.59 - 1,135.59 1 1
Grand Total 136,227.07 40.00 136,267.07 393 154

P
age 309



32

Annex 5
Summary of Overdue Debt as at 31st March 2022

No. of Days Total 31 - 60 61 - 90 91 - 180 181 - 365 More than 365
£ £ £ £ £ £

Adults 9,481,994 1,774,056 511,357 1,595,403 1,847,505 3,753,674 

Children & Families 301,568 63,005 9,664 34,951 43,818 150,130 

Corporate Resources 598,499 207,877 22,361 46,037 132,147 190,076 

Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure 269,040 152,472 25,188 25,880 38,662 26,838 

GFRS and Regulatory Services 44,971 40,621 2,919 0 374 1,057 

Prevention & Wellbeing 131,877 130,434 0 9 1,434 0 

Technical & Countywide 2,092 0 0 0 0 2,092 

Other 99,822 1,024 -4,838 88 -576 104,124 

Totals 10,929,864 2,369,490 566,650 1,702,369 2,063,364 4,227,992 

P
age 310



REPORT TITLE: To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the proposed draft library 
strategy  

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek approval to go out to statutory public consultation on a new strategy 
for Gloucestershire Library service.

Recommendations

1. That Cabinet approves a public consultation on the draft library strategy 
for a twelve-week period from 4th July to 23rd September.

2. That Cabinet agrees that the submission of a further report setting out the 
consultation results and final recommendation on the future strategy for 
Gloucestershire Library service is brought back to Cabinet for approval in 
November this year.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The current Library Strategy was formally adopted in 2012 and is now very 
outdated.  A new Library Strategy to outline the vision and aims for 
Gloucestershire’s modern library service has been drafted and views of 
Gloucestershire residents are sought to ensure that provision of library 
services meet their needs.

Resource 
Implications

Some minimal costs associated with social media promotion, printed surveys 
and staff time for evaluation of consultation, all of which can be funded from 
within existing revenue budgets.
The future strategy will be delivered within the libraries base budget identified 
through the Council’s MTFS process for 2023-2028.  

Background 
Documents

Decision - Decision on the future Library Strategy for Gloucestershire

Statutory Authority Public Library & Museums Act 1964

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Jane Everiss, Head of Library & Registration Services
Tel. no: 01452 425027
Email:  jane.everiss@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline  Public consultation – 4th July – 23rd September 2022

 Report returning to Cabinet – 23rd November 2022

Page 311

Agenda Item 15

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=264


 Finalised library strategy recommended for adoption at Full Council meeting 15th 
February 2023

 Implementation 1st April 2023 

Page 312



Background 

1. Under the provisions of the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 (PLMA), the Council, as a 
library authority, has a statutory duty to provide a comprehensive and efficient library service for 
all persons wishing to make use of it.

2. The PLMA does not define what is meant by “comprehensive and efficient”. However, it does 
provide that the library authority must make facilities for borrowing books and other materials 
available to people who live, or work, or are undergoing full-time education in Gloucestershire. 

3. On 5th January 2012, Cabinet approved the current library strategy “Developing a new strategy 
for library services in Gloucestershire”.  This strategy has been in place since that time and no 
longer represents the future vision and ambition for libraries within Gloucestershire.

4. Plans to draft a new library strategy were in place in 2020 with 4 staff engagement sessions 
taking place in January and February 2020.  The drafting of the new strategy was put on hold 
due to the COVID 19 pandemic but following 3 staff engagement sessions held early in 2022, 
an updated strategy has now been created for consultation.

5. The new strategy outlines the direction and ambitions for Gloucestershire Library service and is 
a far more up to date representation of the Council’s vision for the library services it provides to 
Gloucestershire residents, students, and workers.

6. The draft strategy incorporates the following:

 A new vision for Gloucestershire Library Services
 The current provision of library and wider services
 The aims and ambitions of the library service between 2023 and 2028
 A clear outline of the service’s core offer

It is proposed that a 12-week public consultation is undertaken between 4th July and 23rd 
September to enable residents, students, and workers in Gloucestershire to respond.

Options

7. Not to undertake public consultation on the new draft strategy – this option was rejected as it is 
considered that public consultation is key to allowing the public to have a say on the future 
direction of library services within Gloucestershire.

Risks 

8. There is a risk that an insufficient number of people engage in the consultation process.  The 
survey will be actively promoted in all libraries to encourage library users to respond.  External 
engagement events will be held in each district to encourage a wider response.  The survey will 
also be publicised using social media and through the County Council website.

Page 313



Financial implications

9. The public consultation will have some limited financial implications for social media promotion 
and printing costs ensuring that the survey is accessible to all, together with officer time to 
evaluate the results following the conclusion of the public consultation.  All these costs will be 
covered by existing resources within the library revenue budget.

10.The future strategy will be delivered within the libraries base budget identified through the 
Council’s MTFS process for 2023-2028.  

Climate change implications

11. The draft library strategy recognises the importance of climate change and sustainability.  It 
includes a section which outlines the steps the library service has taken to date to address the 
climate emergency.

12. In summary these actions include:
 Stock collections and initiatives related to sustainable living and the environment
 Tree and wildlife planting in library garden areas
 Engaging communities in activities, events and conversations that address the climate 

change crisis to promote and affect change
 Delivering initiatives that encourage and promote swaps, re-use and repair.
 Choosing suppliers and partners who demonstrate environmental integrity and sustainable 

work practices.

13. The draft library strategy also outlines our ambitions for the next 5 years some of which include:
 Challenging and adapting our behaviours in respect of climate and sustainability
 Exploring more sustainable travel options for people wishing to visit libraries
 Exploring the provision of free water refill and local recycling points 
 Reviewing our van deliveries to reduce our carbon footprint
 Partnering with local community groups to enhance & expand the use of our outdoor spaces 

– creating community gardens to support healthy living.

Equality implications

14. Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

15.The surveys will not request any personal information, therefore a DPIA is not required for this 
decision.

Social value implications

16. Libraries offer many social value benefits.  The service actively encourages volunteers, work 
experience and DofE experience.  These volunteers assist with providing services ranging from 
home delivery to those who are housebound to supporting people to use ICT and access the 
internet.  Young people can gain confidence and some work experience by volunteering 
alongside experienced staff, whilst with older people volunteering can reduce social isolation.

Page 314



17. Free activities offered by libraries are aimed at helping older people to live within their own 
homes, reducing social isolation, supporting carers of people with dementia and activities 
aimed at supporting maternal mental health and children’s literacy and development.  The 
libraries offer Books on Prescription which are prescribed by GPs to help with medical and 
mental health issues.

18.The library innovation labs provide dedicated support to build skills and confidence.  This 
extends to businesses supporting with volunteers to help give back to the community and 
workshops specifically aimed at communities who might not otherwise have access to the 
specialist technical kit.  These workshops help spark young people’s interest in STEM (science, 
technology, engineering & mathematics), supports with training, skills and confidence in digital 
technology and supports economic recovery for start-ups and small businesses.

Consultation feedback

19. Feedback on the draft Library Strategy has been received from our internal support services, 
the Director of Environment, Economy & Infrastructure and Cabinet Member for Fire, 
Community Safety and Libraries.

20. Feedback on the draft strategy and proposal to consult has also been received from the 
Strategic, Economy, Environment and Infrastructure board and will be presented to the Adult 
Social Care and Communities Scrutiny meeting on 5th July 2022.

21.Consultation feedback will be regularly monitored, and the final Library Strategy adapted based 
on this feedback.  Information in respect of the survey responses will be included within the 
report that is submitted to Cabinet to recommend acceptance of the updated strategy 
document.

Officer recommendations

22.That Cabinet approve a public consultation on the draft library strategy for a twelve-week period 
from 4th July to 23rd September 2022.

23. That Cabinet agree that the submission of a further report setting out the consultation results 
and final recommendation on the future strategy for Gloucestershire Library service is brought 
back to Cabinet for approval in November this year.

Performance management/follow-up 

24. Feedback from the consultation will be evaluated and will be incorporated within the final 
Library Strategy where appropriate.

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire 
Libraries 
Strategy 
2023 - 2028

Page 317



Defining and enhancing our CORE Service
Responding to the CLIMATE emergency
Ensuring our libraries continue to meet the needs of their COMMUNITY 
CONNECTING people 
Using CREATIVITY to enhance people’s lives

Gloucestershire libraries are welcoming, vibrant safe places at the heart of our diverse
communities and as such are an integral part of the County Council helping us deliver our
Council Strategy - Building Back Better in Gloucestershire.

The library service has changed significantly since the last strategy was written in 2012 and I’m
pleased that our new library strategy provides a forward-thinking vision and ambition for library
services in Gloucestershire.

Our libraries are far more than a place to borrow books – their core purpose is still to provide
free access to a wide range of physical books and information, but this also now extends to e-
books and e-magazines that can be accessed from your own home, place of work or study. We
have introduced library innovation labs, located within each of our 6 districts, which are
designed to build confidence and skills and connect businesses, schools, and entrepreneurs
with the digital technology of the future.

We are committed to keeping our libraries open and delivering a high-quality and constantly
evolving service across our 31 locations.

This Strategy sets out our ambitions for the next five years under the 5 C’s which are:

Gloucestershire libraries will continue to evolve to meet the needs of the people who wish to
use them and our new strategy outlines how our buildings and services will continue to develop
to meet these ever changing demands whilst still retaining libraries core purpose.

WELCOME TO THE
LIBRARIES STRATEGY

Councillor Dave Norman MBE
Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries

Page 318



I use my library daily, lovely friendly staff 
 and a great selection of books. I don't
know what I'd do without it!  

Library Customer 2021 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Page 319



Gloucestershire libraries have changed significantly in the last 10 years since the last strategy was
produced in 2012. Libraries contribute to the social, economic and cultural wellbeing of
communities and are a key factor in driving early years literacy. 

Public libraries have long been one of the most important shared civic spaces. Our libraries
continue to be trusted spaces in local communities that are accessible to all who wish to use them
and for many the doors to the library open a world of exploration, escape, learning and research. 

Since inception, library spaces have flexed to meet the needs of the surrounding communities. The
ability to adapt and develop has never been more important as services emerge from the
challenges of physical closures. Public libraries were historically designed to house books; however,
a modern library not only offers books to read, but the future is also firmly focussed on welcoming
people both physically and in the digital world. 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Libraries are the lifeblood of the community,
what would we do without them?

INTRODUCTION

Library Customer 2021 

Page 320



Libraries in Gloucestershire support and facilitate education 
and skills development, they complement mainstream 
education and provide a space for adults and children to 
learn and develop. They support economic development 
and the delivery of important local services and work in 
partnership supporting businesses, enterprise, and 
employment creation. The network of Growth Hubs and 
Innovation labs link people with jobs by developing 
employability skills and sharing job seeking support. They 
support the development of digital skills and literacy and 
provide a cultural programme that empower communities, 
reduces isolation, and opens Art and Culture to all. 

Co-design where libraries listen and learn from communities 
is crucial to success. Libraries need to re-build confidence 
in physical spaces, level-up the digital space and make 
the library visible in the community. The place-making role 
libraries play in communities brings vital social benefit: a sense of belonging, companionship, support,
and inspiration.  

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

The global COVID-19 pandemic saw library
services in Gloucestershire respond quickly to
develop an enhanced digital offer to support
people during lockdown. Creativity and
innovation flourished as services introduced
new models of delivery such as “reserve and
collect”, “ring and read” and “off the shelf”,
extended digital business support and virtual
programmes to address social isolation. This
response has brought about a longer-term
change in how people wish to access services
which are addressed through this strategy. 

The enforced closure of libraries exacerbated
existing issues, such as digital exclusion and
social isolation, and brought new challenges into
sharp focus. The closures significantly
disadvantaged those who could not access
reading and digital services.

Page 321



Have regard to encouraging both adults and children to make full use of the library space and provide
advice as to its use.
Lend books and other printed material in sufficient quality and quantity free of charge to those who live,
work or study in the area;
Secure co-operation between the library authority and other exercising public functions in the county

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under
the Act;
Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it;
Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who
do not share it.

age 
disability 
gender reassignment 
pregnancy and maternity 
race; religion or belief 
sex 
sexual orientation
marriage and civil partnership

Under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964   (PLMA) Gloucestershire County Council, as a library
authority, has a statutory duty (not a discretionary power) to provide a comprehensive and efficient library
service for all people working, living or studying full time in Gloucestershire who wish to make use of it.

The PLMA does not define what is meant by “comprehensive and efficient”. However in providing this
service, Gloucestershire County Council must, amongst other things:

Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010
In formulating the new library strategy, the Council must also comply with the statutory duty contained in
section 149 of the Equality Act, known as the public sector equality duty. This requires the council, and
Cabinet Members as decision makers in particular, to have due regard to the needs to:

The relevant protected 
characteristics 
referred to in section 149 are:

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

BACKGROUND 
 The Legal Framework 

Page 322



Libraries

Community Libraries 

Members of Staff  

31
8

179

Items of e-Stock Loaned 
Items of Stock Issued 

Items of Library Stock Available 

1,860,457

561,123
193,479 

Library visits1,992,468

Children's Learning 
Activities & Events 3,912
Adult Learning 
Activities & Events2,009

Over 12,000 hours 
of Volunteer Support 

FREE WiFi in 
Every Library 

 
Virtual Visits  180,548

An Innovation Lab 
in Coleford 

Public Computers 

Hours of Public Use

261
161,844

LET'S CELEBRATE 
Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

1 April 2019 – 31 March 2020

Page 323



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Investing in digital skills for library staff
Using digital innovation through our network of Labs to improve customer experience

Seek to increase diversity within our workforce
Review our strategies & policies to ensure they are inclusive to all
Participating in equality and inclusion learning and development

Explore further opportunities for co-location or re-location of library services
Social Value
Demonstrate how libraries can offer additional social, economic, and environmental benefits for local people
and communities through the delivery of services, events and activities

Work with partners to introduce wildlife and tree planting in library gardens and encourage participation in
conservation activities
Install electric vehicle charge points in identified library car parks
Work with communities and partners to increase local recycling opportunities
Education and information – we will raise awareness of the things we can all do to reduce our impact on the
environment, providing ‘Greener Together’ collections in all our Libraries and actively promote key messages
and events

 
How Libraries Link with the County Council’s Strategy

 
Building Back Better in Gloucestershire

 
Our core services and ambitions assist in the delivery of the County Council strategy in the following ways:

GETTING OUR OWN HOUSE IN ORDER

ICT

Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion

Maximising the use of our estate

TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE

Page 324



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Connect businesses, schools, and entrepreneurs with the digital technology of the future
through our network of Innovation Labs
Support individuals to develop new skills, confidence and understanding in digital
technology through our network of Innovation Labs
Partner with Adult Education and Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Hub to ensure
skills, training and education are directly accessible in local communities
Shape our library services to make sure they adapt to the needs and aspirations of local
residents

Explore whether Family Hub services can be delivered from identified library locations
Provide children’s library services that support literacy, learning and confidence
Deliver an inclusive immersive storytelling experience from our Oakley centre
Deliver a programme of events aimed at reducing social isolation in both younger and older
people
Deliver a programme of events aimed at supporting those with Dementia
Explore how the digital technology within our Innovation Labs can support the county
councils Technology Strategy to support people to live independently

Signpost customers to right part of the County Council so they can get the advice or support
they need
Refresh library customer service and presentation standards
Train and support staff to deliver a consistently positive/fair experience for all customers

SUSTAINABLE GROWTH AND LEVELLING UP OUR COMMUNITIES

TRANSFORMING CHILDREN’S AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE

IMPROVING CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Page 325



Gloucestershire libraries are welcoming,
inclusive, innovative, and inspiring.

Vibrant safe spaces (places) at the heart of our
diverse communities, they encourage

connections and creativity, providing equality of
access to reading, culture, technology, trusted

information, and learning opportunities.
  

Working with and for their communities
Gloucestershire libraries will continue to adapt

and respond to their changing needs,
championing sustainability and promoting

health & wellbeing.
  

Vision for the 
Library Services 

in Gloucestershire

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Page 326



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

KEY AIMS & OBJECTIVES

GREENER 
TOGETHER 

HEALTH & 
WELLBEING 

DIGITAL & 
INNOVATION CHILDREN & 

FAMILIES 

READING & 
LITERACY

WORKFORCE & 
VOLUNTEERS

EQUALITY & 
DIVERSITY

CREATIVITYBUSINESS 
DEVELOPMENT 

Page 327



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

THE 5 C'S 

CORE

CLIMATE

COMMUNITY 

CONNECT

CREATIVITY 

Page 328



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Free access to reading through physical and electronic book stock. Access to
information through the network of Gloucestershire Libraries, the Virtual Reference
Library (VRL) and Ask Us.  

Promotion of the benefits of reading for pleasure and support basic literacy skills to
adults and children.

A trained workforce who can signpost to partner and other council services. 

Free access to books that support mental and physical health and wellbeing
including books on prescription.

Provide home delivery services to housebound residents. 

Providing welcoming, accessible, inclusive, safe spaces for all and a positive
experience for people using library services of volunteering with us. 

Provide self service options so that customers can access the services they want
when they want. 

Provide access to the internet, printing and Wi-Fi through our network of public
access PCs.

Support people to build digital skills and confidence.

Offer a core programme of events and activities including those that aim to reduce
social isolation. 

Secure developer contributions so libraries can continue to meet the needs of
residents of new developments.  

CORE A comprehensive and efficient Library Service for Gloucestershire  

Libraries are more than just books, my local
library is full knowledge and support 

Page 329



Equip staff and volunteers with the skills to deliver a progressive service and
encourage development at all levels.

Commitment to investing further skills and training opportunities through work
experience, apprenticeships, and volunteering.

Further develop and expand customer self-service options, enabling easier and
extended access to library services. 

Work with Adult Education to expand access to basic reading and other training
opportunities. 

Become more inclusive and better reflect the equality and diversity of our
communities through our book stock, accessible events, and recruitment of staff
and volunteers.

Ensure libraries physical and digital services are fully accessible to all, including
use of digital platforms such as 360-degree virtual tours. 

Develop opportunities for library membership at each stage of a child's
development and reading journey.

Develop a strong marketing strategy that promotes the relevance of libraries and
encourages greater us.

Develop further opportunities to deliver the County Council's 'Build Back Better in
Gloucestershire' strategy.  

Develop a programme of income generation to support the delivery of ambitions.

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION 

Libraries store the energy that fuels imagination, they
open windows to the world and inspire us to explore 

Sidney Sheldon
Page 330



POP UP LIBRARIES

During the refurbishment of Matson Library in 2021,
Gloucestershire Libraries provided a continued service for the
community at four different sites around Matson. 

This was a great time for the Library Service to reach out to
pockets of communities and rebuild relationships with
customers. At the pop up sites customers are able to join the
library, borrow and return items, request stock, talk about
book choices as well as having a general chat. 

The four sites included: Matson Baptist Church, The Phoenix
Centre, The Venture and The Redwell Centre. The venues were
welcoming and accomadating. Each pop up, due to it's
location had a different emphasis and characteristic and it has
been an uplifting opportunity to talk directly with communities,
many of which hadn't been in the library. 

Due to the success of this project pop up libraries have been
integrated into core activities as an excellent way to reach hard
to reach groups.

In 2021 this project won the David Vaisey Prize.  

CORE
CASE STUDY 

THE IMPACT - POP UP LIBRARIES  

For non library users, recreating the library experience in an external setting has done away with some
barriers that have prevenyed them in the past from coming through the doors of Matson Library.

The mission of creating the pop up was generated by countering customer comments like:

"I wouldn't borrow a book, I might lose it" or "There's so much going on in my life, I'll never remeber to bring it
back".  

Mural at the newly refurbished Matson Library

Member of staff manning a pop up library

Page 331



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Provide Greener Together stock collections and initiatives that promote Information
and resources related to sustainable living, the environment and wildlife so that
people can make informed choices.  

Plant trees and wildlife gardens within our library outdoor spaces. 

Engage communities in activities, events and conversations that address the climate
crisis to promote and affect change. 

Provide local access in communities- avoiding the need for people to travel to
access wider council services. 

Work with Gloucestershire County Council partners assisting with the delivery of the
Council's Climate Strategy. 

Choose suppliers and partners who demonstrate environmental integrity and
sustainable work practices.

Deliver initiatives that encourage and promote swaps, re-use and repair. 

Invest in book stock and e-lending to promote re-use rather than single use. 

CLIMATE Borrow Don't Buy 

Libraries by their nature are recyclers - reuse is
the way forward  

Page 332



To challenge and adapt our behaviours to embrace positive change in respect of
climate and sustainability. 

Roll out successful local initiatives that support climate and sustainability across our
network of libraries. 

Explore more sustainable travel options for people wishing to visit libraries including
a review of cycle parking provision and exploring car e-charging points in libraries. 

Explore the provision of free water re-fill points in libraries.

Explore libraries offering local recycling points for residents (i.e batteries).

Review policies and procedures to address climate issues and sustainability.

Review and reduce the carbon footprint of our library van deliveries.

Work with property colleagues to ensure the environmental impact of future library
refurbishments are considered and libraries, where possible, become carbon
neutral.

Explore and develop a programme of Environmental events to be delivered through
the network of libraries.

Explore the provision of a Library of Things. 

Partner with local community groups to enhance and expand the use of the
outdoor spaces - creating community gardens to support healthy living. 

Develop outdoor spaces to provide library activities and events in a garden
environment, encouraging better health and wellbeing. 

Explore and implement more sustainable work practices in libraries.

Work with suppliers to ensure our book stock has the lowest possible
environmental impact. 

 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION

Page 333



GREENER TOGETHER 

In 2021 the library service created a sub-group of a cross
section of staff to form the Greener Together committee, this
group take on responsibility for thinking about how the library
service can promote re-use and the climate change agenda
through book stock, events and partnerships. 

COSTUME SWAP 

One of the biggest achievements, so far, has been the
costume swap initiative promoted by individual libraries. The
concept is that residents bring in unwanted costumes for
children into the library and swap it with another size or
theme of costume. 

This initiative has worked really well around halloween and
World Book Night, with an emphasis that children will dress up
to promote the occasions . 

CLIMATE
CASE STUDY 

In 2022 we included free sewing workshops alongside the swaps, to try and encourage customers to make
and mend. We held supportive sessions of the elements of sewing and the positive impact it can have on the
environmentif clothes are mended not thrown away.  

Gr
ee

ne
r T
ogether

Page 334



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28

Encourage community use of library buildings.

Communicate and consult with all residents when changes to library services are
planned. 

To support a network of community run libraries. 

Provide a network of community library access points in local venues where there is
sufficient demand from people unable to access a static library.  

Provide temporary and ad hoc pop up libraries in targeted areas.  

Use developer contributions to ensure local libraries continue to meet the needs of
growing and changing communities. 

Provide local access to partner organisations and wider council services. 

Work with local partners to attract funding and deliver community projects.  

Provide volunteering opportunities for local people to provide skills, experience and
reduce social isolation.  

Provide open and accessible library buildings which sit at the heart of our diverse
communities.

Provide activities and events that are aimed at the individual needs of the residents. 

COMMUNITY

I am passionate about my local library space. I help out
where I can in this essential space for the community  

Page 335



Explore how the pop up library programme can reach people who do not use
libraries, through increased use of local venues. 

Explore targeted expansion of the community library access points where people
cannot access a library building. 

Co-create library services which reach the heart of communities and engage with
new audiences. 

Create a programme of library refurbishment to ensure libraries align with
community needs and to provide a modern accessible library service. 

Advocate for public libraries role in the regeneration of high streets and explore
further relocation opportunities that will allow easier access to library services.

Set up a youth advisory board to ensure young people are able to influence how the
services can meet the needs of customers. 

Work with developers to ensure new library provision is considered within identified
strategic allocation sites and continue to review library provision in the light of new
housing developments ensuring growing communities have access to public library
services. 

Continue to develop the provision of library services, including digital engagement
with the development of reading and literacy. This includes using provisions such as
immersive reality to provide new and engaging interaction.  

 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28

AMBITION

These dynamic and modern institutions and the librarians
who staff them add immeasurably to our quality of life 

George W Bush
Page 336



CHELTENHAM CARE HOME DELIVERY SERVICE 

Cheltenham Library provided a full service to the most
vulnerable and isolated in the community called the Care Home
Delivery Service. From June 2020 the library staff have been
delivering books and their time to local care homes. 

This project has been such a success, following the pandemic
the aim is to support care home residents to physically visit the
library and choose books. 

"I am always very pleased to have books delivered, without this very
helpful service my life would be greyer without a selection of books". 

COMMUNITY
CASE STUDY 

A SAFE SPACE FOR ALL 

Libraries are safe spaces, designed for community use: 

"I just wanted to say a huge thank you to your kind staff who allowed six staff and seven disabled children to
have lunch in the library when our alternative plans fell through and had nowhere to go in the rain. We didn't
feel rushed at all and there was a lovely clam atmosphere which was exactly what our children need whilst
they are eating. 

Many thanks to the staff and volunteers".  

- Karen Childs from St Roses School, Stroud 

Page 337



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Provide access to ICT and language courses through Adult Education.

Deliver STEAM and code clubs in local libraries. 

Connecting people with digital technology.

Offer digital device surgeries.

Partner with businesses and deliver school workshops through Innovation Labs to
spark interest in STEAM. 

Connect children and young people with library services through liaison with early
years, schools and education providers.  

Connect with new parents with library services providing membership and
BookStart packs at birth registration appointments.

Provide access to information that supports businesses through Growth Hub access
points and Ask Us.

Connect people with stock through the inter library lending services.

Connect people to reduce social isolation through clubs and activities.

Connecting people with information and providers through signposting to wider
council information and partners.  

CONNECT

The Lab space is such a treasure trove of tech! 

Page 338



Connecting people with skills and opportunities by partnering with Adult Education
and Gloucestershire Employment and Skills Hub.

Further expand the network of Innovation Labs and continue to invest in up-to-date
equipment that supports business start-ups and entrepreneurs.

Continue a programme of modernisation introducing new digital services such as 
Wi-Fi printing and improving digital access to library buildings. 

Programme of digital inclusion roadshows. 

Develop partnership which support more resilient, fairer and healthier
communities.

Introduce an ask a librarian service.

Explore Human Lending libraries.
 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION

Libraries promote the sharing of knowledge, connecting people
of all ages with valuable information and resources 

George W Bush
Page 339



AWARD WINNING LAB 

An Innovation Lab run by Gloucestershire Libraries has achieved national recognition for a series of
school workshops it delivered in partnership with SPP Pumps.The Contribution to Skills and Training
Award was given to SPP Pumps at the Pump Industry Awards 2020, recognising its work with the
Innovation Lab at Coleford Library.

It was among four finalists in that category at the awards, which were held recently after being
postponed last year due to Covid.

The STEAM (Science, Technology, Engineering , Arts and Maths) based workshops took place at the lab
throughout 2019 and were aimed at primary aged children from local schools, to raise awareness of
local job opportunities and to inspire future careers.

The sponsorship and support from SPP Pumps enabled more than 300 children to get hands on with
digital technology including 3D printing, virtual reality, digital design and 360° photography.

YOUR BOOK CLUB FACEBOOK GROUP

An online area on social media for users of the library service
to connect. This was formed during Covid-19 as a way of
connecting people through discussions of books and reading. 

As at April 2022, the book club has over 1.500 members. 

CONNECT
CASE STUDY 

Page 340



Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

Develop and promote reading through initiatives like the David Vaisey Prize, which is
an internal competition designed to encourage libraries to work with partners on
encouraging reading and literacy. 

Use librarian blogs and social media to promote reading. 

Use creativity within the library workforce and volunteers to deliver activities and
events.  

Provide Innovation Labs as spaces for customers to try new and emerging
technology and gain skills and confidence.

Creation of an immersive reality centre to encourage digital and creative
engagement - Oakley digital immersive and storytelling centre.  

Deliver a programme of online events and activities. 

Use creative ways to tackle social issues. 

Work with partners on a creative use of library spaces to develop and highlight new
and emerging talent. 

Working with local talent to creatively programme and deliver clubs and activities
which are accessible to all.

 
 

CREATIVITY

Creativity and community equals libraries
of the future  

Page 341



Embed Gloucestershire Libraries at the forefront of existing cultural groups and
activities.

Develop and deliver a programme of touring events to library sites.

Expand and further develop creative writing workshops and activities. 

Expand the network of our creative partnerships and identify existing creative talent
within the local community.

Challenge ourselves to come up with a creative approach to the promotion and
marketing of our services. 

Create a skills camp to develop talent within the library team and wider community. 

Further promote Gloucestershire libraries as spaces to trial local creative talent,
including create businesses. 

Develop creative and flexible uses of library services when closed to the public to
offer cultural activity.

Using the network of libraries to deliver the Arts Award.  

Reflect the rich and diverse communities in library programming to make events
accessible to all. 

Expand and develop social prescribing.

Submitting a bid to become apart of the Arts Council National Portfolio Organisation
funded scheme. 

 

Gloucestershire Libraries Strategy - 2023-28 

AMBITION

Libraries are all things to all people
Page 342



ART OF LIBRARIES TOOLKIT

The toolkit marks the culmination of Art of Libraries, a three year 
pilot project to re-imagine libraries as a first place for creativity, 
discovery and play for children, families and young people.

The pilot was led by Create Gloucestershire with 
Gloucestershire Libraries, with investment from 
Esmée Fairbairn Foundation and support from Real 
Ideas and The Barnwood Trust.

During these uncertain times, libraries play a vital and 
tangible role in the local cultural, social and economic 
recovery. As trusted spaces in the community, libraries 
are needed more than ever; helping children and young 
people reconnect in a safe, local space, supporting their 
physical and mental wellbeing and engaging those 
individuals and communities who are most isolated or disadvantaged.

This toolkit is designed to inspire anyone working with libraries whether as a librarian, artist, arts company or
library user. It shares our learning about how to incubate creative and innovative approaches and
partnerships.

CREATIVITY
CASE STUDY 

Page 343



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE:  Proposed re-location of Stroud Library

Cabinet Date 22nd June 2022

Cabinet Member Cllr Dave Norman MBE, Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and 
Libraries

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To consider the outcome of the public consultation and the proposal to re-
locate Stroud Library to the Five Valleys shopping Centre in Stroud

Recommendations

1. For Cabinet to consider and take account of the outcome of the public 
consultation on the re-location of Stroud Library and to agree to the re-
location of Stroud library within Five Valleys shopping centre.

2. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Library & Registration 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Fire, Community 
Safety and Libraries, to conduct a competitive procurement process using 
the ESPO Framework 695_20 Furniture solutions for Libraries and 
Community Buildings.  Undertaking a mini competition to achieve a 
contract or contracts for the design, supply and install of furniture and 
associated fittings for the library and award such contract to the preferred 
tenderer.

3. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Asset 
Management and Property Services in consultation with the Deputy 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change to enter into a 25-
year lease for the property within the Five Valleys Shopping Centre.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

Alternative options have been considered which are detailed at paragraphs 6, 
7 and 8 of this report.

The recommendation to relocate Stroud library will enable the service to 
move to a more centralised location with better visibility and accessibility 
which, it is anticipated, will lead to an increase in library use.  

The results of the public consultation survey indicate the majority of 
respondents (70%) are supportive of the move, stating they either agreed or 
strongly agreed to the re-location.  39.7% of respondents stated they would 
be able to visit the library more often in the new location, with 39.4% of 
people stating their use would be unaffected

Page 345

Agenda Item 16



Resource 
Implications

A 25-year lease, with a right to renew, is being negotiated and a library base 
budget increase was agreed at the full council meeting in February 2022 to 
support library relocations.  Some of this funding would be used towards the 
Stroud Library relocation lease costs, the details of which cannot be released 
at this time.

Staffing costs will be covered by libraries existing base staffing budget.
As detailed negotiations are not finalised this part of the report is not for 
publication by virtue of Reg 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012 and Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
and the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information.

Background 
Documents

Library Strategy
Officer decision to consult on re-location
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1832

Medium Term Financial Strategy
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2113388/final-approved-mtfs-
document-february-22-council.pdf 

Public Consultation results (Appendix 1)

Floorplans (Appendix 2)

Statutory Authority Public Libraries & Museums Act 1964
Localism Act 2011

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Councillor David Drew (Stroud Central)
Councillor Susan Williams (Stroud: Bisley and Painswick)
Councillor Brian Tipper (Stroud: Cam Valley)
Councillor Wendy Thomas (Stroud: Dursley)
Councillor Stephen Davies (Stroud: Hardwicke and Severn)
Councillor Chloe Turner (Stroud: Minchinhampton)
Councillor Steve Robinson (Stroud: Nailsworth)
Councillor John Bloxsom (Stroud: Rodborough)
Councillor Nick Housden (Stroud: Stonehouse)
Councillor Linda Cohen (Stroud: Wotton-under-Edge)

Officer Name:  Mrs Jane Everiss
Tel. no: 01452 425027
Email: jane.everiss@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Public consultation – 28th February to 25th April 2022

Page 346

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/3413/updated_strategy1__-64623.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1832
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2113388/final-approved-mtfs-document-february-22-council.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2113388/final-approved-mtfs-document-february-22-council.pdf


Procurement – 1st July – 31st August 2022
Library re-location anticipated December 2022

Page 347



Background 

1. Stroud Library is currently situated within two interconnected buildings comprising a 1970’s 
building and a historic church in Lansdown.  The library is located at first-floor level, with 
inadequate and unreliable lift access nearing end of life, therefore accessibility for 
members of the public and staff with a mobility disorder is considered difficult.  It has 
limited visibility at street level and cannot attract passing foot fall due to its location at the 
end of Lansdown in Stroud.  

2. The proposal consulted upon was to relocate the library to a unit within the newly 
refurbished Five Valleys Shopping Centre.  The location of the library would be on a lower 
ground floor adjacent to a new GP surgery and come with a new ground level frontage, 
staircase and robust bed and fire evacuation lift, making it more accessible to visitors and 
staff.

3. The 8-week public consultation survey ran between the dates of 28th February and 25th 
April 2022 with 4 public consultation events and a focus group held during this time.   The 
aim of this consultation was for the council to understand what, if any, significant impact 
the relocation of the library service may have on users and/or the wider community, 
particularly focussing on those with protected characteristics.  A copy of the survey results 
is included at Appendix 1.

4. We received 502 responses to the survey which was available online and through hard 
copy surveys within the libraries in Stroud, Stonehouse, and Nailsworth.  The outcome of 
the survey revealed:

 70% of respondents are supportive of the move, stating they either agreed or 
strongly agreed to the re-location.  

 73.5% of respondents were library users.  
 39.7% of respondents stated they would be able to visit the library more often in the 

new location, with 39.4% of people stating their use would be unaffected.
 13.1% of respondents indicated they would be negatively impacted if the library 

were to re-locate with 7.4% saying they will be able to visit the library less; 4% 
would go to a different library and 1.7% (10 responses) of respondents stating they 
will no longer be able to use Stroud Library.  Of the 10 people who stated they 
would be unable to use the new location 2 stated they were not library users.  The 
remaining 8 people gave reasons related to disliking the library being located within 
a shopping centre.

5. In addition to the survey responses, we received direct feedback raising concerns in 
respect of the relocation.  These related to the size of the floor space within the proposed 
new location compared to that of the current library and the lack of financial information in 
respect of the proposed move.  Finally, a concern was also raised about the ability for 
people with a disability to park at the new location.  These concerns are addressed within 
this report.

Page 348



Options

6. Option 1 – Remain in current building

The main library building was constructed in the 1960s and is nearing the end of its designed 
life.  Significant refurbishment including the replacement of elements of the building and 
services will be required to enable continued occupation by the library service if they were to 
remain in the building.  The building is thermally inefficient resulting in high energy usage, 
retrofit opportunities are limited.  

Energy usage:  The current location uses 2 gas boilers to heat the space consuming 31,000 
kWh/year.  The current site produces around a total of 12 tonnes of CO2 from the gas and 
electricity consumption.

Accessibility:  Should the library service employ a member of staff with a mobility issue they 
would be unable to access the current separate staff entrance as this is accessed via a series 
of very steep, narrow stone steps.  To address equality access issues for staff, amendments 
to the current building would need to be made which would include adaptations to both the 
lower entrance and upper entrance automatic doors to facilitate external access and changes 
to internal staff configuration.  The condition survey for the current building identifies that the 
lift is nearing end of life.  In order to meet equalities compliance requirements an external lift 
shaft and cart would need to be considered.

Size: the current publicly usable library floor space is smaller than that of the new location and 
the layout of the building provides little ability to expand the space available for use by public 
library users.  The library space which is used by the public in the current building has been 
calculated at 421.999 m2.  The proposed location has an open plan public library floor space 
of 650.082m2.  (Floor plans appended at Appendix 2)

The remainder of the current building is staff back-office or partner accommodation which 
cannot easily be reconfigured for use as public space.  There are two large usable floor 
spaces within the older part of the building which measure a total of 177.758 m2, however, due 
to the configuration of the building these spaces would not be suitable for conversion into 
public library space.  Additionally, these spaces are not served directly by a lift and therefore 
are not easily accessible by anyone with a mobility disorder. 

Library usage: the current location is situated at the end of Lansdown away from the main 
shopping area and therefore does not attract passing footfall.  In 20/21 Stroud ranked as the 
county’s 4th busiest library, however, based on pre-covid figures Stroud library use dropped by 
nearly 5% between 2016/17 and 2019/20.  Visitor figures for 20/21 were 54% less than visitor 
numbers pre Covid in 19/20.  During the two customer engagement events held outside of the 
library venue, feedback was received that some members of the public were unaware Stroud 
had a library or that the library was “out of their way”.  

Page 349



7. Option 2 – Re-locate the library to other premises

Several other locations have been explored in previous years but to date none have been 
found to be suitable for the library service.  Other locations could continue to be explored but 
for reasons given above, remaining within the same building continues to present challenges 
to access and use.  The opportunity presented by the proposed location would be lost if we 
were to wait and explore other future options.

8. Option 3 – Re-locate to Five Valleys Shopping Centre

Negotiations have taken place with Dransfield Estates who have been developing the Five 
Valleys shopping centre.  Negotiations have centred around a minimum 25-year lease within a 
newly refurbished unit in the shopping centre which would commence when the unit is handed 
over to GCC following the refurbishment works.

To protect the library’s longevity, the lease agreement does not contain a break clause, 
meaning the Landlord is unable to bring the term to an end earlier than the 25 years 
negotiated, and GCC’s right to occupy on the same terms as the lease extends beyond the 
initial 25-year term under a right to renew, unless the Landlord serves a notice under Section 
25 of the Landlord and Tenant Act.  

GCC would be responsible for costs relating directly to the occupied space.  A capped service 
charge would be payable to cover the costs relating to common and shared areas.

The proposed location has an open plan public library floor space of 650.082m2 which is larger 
than the current public library floor area.  The new location would be more environmentally 
friendly than the current library building with common parts of the centre, lifts and stairwells 
being powered using solar energy.  The heating system within the new site is via an air source 
heat pump/heat recovery system which would use water rather than refrigerant between the 
controller and indoor units, so it is more efficient and has a lower environment impact.  

A standard gas boiler typically has an output of 0.93 kW for every 1 kW consumed.  The air 
source heat pump/heat recovery system is therefore nearly 3 times more efficient.
The new heating/cooling system will be more energy efficient, have lower maintenance costs 
and a lower environmental impact which embeds the council’s commitment to reducing carbon 
emissions.  

As demonstrated in Option 1, library visitors have decreased over the past 5 years and more 
particularly since Covid.  A presence in one of the main shopping areas of the Town will, it is 
anticipated, lead to an increase in use.  The public consultation responses indicated that 70% 
of people agree or strongly agree with the proposal to re-locate the library.

The current library site will be considered for other County Council use, or its use considered 
with our ‘One Public Estate’ public sector partners.  A review of Stroud public sector partners 
is currently being undertaken by ‘One Gloucestershire Estates’ as part of the ‘One Public 
Estate’ programme being carried out with the assistance of the Cabinet Office.  If the building 
is not suitable for use in this way the building will be offered out to other organisations or 
charities who might be interested in occupying the building on a leasehold arrangement.  Sale 
on the open market would be an option should other opportunities not be deliverable.

Page 350



The new location will be fitted out with furniture, fittings, and digital equipment, appropriate to a 
new library.  Therefore, a compliant procurement exercise will need to be undertaken to 
appoint a supplier.

Risks 

9. In moving the library from a County Council owned building to a leased commercial space 
there is a risk that the future of the library service in Stroud would be limited to the term of 
the lease.  

10.To mitigate this risk, the lease agreement does not contain a break clause, meaning the 
Landlord is unable to bring the term to an end earlier than the 25 years negotiated, and 
GCC’s right to occupy on the same terms as the lease extends beyond the initial 25-year 
term under a right to renew, unless the Landlord serves a notice under Section 25 of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act.  In any section 25 notice, the Landlord must state whether it is 
willing to grant a new lease.  If it is a “hostile” notice (where the Landlord does not want to 
grant a new lease), it is only able to refuse the grant of a new lease on the following 
grounds:   

 Premises are in disrepair
 Arrears of rent
 Other breaches of covenant
 Suitable alternative accommodation is available
 Tenancy was created by sub-letting
 Landlord’s intention to redevelop
 Landlord’s intention to occupy

11.Should a successful hostile notice be served the County Council will find alternative 
suitable accommodation based on the needs of residents to ensure the County Council 
meets its statutory duty under the Public Libraries and Museums Act 1964 ‘to provide a 
comprehensive and efficient library service for all persons’ for all those who live, work or 
study in the area.

12.A public consultation survey was undertaken to assess the risk to customers not being able 
to access library services from the new location.  The results of this survey showed that 
13.1% of people would be negatively impacted if the library were to re-locate with 1.7% (10 
responses) of respondents stating they will no longer be able to use Stroud Library.  Of the 
10 people who stated they would be unable to use the new location 2 were not library 
users.  Of the remaining 8 people the reasons given related to the dislike of the library 
being located within a shopping centre.  The number of people who responded that they 
would be able to use the new site more often or their use would be unaffected was at 
79.1% (470 respondents).

13.An identified risk is that people with a disability will no longer be able to park immediately 
outside the new library location as the shopping centre entrance is a short distance from 
the road.  This risk is partly mitigated by the fact that the shopping centre offers an 
increased number of disabled parking spaces (currently 9) within the car park.  In addition, 
further step free disabled parking spaces will be created immediately adjacent to the new 
lift which will exit directly into the library space.  A new payment machine will be installed 
immediately near the new disabled spaces.  As further mitigation Gloucestershire County 

Page 351



Council parking services are supportive of providing an additional on street disabled 
parking bay on King Street.   

14.17.8% of respondents to the survey reported having a long-term limiting health condition or 
disability which equated to 103 respondents.  Of the 103 respondents

 41 people said they could use the library more in the new location 
 33 that their use was unaffected  
 3 people would go to a different library however 2 people agreed with the proposal.  
 13 people would use the library less or not at all
 13 people did not respond to this question

15.Due to current market conditions, there may be risks associated with achieving timescales 
in respect of fitting out the new location.  To mitigate these risks the procurement will be 
designed to maximise opportunity for best practice in design and the ESPO framework 
recommended for the procurement includes all market leading suppliers to public libraries 
for design and supply of furniture.  We will engage with the suppliers to ensure timescales 
are understood and will provide a mandatory requirement to meet such timescales.

Financial implications

16.A 25-year lease, with a right to renew, is being negotiated and a library base budget 
increase was agreed at the full council meeting in February 2022 to support library 
relocations.  Some of this funding would be used towards the Stroud Library relocation 
lease costs, the details of which are still subject to negotiations and cannot be released at 
this time.  

17.Staffing costs will be covered by libraries existing base staffing budget.

18.As detailed negotiations are not finalised this part of the report is not for publication by 
virtue of Reg 4(2)(b) of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 and Paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and the public interest in maintaining the exemption 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Climate change implications

19.The current location uses 2 gas boilers to heat the space consuming 31,000 kWh/year.  
The current site produces around a total of 12 tonnes of CO2 from gas and electricity 
consumption.  The move to the proposed new location would mean that we would no 
longer need to use gas as a resource, nor undertake any future maintenance on the 
boilers.

20.The new library location would be more environmentally friendly than the current library 
building with common parts of the centre, lifts and stairwells being powered using solar 
energy.  The heating system within the new site uses water rather than refrigerant between 
the controller and indoor units which has a lower environment impact.  

Page 352



21.A standard gas boiler typically has an output of 0.93 kW for every 1 kW consumed.  The 
electric consumption would be higher than at the current site as this is how the air source 
heat pump/heat recovery system is powered but they are known for high Coefficient of 
Performance (CoP) which for each 1 kW of input provides 3 kW output, therefore the air 
source heat pump/heat recovery system is nearly 3 times more efficient.

22.The new heating/cooling system will be more energy efficient, have lower maintenance 
costs and a lower environmental impact which embeds the council’s commitment to 
reducing carbon emissions.  

23.The new location will be fitted out with furniture, fittings, and digital equipment, appropriate 
to a new library and suppliers will be asked to demonstrate their commitment to 
sustainability.  The furniture and fittings from the current library will be re-used where they 
are in a suitable condition, either within the new site or within another County Council 
library.

24.Electric car charging is available on site via InstaVolt Charging Points.  These are located 
on the ground floor of the car park. Usual car parking terms and conditions apply whilst 
using the InstaVolt Charging Points and parking charges will apply.

Equality implications

25.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

26.A DPIA is not required for this decision

Social value implications

27.The procurement process will be using the ESPO Framework 695_20 Furniture solutions 
for Libraries and Community Buildings, which incorporates a requirement for the suppliers 
to ensure social value benefits are realised.  

28.The library will actively seek volunteers to assist within the new location to support added 
value services.  Volunteering supports with reducing social isolation and increasing 
confidence and skills.  These opportunities will be aimed at all age groups but particularly 
young and older people and those with disabilities.

29.The Lab which will be re-located to the new site will work with local businesses to support 
workshops within the lab through their corporate social responsibility.  The workshops 
offered within the labs are aimed at building confidence in use of new technology such as 
3d printers, virtual reality and other software and hardware and are aimed at all members 
of the community, including school children.  Previous models have included local 
businesses supporting the workshop offer through enabling their employees to become 
STEM (Science, Technology & Maths) ambassadors through time off during their working 
hours.

Page 353



Consultation feedback

30.The consultation report can be found at Appendix 1

31.Survey Results headlines

 73.5% of people were library users with 15.9% of non-library users responding

 When asked how people accessed the library – 300 respondents stated that they 
arrived on foot or by bicycle, 55 used public transport and 230 used a private car

 The top 4 most popular reasons for using the current library were:
1. Book borrowing
2. Information
3. Library events and activities
4. Computer access

 When asked why users did not use Stroud library the top 3 reasons were given:
1. Location is too far
2. No parking
3. Limited opening hours

54 responses selected the reason ‘other’.  These have been investigated and range 
from respondents using alternative library locations, having access to books at home or 
simply not library users at all.  There were 11 responses that referred to difficulty with 
access, the look and feel of the building and the out of the way location.

 When asked whether users would be able to use the new location, we received the 
following responses:
1. 39.7% will be able to visit more often
2. 39.4% won’t be affected by the move
3. 7.4% will be able to use the library less
4. 4% will go to a different library
5. 1.7% will no longer be able to use Stroud Library
6. 7.7% responded ‘other’

The responses where ‘other’ was chosen have also been investigated with concerns 
being outlined in respect of the shopping centre location itself.  Comments referred to 
the commercialism of the shopping centre and the running of the centre.   
10 responses to this question were because of an early error with the survey which took 
people to the ‘other’ section to complete rather than skipping it if one of the other 
statements were selected.  This was picked up and rectified.  
Other concerns that were raised in this section related to parking, specifically in the 
Five Valleys shopping centre.  Whilst the shopping centre car park allows people to 
choose to park there if convenient, people can also continue to choose to park in 

Page 354



alternative locations if wishing to use the library.  Problems with being incorrectly 
charged have also been raised and it is understood that there were historic problems 
with the pay and display machines charging when people had paid within the centre.  
The Landlords have advised that this was a software error which has now been 
resolved.  All inappropriate charges were dropped.

Officer recommendations

1. For Cabinet to consider and take account of the outcome of the public consultation 
on the re-location of Stroud Library and to agree to the re-location of Stroud library 
within Five Valleys shopping centre.

2. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Library & Registration Services, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Fire, Community Safety and Libraries, to 
conduct a competitive procurement process using the ESPO Framework 695_20 
Furniture solutions for Libraries and Community Buildings.  Undertaking a mini 
competition to achieve a contract or contracts for the design, supply and install of 
furniture and associated fittings for the library and award such contract to the 
preferred tenderer.

3. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Assistant Director of Asset Management and 
Property Services in consultation with the Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change to enter into a 25-year lease for the property within the Five 
Valleys Shopping Centre.

Performance management/follow-up 

32.The results of the consultation survey will be promoted publicly via social media and within 
the library.

33.The procurement contract for the fitout of the new space will include the need to ensure 
accessibility requirements are fundamental to the newly designed layout of the furniture 
and fittings within the proposed new library location.

Page 355



This page is intentionally left blank



Project Report
13 April 2021 - 24 May 2022

Have Your Say Gloucestershire
Stroud Library relocation proposal

Highlights

TOTAL
VISITS

1.2 k  

MAX VISITORS PER
DAY

381
NEW
REGISTRATI
ONS

0

ENGAGED
VISITORS

502  

INFORMED
VISITORS

656  

AWARE
VISITORS

972

Aware Participants 972

Aware Actions Performed Participants

Visited a Project or Tool Page 972

Informed Participants 656

Informed Actions Performed Participants

Viewed a video 0

Viewed a photo 27

Downloaded a document 52

Visited the Key Dates page 0

Visited an FAQ list Page 0

Visited Instagram Page 0

Visited Multiple Project Pages 152

Contributed to a tool (engaged) 502

Engaged Participants 502

Engaged Actions Performed
Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributed on Forums 0 0 0

Participated in Surveys 0 0 502

Contributed to Newsfeeds 0 0 0

Participated in Quick Polls 0 0 0

Posted on Guestbooks 0 0 0

Contributed to Stories 0 0 0

Asked Questions 0 0 0

Placed Pins on Places 0 0 0

Contributed to Ideas 0 0 0

Visitors Summary

Pageviews Visitors

1 Mar '22 1 May '22

500

1000

 

Page 357



Tool Type
Engagement Tool Name Tool Status Visitors

Registered Unverified Anonymous

Contributors

Survey Tool
Stroud Library relocation proposal Published 649 0 0 502

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOLS SUMMARY

0
FORUM TOPICS  

1
SURVEYS  

0
NEWS FEEDS  

0
QUICK POLLS  

0
GUEST BOOKS

0
STORIES  

0
Q&A S  

0
PLACES

Page 2 of 19

Page 358



Widget Type
Engagement Tool Name Visitors Views/Downloads

Document
deleted document from 31 33

Document
FAQs - Proposal to relocate Stroud library v2 10-03-2022.docx 21 22

Photo
View 02 Childrens Library.jpg 21 21

Photo
Aerial view01 Rev02.jpg 21 21

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

INFORMATION WIDGET SUMMARY

1
DOCUMENTS  

2
PHOTOS  

0
VIDEOS  

0
FAQS  

0
KEY DATES

Page 3 of 19

Page 359



Visitors 649 Contributors 502 CONTRIBUTIONS 601

Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

ENGAGEMENT TOOL: SURVEY TOOL

Stroud Library relocation proposal

Are you responding as:

440 (73.5%)

440 (73.5%)

95 (15.9%)

95 (15.9%)31 (5.2%)

31 (5.2%)11 (1.8%)

11 (1.8%)2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%) 17 (2.8%)

17 (2.8%)

Library user Non-user (local resident) Parent/carer Library staff Volunteer Councillor

Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 4 of 19

Optional question (599 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 360



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Do you use Stroud Library in its current location?

452 (75.5%)

452 (75.5%)

147 (24.5%)

147 (24.5%)

Yes No

Question options

Page 5 of 19

Optional question (599 response(s), 2 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 361



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

How do you currently commute to Stroud Library in its current location?

On foot Public transport (bus, train, taxi) Private car Bicycle Other (please specify)

Question options

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

225

250

275

300

262

55

230

38

7

Page 6 of 19

Optional question (448 response(s), 153 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 362



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

On average, how frequently do you use Stroud library in its current location?

18 (4.0%)

18 (4.0%)

66 (14.6%)

66 (14.6%)

104 (23.1%)

104 (23.1%)

132 (29.3%)

132 (29.3%)

131 (29.0%)

131 (29.0%)

Every day Once a week Every 2-3 weeks Once a month Rarely

Question options

Page 7 of 19

Optional question (451 response(s), 150 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 363



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

What services do you currently use Stroud library for?

Book borrowing Computer access Information WiFi Library events/activities Venue hire

Business enquiries Social group activity Other (please specify)

Question options

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

405

73

124

55

81

5 7

22

45

Page 8 of 19

Optional question (451 response(s), 150 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 364



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Please tell us your reasons for not using Stroud library in its current location?

Location is too far Facilities No parking Not accessible by public transport Limited opening hours

Lack of facilities Other (please specify)

Question options

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

49

11

46

8

21
22

54

Page 9 of 19

Optional question (146 response(s), 455 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 365



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

With the proposed change of the Library location to Five Valleys Shopping Centre,
which of the following statements impacts you?

236 (39.7%)

236 (39.7%)

234 (39.4%)

234 (39.4%)

44 (7.4%)

44 (7.4%)

24 (4.0%)

24 (4.0%) 10 (1.7%)

10 (1.7%) 46 (7.7%)

46 (7.7%)

I will be able to visit the library more often My use of the library will be unaffected by the move of location

I will be able to use the library less I will go to a different library I will no longer be able to use Stroud Library.

Other (please specify)

Question options

Page 10 of 19

Optional question (594 response(s), 7 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 366



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

What activities or services would you like to see in the proposed new location?

Adult events/activities Children’s events/activities Interactive children’s workshops, including digital access

Adult groups and clubs hosted at the library Digital events and activities Business activity and networking

Other (please specify)

Question options

50

100

150

200

250

300

350
326

295

228

303

178

139

92

Page 11 of 19

Optional question (532 response(s), 69 skipped)

Question type: Checkbox Question

Page 367



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

How much do you agree with the proposal to move Stroud Library to a new location
in Five Valleys Shopping centre?

254 (43.3%)

254 (43.3%)

157 (26.7%)

157 (26.7%)

77 (13.1%)

77 (13.1%)

99 (16.9%)

99 (16.9%)

Strongly agree Agree Disagree Strongly disagree

Question options

Page 12 of 19

Optional question (587 response(s), 14 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 368



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Equality questionnaire: some information about youThe following questions are to
ensure we take the views and needs of differing people into consideration and to

understand your responses to the previous questions a little better. It is a legal req...

162 (27.3%)

162 (27.3%)

397 (66.9%)

397 (66.9%)

31 (5.2%)

31 (5.2%) 3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

Male Female Prefer not to say Another gender – please identify

Question options

Page 13 of 19

Optional question (593 response(s), 8 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 369



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Is the gender you identity with the same as your sex registered at birth?

505 (91.5%)

505 (91.5%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%) 44 (8.0%)

44 (8.0%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 14 of 19

Optional question (552 response(s), 49 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 370



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

How old are you?

5 (0.8%)

5 (0.8%)

31 (5.2%)

31 (5.2%)

53 (9.0%)

53 (9.0%)

97 (16.4%)

97 (16.4%)

126 (21.3%)

126 (21.3%)101 (17.1%)

101 (17.1%)

104 (17.6%)

104 (17.6%)

47 (7.9%)

47 (7.9%) 28 (4.7%)

28 (4.7%)

16-17 18-24 25-34 35-44 45-54 55-64 65-74 75 or older Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 15 of 19

Optional question (592 response(s), 9 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 371



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Which race or ethnicity best describes you?

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

1 (0.2%)

1 (0.2%)

486 (82.2%)

486 (82.2%)

6 (1.0%)

6 (1.0%)31 (5.2%)

31 (5.2%) 40 (6.8%)

40 (6.8%) 10 (1.7%)

10 (1.7%)

Arabic Asian/British Asian: Chinese Asian/British Asian: Indian Asian/British Asian: Other

Black/British Black: African Black/British Black: Caribbean Mixed Race: Black & White

Mixed race: Asian & White Mixed Race: Other Traveller: Gypsy or Roma White: British White: Irish

White: European Prefer not to say Another race or ethnicity – please identify:

Question options

Page 16 of 19

Optional question (591 response(s), 10 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 372



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Do you have a disability, long-term illness, or health condition?

103 (17.8%)

103 (17.8%)

426 (73.4%)

426 (73.4%)

51 (8.8%)

51 (8.8%)

Yes No Prefer not to say

Question options

Page 17 of 19

Optional question (580 response(s), 21 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 373



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

Which of the following terms best describes your sexual orientation?

12 (2.1%)

12 (2.1%)

18 (3.1%)

18 (3.1%)

10 (1.7%)

10 (1.7%)

9 (1.6%)

9 (1.6%)

397 (69.0%)

397 (69.0%)

118 (20.5%)

118 (20.5%)

11 (1.9%)

11 (1.9%)

Asexual Bisexual Gay man Gay woman or lesbian Heterosexual or straight Prefer not to say

Other – please identify:

Question options

Page 18 of 19

Optional question (575 response(s), 26 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 374



Have Your Say Gloucestershire : Summary Report for 13 April 2021 to 24 May 2022

What do you consider your religion to be?

13 (2.2%)

13 (2.2%)

173 (29.7%)

173 (29.7%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

3 (0.5%)

2 (0.3%)

2 (0.3%)

263 (45.1%)

263 (45.1%)

4 (0.7%)

4 (0.7%)

98 (16.8%)

98 (16.8%)

24 (4.1%)

24 (4.1%)

Buddhist Christian Hindu Jewish Muslim No religion Sikh Prefer not to say

Other religion – please identify:

Question options

Page 19 of 19

Optional question (583 response(s), 18 skipped)

Question type: Radio Button Question

Page 375



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 377



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 379



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 381

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Consultation update on the proposed decommissioning and closure of four homes within the Gloucestershire Care Partnership
	Care home consultation report -Appendix 1
	Appendix 2 Final

	6 Award of Contracts for the provision of Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) to General Medical Practices
	7 Scheme development funding for M5 Junction 9 and A46 (Ashchurch) Strategic Transport Scheme in 2022/23
	8 Ofsted Inspection of Gloucestershire Children’s Services and Improvement Plan
	Improvement Programme Social Care  Early Help Post Ofsted 2022 v1.8

	9 Children & Families Capital Programme Update
	10 Community and Adult Skills Programmes 2022 – 2023
	11 Inclusion and SEND Strategies
	Appendix 1 SEND Strategy 2022-25
	Appendix 2 Education Inclusion Strategy 2022-25

	12 Youth Justice Plan 2022/23
	Youth_justice_plan_2022 Cabinet submission - 13.06.22

	13 Managed Print Service
	14 Revenue and Capital Expenditure Outturn 2021/2022
	15 To seek approval to go out to public consultation on the proposed draft library strategy
	DRAFT Lib Strategy 26 May -compressed

	16 Proposed re-location of Stroud Library (part exempt)
	Stroud_Library_Relocation_Proposal__Appendix 1 - Consultation responses
	Project Report
	13 April 2021 - 24 May 2022

	Have Your Say Gloucestershire
	Stroud Library relocation proposal
	Highlights


	Appendix 2 - Existing public library floor space and back areas May 2022
	Appendix 2 - New location public library floor space May 22
	EXEMPT Stroud library relocation Appendix 3 exempt financial information 09-06-2022 (003)


